

What can low energy quantum systems teach us about space and time?

Scuola dottorale in scienze astronomiche, chimiche, fisiche, matematiche e della terra "Vito Volterra"

Dottorato di Ricerca in Fisica – XXXIV Ciclo

Candidate

Andrea Di Biagio ID number 17408667

Thesis Advisor

Prof. Giovanni Montani Sapienza University of Rome Co-Advisor

Prof. Carlo Rovelli Aix-Marseille University

October 2021

Thesis not yet defended

What can low energy quantum systems teach us about space and time? Ph.D. thesis. Sapienza – University of Rome

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb C}$ 2022 Andrea Di Biagio. All rights reserved

This thesis has been typeset with $L^{AT}EX$, the Sapthesis class, and the texpad editor. The diagrammatic equations were realised with the help of TikZiT. The bibliography was produced with the help of Zotero and BibL^ATEX.

Version: June 3, 2022

Author's email: andrea.dibiagio@uniroma1.it

Dedicated to Nonno Uccio

Abstract

Quantum gravity is generally seen as a high energy physics field. However, recent progress in quantum control of matter means we might be able to perform tests of quantum gravity predictions using slow-moving masses. Interest in these kinds of proposals has renewed a conversation between the quantum gravity, quantum information, and quantum foundations communities. This thesis presents original work on topics at the intersection of these three fields.

Part of the thesis is concerned with studies of low energy tests of quantum gravity, and beyond. One such test aims at detecting entanglement between masses in a superposition as a result of gravitational interaction. We detail a quantum optics simulation of this effect and report on the results. We then derive from first principles the quantum phases involved in this quantum gravity experiment. We obtain an exact formula that improves on the current literature, as it takes into account relativistic retardation and can be computed for general trajectories and arbitrary number of particles. We also propose an experiment to test the discreteness of time. This test involves a single mass in a superposition of paths in a weak gravitational field. We assess its experimental feasibility and find it in a similar range as the low energy quantum gravity experiments proposed in the literature.

The rest of the thesis focuses on more conceptual aspects of space and time. We study the origin of the time-orientation of the operational formulations of quantum mechanics, which is in tension with the time-reversal symmetry of the rest of fundamental physics. We argue that the formalism is time-oriented, not because the fundamental physics is time-oriented, but because it is designed to study situations created by time-oriented macroscopic systems. Finally, we explore the consequences of admitting relative facts in the ontology of quantum mechanics, as proposed by the relational interpretation of quantum mechanics, and as hinted by a recent no-go theorem. We argue in particular that this clarifies the measurement problem and Wigner's friend-type scenarios, and allows to explain the emergence of the shared macroscopic world in which humans operate.

Acknowledgments

My Ph.D. journey started thanks to three people who decided to believe in me. First, Marios, who has been helping me from the moment I met him at a camping ground opposite the black holes conference, he was giving a talk and I was looking for a thesis advisor; since then, he became my mentor, collaborator, and friend. I would not have gotten far without Giovanni, who gave me a chance, helped me navigate the world of academia, and was always ready to give me advice. And Carlo, whose writings reignited my passion for understanding reality and got me back into physics; our exchanges have been a source of inspiration throughout my studies.

I want to thank my many collaborators and mentors. Sharing clarity and confusion with these each of these people was a delight, and made research all that more fulfilling. Fabio, who welcomed me in his group and never missed a chance to teach me something, regardless how short our meetings. Pierre, for our many discussions ranging from logic to open source, and for pondering the role of chicken in quantum gravity. Pietro who, with patience and humour, guided me in ordering my thoughts on time-ordering. Richard, our conversations while waiting for Marios have been precious moments of normality in these strange times. Emanuele and Davide, for our interminable, confusing and enlightening discussions about causality, experiment, and the quantum, which often happened on equally interminable treks.

I also benefitted by being a part of communities. With the students in the room 413 ocergip, for a brief pre-pandemic period, I felt for the first time the excitement of being in a vibrant research group. And the researchers in the QISS collaboration, with the regular virtual seminars, provided a chance to meet, engage, and feel connected in these strange times.

Heartfelt thanks go to my parents and family; who have always supported me, both emotionally and financially, in my desire to ponder the mysteries of our world. I wish I could share with them what I have learned.

Finally, thanks to Tuija, who has been by my side—literally, as well as figuratively—from beginning to end. You make everything better.

List of works

This thesis is based on the following articles developed with several collaborators.

- Andrea Di Biagio and Carlo Rovelli. "Stable Facts, Relative Facts". Foundations of Physics 51(1) (2021), page 30. DOI: 10/gm7w6w. arXiv: 2006.15543
- Andrea Di Biagio, Pietro Donà, and Carlo Rovelli. "The Arrow of Time in Operational Formulations of Quantum Theory". *Quantum* 5 (2021), page 520. DOI: 10/gm7w6n. arXiv: 2010.05734
- Marios Christodoulou, Andrea Di Biagio, and Pierre Martin-Dussaud. "An Experiment to Test the Discreteness of Time". 2020. arXiv: 2007.08431
- Andrea Di Biagio and Carlo Rovelli. "Relational Quantum Mechanics Is about Facts, Not States: A Reply to Pienaar and Brukner". 2021. arXiv: 2110.03610 (to appear in Foundations of Physics)
- Marios Christodoulou, Andrea Di Biagio, Markus Aspelmeyer, Časlav Brukner, Carlo Rovelli, and Richard Howl. "Locally Mediated Entanglement through Gravity from First Principles". 2022. arXiv: 2202.03368
- Emanuele Polino, Davide Poderini, Beatrice Polacchi, Iris Agresti, Gonzalo Carvacho, Fabio Sciarrino, Andrea Di Biagio, Marios Christodoulou, and Carlo Rovelli. "Photonic Implementation of Quantum Gravity Simulators" (in preparation)

Contents

| Introduction | | | | | | |
|--------------|-----------------|-------|--|----|--|--|
| I | Sor | ne ba | ckground | 4 | | |
| 1 | Quantum Gravity | | | | | |
| | 1.1 | Why w | we need it | 5 | | |
| | | 1.1.1 | A collapse problem | 5 | | |
| | | 1.1.2 | Hard to modify | 6 | | |
| | | 1.1.3 | Another collapse offers a hint | 8 | | |
| | 1.2 | Gener | al relativity as a quantum field theory | 9 | | |
| | | 1.2.1 | Quantum field theorists could have discovered GR $\ . \ . \ .$. | 10 | | |
| | | 1.2.2 | The actual problem of quantum gravity | 12 | | |
| | 1.3 | Why o | do we need it, again? | 13 | | |
| | 1.4 | A low | energy test of quantum gravity | 14 | | |
| | | 1.4.1 | GME: experimental setup | 14 | | |
| | | 1.4.2 | Quantum gravitational phases | 15 | | |
| | | 1.4.3 | Experimental considerations | 16 | | |
| 2 | Qua | ntum | Information Theory | 18 | | |
| | 2.1 | Opera | tional formalism | 19 | | |
| | | 2.1.1 | Density operators | 19 | | |
| | | 2.1.2 | Bloch ball | 20 | | |
| | | 2.1.3 | Partial trace | 21 | | |
| | | 2.1.4 | Evolution, instruments and channels | 22 | | |
| | 2.2 | Entan | glement | 23 | | |
| | | 2.2.1 | Entanglement certification | 24 | | |
| | | 2.2.2 | Application to the GME | 26 | | |
| | | 2.2.3 | Local operations, classical communication | 26 | | |
| | 2.3 | Decoh | erence | 27 | | |
| | | 2.3.1 | In the double slit experiment | 27 | | |
| | | 2.3.2 | Inevitable environmental decoherence | 29 | | |
| | 2.4 | Gener | al probabilistic theories | 30 | | |
| | | 2.4.1 | States, transformations and effects | 31 | | |
| | | 2.4.2 | Probabilistic interpretation | 32 | | |
| | | 2.4.3 | Causality and the conservation of probabilities | 33 | | |
| | | 2.4.4 | Classical and non-classical systems | 34 | | |

| | 2.5 | A no-go theorem about the gravitational field $\hdots \hdots \hd$ | 36 | | |
|----------|-----|--|----|--|--|
| 3 | Qua | antum Foundations | 38 | | |
| | 3.1 | The idea of a reconstruction | 38 | | |
| | | 3.1.1 Is entanglement special? | 39 | | |
| | | 3.1.2 Information acquisition | 40 | | |
| | 3.2 | The measurement problem | 42 | | |
| | 3.3 | Different interpretations of QM | 43 | | |
| | | 3.3.1 Copenhagen, or no-interpretation, approaches | 43 | | |
| | | 3.3.2 QBism | 44 | | |
| | | 3.3.3 Relational quantum mechanics | 44 | | |
| | | 3.3.4 Everettian quantum mechanics | 45 | | |
| | | 3.3.5 The pilot-wave theory | 46 | | |
| | | 3.3.6 Spontaneous collapse models | 47 | | |
| | 3.4 | Experimental metaphysics | 49 | | |
| | 0.1 | 3 4 1 Bell | 50 | | |
| | | 3 4 2 Bong et al | 53 | | |
| | | | 00 | | |
| II | Lo | ow Energy Quantum Gravity | 55 | | |
| 4 | Qua | antum optics simulation of a quantum gravity experiment | 56 | | |
| | 4.1 | The GME experiment | 57 | | |
| | 4.2 | Quantum simulators | 59 | | |
| | | 4.2.1 Quantum Circuit simulator | 60 | | |
| | | 4.2.2 Post Selection Quantum Circuit simulator | 60 | | |
| | | 4.2.3 Simulating gravitationally induced decoherence | 61 | | |
| | | 4.2.4 Entanglement certification | 62 | | |
| | 43 | Photonic implementation of the simulators | | | |
| | 1.0 | 4.3.1 Photonic implementation of the Quantum Circuit simulator | | | |
| | | 4.3.2 Photonic implementation of Post Selection Quantum Circuit | 02 | | |
| | | simulator | 63 | | |
| | | 4.3.2 Decoherence simulation | 64 | | |
| | 4.4 | 4.5.5 Deconerence simulation | 65 | | |
| | 4.4 | Lessons from the simulation | 60 | | |
| | 4.0 | | 00 | | |
| 5 | Cor | nputing the GME phases from first principles | 67 | | |
| | 5.1 | Mediated entanglement from the path integral | 68 | | |
| | 5.2 | The action for the gravitational field of moving particles | 70 | | |
| | | 5.2.1 On-shell action | 70 | | |
| | | 5.2.2 Point particles | 71 | | |
| | | 5.2.3 Three possible approximations, and their relations | 72 | | |
| | | 5.2.4 Observable effect of retardation | 73 | | |
| | 5.3 | Conclusion | 75 | | |

vii

| II | I A | bout Time | 76 |
|----|----------|--|--------------|
| 6 | An | experiment to test the discreteness of time | 77 |
| | 6.1 | Experimental setup | . 78 |
| | 6.2 | Hypothesis: time discreteness | . 80 |
| | 6.3 | Ensuring visibility of the effect | . 82 |
| | | 6.3.1 Visibility of the vertical axis | . 82 |
| | | 6.3.2 Visibility of the horizontal axis | . 83 |
| | | 6.3.3 Gravitational noise | . 84 |
| | 6.4 | Balancing act | . 85 |
| | 6.5 | Maintaining coherence | . 90 |
| | 6.6 | Discussion of the hypothesis | . 91 |
| | 6.7 | Conclusion | . 94 |
| 7 | The | e arrow of time in operational formulations of quantum mecha | n- |
| | ics | | 96 |
| | 7.1 | Prediction and postdiction | . 98 |
| | 7.2 | Closed systems | . 99 |
| | 7.3 | Open systems | . 101 |
| | 7.4 | Quantum operations | . 104 |
| | | 7.4.1 Operations | . 105 |
| | | 7.4.2 Prediction and postdiction with quantum channels | . 107 |
| | | 7.4.3 Purified task | . 108 |
| | | 7.4.4 Interence-symmetric channels | . 109 |
| | 75 | Palation between time reversal and postdiction | . 110 119 |
| | 6.5 | Relation between time-reversal and postdiction | . 112 119 |
| | | 7.5.1 Time-reversed task with unitary channel | . 112 114 |
| | | 7.5.2 Time-reversed task with quantum channel | . 114 115 |
| | 76 | The arrow of inference | .110 |
| | 1.0 | 7.6.1 "There exists a unique deterministic effect" | . 110 115 |
| | | 7.6.1 There exists a unique deterministic effect | . 110 116 |
| | | 7.6.2 "No signalling from the further unknown" | .110 117 |
| | | 7.6.4 Why we can gignal from the pact | 110 |
| | 7.7 | Time orientation of other formalisms | .119 |
| | | | |
| IV | F | acts and Objectivity in QM | 122 |
| 8 | Stal | ble facts, relative Facts | 123 |
| | 8.1 | Facts in quantum theory | . 123 |
| | | 8.1.1 Relative facts | . 124 |
| | | 8.1.2 Decoherence | . 125 |
| | | 8.1.3 Measurements | . 127 |
| | 8.2 | Facts and reality | . 128 |
| | | 8.2.1 The link between the theory the world | . 128 |
| | | 8.2.2 No-go theorems for absolute facts | . 129 |

| | | 8.2.3 | Conclusions and final comments | • | | • | 131 |
|------------------------------|-------|--------|---------------------------------|---|-----|---|---------|
| 9 | Con | seque | nces of the relativity of facts | | | | 133 |
| | 9.1 | RQM' | s key claims | | | • | 134 |
| | 9.2 | The a | nalogy with relativity | | | • | 137 |
| | 9.3 | On ob | jectivity | | | • | 141 |
| | 9.4 | Qubits | s are not observers | | | • | 147 |
| | 9.5 | Conclu | usion | | | | 149 |
| Co | onclu | usion | | | | | 150 |
| Aj | ppen | ıdix | | | | | 153 |
| A Works related to chapter 7 | | | | | 153 | | |
| в | Con | nputat | ion in EM | | | | 156 |

Introduction

Current fundamental physics research concentrates on radically unfamiliar scales. Particle colliders explore regimes of the tiny and fast, while cosmology studies the unfathomably large and distant. When experiment and data collection are possible, the machinery involved is so sophisticated that it requires international collaborations of scientists and engineers numbering in the hundreds. Research in what is arguably the biggest open problem in fundamental physics—the search for a quantum theory of gravity—has been almost exclusively a theoretical effort for about 90 years. Doing experiments in quantum gravity is, to put it mildly, hard. The fundamental constants c, \hbar and G offer us a dimensional estimate of the scales involved in a *bona fide* quantum gravitational phenomenon.

$$l_{\rm P} = \sqrt{\frac{G\hbar}{c^3}} \approx 10^{-35} \,\mathrm{m}, \qquad t_{\rm P} = \sqrt{\frac{G\hbar}{c^5}} \approx 10^{-44} \,\mathrm{s}, \qquad E_{\rm P} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c^5}{G}} \approx 10^{16} \,\mathrm{TeV}.$$

These quantities define the planck scale, and current technological capabilities are far from probing these scales directly. This can occasionally create a sense of disillusionment in the enterprise of quantum gravity. To this day, there is no genuine experimental evidence for quantum gravity, even though there are several candidate theories.

There is one field of fundamental physics that is an outlier in this respect, where theory and experiment go hand in hand and advances, both theoretical and experimental, are still being done by small groups. This is the field that studies the mathematical structure of quantum theory itself. This field consists of two intermingling and cross-pollinating communities: the quantum information and quantum foundations communities. One studies the information processing capabilities afforded by quantum physics and the other explores the mathematical and physical foundations of quantum mechanics. Historically, the rising interest in quantum foundations was heralded by the derivation of Bell's first theorem in the 1960s. Researchers started to ask in what ways the puzzling properties of quantum systems can be used illuminate reality, and to seek ways to employ these features for technology. In the last decades, the field of quantum information has been growing rapidly, with private companies and public institutions competing to build larger programmable quantum computers, with the promise of actual quantum advantage over classical computers. Experimentalists are constantly striving to achieve larger and longer lasting superpositions and developing new ways to spread entanglement to more systems and controlling them without losing coherence.

The increase of quantum control over larger systems has already benefited the other branches of physics. Today, it has enabled high precision tests of general relativity, such as the detection of gravitational waves, the measuring of gravitational time-dilation, and the quantification of gravitational acceleration due to minuscule masses. Soon, it might open a window into quantum gravity. Let us come back to the planck scale. One of the dimensions stands out: the planck mass

$$m_{\rm P} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c^2}{G}} \approx 20 \ \mu {\rm g}$$

is just slightly lighter than a human hair. It is about the mass of 10^{17} silicon atoms. While we are still orders of magnitude away from achieving quantum superpositions of systems of this mass, the gap narrows. In the last few years, researchers have been proposing experimental setups featuring slow-moving quantum systems, designed to verify the non-classical nature of the gravitational field. Two masses, each in a superposition of position, become entangled by interacting with each other gravitationally. The effects are more pronounced the closer the mass of the involved quantum system is to the planck mass. Thus, the quantum gravity scale is being approached by the methods of fundamental research in quantum theory, not by smashing high-energy beams with each other, but by delicately isolating systems and allowing them to evolve, undisturbed, in superposition.

The work reported in this thesis concerns topics broadly in the intersection of the fields of quantum gravity, quantum information (QI) and quantum foundations (QF). Part I, introduces, in turn, each of these three fields. Chapter 1 discusses quantum gravity. In particular, we look at quantum gravity as a perturbative field theory, an effective theory which is predictive until very high energy scales. We also discuss the proposals to test quantum gravity in the low energy regime, focussing on the experiment aimed at detecting a specific prediction of quantum gravity, namely gravitationally mediated entanglement (GME). This has the potential of being the first experimental test of a genuine quantum gravity effect. Something else makes these tests interesting: there is a theorem from quantum information theory that a classical system cannot mediate the creation of entanglement. In chapter 2, we talk about quantum information theory. We introduce the operational formulation of quantum mechanics used in QI/QF research, and talk about some key concepts relevant to these experiments. After introducing the framework of generalised probabilistic theories, we reproduce a proof of the theorem mentioned above that makes GME so interesting. In chapter 3, we talk about quantum foundations. We see how the generalised probabilistic theories have been used to derive the Hilbert space structure of quantum mechanics starting from physical axioms about information processing. We then discuss the measurement problem and some of the interpretations of quantum mechanics that feature in the rest of the thesis. We also present results from the field of experimental metaphysics. These are no-go theorems that constraints our ultimate pictures of reality. Bell's theorems put strains on our notions of causality, while a recent theorem by Bong et.al. puts under stress our notion of objective reality. These three chapters do not attempt to cover exhaustively these fields, but are meant to provide motivation and context for the rest of the thesis, parts II to IV, which feature original research.

The start of the journey is the closest to experiment. In part II, we study the GME experiment in detail. In fact, in chapter 4, we propose a simulation of the

experiment, which is being implemented on a photonic platform in Sapienza. The simulation embeds the evolution of the systems involved in the GME experiment in logical quantum circuits, and the circuits are then implemented using photonic degrees of freedom. Unfortunately, the experimental part of this project has been critically slowed down by the pandemic. nevertheless, we are able to report some amount of experimental data. Chapter 5 is more theoretical: we derive from first principles the exact formula for the quantum phases developed by the masses in the GME experiment. Extant derivations of the effect make use of a static approximation, which obscures the dynamical role played by the geometry in the experiment. We use linearised quantum gravity to derive the formulas to compute the phases for arbitrary trajectories. The phases show retardation effects due to the finite speed of propagation of perturbations in the geometry.

In part III, we talk about time. Chapter 6 proposes an experiment, while chapter 7 is a theoretical discussion. In chapter 6, inspired by the GME setup, we detail an experiment that could allow to detect a hypothetical discreteness of time of the order of a planck time. This is based on the realisation that quantum phases due to gravity can be understood in terms of differences in proper time. Weak gravitational field gradients correspond to small differences in proper time, which can reach planckian size. We derive experimental requirements to detect such a hypothetical discreteness of time and find, perhaps surprisingly, that these are not too far removed from current technological trends. While there is no unambiguous prediction of time-discreteness in the major approaches to quantum gravity, this is a previously untested regime of gravity and, as such, worth exploring. In chapter 7, we discuss a main point of tension between the gravity and the QI/QF communities: the status of time-reversal symmetry. Fundamental theories of mechanics are timereversal symmetric, while the operational formulation of quantum theory is starkly time-oriented. This might be a problem when trying to extend this formulation to the search of a quantum theory of gravity. We argue that the origin of this time-asymmetry is to be found in the main domain of application of the operational formulation: laboratory physics, where time-oriented decision-making agents are manipulating the systems.

The end of the journey, part IV, is the most philosophical. Classical physics, is based on the existence of an objective reality, were facts happen and are absolute. Quantum mechanics complicates things, allowing objects to have indefinite properties. Nevertheless, most interpretations of quantum mechanics still assume the existence of a shared, objective reality. But the theorem by Bong *et.al.* mentioned above forces us to re-examine the notion of objective reality. We discuss aspects of the relational interpretation of quantum mechanics, which proposes to solve the measurement problem by introducing the notion or relative facts. According to the relational interpretation, facts happen at every interaction between any two systems, but that these facts are relative only to the systems involved in the interaction. In chapter 8, we discuss this idea in detail and see how to connect it with the observed world. In particular, we show how decoherence allows a large class of relative facts to become stable, meaning that their relative nature can be ignored. In chapter 9, we further explore the consequences of the relativity of facts, especially as it pertains to the analogy with special relativity and to the degree that objectivity can be achieved in the world of relative facts.

Part I Some background

Chapter 1

Quantum Gravity

Why paradox? Because Einstein's equation says "this is the end" and physics says "there is no end."

Misner, Thorne and Wheeler [176]

1.1 Why we need it

General relativity (GR) unifies gravitational and inertial phenomena, explaining them as features of how matter interacts with the geometry of spacetime. Its dynamical content is expressed¹ by the Einstein Field Equations (EFE),

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (1.1)

relating the *metric* field $g_{\mu\nu}$, which encodes the geometrical properties of spacetime, with the *energy-momentum* tensor field $T_{\mu\nu}$ of matter

The Einstein field equations not only managed to resolve a known tension between Newton's law of gravitation and the observation of the precession of Mercury's orbit, they have also predicted a number of surprising phenomena. A few examples are gravitational time-dilation, gravitational lensing of light, and the existence of gravitational waves. These phenomena have been experimentally detected, and the predictions of the theory are in exquisite quantitative agreement with the data. General relativity can be applied from the scale of a human cell [156] to the universe as a whole.

1.1.1 A collapse problem

Let us focus on the more troubling (and exciting) consequences of two more predictions of GR. The existence of black holes and the impossibility of a static universe were early predictions of the theory and, although unexpected, have been experimentally confirmed using astronomical data. They directly point to regimes where the theory fails.

¹We take units in which c = 1 in this section.

The black hole is described by the first ever discovered exact solution of the EFE: the Schwartzchild metric [89, 237, 238]: a static, rotationally symmetric vacuum solution. A black hole is surrounded by an *event horizon*, a surface that cannot be crossed from the inside towards the outside. At the centre of the black hole lies a curvature singularity, a region of spacetime in which coordinate-independent quantities like the Kretschmann scalar $R^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}$ diverge. While this implies the theory cannot make sensible predictions there, the theory also says these places can be reached: while the event horizon shields the outside region from the singularity, a body falling freely into the black hole will reach the singularity in a finite proper time. For a while, black holes were thought of as the "unicorns" of theoretical physics, too strange to actually be realised in nature. It was hoped that they were a pathology of the high degree of symmetry of the ansatz and that they could not come about as a result of normal astrophysical evolution. However, a series of theoretical results, such as Oppenheimer's and Volkoff's [191], showed that bodies above a certain mass will eventually collapse inside their event horizon. Penrose famously showed [199] that the curvature singularity is not an artefact of the high symmetry of the Schwartzchild metric, but that it is inevitable given mild assumptions about the matter. Today, black holes are thought to be ubiquitous in the universe. Gravitational wave observatories have detected numerous events perfectly consistent with the merger of two black holes [160], or of a black hole and a neutron star [70]. Recent efforts lead to the reconstruction of an image of the extremely compact and massive object at the centre of the M87 galaxy that looks exactly as a black hole event horizon predicted by general relativity [72].

The other way that GR predicts its own demise is at cosmological scales. When considering the universe at its largest scales, one can approximate the density of matter and radiation as essentially constant at all places. One is led to consider a spacetime that is spatially homogenous and isotropic. The approximation reduces the EFE to a set of equations governing how the scale factor of the universe evolves in time. The scale factor determines how far two typical neighbouring galaxies are. The theory predicts that the scale factor cannot be constant: at most moments it is either increasing or decreasing, all galaxies are either getting closer or farther away from each other. Observational data show that galaxies are indeed receding, faster the farther away they are. Observations of the cosmic microwave background are consistent with the Einstein equations with a small positive cosmological constant Λ and cold dark matter [71]. Using this model to extrapolate further into the past, the EFE lead to a curvature singularity in the far past, another point where the theory cannot be trusted with its predictions. Hawking [127] showed that initial curvature singularities are quite general features of expanding universes.

These two facts about the universe indicate that GR cannot tell the full story for gravity. Something currently unknown must happen at the centre of black holes and at the beginning of time.

1.1.2 Hard to modify

One way to resolve these singularities is to modify the equations of GR. Perhaps one can find new equations that reproduce most predictions of GR in known regimes, but somehow avoid these singularities. This is the programme of *modified gravity*,

an active field of research with several internal directions [66, 184]. Many of the modified gravity theories lead to falsifiable predictions, and indeed a number of modified gravity theories are falsified by current observational data. We will not attempt an overview of the subject, electing instead to offer one explanation as to why the research programme is hard.

The Einstein field equations are considerably constrained by the two principles that guided Einstein in the formulation of his theory [269]:

- **Principle of general covariance**: The equations of physics must take the same form in all coordinate systems.
- **Einstein equivalence principle**: Physics is arbitrarily close to being inertial in any sufficiently small spacetime region.

The first principle essentially implies that equations have to come in the form of *tensor field* equations, while the second implies that spacetime must have the geometry of a Lorentzian manifold. Following the analogy from Coulomb's law to Maxwell's equations, one is led to look for a relativistic generalisation of Poisson's equation for the gravitational potential

$$\nabla^2 \Phi = 4\pi G\rho. \tag{1.2}$$

The mass density ρ is promoted to the energy-momentum tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$. The stress energy tensor is symmetric in its two indices. It should also be conserved by the covariant derivative, so to express the conservation of energy in small volumes according to the equivalence principle. Thus, the left hand side of the relativistic version of the equation above then should feature a conserved symmetric tensor, containing terms with, at most, second derivatives of the metric. The only such tensor is

$$\alpha(G_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu}), \tag{1.3}$$

for some constants α and Λ , where

$$G_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R$$
 (1.4)

is the Einstein curvature tensor, which contains terms with first and second derivatives of the metric. The constants of proportionality α and Λ are then fixed to match observational data, namely, Newtonian gravity and the observed expansion of the universe.

The action principle offers another *a posteriori* way to see how natural and constrained GR is. If we ask for the action to be computed via a Lagrangian density, we are looking to find an action of the form

$$\int \mathrm{d}^4 x \ L(x,g),\tag{1.5}$$

where L is some function. Einstein's two guiding principles almost completely fix the form of the action. General covariance requires we integrate a *scalar density*, that is, that we write the action as

$$\int \mathrm{d}^4 x \,\sqrt{-g}\mathcal{L},\tag{1.6}$$

where $\sqrt{-g} d^4 x$ is the invariant volume element and \mathcal{L} is some scalar. Einstein's equivalence principle then asks us to build this scalar from the metric only. In analogy with other field theories, we need kinetic terms with two derivatives of the metric to have any meaningful dynamics. There is essentially only one scalar formed with two derivatives of the metric: the Ricci scalar R. This argument leads us straight to the Einstein-Hilbert action

$$S_{\rm EH} \propto \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \sqrt{-g} R.$$
 (1.7)

Extremising this action leads to the vacuum EFE without cosmological constant. Dimensional analysis also tells us that the proportionality constant has to be proportional to 1/G. One can fix the proportionality constant by coupling gravity with matter. The two principles also fix the shape of the matter action to

$$S_{\rm M} \propto \int d^4 x \, \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_{\rm M},$$
 (1.8)

where \mathcal{L}_M depends on the metric in such a way that it reduces to the flat spacetime Lagrangian when $g_{\mu\nu} \to \eta_{\mu\nu}$. This is can be done by the minimal coupling procedure, replacing partial derivatives by covariant derivatives. The action

$$S_{\rm EH} + S_{\rm M} = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \,\sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{16\pi G}R + \mathcal{L}_{\rm M}\right] \tag{1.9}$$

leads to the EFE (1.1). Finally one might add the cosmological constant by adding a constant potential term to the action:

$$S_{\rm cosmo} = -\int d^4x \,\sqrt{-g}\Lambda. \tag{1.10}$$

Seen as the two guiding principles of GR put a lot of constraints on the equations, modifying the EFE by adding terms on the left or right hand side of the EFE has the potential effect of spoiling the principles of general covariance and the equivalence principle. The action principle does suggest a straightforward modification of gravity, by replacing the Ricci scalar R as a lagrangian density by some function f(R).

Of course the principles might not hold in all regimes, but since GR was so successful and offers a good explanation of physics, rather than just fitting data, it is arguably a good idea to take them seriously and use them as a guide to developing new theory.

1.1.3 Another collapse offers a hint

At the end of the XIXth century, another jewel of classical physics was confronted with a similar problem. Maxwell's field equations predict that two point particles of opposing charge cannot not form a stable configuration. The two charges, accelerated by their mutual attraction, would emit radiation, loose energy, and thus fall closer towards each other. This process leads them to emit an infinite amount of radiation in a finite time. Experiments then showed that atoms are composed of negatively charged particles surrounding a positively charged nucleus, many times smaller than the radius of the atom itself [31, 231]. Exactly the kind system that Maxwell's equations predicted to be unstable! Decades of theoretical effort to explain this paradoxical stability of matter, together with many more puzzling phenomena such as the spectral lines in emission and absorption spectra, the photoelectric effect, and the observation of discrete values of angular momentum, eventually lead to the formulation of quantum mechanics, quantum field theory, and quantum electrodynamics [195].

This historical sketch suggests a hint for the resolution of GR's singularities: perhaps quantum theory can fix them. The quantum theory of matter, on its own is not enough to prevent the singularities, as the gravitational pressure can beat any pressure caused by known quantum effects in condensed matter. But a full quantum theory of gravity could provide a solution to the gravitational collapse and furnish us with predictions about what happens at these most extreme events in our universe.

There is another reason that the community wishes for a quantum theory of gravity. While the EFE (1.1) couple the metric field with the energy-momentum tensor field of matter, matter is described by quantum mechanics and its energy-momentum density is not a real-valued tensor field $T_{\mu\nu}$ with a single definite value at any location, but a linear-operator-valued tensor field $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$ acting on the Hilbert space associated with matter. Thus in light of quantum mechanics, the EFE can only make sense if either

- the right hand side is a real-valued tensor field, for example $\langle \hat{T}_{\mu\nu} \rangle$, or
- the left hand side is also some operator $\hat{G}_{\mu\nu}$ acting on an appropriate Hilbert space.

The first option, where the angle brackets represent the expectation value of $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$, is often called *semi-classical* gravity. It offers correct predictions when the size of the quantum fluctuations are small, *i.e.* for most astrophysical applications. But it has otherwise maladapted features.² For example, nothing forces $\partial_{\mu}\langle \hat{T}_{\mu\nu}\rangle$ to vanish, while $\partial_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu}$ vanishes identically. So it can't work as a fundamental theory.

The other option would be the development of a quantum theory of gravity. Contrary of what is generally said, such a theory exists. Unfortunately, it does not tell us much about the singularities.

1.2 General relativity as a quantum field theory

When first encountering the subject of quantum gravity, one is often offered a statement to the effect that general relativity and quantum field theory are irreconcilably different, and that it is impossible to "quantise" general relativity. This is in fact a false statement. Quantum field theory and general relativity are not in contradiction with each other. The opposite is true: there is a well-defined—and predictive—quantum field theory of general relativity. Actually, there is a sense in which quantum field theory *predicts* general relativity. The structure of relativistic quantum field theory is rigid enough that it is possible to show that the only theory that couples relativistically to energy density is, in fact, general relativity. Let's see why.

 $^{^{2}}$ Depending on one's preferred solution to the measurement problem, semiclassical gravity has been empirically disproven [194].

1.2.1 Quantum field theorists could have discovered GR

Let us imagine a world where physicists have developed special relativity and quantum field theory, but that nobody has succeeded in obtaining a relativistic classical theory of gravity and instead physicists still relied on Newtonian gravity. An argument has been made, notably by Feynman [100] and more recently by Schwartz [236], that quantum field theorists in this imagined world could come up with general relativity, and they could do so while bypassing all arguments about geometry. Here, we sketch the main points of such an argument, following first [236] then [100].

The formulation of a quantum field theory is generally centred around an action S, computed as the integral of a lagrangian density over a region of spacetime. The lagrangian density at a point is generally a function of the fields and their derivatives at that point. The fields might carry representations of various symmetry groups, and the theory is said to have a given symmetry if the action is left invariant under those transformations. In particular, compatibility with special relativity requires the action to be invariant under the group of Poincaré transformations (rotations, boosts, and translations). It is then informative to classify the various fields according to the Poincaré group representation they carry. Fundamental fields carry *irreducible representations*, and fundamental particles are identified with the quantised excitations of modes of the corresponding field. Irreducible representations are labelled by two Casimir operators, the mass m and angular momentum j.

Relativistic quantum field theory makes quite general predictions. For example, the energy between two sources resulting from their interaction with a field of mass m and angular momentum j depends on the distance r between the sources as

$$U \propto \frac{e^{-\alpha m r}}{r},\tag{1.11}$$

where α is some dimensionful constant. Thus, the *range* of an interaction depends on the carrier's mass m. The *sign* of the energy U depends instead on the angular momentum j of the carrier. The energy between two positive charges is positive for odd integer values of j, while it is negative for even integer values.

We summarise the known properties of gravity: it is a long range, attractive force that couples to mass, or, more properly, mass density ρ . From relativity, we know about the mass-energy relation, and that the relativistic quantity corresponding to ρ is $T^{\mu\nu}$, which in the Newtonian regime reduces to ρ . According to quantum field theory, forces are mediated by fields that carry representations of the Poincaré group with integer angular momentum j and a certain mass m. The long range of gravity implies the mass is close to 0. The fact that the force is attractive rules out odd integer spins. So one is lead to study interactive field theories with j = 0, 2, ...fields. Theories with higher spin are progressively harder, so one starts with the lowest orders first.

Successful quantisation depends on having a classical lagrangian formulation of the field theory. Terms in the lagrangian have to be Lorentz scalars, the easiest way to do so is to build them by contracting tensors. Thus a Lorentz, invariant minimal coupling term for a j = 0 field ϕ and mass-energy is ϕT , where $T = \eta_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}$. This does not lead to a theory that agrees with experiment [269], so one moves on to spin-2. Fierz and Pauli have derived the unique lagrangian for a massive spin-2 field $h_{\mu\nu}$ [102]. In the massless limit, the lagrangian is:

$$S_{\rm FP} = \frac{1}{4} h_{\mu\nu} \Box h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{\alpha} h^{\nu\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} h \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} h \Box h.$$
(1.12)

A generic generic way to couple to this field would be a term such as $h_{\mu\nu}S^{\mu\nu}$, for some symmetric tensor $S^{\mu\nu}$ composed from the rest of the fields. For $h_{\mu\nu}$ to be a massless spin-2 field, the only physical components should be the transverse ones, in other words, the action should not care about the longitudinal components of $h_{\mu\nu}$ and should be invariant under a change:

$$h_{\mu\nu} \longmapsto h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\mu}\alpha_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\alpha_{\mu}. \tag{1.13}$$

For the coupling term $h_{\mu\nu}S^{\mu\nu}$, this requires that the tensor $S^{\mu\nu}$ be conserved by the equations of motion, *i.e.* that $\partial_{\mu}S^{\mu\nu} = 0$. So it happens that a massless spin-2 field $h_{\mu\nu}$ can couple to a conserved energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$. In fact, it seems that it is made to couple to energy-momentum.

The resulting action

$$S^{1} = \int \mathrm{d}^{4}x \left[\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{FP}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{M}} - \lambda h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu} \right], \qquad (1.14)$$

when used to first order in $h_{\mu\nu}$, already quantitatively describes a number of gravitational phenomena. For example, it yields linear equations for $h_{\mu\nu}$ and can be used to compute the motion of test particles given a fixed $h_{\mu\nu}$. This allows to fix the free parameter λ . This theory reproduces Newtonian gravity and makes quantitatively correct predictions of gravitational time dilation and deflection of relativistic particles by weak gravitational fields. This theory also predicts the existence of gravitational waves, and allows to figure out the design of instruments to detect them.

However, the theory does not account for the precession of the perihelion of Mercury. Also, it cannot be used consistently to second order, as the equations of motion for the matter do not conserve $T^{\mu\nu}$ to second order. One way to move forward would the following. Notice that gravitational waves carry energy and momentum, so that the gravitational field should also be a source of the gravitational field. But notice also that the equations of motion obtained by varying (1.15) with respect to $h_{\mu\nu}$ only have $T^{\mu\nu}$ as a source. Thus, one might try to add some term F to $\mathcal{L}_{\rm FP}$ so that variations with respect to $h_{\mu\nu}$ yield an equation of motion that has as a source a tensor $T^{\mu\nu} + \chi^{\mu\nu}$ where $\chi^{\mu\nu}$ contains terms quadratic in $h_{\mu\nu}$. Asking that the new source be conserved $(\partial_{\nu}(T^{\mu\nu} + \chi^{\mu\nu}) = 0)$ to second order fixes F uniquely. The resulting theory,

$$S^{2} = \int d^{4}x \left[\mathcal{L}_{\rm FP} + F + \mathcal{L}_{\rm M} - \lambda h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu} \right], \qquad (1.15)$$

can be consistently used to second order. It is in quantitative agreement with the observed the perihelion shift of Mercury, so this theory is in agreement with all the first famous tests of general relativity.

However, the theory is not consistent to *third* order in $h_{\mu\nu}$ and above. One can proceed the same way as above, adding term after term to the action and requiring conservation of the resulting source. This becomes harder and harder,

but, surprisingly there is a way to find a term that is analytical in $h_{\mu\nu}$ (so that it contains arbitrary order terms) and that leads to a self-consistent theory. The resulting action for the kinetic terms of $h_{\mu\nu}$ is then

$$S^{\circ} \propto \int d^4x \sqrt{-\det(\eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu})} R \left[\eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}\right],$$
 (1.16)

which is precisely the Einstein-Hilbert action for $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$.

Thus looking for a self-consistent theory of spin-2 field interacting with matter leads to the Einstein-Hilbert action. Deser [78, 79] in fact proved that this is the *only* such self-consistent theory.

1.2.2 The actual problem of quantum gravity

Quantum field theorists in our imagined world, having thus derived a classical action for a relativistic theory of gravity could go on and compute its consequences, hopefully stumbling upon the interpretation in terms of Lorentzian geometry. They would realise that the gauge invariance under transformations (1.13) is the linear version of general covariance. They would also discover the singularities predicted by the theory at the end of stellar evolution and at the beginning of time. So the next question they might ask is exactly the question we are asking: do quantum effects fix the collapses, like they fixed those of the atom?

Unfortunately, the answer is no. But the problem is not that the action (1.16) cannot be quantised. The theory obtained from this action is non-renormalisable, but this does not mean the theory is useless. Non-renormalisable theories are predictive because, up to a given energy cut-off, only a finite number of measurements have to be made to fix the free parameters, and then one can compute predictions for arbitrary experiments in that energy range. Indeed, because the planck mass is so large compared to other high energy physics scales, only the first few terms have played a role in experiments. In fact, it is possible to compute genuine quantum corrections to the orbit of mercury by considering the renormalised one loop correction to the graviton propagator, and this leads to a genuine quantum modification to the perihelion shift of mercury of one part to 10^{90} [236].

The actual problem is that perturbation theory breaks down at energy scales larger than planck mass. One needs to find a *different* theory that works at higher energy scales and that reduces to general relativity at lower energy scales. This sort of theory is called a *UV completion*, and the non-renormalisable theory is then the low energy effective field theory of its UV completion. History teaches that the UV completion of a theory can be quite different from the original effective theory. It can also be the case that a theory can have *multiple* UV completions. For example, the Schrödinger equation is the low energy limit of both the Klein-Gordon equation and the Dirac equation. This is also the case with quantum gravity. At the moment we have several candidate UV completions, the most famous ones being string theory [277] and loop quantum gravity [223, 230]. String theory continues with the perturbative approach, looking for a UV finite perturbative theory, while loop quantum gravity is based on a non-perturbative approach, quantising the whole geometry $g_{\mu\nu}$ rather than the perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$. For an overview of the approaches, their conceptual differences and difficulties, see [42].

1.3 Why do we need it, again?

Since the low energy theory is predictive, the differences between the UV completions only appear at the scales where the low energy theory breaks down. As we have seen, the perturbative quantisation of general relativity yields predictions that are exceedingly similar to general relativity itself. The most straightforward ideas to test the quantum nature of gravity, such as reaching the non-perturbative regime of particle physics or detecting quantised gravitational radiation seem completely infeasible [92, 220]. Cosmological evidence from the CMB or the distribution of primordial black holes has been inconclusive thus far. This absence of any positive evidence for a quantum theory of gravity is part of the difficulty of settling on a specific UV completion.

Additionally, the absence of any quantum gravitational effect has lead some to question the very idea that gravity is mediated by a quantum field [43, 190, 200]. While there are *theoretical* arguments for the need of a quantum theory of gravity, there is no direct *empirical* reason for it. This situation might change in the near future.

Over the recent years, a number of experimental proposals aim to detect an effect that can only be explained by a genuinely non-classical gravitational field. The proposals include the generation of entanglement between two systems due to gravitational interaction alone. Proposals include two particles in adjacent matterwave interferometers [34, 164], two particles cooled down to the ground state of a harmonic trap and then dropped side-by-side[149], and entanglement between a resonator and a particle in a trap [44]. Another proposal aims at detecting a different effect, the development of non-gaussianity in a Bose-Einstein condensate [140].

Two things are worth pointing out now. First, these are not simply gedanken experiments: even though their feasibility is still being assessed, these are actual experimental proposals. The authors of [34] have been publishing several studies regarding the experimental practicalities of their proposal [167, 253, 256], while [149] went through a considerable revision during peer-review. And while the "table-top" label originally attached to these proposals was most likely too optimistic, they seem within reach of feasible technology [8]. Second, the interest around these experiments is partially justified by results from quantum information theory. The experiments seek to detect an effect that is predicted by linearised quantum gravity. A positive result, would thus corroborate this theory, and falsify theories that do not predict this result. However, arguments from quantum information theory [112, 165] imply that a *whole class* of possible theories is ruled out by these experiments, namely, any theory in which the gravitational field does not have non-commuting variables. We will overview one of these results in detail in sections 2.4 and 2.5.

These experiments will not be able to distinguish between different UV completions of linearised quantum gravity. They will, however, definitely rule out either linearised quantum gravity, or the hypothesis that gravity is mediated by a classical field.

1.4 A low energy test of quantum gravity

Now, let us describe an idealised version of the matter-wave experiment proposed in [34]. This experiment aims at detecting gravity mediated entanglement (GME).

1.4.1 GME: experimental setup



Figure 1.1. Sketch of the simulated experimental setup as proposed in [34]. Two masses are set in a spin-dependent superposition next to each other and allowed to interact only via gravity.

The experiment features two adjacent interferometers, each traversed by a mass with an embedded spin. The interferometers put each particle in a spin-dependent superposition of positions, then the particles are allowed to interact only via gravity for a time t before the interferometers undo the superposition. Finally, the spin on the particles is measured.

Let us go over the experiment, breaking it down in five stages, see figure 4.1. Let $|\uparrow\rangle$, $|\downarrow\rangle$ denote normalised states of the spins aligned and anti-aligned to the z axis. Let $|C\rangle$, $|L\rangle$, and $|R\rangle$ denote normalised states in the centre-of-mass Hilbert space of each particle, peaked at the centre, left, and right branches of their interferometer. We will write down the total state up to an overall normalisation factor.

At the Preparation stage, the particles of mass m are set at the centre of their interferometers, with the spin aligned to the x axis. The state of the system is:

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi\rangle_{\mathbf{P}} &= \left(|\uparrow\rangle + |\downarrow\rangle\right) \otimes \left(|\uparrow\rangle + |\downarrow\rangle\right) \otimes |CC\rangle \\ &= \left(|\uparrow\uparrow\rangle + |\uparrow\downarrow\rangle + |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle + |\downarrow\downarrow\rangle\right) |CC\rangle \end{aligned} \tag{1.17}$$

During the Superposition, stage a series of EM pulses modifies the position of the masses depending on z-component of the spin state resulting in each mass being in a spin-dependent path superposition, at rest at a distance l/2 from their initial position. Assuming that the two interferometers are identical, and exploiting the phase ambiguity in defining $|L\rangle$, the state after superposition is:

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{\rm S} = \left|\uparrow\uparrow\right\rangle \left|LR\right\rangle + \left|\uparrow\downarrow\right\rangle \left|LL\right\rangle + \left|\downarrow\uparrow\right\rangle \left|RR\right\rangle + \left|\downarrow\downarrow\right\rangle \left|RL\right\rangle. \tag{1.18}$$

At this point, the centre-of-mass of each particle is entangled with its spin, but there is no entanglement between the two particles.

Now, the particles are in free fall for a time t. The experiment is designed in such a way that the only relevant interaction between the two particles is the gravitational force. Notably, keeping the Casimir-Polder interaction at bay sets a lower bound for the distance of closest approach d between the masses. The EM pulses of the Superposition stage also had to take care to "hide" the spin deep into the particle [34]. These experimental considerations aside, the states $|R\rangle$ and $|L\rangle$ act to a very good approximation as energy eigenstates during the relatively short time t of the experiment [54], and they will thus simply each accumulate a phase. At the end of the Free Fall stage, the state is

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{\rm FF} = e^{i\phi_{LR}}\left|\uparrow\uparrow\right\rangle\left|LR\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{LL}}\left|\uparrow\downarrow\right\rangle\left|LL\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RR}}\left|\downarrow\uparrow\right\rangle\left|RR\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RL}}\left|\downarrow\downarrow\right\rangle\left|RL\right\rangle \ (1.19)$$

For generic values of the phases ϕ_{LL} , ϕ_{LR} , ϕ_{RL} , and ϕ_{RR} , the two particles are now entangled.

The Recombination stage now undoes what was done by the Superposition stage. Again ignoring a possible global phase, the state of the system is now:

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{\mathrm{R}} = \left(e^{i\phi_{LR}}\left|\uparrow\uparrow\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{LL}}\left|\uparrow\downarrow\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RR}}\left|\downarrow\uparrow\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RL}}\left|\downarrow\downarrow\right\rangle\right) \otimes \left|CC\right\rangle.$$
(1.20)

The net effect is that the centre-of-mass degree of freedom is not correlated with the spins anymore. Whatever entanglement was developed between the masses is now present in the spin degrees of freedom only.

Tracing away the positions of the particles, the state of the spins at the moment of measurement is then:

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{\mathrm{M}} = e^{i\phi_{LR}}\left|\uparrow\uparrow\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{LL}}\left|\uparrow\downarrow\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RR}}\left|\downarrow\uparrow\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RL}}\left|\downarrow\downarrow\right\rangle. \tag{1.21}$$

Repeated runs of the experiment allow to study the final state of the spins, and verify the presence of entanglement.

1.4.2 Quantum gravitational phases

Let us now compute the phases that the particles develop during the Free-Fall stage.

The particles are light, and the perturbation of the metric due to their presence is weak enough so that we may indeed apply linearised quantum gravity. We assume that the particles are moving slowly at all times, and that the timescales of relevance are much larger than the distances between the particles in each branch, so that we may ignore transient effects due to the movement of the particles. In this way, in each branch, the metric perturbation is in a coherent state peaked around the classical static solution sourced by the masses.

Write as $|h_{XY}\rangle$ the state of the metric perturbation corresponding to positions $|XY\rangle$ of the particles. Then we can track the evolution of the states of the particles and metric by trivially replacing $|XY\rangle$ with $|XY\rangle |h_{XY}\rangle$ everywhere in the states (1.17) to (1.20) above. The phases are then due to the energy of such a configuration, which can be approximated to a good accuracy by the Newtonian potential energy of the configuration. Namely,

$$\phi_{XY} = -E_{XY} \frac{t}{\hbar},\tag{1.22}$$

and thus

$$\phi_{LR} = \frac{Gm^2t}{(d+2l)\hbar}, \qquad \phi_{LL} = \frac{Gm^2t}{(d+l)\hbar} = \phi_{RR}, \qquad \phi_{RL} = \frac{Gm^2t}{d\hbar}.$$
(1.23)

Then, up to a global phase and normalisation, the state for the spins at the moment of measurement is

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{\mathrm{M}} = \left|\uparrow\right\rangle \left(e^{i\tilde{\phi}_{LR}}\left|\uparrow\right\rangle + \left|\downarrow\right\rangle\right) + \left|\downarrow\right\rangle \left(\left|\uparrow\right\rangle + e^{i\tilde{\phi}_{RL}}\left|\downarrow\right\rangle\right),\tag{1.24}$$

where we have set $\tilde{\phi}_{LR} = \phi_{LR} - \phi_{RR}$ and $\tilde{\phi}_{RL} = \phi_{RL} - \phi_{RR}$. We can quantify the amount of entanglement between the spins by taking the square modulus of the overlap of the state in the parenthesis, which is

$$O = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\cos(\delta\phi),$$
 (1.25)

with

$$\delta\phi = \tilde{\phi}_{LR} + \tilde{\phi}_{RL} = \frac{Gm^2t}{\hbar} \left(\frac{1}{d} + \frac{1}{d+2l} - \frac{2}{d+l}\right). \tag{1.26}$$

Thus, for generic parameter values, quantum field theory of gravity predicts that the masses will get entangled.

Note that these phases were computed in the static approximation. These are the same phases one would get from an instantaneous newtonian interaction term

$$H_I = -\frac{Gm^2}{r} \tag{1.27}$$

in the total hamiltonian of the system. Indeed, this is how the computations in the original papers [34, 149, 164] were done. Some, most notably [6], have objected that this spoils the argument, as it is a direct interparticle interaction rather than a mediated one. In chapter 5, we will see how to derive these phases from first principles, using the perturbative quantum theory of gravity.

1.4.3 Experimental considerations

There are four main experimental parameters subject to various constraints: the mass of the nanoparticles m, the distance of closest approach d, the size of the superposition l, and the duration of the superposition t. One of the main constraints

comes from decoherence: the masses have to be protected from interacting with the environment otherwise the entanglement between them will be hidden. Larger l and larger m will lead to faster decoherence, and t must be much smaller than the typical decoherence timescales. Another constraint comes from preventing interactions between the masses other than gravity: if the masses come too close to each other other, they could start interacting via Casimir-Polder type electrostatic effects. This will force an upper bound on d as a function of m. Other constraints will come from the specifics of the experimental setup, such as the strength of the fields required to create the superpositions and the size and control of the various moving parts of the apparatus.

Future experimenters will have to take all such constraints in consideration. Here, we will limit ourselves to some basic observations. We will see in the next section how to certify the presence of entanglement using an entanglement witness. For now, it suffices to know that entanglement is easier to detect for smaller overlap O; easiest for $O \approx 0$, so for $\delta \phi \approx \pi$. Thus, we can see (1.26) as defining an entanglement rate r as a function of the parameters l, d and m. We can take the approximation $l \ll d$, reflecting the realistic assumption that the delocalisation of a massive nanoparticles is going to be small. To leading order in l/d, this yields:

$$r = 2\frac{G}{\hbar}\frac{m^2}{d}\left(\frac{l}{d}\right)^2 = 2\left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\right)^2\left(\frac{l}{d}\right)^2\frac{c}{d}$$
(1.28)

The entanglement rate r is inversely proportional to d^3 , so one should pick the smallest possible value of d. To avoid interactions other than gravity, this is $d \approx 200 \ \mu$ m. Thus, $c/d \approx 10^{12} \ \text{s}^{-1}$, is an encouraging baseline. However, the other two factors force r < c/d. Decoherence makes it difficult to have larger values of l, assuming optimistically that $l/d \approx 1/100$ then yields

$$r \approx \left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\right)^2 10^8 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}.$$
 (1.29)

Thus, we see that pushing full quantum control of masses approaching the planck mass for the particles in superposition holds the key to witnessing this quantum gravitational effects. In particular, to have for $r \approx 1 \text{ s}^{-1}$, which requires the coherence to last at least as long, means $m \approx 10^{-4} m_{\rm P} \approx 10^{-12}$ kg.

These are rough³ figurings, but they give an idea of the requirements on the experiments. The details of course will depend on the specifics of the setup.

As mentioned above, while a precise measurement of the entanglement rate can serve as a *quantitative* test for of quantum gravity, the simple detection of the presence of entanglement at the moment of measurement is an interesting *qualitative* test. Indeed, as we will see in the next chapter, detecting the presence of *some* entanglement is sufficient to conclude that the field mediating the interaction between the two masses is not a classical field. Thus one is interested in experimental protocols capable of verifying the presence of entanglement, which we will also cover in the next chapter.

³For reference, the parameters in the original proposal are $m \approx 10^{-14}$ kg, $l \approx 250 \ \mu \text{m}$, $d \approx 200 \ \mu \text{m}$, which yield $\delta \phi \approx 0.5$.

Chapter 2

Quantum Information Theory

Quantum mechanics is astonishingly simple—once you take the physics out of it!

Scott Aaronson [135]

Claude Shannon formalised the concept of *information* carried by a system as the number of perfectly distinguishable states it can be in and introduced the concept of a *bit* a system that can be in either of two perfectly distinguishable states [240, 241]. These states are generally denoted 0 and 1. The bit is the fundamental unit of information, as it can be used to represent the truth value of a given proposition. In other words, it can be the answer to any "yes or no" question. If the state of the bit is not known with certainty, one can assign a probability distribution $\{p_0, p_1\}$ over its two possible values, where $p_0 + p_1 = 1$. Note that a classical bit can be embodied by any number of systems, from coins to switches. This is an advantage, as it makes information an abstraction similar to the notion of numbers. Indeed, classical information theory is the study of how information can be manipulated, processed and transmitted, by considering *abstract* manipulations of strings of 0s and 1s.

Quantum information theory is similarly centred around the concept of a *qubit*: a quantum system that can be in two perfectly distinguishable states. A bit can be encoded in the value of the z-component of the spin of an electron, or its xcomponent, or the component along any axis in fact. Any two-valued observable will do. Once chosen, it will be called the *computational basis* and its two eigenstates will be called $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$. A generic *pure state* will be given by a Hilbert space vector

$$\psi \rangle = \alpha \left| 0 \right\rangle + \beta \left| 1 \right\rangle, \tag{2.1}$$

for two complex numbers α and β such that $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1$. The two states

$$|\pm\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|0\rangle \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|1\rangle \tag{2.2}$$

are often used. The overall phase is irrelevant, and it follows that any qubit pure

state can be labelled by two real numbers $(\theta, \phi) \in [0, \pi] \times [0, 2\pi]$ and ϕ as

$$|\psi\rangle = \cos\frac{\theta}{2} |0\rangle + e^{i\phi}\sin\frac{\theta}{2} |1\rangle.$$
 (2.3)

Thus, the pure states of a qubit correspond to a two-dimensional sphere, known as the Riemann, or Bloch, sphere. Antipodes of the sphere correspond to perfectly distinguishable states.

Classic examples of qubits include the spin of an electron and the polarisation of a laser, but *any* two-dimensional subspace of a quantum system will do the job. Then quantum information theory studies the information processing that collections of such finite-dimensional quantum systems afford, assuming (perfect or limited) control of these systems. From this point of view, a system associated with a *d*-dimensional Hilbert space is equivalent to any other system associated with a *d*-dimensional Hilbert space. Quantum information theory is the theory of the general evolution of finite-dimensional systems given arbitrary manipulation powers. The protocol that are thus devised can then be implemented on a number of different substrates.

2.1 Operational formalism

The state vector representation is somewhat limited for the needs of quantum information theory. Dealing with multiple subsystems, classical information, and classical uncertainty naturally leads to consider *density operators* as representing the state of the system, and study the evolution of these operators. We now provide a brief review.

2.1.1 Density operators

A density operator, or density matrix, ρ is a trace 1, positive operator. The density operator is used to compute expectation values as follows. If the state of a system is ρ , then the expectation value of an observable A is

$$\langle A \rangle = \operatorname{tr} A \rho. \tag{2.4}$$

After finding the value a of the observable, one updates the state to

$$\rho \longmapsto \frac{|a\rangle\!\langle a|\,\rho}{\operatorname{tr}|a\rangle\!\langle a|\,\rho}.\tag{2.5}$$

During unitary evolution U of the system, the density operator evolves as

$$\rho \longmapsto U \rho U^{\dagger}.$$
 (2.6)

One reason to use the density matrix is that it allows to encode classical uncertainty about the quantum state. If you believe that a system is in state $|\psi\rangle$ with probability p and in state $|\phi\rangle$ with probability 1 - p, then the expectation value for any observable A is given by

$$\langle A \rangle = p \langle \psi | A | \psi \rangle + (1 - p) \langle \phi | A | \phi \rangle.$$
(2.7)

This can easily be cast in the form (2.4) by using a resolution of the identity:

$$\langle A \rangle = \sum_{i} \left(p \left\langle \psi | i \right\rangle \langle i | A | \psi \rangle + (1 - p) \left\langle \phi | i \right\rangle \langle i | A | \phi \rangle \right)$$

=
$$\sum_{i} \left\langle i | A (p | \psi \rangle \langle \psi | + (1 - p) | \phi \rangle \langle \phi | \right) | i \rangle$$
(2.8)
$$\langle A \rangle = \operatorname{tr} \rho A,$$

where we have defined

$$\rho = p \left| \psi \right\rangle \!\! \left\langle \psi \right| + (1 - p) \left| \phi \right\rangle \!\! \left\langle \phi \right|.$$
(2.9)

In general, a density operator can be used to compute the probabilities of measurements performed on statistical ensembles of states. Given a set of states $\{|\psi_n\rangle\}$, if a quantum system is with probability p_n in the state $|\psi_n\rangle$, then the statistics of measurements will be reproduced by

$$\rho = \sum_{n} p_n \left| \psi_n \right\rangle \!\! \left\langle \psi_n \right| \tag{2.10}$$

and the rules (2.4) and (2.5). Note that a given mixed ρ will correspond to multiple ensembles. Indeed, the computation above shows us that *different* ensembles represented by *same* density operator cannot be distinguished by any kind of measurement.

It is useful to draw a distinction between *pure* and *mixed* states. A pure state satisfies

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho^2 = 1, \tag{2.11}$$

while for a mixed state

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho^2 < 1.$$
 (2.12)

By diagonalising the density operator, and using the property tr $\rho = 1$, one sees that a pure state is always of the form $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$, while a mixed state will always reproduce the statistics of a statistical ensemble of states. Since there is a bijection between the Hilbert space rays and the pure density operators, the density operator formalism is a proper generalisation of the Hilbert space vector. Finally, let us mention the existence of a special density operator, the *mixed state*

$$\frac{1}{d} \sum_{i=1}^{d} |i\rangle\!\langle i|, \qquad (2.13)$$

which represents the state of minimal information about a system.

2.1.2 Bloch ball

Let us consider as an example the state space for qubits. The space of density operators for a qubit is the set of 2×2 positive matrices. There is a neat way to visualise it. The 2×2 identity matrix

$$\mathbb{I} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{2.14}$$

and the Pauli matrices

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.15)$$

form a basis for self-adjoint 2×2 matrices. If \vec{r} is a 3-component vector of unit norm, then the matrix

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{I} + \frac{1}{2}\vec{r}\cdot\vec{\sigma},\tag{2.16}$$

is a unit trace, positive operator. Thus, the space of density operators of a qubit is isomorphic to a 2 dimensional ball, the *Bloch ball*. The boundary consists of the pure states, and the inside the mixed states.

In the QI literature, the Pauli matrices are often represented as X, Y, and Z.

2.1.3 Partial trace

Density matrices are useful in quantum information theory also because they naturally come up in the study of multiple systems. Given two systems associated with Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 , respectively, the Hilbert space of the combined system is given by the tensor product $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$ of the two Hilbert spaces. Given bases $\{|a\rangle\}$ and $\{|m\rangle\}$ for \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 , the set of states $\{|am\rangle \equiv |a\rangle \otimes |m\rangle\}$ forms a basis for the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$, and a generic pure state will be written as

$$\sum_{am} \alpha_{am} \left| am \right\rangle. \tag{2.17}$$

One might be interested in the statistics of measurements on \mathcal{H}_1 only. Say for example one is doing a projective measurement $\{P_k\}$ on the first subsystem, then the probability of obtaining the result k, given the state above is

$$\langle P_k \otimes \mathbb{I} \rangle = \sum_{mnab} \alpha_{am}^* \langle am | (P_k \otimes \mathbb{I}) \alpha_{am} | bn \rangle,$$
 (2.18)

where \mathbb{I} represents the identity on \mathcal{H}_2 . One can rearrange the expression as

$$\langle P_k \otimes \mathbb{I} \rangle = \sum_{mnab} \alpha^*_{am} \alpha_{bn} \langle a | P_k | b \rangle \langle m | n \rangle$$

=
$$\sum_{mab} \alpha^*_{am} \alpha_{bm} \langle a | P_k | b \rangle$$

$$\langle P_k \otimes \mathbb{I} \rangle = \operatorname{tr} \sum_{mab} \alpha^*_{am} \alpha_{bm} P_k | b \rangle \langle a | .$$
 (2.19)

We see that the right-hand-side of the last equality only involves the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_1 . It would be desirable to find a state ρ_1 associated only with \mathcal{H}_1 that is able to reproduce the statistics of measurements on \mathcal{H}_1 , given the state ρ . Indeed, this is possible by *tracing out* system 2. Define the *partial trace* over the system 2 as

$$\operatorname{tr}_{2}|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\otimes|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|=|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\operatorname{tr}(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|).$$
(2.20)

Then we can assign a state to system 1 by tracing out system 2:

$$\rho_1 = \operatorname{tr}_2 \rho; \tag{2.21}$$

 ρ_1 is known as the *reduced state*. It easy to check that this produces the correct statistics for measurements on subsystem 1 only, *i.e.*,

$$\langle P_k \otimes \mathbb{I} \rangle = \operatorname{tr} P_k \rho_1. \tag{2.22}$$

By using the fact that the trace yields an inner product on the space of self-adjoint operators, one can show that ρ_1 is the only density operator that does the job for all observables.

Even though we started with the pure state (2.17), considering measurements on subsystems naturally leads to density operators and potentially mixed states. Density operators are the natural objects to study multipartite systems. Also interesting to note that the reduced state ρ_1 will in general be a mixed state even though the original state ρ is pure. This is one of the hallmarks of entanglement, as we will see in section 2.2, and will play a crucial role in the phenomenon of decoherence, section 2.3. A mixed state can reproduce the statistics of different ensembles, but it also reproduces the statistics of a system that is entangled with an unobserved system.

2.1.4 Evolution, instruments and channels

Since the density operator is a natural generalisation the state vector in the context of classical uncertainty and multipartite systems, and since quantum information theory is interested in arbitrary manipulations of a given system, it is good to study possible maps between density operators on their own terms. We proceed in an axiomatic way, and then connect with a physical interpretation. This argument is similar to that in [183].

First, let us allow that the input and output Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_{in} and \mathcal{H}_{out} are different. This way, we can represent operations such as adjoining a system, or ignoring parts of the system. Since quantum experiments yield different outcomes probabilistically, we define an evolution by a set of maps $\mathcal{E} = \{E_i\}$ from positive operators on \mathcal{H}_{in} to positive operators on \mathcal{H}_{out} , where *i* labels one of the mutually exclusive outcomes. We ask that tr $E_i\rho$ is the probability of the outcome *i* to happen and thus that

$$0 \le \operatorname{tr} E_i \rho \le 1$$
 and $\sum_i \operatorname{tr} E_i \rho = 1,$ (2.23)

for all density operators ρ . Next, we ask each of the E_i to be *convex linear*, meaning that

$$E_i(p\rho + (1-p)\sigma) = pE_i\rho + (1-p)E_i\sigma$$
(2.24)

for any two states ρ and σ and probability p. This is so that the probabilities given by tr $E_i\rho$ behave consistently with stochastic mixtures. Finally, we want the state after applying E_i to still be a positive operator. This requires that E_i is a *completely positive* map. *Positive* means that $E_i\rho$ is a positive operator on \mathcal{H}_{out} whenever ρ is a positive operator on \mathcal{H}_{in} . *Completely positive* means that, for arbitrary \mathcal{H}_A , $(I_{\mathcal{H}_A} \otimes E_i)$ is a positive map from the operators on $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{in}$ to those on $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{out}$, where $I_{\mathcal{H}_A}$ is the identity map on operators of \mathcal{H}_A . The requirement of complete positivity ensures that the applying \mathcal{E} to a subsystem always yields a well-defined state of the combined system. In sum, each of the maps E_i is a trace non-increasing, completely positive (CP) map. If the outcome *i* attains, then the state is updated to

$$\rho \longmapsto \frac{E_i \rho}{\operatorname{tr} E_i \rho},\tag{2.25}$$

which is again a density operator. The set $\mathcal{E} = \{E_i\}$ is called an *instrument*, or *quantum operation*. We can also define a map induced by \mathcal{E} itself. If we do not know or care about the result, we weight each of the outcomes above by their probability $p(i|\rho, \mathcal{E}) = \operatorname{tr} E_i \rho$ and then we have

$$\mathcal{E}\rho = \sum_{i} p(i|\rho, \mathcal{E}) \frac{E_i \rho}{\operatorname{tr} E_i \rho} = \sum_{i} E_i \rho.$$
(2.26)

Any evolution with a single outcome, like \mathcal{E} , or an instrument with a single outcome, is known as a *quantum channel*, and is represented by a *completely positive, trace preserving* (CPTP) map. The formalism of positive operators and completely positive maps is the most general way to formulate the evolution of quantum systems.

Let us connect this rather abstract formalism to unitary evolution. If a system undergoes a unitary evolution U, then its density operator changes as

$$\rho \longmapsto U[\rho] = U\rho U^{\dagger}, \qquad (2.27)$$

which is derived by evolving each state in an ensemble that gives ρ . The map U is then known as a *unitary channel*. Suppose instead that the system under consideration interacts with another system initially in a pure state $|a\rangle$, so that the evolution of the combined system is a unitary channel, and then the second system is ignored. The resulting evolution for the state ρ of the initial system is

$$\rho \longmapsto \operatorname{tr}_2 \left[U[\rho \otimes |a\rangle \langle a|] \right]. \tag{2.28}$$

This is a CPTP map. Indeed, any CPTP map can be represented this way, this result is known as Stinespring dilation [250]. Say that the ancillary system instead is subjected to a projective measurement represented by the projectors $\{P_k\}$, then each map

$$\rho \longmapsto \left[(I \otimes P_k) U[\rho \otimes |a\rangle \langle a|] \right]. \tag{2.29}$$

is a trace non-increasing CP map, and together they form an operation. Thus every instrument can be understood as the system interacting with an ancilla, and then the ancilla being measured. This result is known as Ozawa dilation [193].

2.2 Entanglement

It is hard to understate the importance of quantum entanglement in the field of quantum information. The use of entangled states is the key element in many of the protocols that make quantum information superior to classical information, such as secure distribution of cryptographic keys [96]; superdense coding [23], in which re-uniting two entangled qubits allows to transmit two bits of information while transmitting a single qubit; quantum state teleportation [22], allowing to transfer a full qubit state by sending two classical bits of information; and Shor's algorithm [242] for factoring large numbers.

Operationally, the property that makes entangled states special is that they allow to create correlations between spatially separated system that are stronger than what can be achieved with classical information systems. These correlations are so strong, in fact, that they put in question our very notions of agency and causality. We are referring of course to Bell's theorems¹ [16, 18], which we will discuss later in more detail, in section 3.4.

We will forego a detailed explanation of the various applications of quantum entanglement, referring the reader to standard texts, such as [137, 183]. In this section, we will focus on the most relevant part of quantum entanglement for the work in this thesis, namely, the experimental certification of entanglement and its role in the decoherence process.

The mathematical definition of entanglement is as follows. Given two systems associated with Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 , respectively, the Hilbert space of the combined system is given by the tensor product $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$ of the two Hilbert spaces. A state ρ of the combined system is said to be *separable* if it can be written as a convex combination of a number of factor states, *i.e.* if

$$\rho = \sum_{n} p_n \ \rho_n \otimes \sigma_n. \tag{2.30}$$

A state is *entangled* if it is not separable.

2.2.1 Entanglement certification

Given the state of a system, one can check if the state is entangled by checking that it is not separable. If the full state ρ is pure, then there is fairly easy way check if the system is entangled or not. If $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ then ρ is separable if and only if $|\psi\rangle$ is separable, meaning $|\psi\rangle = |a\rangle |b\rangle$. However, unavoidable measurement noise and interactions with the environment will cause most systems to display mixed state statistics. Thus we need criteria to detect separability in mixed states. In general, for an arbitrary tensor decomposition of an arbitrary Hilbert space, proving that a given state is separable is quite hard, approaching NP-hardness, but there are a number of both necessary and sufficient conditions for separability (see [159] and citations therein).

An easy to check, sufficient condition for separability is known as the *positive* partial transpose criterion. The partial transpose ρ^{Γ} of a bipartite state ρ is obtained by transposing on only one of the subspaces:

$$\langle im|\rho^{\Gamma}|jn\rangle = \langle in|\rho|jm\rangle.$$
 (2.31)

If ρ^{Γ} is a positive operator, then ρ is separable [201]. For states of $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ and $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^3$, this condition is both necessary and sufficient [136]. This is all that would

¹While not every entangled state allows to violate the Bell inequalities on their own, for any state ρ that does not violate the inequalities, there is another state σ that also does not violate the inequalities, such that $\rho \otimes \sigma$ allows the violation [170]. This means that any entangled state ρ displays qualities that cannot be replicated by classically correlated systems.

be needed in practice to verify or falsify the presence of entanglement in the GME experiment discussed in section 1.4.1.

Knowledge of the full quantum state can only be obtained via quantum state tomography. In quantum state tomography, one measures the expectation values of a set of different observables that are sufficient to fix all the independent components of the quantum state. This process can be quite costly, as it requires to perform the experiment repeatedly to estimate with enough precision all of the observables.

Consider for example the case of two qubits. A positive operator on $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ has 16 complex components. Self-adjointedness implies that the four diagonal components are real and of the remaining 12, only 6 are free to take any complex value. The trace 1 requirement imposes one further real constraint, so there are in total $4 + 6 \times 2 - 1 = 15$ free real components. These can be obtained by measuring $\langle \sigma_{\mu} \otimes \sigma_{\nu} \rangle$, $\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$, where σ_0 is the identity, and σ_i are the Pauli matrices. In practice, this requires only 9 different measurement schemes, one for each correlation $\langle \sigma_i \otimes \sigma_j \rangle$, as the remaining 6 single-system expectation values can be obtained from the resulting data set. In general, for N qubits, there are $4^N - 1$ real components, that can be estimated with 3^N measurements schemes. The fact that the state can be inferred by performing measurements on each system separately, a property known as *tomographic locality*, plays a key role in the reconstructions of quantum mechanics, see section 3.1.

Fortunately, there also exist techniques that provide a sufficient condition to detect the presence of entanglement without knowing the quantum state. One such condition is of course the violation of a Bell inequality. But not all entangled states allow the violation of a Bell inequality on their own. A more practical technique is that of detection of entanglement via an *entanglement witness* [136, 252]. An entanglement witness W is an observable such that

$$\operatorname{tr} W\sigma \ge 0 \tag{2.32}$$

for all separable σ but

$$\operatorname{tr} W\rho_0 < 0 \tag{2.33}$$

for at least one entangled state ρ_0 . It follows that any state such that tr $W\rho > 0$ is an entangled state. Thus, measuring a negative expectation value for W in the lab implies that the state generated is an entangled state. The intuition behind this is pretty simple. We recall the map

$$(A,B) \longmapsto \operatorname{tr} AB \tag{2.34}$$

is a scalar product on the space of Hermitian operators, making the latter a normed real vector space. The set of S separable density operators is a convex subset of this space. It follows that for any point ρ_0 not in S, there is a hyperplane separating S from ρ_0 . Then every point on the same side of the hyperplane as ρ_0 is automatically not in S.

Note an important difference between an entanglement witness and the violation of a Bell inequality: the latter is relatively theory-independent. To claim that one has seen a negative value for $\langle W \rangle$ implies one is confident in the workings of one's apparata and knows what observables are being measured. This normally entails assumptions about the quantum physics of the experimental setup. In contrast, Bell's theorem imposes constraints on correlations between a set of observables, regardless of what these observables are, thus, a violation of a Bell inequality is said to be a *device independent* way of certifying entanglement.

2.2.2 Application to the GME

Having an idea of the state of your system helps to build the entanglement witness W to certify the presence of entanglement. As we saw in section 1.4.1, quantum gravity predicts that the state of the spins at the end of the experiment is

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{\mathrm{M}} = \left|0\right\rangle \left(e^{i\tilde{\phi}_{LR}}\left|0\right\rangle + \left|1\right\rangle\right) + \left|1\right\rangle \left(\left|0\right\rangle + e^{i\tilde{\phi}_{RL}}\left|1\right\rangle\right),\tag{2.35}$$

where we are using the computational basis $|0\rangle = |\uparrow\rangle$, $|1\rangle = |\downarrow\rangle$ In practice, the actual state might differ from the one above because there will be noise in the implementation of the experiment, but the actual state should approximate this one. Bose *et.al.* [34] proposed this entanglement witness

$$W_{\rm B} = I \otimes I - \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_z - \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y, \qquad (2.36)$$

which evaluates to

$$\langle W_{\rm B} \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \left[1 + \cos\left(\tilde{\phi}_{RL} - \tilde{\phi}_{LR}\right) + \cos\tilde{\phi}_{RL} - \cos\tilde{\phi}_{LR} \right], \qquad (2.37)$$

where we recall that $\tilde{\phi}_{RL}$ and $\tilde{\phi}_{LR}$ are proportional and grow linearly in time, with $\tilde{\phi}_{RL} > \tilde{\phi}_{LR}$. While $\langle W_{\rm B} \rangle$ will eventually become negative, Chevalier *et.al.* [54] pointed out that the witness

$$W_{\rm C} = I \otimes I - \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x + \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_y + \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_z, \qquad (2.38)$$

which gives

$$\langle W_{\rm C} \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \left[1 - \cos\left(\tilde{\phi}_{LR} - \tilde{\phi}_{RL}\right) - \sin\tilde{\phi}_{LR} - \sin\tilde{\phi}_{RL} - \sin\left(\tilde{\phi}_{LR} - \tilde{\phi}_{RL}\right) \right], \quad (2.39)$$

is negative for arbitrarily small values of free fall time, and is thus better suited to the experiment.

2.2.3 Local operations, classical communication

A well-known result in quantum information theory is that two spatially separated agents, each acting on their own quantum system, cannot create entanglement between their systems, even if they coordinate their actions by transmission of classical information [137].

The argument is quite simple. A *local operation* is represented by a map $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}$, where \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{F} are channels. The channels could represent an instrument where no post-selection is made on the basis of the result; this is because the two parties are not allowed to communicate, so they cannot coordinate their behaviour. Allowing one transmission of classical information from one party to the other, allows the choice of one operation conditional on the result of the other. This situation is one
round of LOCC (local operations and classical communications) and is represented 2 by a map

$$\sum_{i} E_i \otimes \mathcal{F}^{(i)}, \tag{2.40}$$

where $\{E_i\}$ is an instrument and each $\mathcal{F}^{(i)}$ is a channel. The $\mathcal{F}^{(i)}$ s have to be deterministic channels as the second party is not allowed to send the result of their operation to the first party in this scenario. The map representing a round of LOCC where the second party sends information to the first is defined similarly. If the state of the system is initially separable, it will still be separable after one round of LOCC, since

$$\sum_{i} \left(E_{i} \otimes \mathcal{F}^{(i)} \right) \left(\rho \otimes \sigma \right) = \sum_{i} E_{i} \rho \otimes \mathcal{F}^{(i)} \sigma = \sum_{i} p_{i} \rho_{i} \otimes \sigma_{i}.$$
(2.41)

Thus an initially separable state will remain separable after any number of LOCC rounds.

This result was used in [34] to argue that the detection of GME would prove that gravity is a quantum force. However, as pointed out by [164], one might distrust this argument based completely on quantum theory, as we do not know that gravity obeys either quantum or classical laws, and might follow a new set of laws. They argue that one ideally needs a similar argument in a more general framework. This is achieved in [165] and [112], as explained in sections 2.4 and 2.5.

2.3 Decoherence

Decoherence is the phenomenon by which quantum interference effects are cancelled because of entanglement. As we will see, a certain amount of decoherence is inevitable in most realistic setups, as the environment will get entangled with the system under consideration. This suppresses interference effects in systems that have undergone large spatial superpositions. Decoherence is one of the main obstacles in performing quantum experiments. On the other hand, decoherence is one of the main mechanisms that allows the classical world to emerge from the quantum world, as we will see in chapter 8.

2.3.1 In the double slit experiment

Decoherence is most easily demonstrated by considering the double-slit experiment with photons.

Suppose the state of the photons at the screen is given by

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\psi_A\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\psi_B\rangle, \qquad (2.42)$$

where $|\psi_A\rangle$ is the what state would be if only slit A were open and $|\psi_B\rangle$ the one with only B open. The density of the detection events on the screen, as a function

 $^{^{2}}$ This argument can easily be extended to model the transmission of information by an actual physical system. We will not do this here, since we will overview a more general argument in section 2.5.

of the position z, is given by

$$I_{\psi}(z) \propto |\langle z|\psi\rangle|^2 = \frac{1}{2} |\langle z|\psi_A\rangle + \langle z|\psi_B\rangle|^2.$$
(2.43)

The resulting pattern is not proportional to the average of the intensities resulting from having either one or the other slit open:

$$I_{\psi}(z) \neq I_A(z) + I_B(z) \propto |\langle z|\psi_A \rangle|^2 + |\langle z|\psi_B \rangle|^2.$$
(2.44)

Notably, I_{ψ} has dark bands, known as interference fringes, where $I_A + I_B$ has none.

Now let us include a nearby atom in the description, which could be in either of two states $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$. Let us assume that the state of the whole system is then

$$|\Psi\rangle|0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\psi_A\rangle|0\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\psi_B\rangle|0\rangle. \qquad (2.45)$$

Of course, the resulting pattern on the screen is the same as in (2.43). However the formula is obtained by tracing away the atom

$$I_{\Psi}(z) \propto \langle z | (\operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{atom}} |\Psi \rangle \langle \Psi |) | z \rangle$$
 (2.46)

where, by definition,

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{atom}}(|\Psi\rangle\!\langle\Psi|) = \langle 0|\Psi\rangle\!\langle\Psi|0\rangle + \langle 1|\Psi\rangle\!\langle\Psi|1\rangle = |\psi\rangle\!\langle\psi|\,, \qquad (2.47)$$

so that, indeed $I_{\Psi}(z) = I_{\psi}(z)$.

Consider now a modification of the experiment where, whenever a photon [104] is sent through the slits, a new atom in the state $|0\rangle$ is placed in the middle of slit *B*. Suppose that the energy of the photon is such that it causes a transition $|0\rangle \mapsto |1\rangle$ when it interacts with the atom. Thus the state of the photon and atom system is

$$\left|\Phi\right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left|\psi_A\right\rangle \left|0\right\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left|\psi_B\right\rangle \left|1\right\rangle.$$
(2.48)

The atom is now entangled with the path of the photon, and the resulting slit pattern on the screen will be different. Indeed,

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{atom}} |\Phi\rangle\!\langle\Phi| = \frac{1}{2} |\psi_A\rangle\!\langle\psi_A| + \frac{1}{2} |\psi_B\rangle\!\langle\psi_B|, \qquad (2.49)$$

so that the intensity on the screen will be

$$I_{\Phi}(z) \propto |\langle z|\psi_A \rangle|^2 + \langle z|\psi_B \rangle|^2 \propto I_A(z) + I_B(z).$$
(2.50)

Even though each photon is still in a superposition of going through either slit, the interference fringes disappear. The entanglement between the path of the photon and the state of the atom, together with the fact that the atom is not measured by the screen, leads to the disappearance of interference effects. This allows to reason as if each photon really went through one slit or the other.

Decoherence preserves the self-consistency of quantum mechanics. The photon acts *as if* its position has been detected at one or the other slits, and this is necessary, because one could decide to measure the atom to learn where the photon has been. One could measure the atom any time after the interaction, or the atom itself could be part of the measuring apparatus. This is seen as an example of the possibility of consistently moving the Heisenberg cut between the quantum description and the classical one.

Let us consider a slightly different scenario, in which the photon leaves the atom in the state $|\alpha\rangle = \cos \alpha |0\rangle + \sin \alpha |1\rangle$, resulting in the state

$$\left|\Phi_{\alpha}\right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left|\psi_{A}\right\rangle \left|0\right\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left|\psi_{B}\right\rangle \left|\alpha\right\rangle.$$
(2.51)

Then,

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{atom}} |\Phi_{\alpha}\rangle\!\langle\Phi_{\alpha}| = \frac{1}{2} |\psi_{A}\rangle\!\langle\psi_{A}| + \frac{1}{2} |\psi_{B}\rangle\!\langle\psi_{B}| + \frac{1}{2} \cos(\alpha) \left(|\psi_{A}\rangle\!\langle\psi_{B}| + |\psi_{B}\rangle\!\langle\psi_{A}|\right).$$
(2.52)

Thus we see that, as α changes from 0 to $\pi/2$, the off-diagonal entries in the reduced state for the path gradually disappear. The interference effect is reduced only to the extent that a measurement of the atom can give reliable which-way information about the path of the photon. In this way, decoherence can be seen as a consequence of information about a system leaking out into the world.

2.3.2 Inevitable environmental decoherence

In a real experiment, it is impossible to completely isolate the system under study from the rest of the world. Since the experimental apparatus is at finite temperature, there will be a thermal photon bath in the cavity, and since it is impossible to make a perfect vacuum, there will always be some probability that the system collides with some stray gas molecule. These interactions will lead to entanglement between the system and the environment and lead to decoherence.

Say the system and environment are initially in the product state

$$|\Psi_{t_0}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|0\rangle + |1\rangle) |\psi\rangle, \qquad (2.53)$$

where $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$ denote two different semi-classical states centred around two different locations. The environment is affected differently depending on the position of the particle and, at some later time t_1 , the total system is in the state

$$|\Psi_{t_1}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |0\rangle |\psi_0\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |1\rangle |\psi_1\rangle.$$
 (2.54)

Experiments on the particle alone will be ruled by the reduced state

$$\rho = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{E}} |\Psi_{t_1}\rangle \langle \Psi_{t_1}| = \frac{1}{2} (|0\rangle \langle 0| + |1\rangle \langle 1| + \epsilon |0\rangle \langle 1| + \epsilon^* |1\rangle \langle 0|), \qquad (2.55)$$

where $\epsilon = \langle \psi_1 | \psi_0 \rangle$. The time-evolution of the reduced state ρ can be modelled in various situations with the help of the *master equation* [218]:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x | \rho | x' \rangle = \frac{i}{\hbar} \langle x | [\rho, H] | x' \rangle - \Gamma(x - x') \langle x | \rho | x' \rangle, \qquad (2.56)$$

where the first term is just the Schrödinger evolution induced by the dynamics of the particle alone, and the second term causes the off-diagonal terms to decay exponentially in time. The function Γ determines the decoherence rate, and can be modelled by

$$\Gamma(\Delta x) = \gamma \left(1 - \exp\left[-\left(\frac{\Delta x}{2a}\right)^2 \right] \right), \qquad (2.57)$$

were $\gamma > 0$ is a constant *localisation strength* and a > 0 is a *localisation length*. The precise values for these parameters have to be derived by modelling the interactions of the particle with the particular environment. There are two different regimes, known as long-wavelength (LW) and short-wavelength (SW) regimes, depending on wether $\Delta x \ll 2a$ or $\Delta x \gg 2a$. In the LW regime we have

$$\Gamma_{\rm LW}(\Delta x) \approx \gamma \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{4a^2} \equiv \Lambda(\Delta x)^2,$$
(2.58)

so that decay rate is proportional to the square of the distance in the superposition, with some proportionality factor Λ . In contrast, in the SW regime, the decoherence rate reaches a maximum

$$\Gamma_{\rm SW}(\Delta x) \approx \gamma.$$
 (2.59)

This corresponds to regimes where a single interaction can completely localise the particle.

In the experiments considered in this thesis, interactions with thermal photons will lead to LW decoherence, as the average wavelength of a photon at 5 K is about 1 mm, which is much larger than the superposition sizes considered. Interactions with gas molecules, on the other hand, will be in the SW regime, as the typical de Broglie wavelength of a gas molecule will be smaller than the superposition size.

2.4 General probabilistic theories

We now broaden our horizons to consider a framework that generalises the operational formulation of quantum theory. The main idea behind operationalism is that any scientific theory should—at the very least—provide probabilistic predictions about laboratory procedures. One might argue that a good theory scientific theory should also provide an explanation, or a picture of what is going on in nature, and tell us something about the world outside our laboratories, but a theory cannot be a good scientific theory if it can't tell us what happens in a given experiment.

This idea has led to the development of a few related mathematical frameworks, most notably Generalised Probabilistic Theories (GPTs) [13], Operational Probabilistic Theories (OPTs) [73], and Process Theories [68], and, more recently, Constructor Theory [163]. These are frameworks in which the predictive content of different physical theories can be formulated and compared. They are of great use in studying the information-processing capabilities of different theories, in a similar way that, say, linear algebra is useful in studying the formal properties of physical theories as different as quantum mechanics and fluid dynamics: knowing that your theory is a OPT with such and such properties allows you to immediately derive a host of results. For example, as we will shortly see, in every GPT it is impossible to send a signal without exchanging a system. These frameworks have been put to fruitful use in the programme of the reconstruction of quantum mechanics, as we will see in section 3.1. Here instead, we will provide a brief introduction to GPTs, which we will use in the next section for a proof of the no-go theorem by Galley, Giacomini, and Selby [112] about the non-classical nature of the gravitational field.

2.4.1 States, transformations and effects

Mathematically, a GPT system S consists of a convex set of states Σ_S , a convex set of transformations T_S and a convex set of effects E_S . In general there will be a vector space V_S associated with S, such that the states correspond to vectors, effects to dual vectors and transformations to linear maps $V_S \to V_S$. States, effects and transformations are called *processes*.

Operationally, the states Σ_S correspond to equivalence classes of preparations of the system, the transformations T_S correspond manipulations (including observations) that can be done to the system without destroying it or losing it and effects E_S represent manipulations (including observations) after which the system is then destroyed or simply ignored.

GPTs come with an expressive diagrammatic calculus in which systems are represented by (labelled) wires

$$S$$
 (2.60)

and processes are represented by boxes with dangling wires

$$\begin{bmatrix} S \\ T \\ S \end{bmatrix}$$
 (2.61)

In particular, states have no input wires and effects have no output wires:

$$\frac{|S|}{|S|} \qquad \qquad \underbrace{\stackrel{e}{|S|}}{|S|} \qquad (2.62)$$

The diagrammatic calculus becomes particularly useful when one starts considering different systems and how they interact. Two GPT systems can be composed in parallel by using the tensor product structure of the associated spaces. The resulting system is then represented by wires side by side

$$\left| \begin{array}{c} S \end{array} \right| P \quad (2.63)$$

The multi-system diagrammatic calculus provides two related advantages over traditional "1D" formulas. First, a formal advantage, since it makes redundant a number of equations relating parallel and sequential composition. For example, the property

$$(f_2 \circ f_1) \otimes (g_2 \circ g_1) = (f_2 \otimes g_2) \circ (f_1 \otimes g_1) \tag{2.64}$$

becomes self-evident, as when building the diagrams corresponding to the left hand side and the right hand side of the formula above, one obtains the same diagram, namely,



The second advantage is one of readability: when there are many systems interacting, it can start to become difficult to read the formulas, while the diagrams remain lucid.

2.4.2 Probabilistic interpretation

A diagram with no free dangling wires such as

corresponds to a scalar (a state in the trivial GPT system). By adding extra conditions on a GPT, one can interpret every scalar as a probability. In some GPTs, there is a distinguished effect, called the *discard*, represented as

$$\frac{=}{1}$$
, (2.67)

which represents ignoring the system from that point onwards. This allows to define probabilities in the following way. Let us introduce the empty diagram

$$\langle \hat{} \rangle$$
 (2.68)

to represent the number 1. Then a set of states $\{\sigma_i\}$ such that

$$\sum_{i} \frac{\overline{\overline{o}_{i}}}{\overline{o}_{i}} = \langle \hat{\overline{o}} \rangle \qquad (2.69)$$

represents a preparation with a probabilistic outcome, where the label i serves to identify the different possible outcomes. Then the probability of outcome i happening is given by

$$P(i|\{\sigma_i\}) = \frac{1}{\langle \sigma_i \rangle}.$$
 (2.70)

A normalised state, is one such that

Similarly, an operation, also known as an *instrument* is a set of transformations $\{T_i\}$ such that

$$\sum_{i} \boxed{T_{i}} = \boxed{}$$
(2.72)

and the probability of the particular transformation T_i happening, given that the system was in the state σ is

The requirement of convexity is now understood as the requirement that, given the experimental ability of preparing the state σ and the ability of preparing the state σ' , one is also able to flip a biased coin and prepare the state σ with probability p or σ' with probability 1 - p. This preparation then corresponds to the state

$$p\sigma + (1-p)\sigma'. \tag{2.74}$$

2.4.3 Causality and the conservation of probabilities

As we have just seen, the discard is closely related to the idea that probabilities always sum to 1. However, there is a close relation in GPTs between the conservation of probabilities and notions of *causality*. Indeed, diagrams that only make use of deterministic processes to propagate information, two processes can affect each other only if there is a system connecting them. Moreover, the result of an operation cannot be affected by the nature of a *later* operation. Let us see why.

A transformation T' on two systems A and B

$$\begin{array}{c|c} A & B \\ \hline T \\ \hline A & B \end{array}$$
 (2.75)

is said to be non-signalling from A to B if

$$\begin{array}{cccc} A & = & A \\ \hline T & = & T' & = \\ \hline A & B & A & B \end{array}$$
(2.76)

for some T', meaning that if one ignores B after applying T, then one can compute the resulting transformation on A without knowing the initial state of B. Put in other words, the initial state of B does not affect the statistics of A via T. It is immediate to prove that any transformation of the form:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} A & B \\ \hline T \\ \hline A & B \end{array} = \begin{array}{cccc} A & B \\ \hline T_A & T_B \\ \hline S & S' \\ \hline A & \sigma \end{array} , \qquad (2.77)$$

where T_A, T_B and σ are normalised, is non-signalling from A to B and from B to A. Indeed



Note that this is quite a general statement. Indeed, σ could be a quantum entangled state, or a state of a theory that allows even stronger correlations. The only substantial requirement is that S and S' are GPT systems.

Similarly, consider a diagram of the form



where both T_1 and T_2 are normalised. Then to compute the effect on system B, there is no need to know anything about T_2 , since

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overline{T}_{2} \\ T_{2} \\ T_{1} \\ T_{1} \\ T_{1} \\ T_{1} \\ T_{1} \\ T_{1} \\ T_{2} \\ T_{2} \\ T_{2} \\ T_{1} \\ T_{2} \\$$

Thus, in GPTs, later operations do not affect the outcomes of earlier operations. This property is also called *no-signalling from the future*.

There is a stark time-directionality in this formalism. GPTs are operational theories, designed for reasoning about what happens in the lab. In most cases, one is interested in *predicting* the results of the experiment, given the setups. Thus all probabilities computed with GPTs are understood as prediction probabilities about a set of events, given knowledge about events in their past. We will have more to say about this in chapter 7.

2.4.4 Classical and non-classical systems

Quantum theory is a paradigmatic example of a GPT theory, with states as density matrices, CPTP maps as transformations and taking the trace as the unique effect.

A suitable GPT model of a finite-dimensional classical system can be constructed as follows. Let X be the finite set of configurations of the system. Then the states of the GPT are the probability distributions over X, the transformations are stochastic maps on these distributions, and the only effect (the discard) is marginalisation. The state space can be embedded in a |X|-dimensional real vector space V_X , the stochastic transformations are then represented by stochastic matrices and the discard amounts to summing all entries in the vector. Classical systems may be combined by making use of the tensor product of the underlying vector spaces.

The simplest nontrivial example of a classical system is the classical bit. It is associated with the space $X = \{0, 1\}$ and its state space is isomorphic to the line segment [0, 1]. The simplest nontrivial quantum system is the qubit, whose state space is isomorphic to a ball in 3D space.

Classical systems can be used to model measurements on non-classical systems. Let M be a convex map from the states of A to states of a classical GPT system X, and let σ be a state for system A, then



is a probability distribution over X, which can represent the probability of various outcomes of the measurement, as read on a classical pointer variable.

We can diagrammatically express what makes a system classical or not. For example, all classical systems have a crucial property, namely, that the identity operation can be decomposed as a sum of (or integral over) projectors:

$$=\sum_{x\in X} \underbrace{x}_{X}$$
(2.82)

Thus, when computing probabilities about classical systems, one can use the classical probability axiom

$$P(b|a) = \frac{A}{a} = \sum_{x \in X} \frac{A}{x} = \sum_{x \in X} \frac{A}{x} = \sum_{x \in X} \frac{A}{x} = \sum_{x \in X} P(b|x)P(x|a) \quad (2.83)$$

This can be taken as meaning that a classical system is always in one of its states, and all probabilistic considerations are a result of ignorance. Or it can be taken to say that classical systems can be measured without perturbing the state. Or yet again, there are no interference effects in classical systems. Either way, this property does not hold in a general GPT, and in particular, it does not hold in quantum theory.

Another property shared by all classical systems is that of *state separability*. A bipartite state is *separable* if it can be written as a convex combination of factored

states:

All bipartite classical systems have separable states. This follows easily from the defining property (2.82). Thus, if a GPT system has non-separable states, then the system cannot be a classical system.

2.5 A no-go theorem about the gravitational field

We have now set up the machinery needed to understand the proof of the no-go theorem by Galley, Giacomini, and Selby [112]. This theorem states that two systems can never get entangled as a result of interacting via a classical system. It implies that a positive result of the GME experiments is proof that the gravitational field is not a classical system.

More specifically, assume that we have three systems A, B, and G, such that G is a classical and that A and B interact only with G. That is, we can write the evolution of the system as:

or as a sequence of such interactions. Then A and B cannot become entangled. Indeed, assume that the three systems start in a separable state and use the defining property (2.82) of a classical system to write



(2.86)

Then define

$$p_{x} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{A} \\ I_{A} \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{bmatrix} I_{A} \\ I_{A} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{p_{x}} \begin{bmatrix} I_{A} \\ I_{A} \end{bmatrix}. \quad (2.87)$$

Since I_A , a and g are all normalised, we have $\sum_x p_x = 1$, and thus the a_x are also normalised states. Thus (2.86) already shows that A is not entangled with B and G. To show that B and G are not entangled, we use again the defining property (2.82) of classicality

where we have defined the probability distribution $p_{y|x}$ and the normalised states b_{xy} in a manner analogous p_x and a_x . Putting all together,

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
 & I_B \\
\hline I_A \\
\hline a \\
\hline y \\
\hline y \\
\hline b \\
\hline c \\
\hline c$$

The equation above shows clearly that the result of such interactions mediated by the classical system G leads to correlations, but not entanglement between A and B, as the final state is separable. This will be true of a sequence of such interactions. This completes the proof.

Thus, if we assume that the gravitational field can be represented by a GPT system (meaning broadly that it has states and observables) and that two distant systems only interact via the gravitational field, the observation of entanglement in the GME experiments means that the gravitational field is showcasing some non-classical behaviour. In particular, during the experiment it must be in a state that does not obey (2.82), which is equivalent to the notion of having non-commuting observables.

Thus, low energy quantum gravity experiments, aided by results of quantum information theory, might afford us the first glimpse of the quantum nature of gravity.

Chapter 3

Quantum Foundations

Science offers the boldest metaphysics of the age. It is a thoroughly human construct, driven by the faith that if we dream, press to discover, explain, and dream again, thereby plunging repeatedly into new terrain, the world will somehow come clearer and we will grasp the true strangeness of the universe. And the strangeness will all prove to be connected, and make sense.

Edward O. Wilson [263]

We have seen how the study of quantum information theory has led to the development of a number of tools that can be put to use in quantum gravity research. It also stimulated a systematic study of the most counter-intuitive properties of quantum systems. This is the objective of the field of quantum foundations: trying to find the answers to Wheeler's [261] question "How come the quantum?"

In this chapter, we review the reconstruction programme of quantum mechanics, which seeks to re-derive the mathematical structure of the theory from physical and operational axioms; we will look at the project of interpretations of quantum mechanics, that seeks to build a coherent picture of the unobserved world; and finally we will talk about the field of experimental metaphysics, a quantitative study of how much quantum mechanics defies intuitive physical principles.

3.1 The idea of a reconstruction

When first presented with the mathematical structure of quantum theory, students often think that it is rather abstract and seemingly arbitrary. It is not quite clear *why* systems have to be represented by rays in Hilbert space, observables by hermitian operators, and why the probabilities of various observations have to be computed using the Born rule. We learn the rules and how to apply them, and so we might forget how strange and arbitrary they appeared at first.

Compare the situation with special relativity. Physicists eventually realised that Maxwell's equations were not invariant under Galilean transformations

$$\begin{pmatrix} t \\ x \end{pmatrix} \longrightarrow \begin{pmatrix} t \\ x + vt \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.1)

but they were invariant under the Lorentz transformations

$$\begin{pmatrix} t \\ x \end{pmatrix} \longrightarrow \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - v^2/c^2}} \begin{pmatrix} t + xv/c^2 \\ x + vt \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.2)

This formula, on its own, also appears quite arbitrary. Part of the success and beauty of the theory of special relativity is that it manages to derive the formula for the Lorentz transformation purely physical postulates. Namely,

- 1. There is no such thing as absolute velocity.
- 2. The speed of light is the same in every inertial frame of reference.

Although these postulates might be counterintuitive at first sight, they are comprehensible, and they are also verified by observation. They also seem dangerously close to contradiction. Fitting them together in a coherent mathematical framework resolves this tension and recovers the Lorentz transformation. The postulates illuminate the transformation thanks to their physical nature.

Can the same be done for quantum theory? Is there a set of physically-inspired postulates that allows to derive the Hilbert space structure and helps to understand its physical significance? This are precisely the questions raised by Rovelli in 1996 [221], where he proposed a number of such postulates. But it wasn't until 2001, when Fuchs pleaded the community of quantum information theory [105], that the first reconstruction was successfully achieved by Hardy [124]. Hardy's reconstruction has subsequently been refined, and a number of other original reconstructions have appeared since [57, 74, 125, 132, 133, 146, 171, 187, 239]. In many reconstructions, quantum theory differs from classical theory by a single axiom, which then formally identifies what makes quantum special. Below, we will review two examples of differing approaches.

Besides their mathematical and philosophical interest, reformulating quantum theory in terms of physical postulates has another advantage: it suggests ways of modifying quantum theory by relaxing or replacing one of the postulates. Thus they could prove fruitful in the development of a new theory, if the task of finding a theory of quantum gravity proves impossible. In this connection, we note that there is a common feature of all reconstructions (with the notable exception of Jia's [146]): they are all time-oriented. So far, all fundamental theories of mechanics have been time-symmetric, and it is possible that quantum gravity, too, will have its notion of time-reversal symmetry. In chapter 7, we discuss the origin of this "operational" arrow of time, and argue that it is not a necessary feature of quantum theory.

3.1.1 Is entanglement special?

The reconstruction by Masanes and Müller [171] is a refinement of Dakić and Brukner's [74], which is itself a refinement of Hardy's original reconstruction [124].

It is based on the GPT framework discussed in section 2.4 and thus assumes the concepts of states, effects and transformations as primitives and seeks to fix the mathematical structure of quantum theory from the properties of systems in these prepare-and-measure scenarios.

The information carrying capacity of a system is the maximal number of perfectly distinguishable states. A set of states $\{s_1, \ldots, s_n\}$ are perfectly distinguishable if there is a measurement X with outcomes $\{x_m\}$ such that $p(x_m|s_n) = \delta_{mn}$. A pure state is a state that cannot be expressed as the convex combination of any other two states. The postulates then are:

- 1. **Finiteness.** If a system carries one bit of information, then each state is characterised by the outcome probabilities of a finite set of measurements.
- 2. Local tomography. The state of a composite system is fully characterised by the statistics of measurements performed on the subsystems.
- 3. Equivalence of subspaces. Systems that carry the same amount of information have isomorphic state spaces.
- 4. **Symmetry.** Any pure state can be reversibly transformed into any other pure state.
- 5. All measurements are allowed. Every mathematically well defined effect on a system carrying one bit corresponds to a possible measurement.

Some comments. The axioms 3, and 4 are crucial aspects of information. They codify *fungibility* of information: a bit is a bit no matter what the physical embodiment, and bits can be flipped, it does not matter which states we call 1 and which state we call 0. Axioms 1 and 2 have to do with state estimation. Finiteness says that state estimation is possible in practice, while local tomography is a form of locality: no matter how strong the correlations between the different parts of a system are, complete information about the whole system can still be recovered by probing the parts separately and then bringing the results together.

Classical probability theory and quantum theory are the only two GPTs that satisfy these 5 axioms. The authors remark that since classical probability theory is embedded in quantum theory, quantum theory is the most general GPT that satisfies the axioms. To single out quantum theory from the classical theory, one only needs to modify the requirement 4, by asking that the transformation be *continuous*.

It might appear striking that what distinguishes quantum from classical is that quantum requires a notion of *continuity* in its state space. This requirement can be understood by thinking of the paradigmatic qubits: the polarisation of a photon or the spin of an electron. These states are frame-dependent (observers in two different frames will assign a different states to these systems) and different frames are related by continuous transformations. The state of the paradigmatic classical bit is instead frame-independent.

3.1.2 Information acquisition

The reconstruction by Höhn and Wever [132, 133] focuses on how information about a system can evolve while interacting with it. Specifically, they imagine a system O interacting repeatedly with another system S, where O is capable of storing and

processing information about its interactions with S. They also assume that Ohas developed a theoretical model $(\mathcal{Q}, \Sigma, \mathcal{T})$ for its interactions with S. The set $\mathcal{Q} = \{Q_i\}$ is a catalogue of *questions* that it can ask S (interactions with discrete outcomes), Σ is a set of states, or *catalogues of knowledge*, about S, each assigning a probability y_i for the question Q_i to yield answer 'yes'. \mathcal{T} is a set of possible evolutions for the states.

They then assume that O uses broadly Bayesian methodology to update the state assigned to S, in light of the answers received from previous interactions with S. It is assumed that there is a state of no knowledge, where $y_i = 1/2$ for all questions. Two questions Q_i and Q_j are deemed *independent* if asking Q_i does not change y_j , they are deemed *complementary* if $y_i = 1$ automatically implies $y_i = 1/2$. One can then define an information measure I such that, given a maximal set of independent questions $\{Q_i\}_{i=1}^D$:

$$I: \Sigma \longrightarrow [0, +\infty[$$

$$\vec{y} \longmapsto \sum_{i=1}^{D} \alpha(y_i)$$
(3.3)

where the numbers $\alpha(y_i) \in [0, 1]$ quantify the information about every single question: -

(-1)

$$\alpha(0) = 1 = \alpha(1),$$

 $\alpha(1/2) = 0.$
(3.4)

The precise form of α is determined by the axioms. They also assume the existence of an *elementary system*, one for which $I(\vec{y}) < 1$.

By placing restrictions on the possible form of O's model about a system S_N composed of N elementary systems, one can recover quantum mechanics of N qubits. The restrictions are:

- 1. Limited information It is possible for O to acquire up to N independent bits of information about S_N .
- 2. Complementarity It is always possible for O to obtain N new independent bits of information about S_N .
- 3. Information preservation The total information O has about is constant when S_N does not interact with anything.
- 4. Time evolution O's catalogue of knowledge about S_N evolves continuously with time between interrogations and every well defined evolution is possible in practice.
- 5. Question unrestrictedness Every mathematically well-defined question can be asked by O.
- 6. Tomographic locality O can determine the state of a composite system by interrogating the N components separately.

Requirements 1 and 2 are quantitative versions of the postulates 1 and 2 initially proposed by Rovelli in [221] and later by Zeilinger and Brukner [39, 271]. These are the main difference between this reconstruction and the one above. In this reconstruction, axioms 1-5 narrow down O's theory to two alternatives: real and complex quantum theory. Real quantum theory is embedded in complex quantum theory by limiting measures of qubits on two complementary bases instead of 3. Axiom 6 serves to distinguish from the two.

3.2 The measurement problem

Thus far, reconstructions focussed on the relation one observer (or experimenter) has with a quantum system. However, problems arise when one tries to mesh the description of two observers interacting with a quantum system. The Wigner's Friend thought experiment [262], in which two different people seem to give a different account of a series of physical events, is a stark illustration of the measurement problem.

The measurement problem can be understood as the ostensible contradiction between two main rules of quantum theory. One rule states that systems undergo a continuous evolution in time described by a unitary transformation. The other states that, upon measurement, the state of the system changes abruptly according to the result of the measurement.

In the experiment, the friend owns at time t_1 a qubit prepared in the state $|+\rangle$ and at time t_2 measures it in the computational basis, obtaining either the result $|0\rangle$ or $|1\rangle$. Wigner, who (after hopefully asking for consent) had placed his friend and her whole lab in a sealed environment, gives a different account of the same events. Wigner assigns a Hilbert space \mathcal{F} to the system comprising of his friend and her lab and assigns to it the pure state $|\text{ready}\rangle$ at time t_1 . Even though it would be practically impossible to know the correct state, nothing stops Wigner from assuming that such a state exists. Since the lab is sealed, Wigner assumes that the lab and qubit system evolves unitarily according to:

$$\begin{aligned} |\text{ready}\rangle |0\rangle &\longmapsto |\text{zero}\rangle |0\rangle, \\ |\text{ready}\rangle |1\rangle &\longmapsto |\text{one}\rangle |1\rangle. \end{aligned} (3.5)$$

Again, this evolution is impossible to compute in practice, but one can assume that such an evolution occurs, and whatever the state $|\text{zero}\rangle$ actually is, it is a state peaked around a semiclassical configuration in which the friend has seen the character '0' appear on her lab equipment. Since the qubit starts in the complementary state $|+\rangle$, Wigner deduces from the linearity of unitary evolution that the evolution of the lab is t_1 to t_2 leads to

$$|\text{ready}\rangle |+\rangle \longmapsto \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\text{zero}\rangle |0\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\text{one}\rangle |1\rangle.$$
 (3.6)

So, according to Wigner, not only the qubit is not in a definite state of the computational basis, but the whole lab is now in a superposition! How can two people give such contrasting accounts of the same events? Is there a way to decide if either one is right? Can they both be right, or is quantum mechanics incomplete? Finding a satisfactory solution to these questions is one of the tasks of the field of the interpretations of quantum mechanics, which we discuss next.

Note first however that if Wigner is right because quantum mechanics can be applied to all systems (including agents such as Wigner's friend), then it would in principle be possible to apply whatever unitary evolution lead to (3.6), and undo his friend's measurement. As we shall see in section 3.4.2, this has strong consequences on our notions of reality.

3.3 Different interpretations of QM

The search for an interpretation of quantum mechanics is an interdisciplinary effort between physics and philosophy. It raises complex issues in philosophy of science. For example, what are the requirements of a scientific theory, does it need to tell us something about reality, or should we just accept that the best we can do is predict the results of experiments? It also leads us to ask what it means for something to 'truly' exist. Additionally, the unavoidable presence of probability carries the question of the role of agency in formulating a scientific theory.

The search is completely ongoing, with many different contenders, often separated in vocal "camps," with little communication between camps [40, 185, 234, 245]. The situation is confounding because quantum theory is an extremely successful scientific theory. It sustains the technological foundations of our society, and it is used to formulate the most fundamental theory of physics, the standard model of particle physics, which is by all accounts an unparalleled success in the programme of reductionism.

Here we provide a brief (and partial!) overview of the field, by giving a short description of various positions, glossing over many nuances. As we will see, every solution comes at a price: each interpretation either leads to awesomely unfamiliar concepts, or relies on non-mainstream philosophical stances, and sometimes both.

3.3.1 Copenhagen, or no-interpretation, approaches

One way of approaching the measurement problem is to argue there is no problem to start with [107]. Quantum mechanics allows to predict with exquisite precision the results of experiments. It's a theory about 'detector clicks'. The quantum state is not a description of reality, but a summary of the information someone owns about a system and a tool to compute probability of measurement outcomes. In this view, the difference between Wigner's account and his friends' is just a consequence of an asymmetry of information. Wigner's friend knows more about the particle than Wigner himself, and this is why Wigner's state assignment differs from his friend's.

This approach is certainly the most used in practice and it is perfectly adequate for all practical purposes. However it amounts to a strong form of instrumentalism, for it abandons the hope that our best scientific theory can tell us about the world outside of our experimental interventions. Also, depending on how it is articulated, it can introduce a form of dualism, between "quantum systems" about which nothing can be said and the "macroscopic" world of people and detectors about which we compute probabilities.

A criticism often raised is that, supposedly, people and detectors are themselves made of atoms and thus should be amenable to a quantum mechanical description. Indeed, actual detectors are designed using quantum mechanical knowledge. When does a physical system stop being amenable to quantum mechanics and becomes a measurement apparatus? Similarly, one is lead to ask about Wigner's friend, and if she could ever be in a superposition. Following the instrumentalist spirit of this interpretation, one might answer that the problem is not well-posed: there is, in the end, a well-defined sense in which we inhabit a world obeying mostly classical laws. Wigner will never be able to do the experiments necessary to witness interference effects of superpositions of agents. The friend has seen a definite result, and Wigner is just ignorant of it. The next two interpretations provide opposite responses to this question.

3.3.2 QBism

Quantum mechanics, according to the QBist, is the best tool to guide *agents* in making decisions in our indeterministic world. Indeed, QBism [53, 108] holds that quantum mechanics is an extension of probability theory and, as such, should not be required to offer a picture of the world. This interpretation of QM is based on a specific interpretation of probability theory [76, 233], namely, that all probabilities are degrees of belief of a rational agents. Thus, the laws of quantum mechanics are not physical laws that govern the behaviour of physical systems; they are "laws of thought," guidelines on how to best structure one's beliefs based on previous beliefs and sensory data.

QBism is deeply rooted in American pragmatism and places decision-making agents at the centre of the world. Every single agent is welcome to start with their own assumptions and to use quantum theory to guide the updating of their beliefs in their decision-making process. QBists see the natural world as a stage where agents interact with and describe each other quantum mechanically. To every action taken by agent, the world responds with an unpredictable kick, which results in a new experience for the agent and something truly new in the world.

While the strong emphasis on subjective experience and agency makes QBism seem quite radical to many, the proponents raise an unobjectionable point: at the present moment, there is no sound and agreed-upon foundation for probability theory. The situation in the foundations of probability echoes that of quantum mechanics: the interpretation or probability used in practice, the frequentist interpretation, is not satisfactory. While it is true that we can use repeated experiments to learn about probabilities (and we do that all the time), we cannot *identify* probabilities and frequencies. This is because the frequency f of an outcome that has probability p only approaches p with high probability [179]. QBism takes this problem seriously: it says that we cannot understand quantum mechanics without understanding probability, and uses one of the proposed foundations of probability, subjective or personalist probability [233], as the foundation for interpreting quantum mechanics.

3.3.3 Relational quantum mechanics

Relational quantum mechanics (RQM) [221, 226] rejects instrumentalism. There is no special class of systems called "measuring apparata" that transform quantum possibilities in facts and conscious agents play no fundamental role. Quantum theory applies to everything. RQM holds that reality is built of discrete relational quantum events that can happen whenever any two systems interact.

It says reality has to be described relative to a given system, which serves as a *context* in which things happen (quantum variables assume definite values). The quantum state is seen as a computational tool used to compute the probability of quantum events in a certain context, given other quantum events in that same context. Any physical system can serve as a context in which variables take values.

However, the value of a variable is a *relative fact*, labelled by the system that serves as context.

RQM resolves the tension between the two rules of evolution (the continuous unitary evolution and the collapse at the moment of measurement) by saying that they are used to describe physics relative to different systems. When two systems A and B interact, their state relative to a third system C that does not take part in the interaction evolves continuously, while the state of A relative to B will update discontinuously whenever the interaction takes place: whenever the value of one of the variables of A takes a definite value relative to B.

In the Wigner's friend thought experiment, the value of the qubit at time t_2 is a fact for the friend, but not for Wigner. But according to RQM, there is no need for the friend to be a complex system, let alone sentient being, for the value of the qubit to actualise: as long as a variable of the friend is affected by the qubit, the qubit can take a value relative to the friend. And Wigner is not merely ignorant of this value: the qubit has no value relative to Wigner yet. Indeed, were Wigner to reason using classical logic as if he was just simply ignorant on the value of the qubit, he will be mislead in ignoring possible interference effects.

Part IV of this thesis is dedicated to RQM. In chapter 8, we will see that the failure of classical logic is understood as the result of ignoring the relational nature of reality and the reason relationality remained hidden until the XXth century relies on the uncontrolled interactions at our macroscopic scale, which "de-labels" facts and *stabilise* them. In chapter 9 we will explore in detail some counterintuitive consequences of the relativity of facts.

3.3.4 Everettian quantum mechanics

Everettian quantum mechanics (EQM) [254, 258] also holds that quantum mechanics applies to everything. However it disagrees with the previous interpretations on what the rules of quantum mechanics are. In particular EQM rejects the projection postulate and holds that all quantum evolution is unitary evolution, and proposes that one should understand the quantum state as a *representation* of the goings-on of the universe. This move has astonishing consequences: EQM says that the quantum state describes manifold, dynamically independent realities that keep multiplying and diversifying as a result of quantum mechanical uncertainty and entanglement.

Branching happens whenever a quantum uncertainty affects the macroscopic world. This happens not just as a result of laboratory experiments involving qubits but around every unstable atom, as a result of gamma rays colliding in the upper atmospheres of planets, and whenever classical chaotic dynamics amplifies quantum uncertainty to macroscopic scales. Decoherence makes it so that whenever a large enough system goes into a superposition of macroscopically different configurations, the branches are effectively decoupled, creating new worlds.¹ Note that most of the causes of branching does not create an integer number of branches, but a continuous amount of branches.

For example, the state of Wigner's friend, her lab and the quantum qubit at

¹Hence the other famous name for this interpretation: the Many Worlds Interpretation.

time t_2 ,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\text{zero}\rangle |0\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\text{one}\rangle |1\rangle , \qquad (3.7)$$

says that there are now two versions of the friend and her lab, one in which she witnessed the qubit value 0 and one in which she saw 1. Because the dynamics of the lab is enormously complex, it is incredibly hard for these two *branches* to interact—to interfere, that is—and thus the two branches are effectively independent of each other. As soon as Wigner removes the seal from his friend's lab, the different interactions with the two branches of the friend's lab cause the nearby systems to branch, and this branching gradually propagates to the rest of universe.

The mind boggles when considering the worldview proposed by this interpretation, and this is continuously raised as a criticism of the theory. But it is crucial to understand that this unfathomable number of multiplying realities is not a *postulate* of EQM, but a *consequence* of its postulates. EQM only postulates that unitary quantum mechanics applies to all systems, and that the quantum state describes a state of affairs. As such, EQM is arguably quite frugal in its assumptions. It is also important to note that EQM has two big advantages over most other interpretations: it applies to all systems, and it naturally carries over to relativistic quantum field theory.

Finally, another often-heard criticism with EQM is that, since the evolution is deterministic and all alternatives happen in *some* branch, the theory cannot account for the probabilisitic aspect of quantum experiments. This criticism is based on initial uncertainty about this aspect of the theory, but it is now outdated, as the problem has been solved and now there exists a complete account for the rules of probability theory in relation to observed frequencies and decision theory [80, 120, 258]. Many of the problems in understanding probability in EQM are not problems specific to EQM, but problems with the philosophy of science highlighted by the strange context of EQM.

Interpreting the rules of quantum theory "on the nose" leads to unexpected and foreign pictures of reality. This has prompted some scholars to propose that quantum theory is incomplete and needs to be modified or supplemented with additional rules. We now see two examples.

3.3.5 The pilot-wave theory

Also known as the de Broglie-Bohm theory or Bohmian mechanics [91, 118], this interpretation posits that the quantum mechanical wavefunction is an incomplete description of a system.

A system system of N particles is described by a complex-valued wavefunction $\psi(\mathbf{q}_1, \dots, \mathbf{q}_N) \equiv \psi(q)$ on the space of configurations, as well as the *actual* values $\hat{\mathbf{q}}_n$ of the positions of the particles. The wavefunction evolves unitarily according to the Schrödinger equation while it guides the actual positions of the particles according to:

$$\frac{d\hat{\boldsymbol{q}}_n}{dt} = \frac{\hbar}{m_n} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_n \phi|_{(\hat{\boldsymbol{q}}_1, \cdots, \hat{\boldsymbol{q}}_N)},\tag{3.8}$$

where $\phi(q)$ is the phase of the wavefunction and ∇_n is the gradient taken with

respect to the coordinates of the nth particle. Notice that the velocity of a given particle might depend on the actual positions of all the other particles involved.

According to this interpretation, systems evolve deterministically for all times. Quantum uncertainty follows from the combination of the dynamics, classical ignorance of the actual positions, and the assumption of *quantum equilibrium*. The latter says that, in an ensemble of systems prepared in the state ψ , the actual positions of the particles are distributed in a (classically) random way described by the *quantum equilibrium measure*:

$$\rho(\hat{q})\mathrm{d}\hat{q} = |\psi(\hat{q})|^2 \mathrm{d}\hat{q}. \tag{3.9}$$

The quantum equilibrium distribution is preserved by the dynamics, namely the Schrödinger equation and the guiding equation (3.8), so that classical ignorance about a system is preserved over time. The result of a measurement depends on the actual position of the particle.

The pilot-wave model is appreciated as it describes a reality that is close enough to classical intuition, where particles have positions and they get pushed around by forces.² However it has its drawbacks. Note that, like in EQM, the wavefunction of the system never collapses and, as systems interact, the wavefunction becomes highly entangled. While decoherence makes interference terms disappear and suppresses the quantum effects from the guiding equation, the wave is still there. In particular, the function $\psi(q)$ will have support on vast regions of configuration space arbitrarily far from the actual configuration of the system. There is no agreement at the moment as to wether the wavefunction should be thought as part of reality, or merely as a useful way to state the laws that govern the movement of the particles (*i.e.* on whether it is ontic or nomological). Furthermore, the guiding equation for particle n depends instantaneously on the actual positions of all the other particles. The non-locality of dynamics is hidden by the randomness in quantum equilibrium, so that no signal can reliably be sent faster than light. However, the non-local dynamics is in tension with relativity theory as it picks out one preferred frame in which to formulate the dynamics, and adapting Bohmian mechanics to quantum field theory has not been successful yet.

One could in principle test the pilot-wave theory by finding systems out of quantum equilibrium, which will consistently violate the statistics computed with quantum theory (and possibly signal faster than light) [255].

3.3.6 Spontaneous collapse models

Another way to modify quantum theory is to posit an objective collapse mechanism so that the wavefunction of every particle has a small chance to collapse to a well defined state. There are several different models that differ on the basis of collapse (energy, momentum, basis), and the mechanism of collapse (irreducible or induced by interactions with an unknown field). But besides these details, the spontaneous collapse models all have similar features. A limpid and recent review is provided by Bassi *et. al.* in [15]. Here we provide a short overview of the Ghirardi-Rimini-Weber

 $^{^{2}}$ There is a way to formulate pilot-wave model in which particles obey Newton's second law, modified by the addition of a nonlocal *quantum potential*.

(GRW) model, which is the first model proposed, and perhaps the most well-known, as well as the Penrose-Diósi proposal for gravitationally-induced collapse.

GRW

In this model, the wavefunction $\psi_t(\mathbf{q}_1, \cdots, \mathbf{q}_N) \equiv \psi_t(q)$ of N particles evolves in time t according to the Schrödinger equation—most of the time. In any interval of time dt, each of the N particles has a probability $\lambda_{\text{GRM}} dt$ of spontaneously localising. When nth particle localises, the wavefunction instantaneously changes according to

$$\psi_t \longmapsto \frac{L_n(\boldsymbol{x})[\psi_t]}{\|L_n(\boldsymbol{x})[\psi_t]\|}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where $L_n(\mathbf{x})$ is a linear operator whose action is defined by

$$L_n(\boldsymbol{x})[\psi](q) = \psi(q)e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{q}_n)/r_C^2}.$$
(3.11)

The operator $L_n(\boldsymbol{x})$ exponentially suppresses the parts of the wavefunction which have support on values of \boldsymbol{q}_n far from the position \boldsymbol{x} . Thus, in the new wavefunction, the particle n is localised within an area a few $r_{\rm C}$ of diameter. The value of \boldsymbol{x} itself is randomly chosen and its probability density is given by

$$p(\boldsymbol{x}|n,t) = \|L_n(\boldsymbol{x})[\psi_t]\|^2.$$
(3.12)

In this model, there are no point particles. The wavefunction is used to instead to compute the mass distribution associated with each particle. One can compute a *density of mass* for particle 1 at time t according to:

$$\rho_t^n(\boldsymbol{q}_1) = m_n \int d^3 q_2 \cdots d^3 q_N \, |\psi_t(q)|^2, \qquad (3.13)$$

and similarly for the other particles. When a particle goes into an interferometer it really goes through both slits.

GRW has two free parameters, the rate of localisation λ_{GRW} and the localisation precision r_{C} . Standard values are

$$\lambda_{\rm GRW} = 10^{-16} \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}, \qquad r_{\rm C} = 10^{-7} \,\mathrm{m}.$$
 (3.14)

The rate of localisation of each particle is extremely low but, since the localisation of each particle is independent, the rate of collapse grows linearly in the number of particles N and $N\lambda_{\text{GRW}} \gg 1 \text{ s}^{-1}$ for systems with a macroscopic number of particles. The Wigner friend thought experiment is resolved by saying that the state of the friend and the lab collapses extremely rapidly to one of the two branches. These values place the detection of spontaneous collapse just out of current technological capabilities, but the hope of the programme is to actually detect the consequences of this effect. If it becomes impossible to perform interferometric experiments with systems above a certain mass, even when accounting for all the standard sources of environmental decoherence, then this will be a clear signal that some form of spontaneous collapse is at play.

Penrose-Diósi gravitational collapse

The Penrose-Diósi model is a parameter-free version of spontaneous collapse. The model is of particular interest for us because it is motivated by the assumption that the gravitational field is a classical entity, incapable of being in a superposition. When the tension between the quantum superposition becomes "gravitationally" too large, the state collapses rapidly in a position-defined state.

A natural "gravitational" measure for the size of the superposition can be computed as follows. Suppose a system of mass m and mass density ρ is in a superposition of two states separated by d. Then one might estimate the size of the superposition by

$$\Delta E_G = 8\pi G \left| \int d^3 q \int d^3 q' \,\rho(\boldsymbol{q}) \frac{\rho(\boldsymbol{q}') - \rho(\boldsymbol{q}' - \boldsymbol{d})}{|\boldsymbol{q} - \boldsymbol{q}'|} \right|,\tag{3.15}$$

the absolute value of the difference between the self-energy of a mass distribution $\rho(\mathbf{q})$ and the interaction energy between this mass distribution and one displaced by \mathbf{d} . Then the expected decay rate $\lambda_{\rm PD}$ for this superposition is:

$$\lambda_{\rm PD} = \frac{\Delta E_G}{\hbar}.\tag{3.16}$$

This parameter-free model has been recently falsified by underground experiments at Gran Sasso [donadi2021underground]. The spontaneous collapse results in stochastic motion, which in turn emits EM radiation, and results in heating. This is true for any state of matter, not just superpositions. The experiment in Gran Sasso attempted to measure this heat production of a germanium crystal, and the measured values ruled out the model with high confidence. There are other proposals for models of spontaneous collapse caused by a classical gravitational field [15]. All these models would be ruled out by the detection of gravitationally-mediated entanglement.

3.4 Experimental metaphysics

This proliferation of interpretations might seem to some an idle endeavour. Some theories are modifications of QM that have consequences that are, in principle, observable; but most of the interpretations are designed to give the exact same predictions as QM, so there seems to be no hope to distinguish them. Is this all useless metaphysics then? Not necessarily. The various interpretations offer different ways of thinking about the same set of observations. As Feynman was fond of pointing out, it is good to have different theoretical representations of the same physics, as we don't know which way of thinking will turn out to be most useful when we need to change the laws.

Surprisingly, there are *experimental* ways of constraining the various interpretations. By studying the logical structure of different kinds of theories, one can formulate general statements about which *classes* of theories are compatible with observations. These often *quantitative* results are the main output of the field of experimental metaphysics [48, 50]. The most celebrated are of course Bell's two theorems [16, 19]. Other notorious results include the Kochen-Specker theorem [148], Cirel'son's bound [64], the PBR theorem [213], and the Local Friendliness inequalities [32]. The development of such no-go theorems is one of the tools of quantum foundations research and they lead to clarifications of certain obscure aspects of the quantum, as well as practical applications.

Here, we will review Bell's second theorem [19, 20] that shows that quantum physics contains a form of irreducible non-locality and characterises what is special about entanglement. We will also review the recent no-go theorem about the absoluteness of events in quantum physics by Bong *et. al.* [32].

3.4.1 Bell

Bell's 1976 theorem puts quantum theory in strong tension with the intuitive notion named *local causality*, namely, the idea that correlations between two spacelike separated events are to be explained in terms of events that happened in their common past. This condition implies quite general constraints on the strength of statistical correlations of random variables that share a common cause. These constraints are formulated in terms of inequalities, known as Bell inequalities. Not only does quantum theory predict the violations of these inequalities, the inequalities are routinely violated in quantum labs all over the world.



Figure 3.1. Spacetime view of the Bell setup.

In the Bell setup, one considers the correlations of variables A and B observed at two spacelike separated spacetime regions and how these correlations depend on the values of other variables X, Y and C, where C is in the causal past of both A and B, X is in the causal past of A but not B, and the opposite is true for Y. The situation is displayed in figure 3.1. X and Y are assumed to be *freely chosen*, meaning that they are not correlated with anything outside their future light-cone. Let the numbers

$$f(abxy) \tag{3.17}$$

describe the observed frequencies of the various outcomes, where we denote by a a specific value of A and similarly for the other variables. We are interested in the correlations between A and B for different values of X and Y, that is, in the distribution

$$f(ab|xy). \tag{3.18}$$

Now, by the principle of local causality, there should be some C in the past of both A and B that explains the correlations, namely, such that

$$f(ab|xy) = \sum_{c} f(ab|cxy)f(c|xy) = \sum_{c} f(a|xyc)f(b|xyc)f(c|xy).$$
(3.19)

Note that the first equality is trivial, while the second equality is the expression of the principle of local causality. Since X and Y are freely chosen, we also have the simplifications

$$f(a|xyc) = f(a|xc), \tag{3.20}$$

$$f(b|xyc) = f(b|yc), \qquad (3.21)$$

$$f(c|xy) = f(c), \qquad (3.22)$$

so that, finally

$$f(ab|xy) = \sum_{c} f(a|xc)f(b|yc)f(c).$$
(3.23)

The formula above has been derived assuming only the principles of local causality and free choice and applying them to the situation in figure 3.1. It relies on no particular assumption about the physical interpretation of the variables A, B, C, X, and Y other than they take values in the respective spacetime region.

Equation (3.23) imposes constraints on the correlations between A and B. For example, if we assume that A and B can only take the values³ -1 and 1, then the numbers

$$C(x,y) = \sum_{ab} ab \cdot f(ab|xy), \qquad (3.24)$$

which quantify the correlations between A and B for different values of X and Y, can be shown to obey the following inequality,

$$S \equiv |C(x_0, y_0) + C(x_0, y_1) + C(x_1, y_0) - C(x_1, y_1)| \le 2,$$
(3.25)

where x_0 and x_1 are any two values of X, and y_0 and y_2 any two values of Y. This is known as the Clauser, Horne, Shimony, and Holt (CHSH) inequality [65].

Now, it is well-known that there are quantum systems that violate the above inequality. Spin measurements on the singlet state

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\uparrow\downarrow\rangle - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle, \qquad (3.26)$$

where X and Y select the axis of spin measurement of each particle, and $A, B = \pm 1$ depending if the result is 'up' or 'down' can achieve, for appropriate choices of measurement axes allow a maximal value of

$$S = 2\sqrt{2}.\tag{3.27}$$

Thus quantum theory—as well as observational data [7, 117, 128]—is incompatible with the notions of local causality and free-choice. Every interpretation has to make sense of this fact.

³Note that this can always be done by coarse-graining the observations in two different regions.

One way to tackle this interpretational problem, as argued in the excellent review [264], is to break down local causality in two ideas. First, the idea of *relativistic* causality, namely, that the causes of an event are to be found in its past lightcone. Second, *Reichenbach's principle* of decorrelating explanation, which states that a correlation between A and B is explained by a variable C if conditioning on Cremoves the correlation. Relativistic causality together with Reichenbach's principle imply local causality, thus rejecting one or the other is a way to reconcile one's picture of the world with observations. Both options are quite radical. Abandoning relativistic causality so that (3.20) fails, is in stark conflict with the spirit of special relativity. This is the way taken by pilot wave theory, spontaneous collapse models, and some readings of the no-interpretation interpretation, for example. There are general results about the fine-tuning required so that models that change the causal structure of these Bell-type experiment do not lead to superluminal signalling [49, 266. Other approaches, including other flavours of the no-interpretation position. take the violation of the Bell inequalities as a failure of Reichenbach's principle. However, it is not quite clear what should replace it [51, 158].

One might object to some more basic premise of Bell's proof. For example, one might say that the simplification (3.22) is unwarranted, as there might be a common cause to the outcomes of X, Y, and C, so that they are not actually independent. This idea is often called *superdeterminism* and has serious proponents [1, 138]. However, it is an empirical fact that one can set up three random number generators that display no correlations. The existence of their common cause would only show up when these random variables are used in Bell-type experiments. This approach indeed faces the same fine-tuning problem as rejecting relativistic causality [49, 266].

Another way out is to reject the premise that it makes sense to speak of variables taking values in given spacetime regions, without conditioning this statement on anything else. This is called rejecting macroreality, or the absoluteness of observed events. QBism, relational quantum mechanics (RQM), and Everettian quantum theory all do this, in different ways. Indeed, QBism and RQM both say that it does not make sense to describe the experiment in such absolute terms. No agent (for QBism) or single system (RQM) can experience two spacelike separated events, instead, they would have to wait for the result of both experiments to arrive in the same spacetime region, at which point the correlations are not in conflict with local causality [108, 169]. However, in both interpretations there is a sense in which all observers inhabit an emergent macroreality, and this macroreality is still in violation of local causality, so these interpretations might still need to reject Reichenbach's principle, suitably reformulated. The issue is still not completely resolved [50, 204] In contrast, EQM is compatible with variables taking values at specific spacetime locations, but they do not take *single* values. The apparata measuring the spins will go into a superposition, and there will be *local* branching. When the signal from one apparatus reaches (in a superposition) the other apparatus, there is branching again. This allows for a completely local description of events; see [35, 81, 258].

3.4.2 Bong et. al.

Rejecting the existence of a fundamental macroreality may seem an extravagant way out of Bell's theorem. However, it is a more natural option to respond to Bong *et. al.*'s recent no-go theorem [32], which pitches macroreality, no-superdeterminism, locality and quantum mechanics against each other.



Figure 3.2. Spacetime view of the extended Wigner's friend setup.

The setup is an extension of the Wigner's friend thought experiment, see figure 3.2. In this case we have two "Wigners"—Alice and Bob—who each has their own friend in a sealed lab—Charlie and Debbie, respectively. The procedure is as follows. Charlie and Debbie each measure a quantum system in their lab, the results are the random variables C and D. We assume that the systems are always prepared in the same way, and the measurements are performed on the same basis for all trials. Then, Alice and Bob sample the random variables X and Y. If X = 1, Alice simply asks Charlie what the result of the experiment was and sets A to whatever Charlies says, otherwise she performs another kind of experiment and selects A this way. Similarly for Bob, Debbie, Y and B.

We are again interested on putting bounds on the correlations of A, B, X, and Y, that is, on the frequencies

$$f(ab|xy). \tag{3.28}$$

However, if we also assume that C and D take definite values, we postulate that there exists a distribution

$$\hat{f}(abcd|xy) \tag{3.29}$$

that accounts for f in the sense that

$$f(ab|xy) = \sum_{c,d} f(abcd|xy).$$
(3.30)

Additionally, since Alice sets A to whatever value Charlie says when X = 1 (and similarly for Bob), we require also

$$\tilde{f}(a|cd, x = 1, y) = \delta_{a,c}$$
 and $\tilde{f}(b|cd, x, y = 1) = \delta_{b,d}.$ (3.31)

These last three equations follow from the assumption of macroreality, or absoluteness of observed events: it makes sense to think of the values of C and D, observed by

Charlie and Debbie, as existing regardless of what Alice and Bob choose to do. We then assume *no superdeterminism*, meaning that it is possible to pick X and Y so as to be independent of C and D,

$$\tilde{f}(cd|xy) = f(cd). \tag{3.32}$$

We also assume *locality*, so that A cannot depend on Y and B cannot depend on X, even when accounting for the unseen values of C and D:

$$\tilde{f}(a|cdxy) = \tilde{f}(a|cdx) \tag{3.33}$$

$$\hat{f}(b|cdxy) = \hat{f}(b|cdy) \tag{3.34}$$

These equations for \tilde{f} imply constraints on f and on the correlations between A and B. These constraints are known as the *Local Friendliness* (LF) inequalities. Local friendliness is the conjunction of macroreality, no-superdeterminism, and locality.

Bong *et. al.* showed that, if one assumes that quantum theory can be applied to all systems, including experimenters such as Charlie and Debbie, then the LF inequalities can be violated. The quantum experiments that violate the LF inequalities require Charlie and Debbie to each own one part of a bipartite entangled system. They also require that Alice and Bob are capable of rewinding the evolution in their friend's lab when X or $Y \neq 1$. In that case they then perform measurements directly on their friend's entangled system, measurements that are complementary to those that their friends performed.

Contrary to Bell's inequality, the violation of the LF inequality has not been established to the satisfaction of the community yet. Experiments violating LF inequalities have been performed [32, 212] with the spatial mode of a photon acting as Charlie or Debbie. Since we are used to having photons in superpositions of spatial modes, most physicists doubt that these are instances of *bona fide* violations of the LF inequalities. On the other hand, performing the experiment with a human might remain forever out of reach. However, with advances in quantum control of matter, the experiments will be performed with more and more complex systems acting as "friends." A day might come when intelligent computer programmes acting as agents running on quantum computers will be put in such superpositions.

Perhaps quantum mechanics fails at some scale and, once a system reaches a certain level of complexity it does not obey quantum physics any longer. If quantum mechanics *is* universal however, the theorem implies that the world does not allow for local friendliness. Given the empirical success of quantum theory, one ought to take the consequences of the theorem seriously.

Interpretations that already accepted superdeterminism or let go of relativistic causality, escape the Bong *et. al.* theorem the same way (relativistic causality implies locality). However, now it's not enough to reject Reichenbach's principle. So the no-interpretation approaches have to find another solution, either rejecting one of the three assumptions, or admit that quantum mechanics cannot be applied to observers. QBism, RQM and EQM all reject the existence of observer-independent facts.

Part II

Low Energy Quantum Gravity

Chapter 4

Quantum optics simulation of a quantum gravity experiment

Quantum gravity predicts that two masses in a superposition of position will become entangled as a consequence of gravitational interaction. This effect could be created in "low energy" experiments that may be realised in the near term. Detection of gravitationally mediated entanglement (GME) would be the first direct observation of a quantum gravity prediction. What's more, GME cannot happen if gravity is mediated by a classical system [112] (see section 2.5). Given that to date we have zero experimental evidence for quantum gravitational phenomena, this experiment is thus of immense interest for basic research in physics. It showcases the usefulness of quantum information techniques in quantum gravity explorations and opens a novel avenue for quantum gravity phenomenology.

As a preparation to the anticipated actual experimental realisation, it is crucial to clarify the implications of possible experimental outcomes and discuss experimental techniques. Quantum simulators [99, 114, 123], quantum systems that can be manipulated to mimic the dynamics of harder to control quantum systems, provide powerful tools for this purpose. The advantage of a quantum simulation over a classical computer simulation is that it allows to verify and highlight the fundamental physical principles that underlies the effect under investigation.

In this chapter, we present two quantum logic simulators of the GME experiment and their implementation using photonic degrees of freedom. The experimental implementation of the simulators is still undergoing, as there were important delays caused by the pandemic, but we report results from one of the simulators [210]. The simulators can be used as a test to show how to certify the non-classicality of the field given realistic levels of noise, by using an entanglement witness and/or the violation of Bell's inequalities. One of the simulators is also able to replicate the effects of collapse models by introducing decoherence to the system. In this case, state tomography can be employed to verify the absence of entanglement.

Quantum simulation can be performed through different physical systems, such as superconductive systems [139], nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) quantum processors [90], trapped ions [29] and photons [9]. A preliminary simulation of GME appeared in [25], which uses nuclear magnetic resonance. The simulation we propose is closer to the actual physics of the GME experiment.



Figure 4.1. Sketch of the simulated experimental setup as proposed in [34]. Two masses are set in path-dependent superposition and get entangled as a result of gravitational interaction. See section 1.4.1 for a longer description.

4.1 The GME experiment

Let us briefly recall the implementation proposed in [34], and discussed in more detail section 1.4.1. The experiment features two adjacent interferometers, each travelled by a mass, and consists of five stages; see Figure 4.1. During the Preparation stage, two nanodiamonds of mass m with embedded magnetic spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ oriented along the x-axis, are released from a magnetic trap. In the Superposition stage a series of EM pulses modifies the position of the masses depending on z-component of the embedded spin, resulting in each mass being in a spin-dependent path superposition, at rest at a distance l/2 from their initial position. During the Free Fall stage, the masses are in free fall for a time t. In the Recombination stage, another series of EM pulses undoes the path superposition. The particles are collected during the Measurement stage and a spin measurement is applied. Repeated runs of the experiment allow to certify the presence of entanglement by studying the spin correlations. The setup is such that electromagnetic interactions between the masses are negligible compared to the gravitational interaction, so that if entanglement is present, it was mediated by gravity. We now proceed to identify the relevant degrees of freedom and their physical meaning.

The GME can be understood as a consequence of a macroscopic superposition of geometries, as already argued by [62, 63], see also section 1.4.1. Let us write $|g_{XY}\rangle = |XY\rangle |h_{XY}\rangle$, where X and Y denote the positions of the masses (C, L, or R) and $|h_{XY}\rangle$ denotes the state of the metric perturbation field peaked around the corresponding classical solution. Then $|g_{XY}\rangle$ is the state of the spacetime degrees of freedom of the system. The evolution of the state of the system after each stage is:

$$|\psi\rangle_{\mathbf{P}} = (|\uparrow\rangle + |\downarrow\rangle) \otimes (|\uparrow\rangle + |\downarrow\rangle) \otimes |g_{CC}\rangle$$

$$(4.1)$$

$$|\psi\rangle_{\rm S} = |\uparrow\uparrow\rangle |g_{LR}\rangle + |\uparrow\downarrow\rangle |g_{LL}\rangle + |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle |g_{RR}\rangle + |\downarrow\downarrow\rangle |g_{RL}\rangle \tag{4.2}$$

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{\rm FF} = e^{i\phi_{LR}}\left|\uparrow\uparrow\right\rangle\left|g_{LR}\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{LL}}\left|\uparrow\downarrow\right\rangle\left|g_{LL}\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RR}}\left|\downarrow\uparrow\right\rangle\left|g_{RR}\right\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RL}}\left|\downarrow\downarrow\right\rangle\left|g_{RL}\right\rangle \tag{4.3}$$

$$|\psi\rangle_{\mathbf{R}} = \left(e^{i\phi_{LR}}|\uparrow\uparrow\rangle + e^{i\phi_{LL}}|\uparrow\downarrow\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RR}}|\downarrow\uparrow\rangle + e^{i\phi_{RL}}|\downarrow\downarrow\rangle\right) \otimes |g_{CC}\rangle.$$
(4.4)

During the Free Fall stage, the geometry of each quantum branch is well approximated by a static configuration of two masses held at a fixed distance [54]. In each branch, the geometry is in a coherent state peaked on a macroscopic (classical) geometry. The four different positions of the masses in the superposition correspond to four diffeomorphically inequivalent static states of the geometry. Thus, the position and spins of the masses are entangled with the spacetime geometry.

This analysis highlights that the creation of entanglement between the spins is a consequence of the geometry itself being in a superposition during the experiment. It also makes clear that we only need a low-dimensional Hilbert space to model the coherent states of the gravitational field that are relevant during the experiment. In fact, we can simulate the gravitational field with a two qubit space. The spin degrees of freedom will require another two qubits.

For the rest of the work, we take the approximation $l \gg d$, so we take into account only the phase generated on the branch of closest approach, $|RL\rangle$. This is not likely to be the case in the actual experiment, but it simplifies the simulation without harming the logic of the experiment. We thus take

$$\phi_{LL} = \phi_{RR} = \phi_{LR} = 0, \tag{4.5}$$

and write $\phi = \phi_{RL}$.

Thus, the state of the spins at the moment of measurement will be

$$|\psi\rangle_{\mathrm{M}} = |\uparrow\uparrow\rangle + |\uparrow\downarrow\rangle + |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle + e^{i\phi} |\downarrow\downarrow\rangle. \tag{4.6}$$



4.2 Quantum simulators



We now map the experiment on a quantum circuit. We model the system of the two spins and the geometry as a 16-dimensional system. Each embedded spin is simulated with a qubit, while the geometry degrees of freedom with two qubits, a ququart. We write vectors as belonging to the following total Hilbert space:

$$\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^4 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 = \mathcal{H}_{\text{spin}_A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\text{geometry}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\text{spin}_B}.$$
(4.7)

What allows us to model the geometry degrees of freedom with a finite dimensional Hilbert space is that in the five stages of the experiment, only a few states of the geometry come into play so that a digital quantum simulation is able to capture the essence of the process.

4.2.1 Quantum Circuit simulator

The Quantum Circuit (QC) Simulator of (see top of figure 4.2) is a straightforward representation of the dynamics of the GME experiment.¹ The guiding principle is to recognise that the state of the geometry after the superposition stage (1.18) depends entirely on the state of the spins: the state of the spin is "written" in the geometry. Two qubits represent the spin degrees of freedom of the nanodiamond. A ququart (two qubits) are assigned to the geometry as four coherent states of the geometry are relevant.

In the Preparation stage, Hadamard H gates are applied to the spin qubits to set them in the state $|+\rangle = |0\rangle + |1\rangle$, corresponding to the spin in the positive *x*-direction. The full state of the system at the end of the Preparation stage is

$$|+\rangle |00\rangle |+\rangle. \tag{4.8}$$

In the Superposition stage the two CNOT gates entangle the ququart with the spins, sending the above state into:

$$|0000\rangle + |0011\rangle + |1100\rangle + |1111\rangle.$$
 (4.9)

The Control Phase gate mimics the Free Fall stage, adding a relative phase only to the branch where the gravitational ququart is in the state $|11\rangle$:

$$|0000\rangle + |0011\rangle + |1100\rangle + e^{i\phi} |1111\rangle.$$
 (4.10)

Finally, in the Recombination stage, the CNOT gates are applied again, disentangling the geometry ququart from the spin qubits:

$$|0000\rangle + |0001\rangle + |1000\rangle + e^{i\phi} |1001\rangle,$$
 (4.11)

so that the state of the spin qubits is

$$|00\rangle + |01\rangle + |10\rangle + e^{i\phi} |11\rangle.$$
 (4.12)

There is a faithful mapping between (4.1) to (4.6) and (4.8) to (4.12). The second and third qubits represent the geometry ququart, and the remaining two the spin qubits. For instance in Eq.(4.10) we have: $|0000\rangle \leftrightarrow |\uparrow\uparrow\rangle |g_{LR}\rangle$, $|0011\rangle \leftrightarrow |\uparrow\downarrow\rangle |g_{LL}\rangle$, $|1100\rangle \leftrightarrow |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle |g_{RR}\rangle$ and $|1111\rangle \leftrightarrow |\downarrow\downarrow\rangle |g_{RL}\rangle$.

4.2.2 Post Selection Quantum Circuit simulator

In the second simulator (figure 4.2 bottom), we apply single-qubit gates on the geometry ququart after the free fall phase and measure them, keeping the results only if a certain outcome is achieved. If the geometry ququart is projected on the $|++\rangle$ state, then the state of the spin qubits is (4.12), thus obtaining the final result of the previous simulator. Additionally, the photonic implementation of this simulator will allow us to simulate the effects of decoherence.

¹This quantum circuit also appeared in [25], although it was not implemented.

4.2.3 Simulating gravitationally induced decoherence

As we mentioned in section 3.3, there is a breadth of spontaneous collapse models [15]. While these models differ in their motivations, mechanisms and in some quantitative details, they produce the same qualitative effect: a multi-particle system in a centre of mass superposition does not retain coherence for macroscopic timescales; the superposition becomes a classical mixture. One of the motivations of these models is to prevent macroscopic superpositions (thus solving the measurement problem beyond explaining why interference effects become negligible, which is already explained by decoherence). Even though most of these models contain at least one free parameter that determines the rate of collapse, they all expect a particle this size to collapse rapidly and thus GME should not take place. Detecting GME will render these models implausible.

Phenomenologically, the spontaneous collapse acts as a dephasing channel in the position eigenbasis. That is, if a particle starts off in a superposition described by the state $|\psi\rangle = (|x_1\rangle + |x_2\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$, after a certain time, its state undergoes a transformation:

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \longmapsto \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e^{-\gamma} \\ e^{-\gamma} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.13)$$

where γ will be some model-dependent positive number that depends on the composition and geometry of the system, the size of the superposition, and the elapsed time.

In the experiment, each of the two masses would be independently undergoing spontaneous collapse. The spins start in a pure state, but since they become entangled with the position of the masses, when the system collapses on the position basis, the spins also collapse. Thus, the spins would not be in the state of equation (4.12),

$$\frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & e^{-i\phi} \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & e^{-i\phi} \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & e^{-i\phi} \\ e^{i\phi} & e^{i\phi} & e^{i\phi} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.14)

Instead, they will be in the state partially mixed state

$$\frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e^{-\gamma} & e^{-\gamma} & e^{-2\gamma - i\phi} \\ e^{-\gamma} & 1 & e^{-2\gamma} & e^{-\gamma - i\phi} \\ e^{-\gamma} & e^{-2\gamma} & 1 & e^{-\gamma - i\phi} \\ e^{-2\gamma + i\phi} & e^{-\gamma + i\phi} & e^{-\gamma + i\phi} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.15)

Thus, provided all known sources of decoherence are taken into account, the experiment can also in principle be used to detect spontaneous collapse.

In the PSQC simulator, if we do not postselect on the basis of the measurement on the geometry ququart, the state of the spin qubits at the moment of measurement will be

$$\rho_{\rm mix} = \frac{1}{4} (|00\rangle\!\langle 00| + |01\rangle\!\langle 01| + |10\rangle\!\langle 10| + |11\rangle\!\langle 11|)$$
(4.16)

This simulates the effect of complete decoherence. To simulate only partial decoherence and obtain the state (4.15), we apply dephasing channels on the geometry

qubits before the post-selection. The action of a single-qubit dephasing channel is:

$$D_{\gamma} : |i\rangle\!\langle j| \longmapsto e^{-\gamma(1-\delta_{ij})} |i\rangle\!\langle j| \tag{4.17}$$

and thus

$$D_{\gamma} \otimes D_{\gamma} : |im\rangle\langle jn| \longmapsto e^{-\gamma(1-\delta_{ij}-\delta_{mn})} |im\rangle\langle jn|.$$
(4.18)

4.2.4 Entanglement certification

Measuring an entanglement witness and violating a Bell inequality are two ways to certify the presence of entanglement. The entanglement witness requires fewer measurements and can certify entanglement in states that are not capable of violating the Bell inequalities. Violations of the Bell inequalities, on the other hand, is a device independent way of certifying the presence of entanglement, meaning that if a violation is measured, one can conclude the presence of entanglement with minimal assumptions about the functioning of the apparatus.

In the following, we measure the witness proposed in the original paper [34], which, in our setup, is

$$\mathcal{W}_B = 1 - \langle \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_z \rangle - \langle \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y \rangle. \tag{4.19}$$

For the final state of the simulators (4.12), it yields $\mathcal{W}_B = \cos \phi$. We also violate the CHSH inequality by measuring σ_x and σ_z on one spin qubit and $(\sigma_x + \sigma_z)/2$ and $(\sigma_x - \sigma_z)/2$ on the other.

Demonstrating that no entanglement is present is harder. We intend to do this by performing quantum state tomography [144], thus reconstructing the quantum state.

4.3 Photonic implementation of the simulators

Having specified the abstract structure of the two simulators, we now describe their proposed implementation.

4.3.1 Photonic implementation of the Quantum Circuit simulator

The implementation of the QC simulator is shown in Fig. 4.3. Two photons carry the four logical qubits. The polarisation of each photon carries a spin qubit of the simulator, while the path degree of freedom carries the geometry ququart. The initial and final entangling gates, acting on path and polarisation of single photons, are realised by polarising beam splitters. The Control Phase gate acting on the paths of the photons is realised by a probabilistic scheme exploiting bosonic interference [186]. This will only induce a $\phi = \pi$ phase. We are also investigating the possibility to implement the tunable control phase gate reported in [249] in order to simulate various amounts of free-fall times [75].


Figure 4.3. Two Photon Implementation of the Quantum Circuit Simulator (QC). The spin qubits of the simulator are encoded in the polarisation degrees of freedom of the two photons, while the geometry degrees of freedom are encoded in their paths. The two photons are independently prepared in a superposition of horizontal and vertical polarisation and go through a polarising beam splitter, which completely entangles the path of each photon with its polarisation. The Control Phase gate is implemented thanks to bosonic interference due to the indistinguishability of the photons. Two half-waveplates momentarily make the polarisation of all paths equal in order to allow the realisation of the control-Phase gate on this degree of freedom. Finally, the qubit state is restored by two other half-waveplates and the paths are recombined by final polarising beam splitters that disentangles path and polarisation of the two photons.

4.3.2 Photonic implementation of Post Selection Quantum Circuit simulator

The implementation of the PSQC simulator is shown in Fig. 4.4. In this case, the four logical qubits are carried by the polarisation degree of freedom of four different photons. Two maximally entangled pairs of photons are generated by two independent SPDC sources. This implements the Preparation and Superposition stages. The Free Fall stage is implemented via a probabilistic CZ gate employing a polarisation-dependent beamsplitter [147, 153, 189]. This gate acts on one photon from each pair. Postselecting on the result of measurements of these two photons



allows the simulation of the Recombination stage.

Figure 4.4. Four Photon implementation of the Post Selection Quantum Circuit Simulator. Each qubit of the simulator is encoded in the polarisation degree of freedom of a photon. The Preparation and Superposition stages are directly implemented by the creation of two maximally entangled photon pairs by SPDC process in non-linear crystals. The Control Phase gate on the two geometry qubits (polarisation degree of freedom of two photons) is implemented thanks to partially polarising beams splitters with transmittivities T_H and T_V relative to horizontal and vertical polarisations, respectively. The polarisation of the photons carrying the geometry qubits (red lines) is measured on bases defined by an operator U and the results are used for postselection.

4.3.3 Decoherence simulation

In both simulations described above, we can introduce decoherence in the states of the geometry by coupling different branches of the states to different delays, using birefringent materials in which photons of different polarisation travel at different speeds. When the delay information is ignored, this results in decoherence of the state. The delay effectively acts as an environment degree of freedom.

Consider the PSQC Simulator. The initial state of the polarisation is the product of two maximally entangled states. Focusing on one pair, the state is $|\Psi^{-}\rangle = (|H\rangle |V\rangle - |V\rangle |H\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$, corresponding to the state of one spin and part of the geometry. If the photon corresponding to the geometry qubit passes through a birefringent slice, the resulting state is

$$\left|\Psi\right\rangle_{\rm del} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\left|H\right\rangle \left|V\right\rangle_{t_V} - \left|V\right\rangle \left|H\right\rangle_{t_H}),\tag{4.20}$$

where t_H and t_V are the distinguishable delays acquired by the horizontal and vertical polarisations, respectively. If the delay is greater than the coherence time of the photons (that is, if the delay is larger than the width of the photon packets),

tracing out the information about delays results in a completely depolarised state:

$$\rho_{\rm mix}^{\rm pol} = \frac{1}{2} (|HV\rangle\!\langle HV| + |VH\rangle\!\langle VH|). \tag{4.21}$$

If instead the delay is less than the coherence time of the photons, the state will be a partially entangled one:

$$\rho_f = \nu \left| \Psi^- \right\rangle \! \left\langle \Psi^- \right| + (1 - \nu) \rho_{\text{mix}}^{\text{pol}}, \tag{4.22}$$

where ν is a parameter quantifying the residual coherence after the delay between polarisations. Changing the thickness of birefringent slices allows to vary ν , going from a pure state to a completely decoherent case, simulating possible decoherence effects on spatial superpositions of geometry. A similar procedure can be implemented for the QC simulator.

Possible effects disturbing only the interaction between the two gravitational field qubit can be implemented in both schemes by varying the relative time arrival of the photons in the probabilistic control-gates.

4.4 Results from the Quantum Circuit simulator

Due to technical² difficulties, the experimental simulation is still incomplete. We report the results we obtained, which concern the simulation of the QC simulator.

In the QC simulator implementation, the CNOT gates of the Superposition and Recombination stages are deterministically performed in the single photon path-polarisation space through calcite beam displacers with a fidelity > 99.5%. The Free Fall stage, represented by the Control-Phase gate with a phase equal to π , is performed by the interference of the photon paths at the beam splitter, with a fidelity depending on a number of aspects. First, the fidelity depends on the value of the transmittivity of the beam splitter, which is $|T_H|^2 = 0.329 \pm 0.001$ for the horizontal polarisation and $|T_V|^2 = 0.337 \pm 0.001$ for the vertical polarisation. The fidelity is also affected by the degree of indistinguishability of the interfering photons in all their degrees of freedom. Polarisation, frequency, time of arrival, and spatial mode overlap all affect indistinguishability. Time of arrival and spatial mode overlap are crucial: the arrival time on the BS is controlled by suitable delay lines, while spatial modes are recombined by fine alignment though optical mirrors.

We measured the entanglement witness W in (4.19), which requires fewer measurements but is not device independent. We obtained a value of $W^{\exp} = -0.514 \pm 0.002$, violating the separable bound by more than 311 standard deviations. The statistical uncertainty has been computed through a Monte Carlo simulation assuming poissonian statistics.

We performed a CHSH test on the polarisation of the photons at the end of the circuit, obtaining a value $S^{\text{exp}} = 2.401 \pm 0.015$, which violates the classical bound by more than 26 standard deviations.

 $^{^{2}}$ The experiment had to be put on hold at the beginning of the pandemic. Once experiments could start again, one of the lasers broke. Due to lock-down measures, the technical support staff could not come repair the laser until much later.

4.5 Lessons from the simulations

In the simulations, two systems (the spin qubits) become entangled without interacting directly but by interacting with a third system (the geometry ququart). This mimics closely what happens during the GME experiment, where the spins on the nanodiamonds become entangled with each other while they only couple directly to the position degree of freedom of the masses, which, in turn, couple directly only to the gravitational field. From the logic circuits, it's particularly clear that two non-commuting observables of the geometry ququart come into play, namely $\sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x$ and $\sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z$. When one introduces decoherence in the geometry ququart, these observables commute, and entanglement cannot be created. Another way of putting it is that the geometry ququart starts in an eigenstate of $\sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z$, but coupling to the spins sends it in a superposition of such states. When the superposition is destroyed by decoherence, the spin qubits do not become entangled. Thus the simulations provide a simple illustration of the underlying quantum mechanical principles at play.

On the practical aspect, we expect that completing the simulation will allow to extract useful information about performing the quantum gravity experiment under realistic levels of noise and decoherence. For future research, it would be interesting implementing the simulation for a tunable control-phase gate, which allows to simulate different amounts of free-fall time. It would also be interesting to implement the QC simulator using two pairs of of entangled photons, using non-linear optics to simulate the Recombination stage. However, with current technology, the loss of luminosity is prohibitive.

Chapter 5

Computing the GME phases from first principles

Extant derivations of gravitationally-induced entanglement found in the literature do not include retardation. That is, they neglect any dynamics in the field, and opt to compute things only using a static approximation. While this approximation is quantitatively valid in much of the physical regime of interest, it is conceptually in tension with the crucial assumption that the interaction is mediated by a physical system, rather than being a direct interparticle relation. As we saw in section 2.5, the mediation of the interaction is a central assumption in the no-go theorem that allows to conclude the mediating system—gravity—is behaving non-classically.

In this chapter, based on [60], we develop a Lorentz covariant description of the GME experiment that is thus manifestly local and dynamical. To achieve this, we use the path integral formulation for the metric perturbation of linearised quantum gravity. We then take the stationary phase approximation to compute the quantum phases in the experiment. Path integrals are the appropriate conceptual tool when we want the symmetries of the action to remain explicit. With this strategy, indeed we arrive at a Lorentz covariant description of induced entanglement that is, in addition, invariant under the gauge symmetries of linearised gravity.¹ UV divergences play no role in this regime, thus emphasising the idea that is a prediction of quantum general relativity in this low energy regime. Radiation plays no role in recovering a description of field-induced entanglement that respects all relevant physical principles. This derivation also has technical advantages over previous works. We derive a formula for the phases of arbitrary trajectories. Previous computations assumed that the particles were at rest for most of the experiment so that the phases at the moment of measurement can be approximated as arising during static evolution [34, 164]. Here, we do not need such an assumption, the formulas we derive allow to compute the exact phases given by linearised general relativity for arbitrary particle trajectories, including possibly relativistic trajectories. Finally, the formalism developed here extends to an arbitrary number of particles.

¹The same can be done in the electromagnetic case, which proceeds analogously and is treated in appendix B.

5.1 Mediated entanglement from the path integral

Let us consider the following experimental setup for observing field induced entanglement. We keep the analysis general by treating the case for n particles, interacting with *some* field \mathcal{F} . Later, we will narrow down to the case of two particles.

Assume N particles, each with an embedded spin-1/2 degree of freedom are held in a magnetic trap. Denote by $|\sigma\rangle = \bigotimes_a |s_a\rangle$, where $s_a \in \{\uparrow,\downarrow\}$, the spin configuration. At time t^i , the particles are released and each particle starts from its initial position \boldsymbol{x}_a^i and is put in a spin-dependent planar trajectory $\boldsymbol{x}_a^{s_a}(t)$ by being passed through inhomogeneous and possibly time varying magnetic fields B_z pointing along an axis z. The paths are such that, by the time t^f , the particles have returned to their initial positions $(\boldsymbol{x}_a^f = \boldsymbol{x}_a^i)$.

If the spin of a particle does not have a definite z component, the magnetic field B_z sets the particle into a path-superposition. The field \mathcal{F} couples to charges q_a of the moving particles. The coupling of B_z with \mathcal{F} , the back-reaction of s_a on B_z , and of \mathcal{F} on x_a are taken to be negligible. The spins can become entangled due to their interactions with the field \mathcal{F} . At time $t^{\rm f}$ a spin measurement is performed on each particle.

The partition function of the joint system is

$$\mathcal{Z} \approx \int \mathcal{DF}' \mathcal{D}x' \exp\left(\frac{iS}{\hbar}\right),$$
 (5.1)

where $\mathcal{D}x' = \prod_a \mathcal{D}x'_a$, with

$$S = S\left[\boldsymbol{x}_{a}'(t), \mathcal{F}'(\boldsymbol{x}, t); B_{z}, \sigma\right].$$
(5.2)

The integration is over field configurations $\mathcal{F}'(\boldsymbol{x},t)$ and over the paths of the point charges $\boldsymbol{x}'_a(t)$. For the sake of notational simplicity, in what follows, we suppress the dependence of the paths and the field on the space and time coordinates and the dependence of the action on B_z and σ , since they are not affected by the evolution.

The unitary evolution from t^{i} to t^{f} is given by folding the above path integral with initial and final states, yielding the Feynman propagator for the system. We denote such a choice of boundary states as

$$\left|\psi^{\mathrm{i},\mathrm{f}}\right\rangle = \left|F^{\mathrm{i},\mathrm{f}}\left[\boldsymbol{x}_{a}^{\mathrm{i},\mathrm{f}}\right]\right\rangle \otimes \left|\boldsymbol{x}_{a}^{\mathrm{i},\mathrm{f}}\right\rangle \tag{5.3}$$

We take that these boundary conditions are the same for all spin configurations σ and that the final time is taken sufficiently in the future, when the field has relaxed and $\langle F^i | F^f \rangle \approx 1$. If it were not the case, the effective tracing out of the field and paths degrees of freedom will hide the field-induced entanglement through false decoherence. In practice, these boundary conditions can approximately taken to be classical static configurations, given by the Newtonian field $F^{i,f}[\boldsymbol{x}_a^{i,f}]$ of masses sitting at the initial and final particle positions $\boldsymbol{x}_a^{i,f}$.

Since the path that each particle takes is determined by the spin and, by assumption, the z-component of the spin does not change along the path, the evolution operator is of the form

$$U_{\mathbf{i}\to\mathbf{f}} = \sum_{\sigma} |\sigma\rangle\!\langle\sigma| \otimes U^{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}\to\mathbf{f}},\tag{5.4}$$

where $U_{i\to f}^{\sigma}$ is the Feynman propagator between the (identical) boundary states at t^{i} and t^{f} for a given spin configuration σ .

The task now is to compute $U_{i \to f}^{\sigma}$. We perform the field integration by taking the stationary phase approximation, keeping only the contribution of field configurations that are on-shell. That is, the action now depends on field configurations $\mathcal{F}[\boldsymbol{x}_a(t)]$ that solve the classical field equations, sourced by particles with trajectories $\boldsymbol{x}_a(t)$ of charge q_a with boundary conditions (5.3). Then,

$$\mathcal{Z} \approx \int \mathcal{D}x' \exp\left(\frac{iS[x'_a, \mathcal{F}[x'_a]]}{\hbar}\right).$$
 (5.5)

This approximation amounts to neglecting the UV pathologies of the field and other divergences. It is thus implicitly assumed that these effects and their proper treatment is not relevant in the low energy regime of interest here. This assumption will be justified *a posteriori*, when nevertheless the procedure yields a complete description of induced entanglement that respects the relevant physical principles of Lorentz invariance and gauge invariance.

During the times t^{i} and t^{f} , for each spin configuration σ there is a classical path $\boldsymbol{x}_{a}^{s_{a}}$ determined by the magnetic field B_{z} coupled to the spin s_{a} of each particle. These paths can be taken as orthogonal states, and the remaining integral over the paths be approximated by a second stationary phase approximation, keeping only the contribution on these paths. We now have

$$U_{i \to f}^{\sigma} \approx \exp\left(\frac{iS^{os}\left[\boldsymbol{x}_{a}^{\sigma}, \mathcal{F}[\boldsymbol{x}_{a}^{\sigma}]\right]}{\hbar}\right) \left|\psi^{f}\right\rangle \!\!\left\langle\psi^{i}\right|$$
(5.6)

where the superscript 'os' is to remind that S^{os} is the on-shell action for the system.

Let us apply this to a state which is initially in a spin superposition

$$\left|\Psi^{i}\right\rangle = \sum_{\sigma} A_{\sigma} \left|\sigma\right\rangle \otimes \left|\psi^{i}\right\rangle \tag{5.7}$$

with A_{σ} complex amplitudes. At the moment of measurement the state is

$$\begin{split} \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{f}} \right\rangle &= U_{\mathrm{i} \to \mathrm{f}} \sum_{\sigma} A_{\sigma} \left| \sigma \right\rangle \otimes \left| \psi^{\mathrm{i}} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{\sigma} A_{\sigma} \left| \sigma \right\rangle \otimes U_{\mathrm{i} \to \mathrm{f}}^{\sigma} \left| \psi^{\mathrm{i}} \right\rangle \\ \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{f}} \right\rangle &= \sum_{\sigma} A_{\sigma} \exp \left(\frac{i S^{\mathrm{os}} \left[x_{a}^{\sigma}, \mathcal{F} [x_{a}^{\sigma}] \right]}{\hbar} \right) \left| \sigma \right\rangle \otimes \left| \psi^{\mathrm{f}} \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

$$(5.8)$$

Notice that in this final state, the spins of the particles are not entangled with the rest of the system any more. However, depending on the values of S^{os} , entanglement can be produced among the spin degrees of freedom.

To make more progress, let's remind ourselves that the action S in general splits into two parts,

$$S = S_{\rm M} + S_{\mathcal{F}} \tag{5.9}$$

The term $S_{\rm M}$ does not depend on the field \mathcal{F} and contains the free matter kinetic terms and the coupling of B_z with the spins s_a . The part $S_{\mathcal{F}}$ will contain the kinetic

terms for the field \mathcal{F} and the coupling of \mathcal{F} with the charges q_a , but no interparticle interaction. This is the part that describes the *field mediation*. In principle $S_{\rm M}$ can be computed, or measured independently. In practice, it may be preferable to remove the effect of $S_{\rm M}$ by an appropriately symmetric choice of setup, such that $S_{\rm M}^{\rm os}$ is the same for all spin configurations and becomes a global phase that can be ignored. Let us assume such a choice of setup has been made. We are then left with

$$\left|\Psi^{\mathrm{f}}\right\rangle \propto \sum_{\sigma} A_{\sigma} \left|\sigma\right\rangle e^{i\phi_{\sigma}} \otimes \left|\psi^{\mathrm{f}}\right\rangle,$$
(5.10)

where we have defined

$$\phi_{\sigma} = \frac{S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\mathrm{os}} \left[x_{a}^{\sigma}, \mathcal{F}[x_{a}^{\sigma}] \right]}{\hbar} \tag{5.11}$$

The phases ϕ_a are responsible for entanglement production *mediated through* \mathcal{F} . They are *manifestly local* because the on-shell action is Lorentz covariant (and gauge invariant). The task at hand now is to calculate the action $S_{\mathcal{F}}^{os}$.

5.2 The action for the gravitational field of moving particles

In this section we calculate $S_{\mathcal{F}}^{os}$ when the field \mathcal{F} is the metric perturbation of linearised gravity sourced by point particles. The analogous electromagnetic case is is calculated in appendix B. Since the spacetime curvature is everywhere weak, far smaller than in the vicinity of a black hole horizon, the linearised approximation is applicable. We denote the gravitational perturbation field sourced by the particles as \mathcal{F} , which lives on a background Minkowski spacetime.

5.2.1 On-shell action

The action for linearised gravity minimally coupled to the energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$ is given² by [161]

$$S_{\mathcal{F}} = \frac{c^4}{16\pi G} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \left(-\frac{1}{4} \partial_\rho h_{\mu\nu} \partial^\rho h^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\rho h_{\mu\nu} \partial^\nu h^{\mu\rho} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\nu h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu h + \frac{1}{4} \partial^\mu h \partial_\mu h \right) + \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}, \tag{5.12}$$

where $d^4x = dtd^3x$. The full spacetime metric is given by $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ with the metric perturbation satisfying $|h_{\mu\nu}| \ll 1$, $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ is the Minkowski metric, and $h = \eta_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu}$. The action is invariant under an infinitesimal change of coordinates $x^{\mu} \to x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(x)$ under which the metric perturbation transforms as $h'_{\mu\nu}(x') =$ $h_{\mu\nu}(x) - (\partial_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\xi_{\mu})(x)$. We use the gauge freedom to simplify calculations and write the Lagrangian in the harmonic gauge, where the perturbation satisfies

$$\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h. \tag{5.13}$$

²Greek indices denote 4–vectors and bold latin letters denote 3–vectors, the metric signature is (-, +, +, +).

Boundary terms at infinity are taken to vanish. In this gauge, the action $S_{\mathcal{F}}$ simplifies to

$$S_{\mathcal{F}} = \frac{c^4}{64\pi G} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \left[-\partial_\rho h_{\mu\nu} \partial^\rho h^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \partial^\mu h \partial_\mu h \right] + \frac{1}{2} \int d^4 x h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu} \tag{5.14}$$

after integrating by parts. The Euler-Lagrange equations for $h_{\mu\nu}$ are then

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{16\pi G}{c^4} \bar{T}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.15)$$

where the overbar denotes the operation of trace-reversal:

$$\bar{T}_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} T$$
(5.16)

with $T = \eta^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu}$. To obtain the on-shell action, we place (5.15) into (5.14) and integrate by parts. We get

$$S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\rm os} = \frac{1}{4} \int d^4 x \ h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (5.17)

The interaction between matter and gravity is entirely encoded in $S_{\mathcal{F}}$. As shown in the previous section, $S_{\mathcal{F}}^{os}$ is the central object of interest for observing induced entanglement: this Lorentz covariant and gauge invariant quantity will be measured in the phases of the final spin state. We emphasise that the use of the Lorentz gauge above is an intermediate step in the calculation of a gauge invariant quantity. The same result, requiring more calculations, could be arrived at by using, for instance, a Coulomb-like gauge [209]. Also, note that the on-shell action is simply one half of the coupling term $\frac{1}{2}h_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}$ of the Lagrangian. This numerical factor is necessary to correctly recover the Newtonian limit (see below).

5.2.2 Point particles

Let us now consider the gravitational interaction of point particles. The use of point particles is an approximation that allows to use an explicit solution of the field equations. One could consider realistic smooth mass distributions and repeat the calculation. The logic and conclusions will be the same. So long as the size of the two matter distributions is much smaller than their separation, the use of point charges will be a good approximation. The stress-energy tensor is

$$T^{\mu\nu}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{a} m_a \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t)) V_a^{\mu\nu}(t)$$
(5.18)

where

$$V_a^{\mu\nu}(t) = \gamma_a(t) v_a^{\mu}(t) v_a^{\nu}(t)$$
(5.19)

with $v_a^{\mu}(t) = (c, d\boldsymbol{x}_a/dt) = (c, \boldsymbol{v}_a)$, where \boldsymbol{v}_a is the three velocity and $\gamma_a(t) = (1 - \|\boldsymbol{v}_a(t)\|^2/c^2)^{-1/2}$ the Lorentz factor.

From the equations of motion, the metric perturbation of this mass configuration expressed in the Lorentz gauge is

$$h^{\mu\nu}(t,\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{4G}{c^4} \sum_{a} \left[\frac{m_a \bar{V}_a^{\mu\nu}}{d_a - \boldsymbol{d}_a \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_a/c} \right]_{t=t_a(t,\boldsymbol{x})},$$
(5.20)

where $d_a(t, \mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_a(t)$, $d_a = ||d_a||$ and $\bar{V}_a^{\mu\nu} = V_a^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}V_a$, $V_a = \eta_{\mu\nu}V_a^{\mu\nu}$. A crucial aspect of the formula above is that all quantities on the right hand side are evaluated at the *retarded* times t_a . The retarded time $t_a = t_a(t, \mathbf{x})$ is the time coordinate at which the past lightcone of the event (t, \mathbf{x}) intersects the trajectory of particle a. It is defined implicitly by the relation:

$$ct - ct_a = \|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t_a)\|. \tag{5.21}$$

The solutions (5.20) are the gravitational analogue of the Liénard–Wiechert potentials of electromagnetism [121]. The procedure to derive them is proceeds analogously as in electromagnetism, although they do not appear to be as well known in the literature. Using these solutions, the on-shell action becomes

$$S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\rm os} = \frac{G}{c^4} \sum_{a,b}^{a \neq b} \int dt \; \frac{m_a m_b \bar{V}_a^{\mu\nu}(t_{ab}) V_{b\mu\nu}(t)}{d_{ab}(t) - d_{ab}(t) \cdot v_a(t_{ab})/c} \tag{5.22}$$

Here, the retarded time $t_{ab} = t_{ab}(t)$ is the coordinate time at which the past lightcone of the event $(t, \boldsymbol{x}_b(t))$ intersects the worldline of particle a. It is defined by the relation

$$ct - ct_{ab} = \| \boldsymbol{x}_b(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t_{ab}) \|.$$
 (5.23)

Then $\boldsymbol{d}_{ab}(t) = \boldsymbol{x}_b(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t_{ab})$ and $d_{ab} = \|\boldsymbol{d}_{ab}\|$.

The quantities given by (5.22) can in principle be computed exactly for any choice of trajectories x_a . In the next section, we define some useful approximations.

5.2.3 Three possible approximations, and their relations

There are obvious approximations of interest to the exact expression (5.22) for the on-shell action: the slow-moving approximation and the near-field approximation. These are two distinct approximations. When both approximations are taken, we arrive at the 'Newtonian limit'.

The slow-moving approximation is when the charges or masses are moving with speeds much smaller than the speed of light, $\|\boldsymbol{v}_a\| \ll c$. Since

$$\bar{V}_{a}^{\mu\nu}V_{b\mu\nu} = c^{4} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^{3}\|\boldsymbol{v}_{a}\|\right), \qquad (5.24)$$

when $\|\boldsymbol{v}_a\| \ll c$, the exact expression (5.22) can be well approximated by

$$S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\text{slow}} = \frac{1}{2} G \sum_{a,b}^{a \neq b} \int \mathrm{d}t \; \frac{m_a m_b}{d_{ab}(t)}.$$
(5.25)

Note that $d_{ab}(t)$ still takes into account retardation: it is the distance from the position of particle *b* at time *t* to the *retarded* position of particle *a*. Equation (5.25) can thus be regarded as the retarded version of Newton's law for gravitation. To summarise, the slow-moving approximation retains the finite speed of propagation of signals (via retardation effects) while neglecting other relativistic effects, such as the relativistic corrections to mass and momentum and the effect these have on the field, but includes retardation. In the slow-moving approximation (5.25), the interaction is still *local*.

The second approximation that can be taken for (5.22) is for when the timescale of interest yields a region much larger than the characteristic scale of the spatial separation of the masses (or charges). This can be called the *near-field approximation* in the following sense: if the source's characteristic scale of time variation (divided by c) is much larger than the distance from the other masses, then we can neglect retardation between the masses. In this approximation, the retarded times t_{ab} in (5.22) are replaced by the coordinate time t, yielding an instantaneous interaction

$$S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\text{near}} = \frac{G}{c^4} \sum_{a,b}^{a \neq b} \int dt \; \frac{m_a m_b \bar{V}_a^{\mu\nu}(t) V_{b\mu\nu}(t)}{\|\boldsymbol{x}_b(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t)\| - (\boldsymbol{x}_b(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_a(t)/c}.$$
 (5.26)

This approximation is clearly distinct from the slow-moving approximation as it disregards retardation but it does not presuppose non-relativistic speeds for the particles.

Lastly, taking *both* of the above approximations yields the Newtonian limit. Indeed, taking equal masses, (5.25) approximates to

$$S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\mathrm{N}} = \int \mathrm{d}t \; \frac{Gm^2}{d(t)},\tag{5.27}$$

which is the correct result for a Newtonian interaction. It is what one obtains by formally sending $c \to \infty$. Taking d to be constant, we recover the formula used in the literature for the GME [34, 164], where the phase over a period Δt is taken to be given by the Newtonian potential energy multiplied by Δt

$$\frac{S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\mathrm{N}}}{\hbar} = \frac{Gm^2}{d} \frac{\Delta t}{\hbar}.$$
(5.28)

5.2.4 Observable effect of retardation

To connect with the GME experiments, let us examine the observable effects of retardation in the simple case of two equal masses. In the experiments, the masses will move at non-relativistic speeds, so that we can take the slow-moving approximation, and spin-dependent phases (5.11) are given by

$$\phi_{\sigma} = \frac{S_{\mathcal{F}}^{\text{slow}}[x_a^{s_a}]}{\hbar} = \frac{Gm^2}{2\hbar} \int dt \left(\frac{1}{d_{12}(t)} + \frac{1}{d_{21}(t)}\right).$$
(5.29)

This formula will yield some corrections to the Newtonian approximation taken in the original papers [34, 164] and in the rest of the thesis. Besides this *quantitative* effect, *qualitatively* different behaviour can be predicted when the spatial superposition of the particles happens entirely within spacelike separated regions.

The situation is depicted in figure 5.1. Take the particles at rest at a distance d for all times $t < t_1$ and $t > t_2$. Between t_1 and t_2 , the particles undergo a spin-dependent motion. The setup is such that $c(t_2 - t_1) < d$, so that the non-stationary parts of the worldlines are spacelike separated. At all times before t_2 and after $t_3 = t_2 + d/c$ then, the retarded position of each particle with respect to the other is constant, meaning that the field is not in superposition there. During the interval from t_2 to



Figure 5.1. Retardation prevents the creation of entanglement. In this setup, the particles are in a superposition in spacelike separated regions. When they are in superposition they move through a static semiclassical field, when the field is in superposition the particles are not. The phases generated in this setup do not lead to entanglement.

 t_3 , each particles moves in a superposition of fields, but the particles themselves are not in a superposition. In this setup, no entanglement can be generated.

Let $x_a^{s_a}(t)$ be the displacement of particle *a* from its initial position due to the coupling of the external magnetic field B_z with its spin, so that

$$d_{21}^{\sigma}(t) = d - x_1^{s_1}(t) + x_2^{s_2}(t_{21}).$$
(5.30)

Recall that $|\sigma\rangle = \otimes_a |s_a\rangle$. Using (5.25), ϕ_{σ} is a sum of two integrals that can be done by splitting the domain of integration in four. We have for example

$$\int_{t^{i}}^{t^{f}} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{d_{21}^{\sigma}(t)} = \int_{t^{i}}^{t_{1}} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{d} + \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{d - x_{1}^{s_{1}}(t)} + \int_{t_{2}}^{t_{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{d + x_{2}^{s_{2}}(t_{21}(t))} + \int_{t_{3}}^{t^{f}} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{d}.$$
 (5.31)

Note that each of these terms depends on only one spin at a time. This implies that the phases can be written as

$$\phi_{\sigma} = C + \phi_{s_a} + \phi_{s_b}. \tag{5.32}$$

Thus, if the initial states of the spins is separable, so will be the final state. No entanglement is generated. If, on the other hand, one calculates the phase in the Newtonian limit with instantaneous interaction, the masses and hence the spins result in an entangled state.

This effect can in principle be observed, although it would certainly be easier to do with electric charge and electromagnetic interactions.

5.3 Conclusion

We have computed the phases giving rise to gravity mediated entanglement and shown that they are manifestly Lorentz invariant (thus causal) and gauge invariant quantities. We derived the approximation when the particle motion is non-relativistic and showed that this is still local as it includes the corrections for retardation. Finally, we have seen that retardation has an observable effect in the production of induced entanglement. Part III About Time

Chapter 6

An experiment to test the discreteness of time

Optical clocks using strontium ⁸⁷Sr are among the most accurate in the world. The time elapsed between two of their ticks is about 10^{-15} s (the inverse of strontium frequency) with a precision of 10^{-19} [168]. Physical phenomena that probe much smaller characteristic timescales have also been measured. For instance, the lifetime of the top quark is 10^{-25} s. Such a result is obtained experimentally from a statistical analysis, where the short duration of the lifetime is compensated by a large number of events. Theoretical physics features even shorter scales: in primordial cosmology, the inflation epoch is believed to have lasted 10^{-32} s. Based on a cosmological model, the recent paper [260] even argues that the precision of recent atomic clocks already sets an upper bound of 10^{-33} s for a fundamental period of time.

Planck time is a far smaller timescale. We recall that the planck time is defined as

$$t_{\rm P} \stackrel{\rm def}{=} \sqrt{\frac{G\hbar}{c^5}} \approx 10^{-44} \, \rm s, \tag{6.1}$$

where G is Newton's constant, \hbar the reduced planck's constant and c the speed of light. It can seem an impossible task to probe time at the planck scale. However, the example of the lifetime of the top quark shows that it is possible to overtake clock accuracy limitations by several orders of magnitude using statistics. In this chapter, we examine the following question: if time behaves differently from a continuous variable at the planckian scale, how could the departure from this behaviour be inferred experimentally? To answer this question, we assume that proper time differences take discrete values in multiple steps of planck time, and devise a low energy experiment that would detect this effect.

The proposal in this chapter is motivated by the recent experimental proposals to detect the non-classicality of the gravitational field by detecting gravity mediated entanglement (GME) [33, 34, 149, 164, 166] and the production of non-gaussianity [140] introduced in chapter 1. Since probing the quantum gravity regime with particle colliders may be practically impossible, it is intriguing that these low energy experiments are not too far removed from current capabilities. Instead of accelerators, the suggestion in these proposals is to quantum control slow moving nanoparticles or use a Bose-Einstein condensate. Here, we will see that a similar setup, with similar technological requirements, is able to probe planck-sized time intervals The plan is the following. In section 6.1, we present the experimental setup, which involves a single mass going through a matter-wave interferometer next to a source mass. The two masses interact only via gravity. In section 6.2, we introduce the hypothesis that proper time differences are discrete at the planck level, and discuss how this affects the measurements at the end of the interferometer. Detecting these effects imposes a number of constraints on the experimental parameters, which we deduce in section 6.3. Then, in section 6.4, we suggest a set of reasonable parameters that fulfil these constraints. In section 6.5, we complete the analysis by checking that it is possible to keep environmental decoherence at bay long enough. Finally, in section 6.6 we discuss the time-discreteness hypothesis itself. This chapter is based on [61].

6.1 Experimental setup

The proposed experimental setup is depicted in figure 6.1. A spherical nanoparticle of mass m with embedded magnetic spin is dropped simultaneously with a second mass M. The mass m is then put into a spin-dependent superposition of paths by the application of a series of electromagnetic pulses. This technique was proposed in [34, 265]. In the branch of closest approach, m and M are at a distance d, in the other, they are at a distance d + l. The superposition is held at these distances for a time t, as measured in the laboratory frame. While the two masses free fall, they interact gravitationally. If linearised quantum gravity holds, then the two quantum branches in the total state evolve differently, accumulating a relative phase. After the superposition has been undone, this phase is visible in the state of the spin of the mass m.

Let us see this in detail. The quantum state of the mass m is given by its position in the apparatus and the orientation of its embedded spin. There will be three relevant position states¹ $|L\rangle$, $|C\rangle$ and $|R\rangle$, respectively left, centre and right. For the spin, we use the canonical basis, $|\uparrow\rangle$ and $|\downarrow\rangle$, in the z-direction. The mass m is prepared at t_0 in the central position with the spin in the positive x-direction:

$$|\psi_0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|C\rangle\left(|\uparrow\rangle + |\downarrow\rangle\right). \tag{6.2}$$

An inhomogeneous magnetic field is then applied to the mass m, entangling its position with its spin so that at time t_1 the state is

$$|\psi_1\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |L\uparrow\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |R\downarrow\rangle.$$
(6.3)

The particle is then allowed to free-fall for a time t. During this time, it interacts gravitationally with the mass M. The displacement of the masses due to their gravitational attraction is negligible. The two states $|L\rangle$ and $|R\rangle$ are eigenstates of the hamiltonian and each acquires a phase proportional to the newtonian potential

¹It has recently been shown [54] that treating the position states as eigenstates is a valid approximation in this setup.



Figure 6.1. Spacetime view of the experiment. For a time t_{acc} , an inhomogeneous magnetic field is applied that sets a mass m with embedded spin in a superposition of two paths, at a distance d and d + l, respectively, from another mass M. The masses are in free fall for a time t, as measured in the laboratory, after which the procedure is reversed and the superposition undone. During this time t, the two trajectories accumulate a different phase due to the gravitational interaction with M.

induced by M. So at time t_2 the state is

$$|\psi_2\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{i\phi_L} |L\uparrow\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{i\phi_R} |R\downarrow\rangle, \qquad (6.4)$$

where

$$\phi_L = \frac{GMm}{\hbar} \frac{t}{d+l}$$
 and $\phi_R = \frac{GMm}{\hbar} \frac{t}{d}$. (6.5)

At this point, another inhomogeneous magnetic field is applied to undo the superposition. The final state of the particle is, up to a global phase,

$$|\psi_3\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |C\rangle \left(|\uparrow\rangle + e^{i\delta\phi} |\downarrow\rangle\right),\tag{6.6}$$

where the relative phase $\delta \phi$ is given by

$$\delta\phi = \frac{GMmt}{\hbar} \frac{l}{d(d+l)}.$$
(6.7)

Information about the gravitational field is now contained in the state of the spin, which in turn can be estimated from the statistics of spin measurements. Concretely, we consider a measurement on the spin of the particle along the y-direction

$$\left|\pm i\right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left|\uparrow\right\rangle \pm i\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left|\downarrow\right\rangle. \tag{6.8}$$

Born's rule gives the probability P_+ of finding the spin in the state $|+i\rangle$:

$$P_{+}(m, M, d, l, t) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sin\delta\phi, \qquad (6.9)$$

where we compute $\delta \phi$ as a function of m, M, d, l and t through equation (6.7). This equation for the probability is a theoretical prediction of linearised quantum gravity.

Experimentally, the probability can be measured by the relative frequencies in collected statistics. The experiment is repeated N times keeping the experimental parameters fixed. If the outcome $|+i\rangle$ is recorded N_{+} times, the frequency

$$p_{+}(m, M, d, l, t) = \frac{N_{+}}{N}$$
 (6.10)

is then the experimentally measured value of the probability. This procedure can be repeated for different sets of experimental parameters to verify the functional dependence of p_+ to these. In what follows, we propose an experiment that can detect a statistically significant discrepancy between P_+ and p_+ . This discrepancy would signal a departure from linearised quantum gravity.

The above experimental setup is similar to that proposed to detect GME in [34], with the main difference that for our purpose we only require one mass, not two, in a superposition of paths. It is thus conceptually more similar to the celebrated Colella-Overhauser-Werner (COW) experiment [3, 69]. However, the task we have set ourselves here and the method to achieve it, goes much beyond showing that gravity can affect a quantum mechanical phase and induce an interference pattern. To detect a potential discreteness of time, we need a more sensitive apparatus, and so the gravitational source M will need to be much weaker. In our case, M is not the Earth, but a mesoscopic particle, essentially a speck of dust.

6.2 Hypothesis: time discreteness

While the newtonian limit of linearised quantum gravity is sufficient to compute the phase difference $\delta\phi$, it is can also be understood in general relativistic terms [62, 63]. The mass M induces a Schwarzschild metric which dilates time differently along each of the two possible trajectories of m. Then, equation (6.7) can be recast as

$$\delta\phi = \frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\frac{\delta\tau}{t_{\rm P}},\tag{6.11}$$

where $\delta \tau$ is the difference of proper time between the two trajectories, given by

$$\delta\tau = \frac{GM}{c^2} \frac{l}{d(d+l)} t. \tag{6.12}$$

Now, it is widely believed that the smooth geometry of general relativity should be replaced, once quantised, by some discrete structure. In particular, we may expect time to be granular in some sense. In which sense precisely, we do not know. However, since $\delta \tau$ admits a straightforward interpretation of a covariant quantum clock, it makes a good candidate to reveal discrete features of time. Thus we make the following hypothesis: $\delta \tau$ can only take values which are integer multiples of planck time $t_{\rm P}$. That is, (6.12) is modified to:

$$\delta \tau = n t_{\rm P}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}. \tag{6.13}$$

Additional motivation for the hypothesis and possible alternatives are discussed in section 6.6. For now, it can be taken just as the simplest implementation of the idea that time is discrete at a fundamental level, similar in philosophy to the idea that everyday-life matter is not continuous, but instead made of atoms. Devising an experiment to detect this discreteness and examining its feasibility is the task we have set ourselves in this work.

Equation (6.13) is still incomplete and we need to posit a functional relation between the level n and the parameters M, d, l, t. We rewrite equation (6.12) as

$$\delta \tau = \frac{t}{\beta} t_{\rm P}, \tag{6.14}$$

where we have defined

$$\beta = \frac{d(d+l)c^2}{GMl}t_{\rm P}.$$
(6.15)

Note that β has dimensions of time. To make the hypothesis quantitative, we take n to be given by the floor function²

$$n = \left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} \right\rfloor. \tag{6.16}$$

That is, n is the integer part of the dimensionless quantity t/β . The main lessons of our results do not depend on the specific choice (6.16) for the functional dependence between t/β and n. Other modifications of the continuous behaviour in (6.12), so long as they display features of planckian size, could be probed by the experiment.

Thus, we have

$$\delta \tau = \left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} \right\rfloor t_{\rm P}.\tag{6.17}$$

The consequences of this hypothesis are revealed in the measured probability p_+ of equation (6.10). If time behaves continuously, p_+ , as a function of time t/β will fit the smooth (blue) curve in figure 6.2, given by

$$P_{+} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sin\left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}} \frac{t}{\beta}\right).$$
(6.18)

If the hypothesis holds, the observed profile for the probability will follow that of the orange step function in figure 6.2, given by

$$P_{+}^{\rm h} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sin\left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}} \left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} \right\rfloor\right). \tag{6.19}$$

²The floor |x| of a real number x is the largest integer smaller than x, aka the integer part of x.

To test the hypothesis, the strategy is thus to plot experimentally the curve $p_+(t/\beta)$. Observing plateaux would be the signature of time-discreteness.



Figure 6.2. Probability of measuring spin $|+i\rangle$ as a function of t/β under the continuous and discrete time hypotheses. Blue line: $\delta\tau$ is smooth as in equation (6.14). Orange line: $\delta\tau$ is discrete as in equation (6.17). We have taken the value of $m = 10^{-2}m_{\rm P}$. The experimental parameters shown in table 6.1 would produce 100 data points scanning the range of t/β depicted here, with a sufficient resolution to decide which of the two curves is realised in nature.

6.3 Ensuring visibility of the effect

Each experimental data point for $p_+(t/\beta)$ is obtained from computing the statistical frequency of the outcome $|+i\rangle$. Point by point, a scatter plot of p_+ against t/β will be obtained. We must choose the experimental parameters so that the difference between P_+ and $P_+^{\rm h}$ can be resolved. This imposes requirements on the minimal precision of the experimental apparatus and on the maximal permissible gravitational noise in the environment.

6.3.1 Visibility of the vertical axis

The uncertainty Δp_+ for the probability p_+ after N runs results from using finite statistics and is of the order

$$\Delta p_+ \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}.\tag{6.20}$$

The vertical step α between the plateaux is given by

$$\alpha = \left| \sin\left(\left(\left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} \right\rfloor + 1 \right) \frac{m}{m_{\rm P}} \right) - \sin\left(\left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} \right\rfloor \frac{m}{m_{\rm P}} \right) \right|.$$
(6.21)

We assume that $m \ll m_{\rm P}$, consistent with the fact that it is hard to put a large mass in a superposition. The above expression simplifies to

$$\alpha(t) \approx \frac{m}{m_{\rm P}} \cos\left(\left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} \right\rfloor \frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\right).$$
(6.22)

So the steps are most visible when

$$\left|\frac{t}{\beta}\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\right| \ll 1. \tag{6.23}$$

Then the expression simplifies to

$$\alpha(t) \approx \frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}.\tag{6.24}$$

Requiring that the probability uncertainty is an order of magnitude smaller than the vertical step, $\Delta p_+ < 10^{-1} \alpha$, we find the constraint

$$N > 10^2 \left(\frac{m_{\rm P}}{m}\right)^2. \tag{6.25}$$

We see that a larger mass m means that fewer runs N per data point are required, which implies a shorter total duration T_{tot} of the experiment. Indeed, since plotting $p_+(t/\beta)$ requires N runs per data point, each run requiring at least a time t, a lower bound for the total duration of the experiment is

$$T_{\rm tot} \sim N_{\rm dp} N t,$$
 (6.26)

where N_{dp} is the number of data points. Thus, the constraint (6.25) can be restated as

$$\frac{T_{\text{tot}}}{N_{\text{dp}} t} > 10^2 \left(\frac{m_{\text{P}}}{m}\right)^2.$$
(6.27)

This constraint imposes a trade-off between the time required to resolve the discreteness and the mass that has to be in superposition. It counter-balances the fact that it is harder to achieve quantum control of a large mass.

6.3.2 Visibility of the horizontal axis

The uncertainty in t/β is found via the standard formula for the propagation of uncertainty and can be expressed as

$$\Delta(t/\beta) = U\frac{t}{\beta},\tag{6.28}$$

where

$$U \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sqrt{\left(\frac{\Delta t}{t}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{d}{d+l} + 1\right)^2 \left(\frac{\Delta d}{d}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{d}{d+l}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\Delta l}{l}\right)^2}.$$
 (6.29)

By assumption (6.16), the width of the plateaux is 1. To place several data points on each plateau, we require the typical uncertainty to be an order of magnitude smaller, *i.e.* $\Delta(t/\beta) < 10^{-1}$. We thus impose the constraint

$$U < 10^{-1} \ \frac{\beta}{t} \tag{6.30}$$

on the experimental parameters. Note that a given U determines the highest value of $n = |t/\beta|$ for which the discontinuities can be resolved.

6.3.3 Gravitational noise

There is no analog of a Faraday cage for gravitational interactions, so influences by other masses will also contribute to the accumulated phase $\delta\phi$. Since the experiment we are considering is in a sense an extremely sensitive gravimeter, these would need to be taken carefully into account. We distinguish between 'predictable' gravitational influences and 'unpredictable' gravitational influences, *i.e.* gravitational noise. The latter type will dictate the degree of isolation required for a successful realisation of the experiment, adding another visibility constraint, while the former type can be dealt with by calibration.

The presence of unexpected masses in the vicinity of the apparatus may disturb the measurement. It will contribute to the proper time dilation by an amount η , modifying (6.19) to

$$P_{+}^{\rm h}(\eta) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sin\left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\left\lfloor\frac{t}{\beta} + \frac{\eta}{t_{\rm P}}\right\rfloor\right). \tag{6.31}$$

Getting a single data-point requires N drops, and for each drop, the perturbation η may be a priori different. However, it should be small enough so that it does not make the probability $P^{\rm h}_+$ jump to another step, *i.e.* η is a negligible noise if

$$\left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} + \frac{\eta}{t_{\rm P}} \right\rfloor = \left\lfloor \frac{t}{\beta} \right\rfloor. \tag{6.32}$$

Of course, η is a random variable over which the control is limited. To a first approximation, the condition (6.32) can be implemented over the N drops by requiring

$$\Delta \eta < 10^{-1} t_{\rm P}.$$
 (6.33)

For instance, the gravitational noise induced by the presence of a mass μ at a distance $D \gg l, d$ is at most

$$\eta_{\max} = \pm \frac{G\mu l}{D^2} \frac{t}{\hbar}.$$
(6.34)

Thus, we get a fair idea of how isolated the apparatus should be with the condition

$$2Gl\frac{\mu}{D^2}\frac{t}{\hbar} < 10^{-1}t_{\rm P}.$$
 (6.35)

The ratio

$$A = \frac{\mu}{D^2} \tag{6.36}$$

is a measure of the impact that a mass μ has on the visibility of the discontinuities, if it is allowed to move uncontrollably as close as a distance D away from the experiment. Thus, we end up with the following constraint

$$A \, l \, t < 5 \times 10^{-2} \, \frac{t_{\rm P} m_{\rm P}}{l_{\rm P}}.\tag{6.37}$$

This equation is a requirement on the control of the environment necessary to resolve the discontinuities. All things being equal, shorter superpositions are less sensitive to the gravitational noise. Above, we took into account the effect of a single mass μ . This not sufficient to guarantee that there will not be a cumulative effect from several masses around. However, note that if these masses are homogeneously distributed, their contributions may average out.

The 'predictable' type of gravitational influences are systematic errors arising, for example, from the gravitational field of the Earth, the Moon, and the motion of other large bodies, such as tectonic activity or sea tides, but also from small masses that will unavoidably be present in the immediate vicinity of the mass m, such as the experimental apparatus itself and the surrounding laboratory. Given the extreme sensitivity of the apparatus, it will likely not be possible to make all these gravitational influences satisfy (6.37). However one can calibrate for the contribution of a mass μ at distance D if it moves slowly with respect to the time Nt that it takes to collect a data point *i.e.* if

$$Ntv \ll D,$$
 (6.38)

with v the speed of the mass. Another possibility that can be calibrated for is if the mass is not moving slowly but the uncertainty in its position is small with respect to D (for instance, a moving mechanical part or the Moon).

An example of a calibration procedure is as follows. Let us assume that the different values of t/β are obtained by changing d while keeping M, l, and t fixed (as considered in the next section). The mass μ will contribute a constant phase ϕ_B , which we can estimate by running the experiment without M. So long as the masses are slow moving, it suffices to rotate the measurement basis to

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left|0\right\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}e^{i\left(\phi_B \pm \frac{\pi}{2}\right)}\left|1\right\rangle \tag{6.39}$$

rather than $\{|\pm i\rangle\}$.

6.4 Balancing act

Let us summarise the three experimental constraints that we derived above.

$$\begin{cases} 10^2 \frac{N_{\rm dp} t}{T_{\rm tot}} < \left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\right)^2 \quad [\text{vertical}] \\ U \frac{t}{\beta} < 10^{-1} \quad [\text{horizontal}] \\ A l t < 5 \times 10^{-2} \frac{t_{\rm P} m_{\rm P}}{l_{\rm P}} \quad [\text{noise}], \end{cases}$$
(6.40)

with

$$\frac{t}{\beta} = \frac{M}{m_{\rm P}} \frac{ctl}{d(d+l)}.\tag{6.41}$$

These constraints have to be satisfied in order to have a chance to resolve the discontinuities in p_+ that would result from our hypothesis. We now proceed to identify a set of reasonable parameters that satisfy the constraints. We will make a series of assumptions based on current technological trends. We will number the assumptions to make them visible.

- 1. Any of the parameters M, d, l and t could be modulated to scan a range of t/β . Since t/β is most sensitive to changes in d (quadratic dependence), we assume the modulation of d, keeping M, l and t fixed.
- 2. The total duration of the experiment is about a year

$$T_{\rm tot} \sim 10^7 \, {\rm s.}$$
 (6.42)

3. The plot requires about a hundred data points

$$N_{\rm dp} \sim 10^2,$$
 (6.43)

to be distributed over ten plateaux

$$t/\beta \le 10. \tag{6.44}$$

4. Experimentally, the maximal distance between the two branches of the superposition cannot be very large, and so we assume

$$d \gg l. \tag{6.45}$$

From these first assumptions, the system of inequalities (6.40) simplifies to

$$\begin{cases} t < 10^3 \left(\frac{m_{\rm P}}{m}\right)^2 \text{s} \quad [\text{vertical}] \\ U < 10^{-2} \quad [\text{horizontal}] \\ A \, l \, t < 5 \times 10^{-2} \frac{t_{\rm P} \, m_{\rm P}}{l_{\rm P}} \quad [\text{noise}] \\ t / \beta \le 10 \quad [\text{range}], \end{cases}$$
(6.46)

with

$$\frac{t}{\beta} = \frac{M}{m_{\rm P}} \frac{ctl}{d^2}.\tag{6.47}$$

The uncertainty U, defined by equation (6.29), depends on the precision in t, M, d and l. With the assumption $l \gg d$ its expression simplifies to

$$U = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\Delta t}{t}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Delta M}{M}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Delta d}{d}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Delta l}{l}\right)^2}.$$
 (6.48)

Then, the [horizontal] inequality implies that each of t, M, d, and l will have to be controlled better than 1 part in 100.

5. It is reasonable to expect that the uncertainty U will be dominated by the uncertainty in the superposition size l, thus,

$$U \approx \frac{\Delta l}{l}.\tag{6.49}$$

6. We assume possible to control the size of the superposition to the scale of a few atoms, i.e.

$$\Delta l = 10^{-9} \text{ m.} \tag{6.50}$$

7. From the above two points we have a lower bound for the value of l. Taking l larger, would only make the experiment harder because of decoherence and gravitational noise. We thus take

$$l \sim 10^{-7} \text{ m},$$
 (6.51)

which satisfies the [horizontal] constraint, allowing to resolve the first 10 steps.

We have now solved the [horizontal] constraint and fixed l. The remaining constraints evaluate to

$$\begin{cases} t < 10^{3} \left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}}\right)^{2} \text{s} \quad \text{[vertical]} \\ At < 4 \times 10^{-11} \text{ kg s m}^{-2} \quad \text{[noise]} \\ \frac{Mt}{d^{2}} < 7 \times 10^{-9} \text{ kg s m}^{-2} \quad \text{[range].} \end{cases}$$
(6.52)

All three equations suggest to take t as small as possible. Nonetheless, this cannot be too short because the superposition is created by a magnetic field B that separates the branches at a distance l. This process requires some time $t_{\rm acc}$, which is bounded from below by the highest magnetic field $B_{\rm max}$ that can be created in the lab. Concretely³

$$\mu_{\rm B} \frac{B_{\rm max}}{l} > \frac{ml}{t_{\rm acc}^2},\tag{6.53}$$

where $\mu_{\rm B}$ is the Bohr magneton ($\mu_{\rm B} \approx 10^{-23} \text{ J.T}^{-1}$).

8. t should be at least as long as $t_{\rm acc}$, say

$$t \sim 3 t_{\rm acc}.\tag{6.54}$$

9. Taking $B_{\text{max}} \sim 10^2$ T, which is the value of the strongest pulsed non-destructive magnetic field regularly used in research [150], we get, in SI units,

$$10^{-8}t^2 > m. (6.55)$$

10. Considering the difficulty to put a heavy mass in superposition, we can minimise both t and m under the [vertical] constraint of (6.52) and equation (6.55). We find

$$m = 3 \cdot 10^{-10} \text{ kg} \sim 10^{-2} m_{\text{P}}$$

$$t = 10^{-1} \text{ s.}$$
(6.56)

These values are consistent with the assumptions made above that $m \ll m_{\rm P}$ and $\Delta t/t \ll 10^{-2}$. We have thus solved the [vertical] constraint too. We are left with

$$A < 4 \times 10^{-10} \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ [noise]}$$

$$\underline{\frac{M}{d^2}} < 7 \times 10^{-8} \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ [range]}.$$
(6.57)

 $^{^{3}}$ We assume the masses are made of a material that allows neglecting diamagnetic effects. If diamagnetism cannot be ignored, one has to resort to a more complicated scheme of pulses, inverting the direction of the magnetic field gradient at specific intervals as detailed in [197], or inverting both the direction of the gradient and the spins as proposed in [256]. Alternatively, one can use a different method of wavepacket separation, like that detailed in [208].

11. Considering the *a priori* difficulty to isolate the system from external perturbations, the noise inequality fixes the minimal upper bound for A, *i.e.* we want to tolerate perturbations as high as

$$A = 4 \times 10^{-10} \text{ kg m}^{-2}.$$
 (6.58)

This threshold is very sensitive. To give an example, it corresponds to the gravity induced by a bee flying 230m away. Such a high control might only be attainable in space, where cosmic dust particles, with typical mass of $5\mu g$ [45], would need to be kept 4 m away from the masses.

We are thus left with one last inequality which reads, in SI units,

$$d > 4 \times 10^3 \sqrt{M}. \quad \text{[range]} \tag{6.59}$$

12. We have implicitly assumed that m is a test mass moving in the geometry defined by M, so we require $M \gtrsim 10 m$ for consistency. Choosing the minimal value

$$M = 10 \ m,$$
 (6.60)

leads to

$$d \ge 0.17 \text{ m.}$$
 (6.61)

This corresponds to the lower bound for the range that d will scan, corresponding to $t/\beta = 10$. The value $t/\beta = 1$ provides an upper bound of $d \approx 54$ cm. Note that the assumption made above that $\Delta d/d$, $\Delta M/M \ll 10^{-2}$ is indeed reasonable.

Casimir-Polder. So far, we have not taken into account the Casimir-Polder (CP) force between the two masses. The modification of the vacuum energy between two perfectly conducting, parallel discs of area a a distance d apart [236] results in a force $F_{\rm CP} = \frac{\hbar c \pi^2}{240d^4} a$. Taking this force as an overestimate of that between two spherical dielectric particles of cross-sectional area a a distance d apart, we see that the CP force is at most a million times weaker than the gravitational force and can thus be neglected.

Uncertainty on m. A small shift δm on the mass m adds a phase difference $\epsilon = \delta m/m_{\rm P} \cdot \lfloor t/\beta \rfloor$, which in turn causes a shift δP in the probability. Since $m \ll m_{\rm P}$ and $t/\beta < 10$, then $\epsilon \ll 1$ and the shift is to first order $\delta P \approx \frac{1}{2}\epsilon$. The uncertainty in m does not affect the visibility of the probability axis if $\delta P \ll \alpha$, *i.e.* if $\delta m/m \ll 2/\lfloor t/\beta \rfloor$. This last condition on m means that the mass m should be known to one part in 100, which is easily reachable.

This concludes our derivation of a set of parameters that satisfies the constraints of the previous section and, thus, allows to probe planckian features of time. The values are summarised in table 6.1. As a corroboration of the analysis, the experimental plot is simulated for these parameters in figures 6.3 and 6.4. There, we see how the effect becomes visible when the gravitational noise and the uncertainty on the experimental parameters satisfy the constraints derived above.



Figure 6.3. Simulated data points with decreasing values of Δl . The value of the parameters is set as in table 6.1, assuming no gravitational noise. Each point point is obtained by sampling N times the probability distribution $P^{\rm h}_+$ in (6.19), where the parameters t, l and d are themselves each time sampled from a normal distribution with the corresponding uncertainty. From left to right, the uncertainty in l takes the values 10^{-8} m, 5×10^{-9} m and 10^{-9} m, demonstrating that the effect becomes visible when the experimental parameters have little uncertainty, see section 6.3.2. Note how the discontinuities on higher values of t/β require higher precision to be resolved.



Figure 6.4. Simulated data points with decreasing gravitational noise. The data points are obtained in the same manner as those in figure 6.3, with the following difference. At each run, a value of A is picked uniformly at random from $[-A_{max}, A_{max}]$ and the quantity Alt is added to t/β before sampling the distribution. This procedure simulates the influence of a single mass moving uncontrollably while statistics are collected, see section 6.3.3. The value of the parameters is as set in table 6.1, while A_{max} is, from left to right, 1/(2tl), 1/(5tl) and 1/(20tl) in natural units. The discontinuities become visible only if the gravitational noise is reduced.

| Parameter | Value | Uncertainty |
|--------------|--|------------------------|
| m | $3 \times 10^{-10} \text{ kg}$ | 10^{-12} kg |
| M | $3 \times 10^{-9} \text{ kg}$ | $10^{-11} { m kg}$ |
| t | $10^{-1} { m s}$ | $10^{-4} { m s}$ |
| l | $10^{-7} {\rm m}$ | $10^{-9} \mathrm{m}$ |
| d | $[17,54]~\mathrm{cm}$ | $10^{-2} \mathrm{~cm}$ |
| A | $\leq 4 \times 10^{-10} \text{ kg m}^{-2}$ | |
| $N_{\rm dp}$ | 100 | |
| N | 10^{6} | |
| $T_{ m tot}$ | 1 year | |
| n | [0, 10] | |

Table 6.1. The experimental parameters identified in section 6.4

6.5 Maintaining coherence

We saw in section 2.3 that a mass in superposition of paths will interact with the ambient black body radiation and stray gas molecules in the imperfect vacuum of the device. As the photons and molecules get entangled with the position degrees of freedom of the mass, the coherence of the superposition is lost and the phase cannot be recovered by observing interference between the two paths. These unavoidable environmental sources of decoherence are well studied both theoretically and experimentally [208, 217, 218]. Gravitational time dilation can also be a source of decoherence for thermal systems [207], but requires much stronger gravitational fields than considered in this experiment.

We assume the experiment will be performed with a nanoparticle of mass $m = 3 \times 10^{-10}$ kg, radius $R = 30 \ \mu$ m. For the formulas appearing in this section we refer the reader to [208].

Black-body radiation

The typical wavelength of thermal photons ($\approx 10^{-5}$ m at room temperature) is much larger than l, thus spatial superpositions decohere exponentially in time with a characteristic time

$$\tau_{\rm bb} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\rm bb} l^2},\tag{6.62}$$

which is sensitive to the superposition size l. The factor Λ_{bb} depends on the material properties of the mass as well as its temperature and that of the environment. If the environment and the mass are at the same temperature T then the factor is

$$\Lambda_{\rm bb} = \frac{8!8\zeta(9)}{9\pi} cR^6 \left(\frac{k_B T}{\hbar c}\right)^9 \operatorname{Re}\left[\frac{\epsilon - 1}{\epsilon + 2}\right]^2 + \frac{32\pi^5}{189} cR^3 \left(\frac{k_B T}{\hbar c}\right)^6 \operatorname{Im}\left[\frac{\epsilon - 1}{\epsilon + 2}\right], \quad (6.63)$$

where ζ denotes the Riemann zeta function and ϵ is the dielectric constant of the nanoparticle's material at the thermal frequency. We take $\epsilon = 5.3$ like that of diamond [24] for the purposes of this estimation. Plugging in the radius of 30 μ m of

the masses under consideration and the superposition size $10^{-1} \mu m$, we have

$$\tau_{\rm bb} \approx \frac{2 \times 10^5 \text{ s}}{\left(T/\mathrm{K}\right)^9}.$$
(6.64)

A coherence time of about 1 s, one order of magnitude above t of table 6.1, will require the temperature to be below 4 K.

Imperfect vacuum

The thermal de Broglie wavelength of a typical gas molecule ($\approx 10^{-10}$ m for He at 4K) is many orders of magnitude below the superposition size l considered here, thus a single collision can acquire full which-path information and entail full loss of coherence. The exponential decay rate of the superposition is in this case independent on the size l of the superposition, with a characteristic time

$$\tau_{\rm gas} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{16\pi\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{\sqrt{2m_g k_B T}}{PR^2}$$
(6.65)

in a gas at temperature T, pressure P of molecules of mass m_g . Assuming the gas is entirely made of helium, and setting the highest possible value for the temperature according to the previous section, we get

$$\tau_{\rm gas} \approx \frac{10^{-17} \text{ s}}{P/\text{Pa}}.\tag{6.66}$$

Thus a coherence time of 10 t = 1 s requires a pressure of 10^{-17} Pa. This is a regime of extremely low pressure and may present the most serious challenge for any experiment that involves setting masses of this scale in path superposition. To put things in perspective, pressures of the order 10^{-18} Pa are found in nature in the warm-hot intergalactic medium [182], while the interstellar medium pressure is at the range of 10^{-14} Pa [98]. On the other hand, pressures as low as 10^{-15} Pa at 4 K have been reported since the 1990's in experiments employing cooling magnetic traps [109, 110]. In a similar context to ours, the contemporary GME detection proposals quoted above require pressures of 10^{-15} Pa at 0.15 K [34]. Finally, the cryogenic requirements found in this section can be relaxed if the path superposition can be achieved faster. From equations (6.53) and (6.54), if a stronger magnetic field can be used this will require shorter coherence times.

6.6 Discussion of the hypothesis

At first sight, the hypothesis

$$\delta \tau = n t_{\rm P} \tag{6.13}$$

mimics the naïve picture of a tiny clock ticking at a constant rate, with a lapse $t_{\rm P}$. This simple physical picture of the quantum mechanical phase as a sort of intrinsic "clock" ticking at planckian time intervals is appealing in its simplicity and does not depend on any particular model of quantum gravity. Thus, in our opinion, it is on its own right worth being looked at.

Whether this hypothesis is backed by a physical theory of time is unclear. In the well corroborated fundamental paradigms of general relativity and quantum mechanics, time is modelled as a continuous variable. However, in a UV completion for quantum gravity, one can reasonably expect a modification of the notion of time at planckian scale. We discuss two main avenues by which the continuous time can become discrete:

- A. Instead of a smooth spacetime, consider it instead an effective description on large scales, that emerges from an underlying discrete lattice.
- B. Promote time to a quantum observable with a discrete spectrum.

A. Most straightforwardly, (6.13) can be taken *prima facie* to arise from a kind of classical time discreteness. Assuming that the notion of proper time τ of general relativity becomes discrete in a linear sense, with regular spaced planckian time intervals, then also *differences* of proper time $\delta \tau$ will display a similar behaviour, from which (6.13) follows. This assumption is made for instance in the programme of Digital Physics [276], which advocates that space may be nothing but a grid.

Of course, such a 'classical' discreteness would manifestly break Lorentz invariance. It might be already possible to set upper bounds on the discreteness of time from the limits set on Lorentz invariance violations by the study of the dispersion relations of light [2, 5, 143, 181].

Before discussing possible implications of quantum theory, a comment on the intermediate case of a classical but stochastic spacetime. For instance, if spacetime can be described by a single causal set, stochastic fluctuations of planckian size in proper times are to be expected [88, 216, 246]. Because of the statistical nature of the time measurement proposed here, finding a continuous behaviour for $\delta \tau$ would not necessarily exclude the possibility of a classical discreteness. It could just be masked by stochastic fluctuations.

B. Turning to the quantum theory, the discreteness of time may appear as the discreteness of the spectrum of some time operator. Contrary to general belief, Pauli's argument [196] has not ruled out the possibility of a time-operator but rather stressed the subtlety of its definition [111].

There are two main candidates for being the relevant time observable here: the proper time interval τ in each branch, and the difference of proper time $\delta \tau$ between the branches. Then in both cases the question of which spectrum is to be expected should be answered.

Equation (6.13) can be regarded as the assumption of the linearity of the spectrum. For comparison, this is very different from the energy spectrum of the hydrogen atom $E_n \propto -1/n^2$ but it is very similar to that of the harmonic oscillator $E_n \propto n$. If the spectrum of τ is linear, then so is the spectrum of $\delta \tau$, which is what we assumed in the main analysis with equation (6.13). It does not matter, in this case, whether it is τ or $\delta \tau$ which is taken as the relevant quantum observable. On the contrary, for a non-linear spectrum, this question is crucial. As said earlier, the assumption of linearity is natural in the sense that it mimics the ticking of a clock, but it is not really backed so far by any theory of quantum gravity. In Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG) the spectrum of the length, area and volume operators are famously discrete [229]. Discreteness of time may arise in a similar fashion from this theory, although nothing has been proven yet. There is also a debate on whether discreteness in the spectrum of observables survives the implementation of the hamiltonian constraint [87, 224]. The hypothesised linear behaviour is similar to the spectrum of the area operator in LQG [230]

$$A_j = 8\pi\gamma l_{\rm P}^2 \sqrt{j(j+1)}, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}/2, \tag{6.67}$$

where γ is a fundamental constant called the Immirzi parameter. There are indications that length has a spectrum that goes as a square root progression in j [26]. Geometrically, we would expect time to behave similarly to a length. In such a case, it will make all the difference whether the square-root behaviour applies to the proper time itself

$$\tau = \sqrt{n} t_{\rm P},\tag{6.68}$$

or the difference of proper time

$$\delta \tau = \sqrt{n} t_{\rm P}.\tag{6.69}$$

We first analyse the consequences of equation (6.68) on the visibility of the plateaux. We work in planck units and take $l \ll d$ according to the parameters of table 6.1, although the same result can be obtained without this assumption. The proper times τ_{far} and τ_{close} of the branch in which M and m are a distance d+l and d apart are given in terms of laboratory time according to general relativity by

$$\tau_{\rm far} = t \sqrt{1 - \frac{2M}{d+l}} \qquad \tau_{\rm close} = t \sqrt{1 - \frac{2M}{d}}.$$
(6.70)

These are very large compared to the planck time, as we are in the weak field regime and t cannot be smaller than the period of the sharpest atomic clock. Let's now impose the discretisation (6.68)

$$\tau_{\text{far}} = \sqrt{n+k}, \qquad \tau_{\text{close}} = \sqrt{n}$$
 (6.71)

where

$$n+k = \left\lfloor \left(1 - \frac{2M}{d+l}\right)t^2 \right\rfloor$$
 and $n = \left\lfloor \left(1 - \frac{2M}{d}\right)t^2 \right\rfloor.$ (6.72)

Equation (6.13) is thus replaced by

$$\delta \tau = \left(\sqrt{n+k} - \sqrt{n}\right) t_{\rm P}.\tag{6.73}$$

The condition $l \ll d$ implies that $k \ll n$, so that the equation above simplifies to

$$\delta \tau \approx \frac{k}{2\sqrt{n}}.\tag{6.74}$$

So, a square-root behaviour for the spectrum of τ leads to a linear behaviour for $\delta \tau$. Unfortunately, the factor of \sqrt{n} in the denominator means that different values

of $\delta\tau$ are exceedingly close to each other, making the experiment impossible in our proposed setup.

We now consider the case (6.69). We have

$$n = \left\lfloor \left(\frac{t}{\beta}\right)^2 \right\rfloor,\tag{6.75}$$

so that

$$P_{+}^{h'} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sin\left(\frac{m}{m_{\rm P}} \sqrt{\left\lfloor \left(\frac{t}{\beta}\right)^2 \right\rfloor}\right). \tag{6.76}$$

This behaviour is plotted next to that of the main hypothesis in figure 6.5. For small values of t/β , the plot of $P_+^{h'}$ is the same as the one of P_+^h , studied in the previous sections. For larger values of t/β , both the width of the plateaus and the steps between them are smaller. Thus, the detection of such a discreteness is of similar difficulty so long as $t/\beta < 10$.



Figure 6.5. Plot of P_+ as a function of t/β with an alternative hypothesis. We take $m = 10^{-2}m_{\rm P}$. Blue curve: $\delta\tau$ takes continuous values. Orange curve: $\delta\tau = n t_{\rm P}$ as considered in the main text. Green curve: $\delta\tau = \sqrt{n} t_{\rm P}$, as motivated from LQG in this section.

6.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have devised an experiment that would probe a hypothetical granularity of time at the planck scale. We have also carried out a feasibility analysis. First, we have determined a set of constraints that would ensure the visibility of the plateaux in the plot of the probability $p_+(t/\beta)$. These constraints are expressed as a set of inequalities on the experimental parameters. Second, based on current claims

in the experimental physics literature, we have shown that there exists a reasonable range of parameters that satisfy the constraints. The obtained values are gathered in table 6.1. Finally, we have determined the temperature and pressure conditions required to avoid too fast decoherence.

Perhaps surprisingly, conclude that the proposed experiment is a feasible task for the foreseeable future. In particular, it is of comparable difficulty to contemporary experimental proposals for testing the non-classicality of the gravitational field. Nevertheless it remains difficult, and will require pooling expertise in adjacent experimental fields.

The possibility of probing planckian time without involving extremely high energies may be a disturbing idea to many physicists. However, the history of physics shows examples where scientists have gained knowledge at a physical scale that was widely believed to be unreachable with the available technology at the time. The first example is when Einstein proposes a way to measure the size of atoms by observing the brownian motion of mesoscopic pollen grains [94]. Another example is when Millikan shows that the electric charge comes in discrete packets, and measures the charge of the smallest packet (the electron) [174, 175]. Again, such a feat was realised through the observation of the mesoscopic motion of charged drops of oil. In both cases, as in our proposal, the scale of discreteness was reached through mesoscopic observables thanks to two leverage effects: an algebraic game involving very small or very big constants and a statistical game involving the collection of many events.

The importance of realising the proposed experiment lies primarily in the groundbreaking implications of potentially discovering a granularity of time at the planck scale. A negative result would also have significant implications, guiding fundamental theory. Finally, an easier version of the experiment with relaxed constraints would remain of profound interest, setting new bounds on the continuous behaviour of time.

Chapter 7

The arrow of time in operational formulations of quantum mechanics

Classical mechanics is invariant under time reversal: its elementary laws do not distinguish past from future. The observed arrow of time is a macroscopic phenomenon that depends on the use of macroscopic variables and the contingent fact that the entropy defined by these variables was lower in the past. Is the same true for quantum mechanics? On the one hand, the Schrödinger equation is time-reversal invariant and so is quantum field theory (up to parity transformation and charge conjugation). Elementary physics is time reversal invariant and the source of time orientation is again macroscopic and entropic. Elementary quantum phenomena do not carry a preferred arrow of time. On the other hand, as remarked in section 2.4.3, the formalism of quantum theory is often defined in a markedly time oriented way.

In this chapter, we address this tension between the physics and the formalism. We investigate the reason for the time orientation of the quantum formalism and show that the tension can be resolved. The asymmetry in the formalism is due to the inherent directionality in the process of inference, which is only indirectly related to the arrow of time.

Let us start by noting that in any inferential problem there is an asymmetry between what is known (the data) and what is unknown (the desiderata). Let us call this directionality the *arrow of inference*. The arrow of inference is not necessarily aligned with the entropic arrow of time. The arrow of inference may be pointed towards the past as well as towards the future. Quantum phenomena are such that we can only compute conditional probabilities, so quantum theory inherits the asymmetry between data and desiderata.

Quantum theory allows us to compute the probability of future events from past ones, but it also allows us to compute the probability of past events from future ones. As we illustrate in detail below, quantum theory does not distinguish between these two tasks. In contrast, the users of quantum theory are generally more interested in predicting the future than postdicting the past. This is because we live in thermodynamically oriented world that has abundant macroscopic traces of the past but not of the future [211, 228]. And that is why, in most problems, the arrow of inference points in the same direction as the arrow of time. It is no surprise that we have designed formulations of quantum theory that conflate the two arrows. Nevertheless, ignoring the distinction can be a source of confusion.

We will focus on formalisms used in quantum information [68, 73, 183]. These are designed to study information processing tasks and the correlations that agents can achieve by sharing and manipulating quantum systems. As mentioned in chapter 2, this approach has lead to a wealth of insights, both of theoretical and technological value [16, 17, 21, 22, 32, 34, 56, 86, 96, 116, 122, 134, 164, 242, 267]. Of particular interest are the information-theoretic reconstructions of quantum theory [57, 74, 124, 125, 132, 133, 146, 171, 187, 239] mentioned in chapter 3. These derive the formal Hilbert space structure of quantum theory from simple physical principles. With the notable exception of Ding Jia's [146], the reconstructions either start 132, 133, 171] or introduce the time orientation explicitly as a postulate [57, 187, 239] ("no signalling from the future"). There is nothing wrong with time-oriented formalisms designed¹ to study time-oriented questions. However, the reconstruction effort is often motivated by saying that a reconstruction can offer natural ways to look for a generalisation of quantum theory. For example, it might aid in formulating a theory of quantum gravity, in which the existence of a background spacetime cannot be taken for granted [82]. While we do not know if quantum gravity will be a time-reversal symmetric theory, it seems unwise to impose time-reversal asymmetry on the onset, especially if motivated by laboratory physics, and not elementary processes.

The argument of this chapter proceeds as follows. We start with the uncontroversial assumption that the Born rule yields *prediction* probabilities: conditional probabilities for future events, given past ones. We apply standard probability theory to find formulas for *postdiction* probabilities: probabilities about the past. given the future. We do not need to postulate these probabilities: we derive them from the prediction probabilities. In section 7.2, we show that for closed quantum systems the probabilities for prediction and postdiction are identical, a property we call *inference symmetry*. The Born rule can be used in both directions of time without modification, contrary to what is sometimes stated. In section 7.3, we discuss open quantum systems, where this symmetry is hidden. In that case, the prediction and postdiction probabilities differ. However, the difference is dictated by the asymmetries in the *inferential* problem, not by the arrow of time, once again contrarily to what is often stated in the literature. Unitary quantum mechanics is both time-symmetric and inference-symmetric. In section 7.4, we investigate the same question for quantum channels, the more general evolutions featuring in operational formulations of quantum theory used in quantum information. Quantum channels are not, in general, inference-symmetric. Yet, by shifting the Heisenberg cut to include part of the apparatus, we show that the inference-asymmetry of quantum channels stems from asymmetries in the inferential data. In section 7.5, we relate the tasks of postdiction with passive and active time-reversals, and discover

¹During the development of this work, Schmid, Selby, and Spekkens [235], and Hardy [126] have proposed formalisms in which the physical and the inferential aspects of a theory can be separated and make space for time-symmetric physics. The arguments presented in this chapter can be seen as an additional motivation for these new frameworks.

that quantum channels can also be seen as shorthands for calculations about the past. We combine all insights in section 7.6 to show that the asymmetries of the quantum information formulations do not stem from an arrow of time intrinsic to all quantum systems, but from the asymmetry inherent in the process of inference. The time-asymmetry of the operational formalisms used in quantum information theory is that of the time-oriented macroscopic agents that set up the experiments. At the end of the chapter, we briefly discuss the time orientation of other formulations of quantum mechanics.

In appendix A, we offer a brief review of the history of the subject of time-reversal invariance in quantum theory; this allows to situate this chapter in a broader context. This chapter is based on [83].

7.1 Prediction and postdiction

Quantum indeterminism is time-reversal invariant. In presenting the probabilistic nature of quantum theory, we often emphasise that the future of a quantum system is not entirely determined by its past. It certainly is true that the outcomes of future interactions with a quantum system are uncertain, given the details of past interactions. What is less often recognised is that the converse is equally true: given the details of present interactions, the past ones are uncertain. This was already pointed out a long time ago [95]: the irreducible indeterminism of quantum phenomena cuts both ways, leaving both the past and the future uncertain, given data about the present. This has well-known practical consequences, such as the impossibility of deterministic state-discrimination and the no-cloning theorem [183]: interactions with a quantum system do not allow us to guess with certainty how it was prepared.

As we shall see below, the past of a quantum system is *quantitatively* as uncertain as its future: the probabilities calculated using the Born rule can be applied to both predict and postdict. Quantum theory, in fact, does not distinguish *a priori* the tasks of prediction and postdiction and we might say that there is a fundamental "unpostdictability" of the behaviour of quanta.

Let us operationally define what we mean by prediction and postdiction using two related tasks. In both tasks, a friend prepares a quantum system in an initial configuration, allows it to undergo a given transformation, measures it, and finds it in some final configuration. The friend then gives us some information about these events, and asks us to guess the rest. In the first task, we are asked to guess the outcome of the measurement, given the initial configuration and the details of the transformation and of the measurement. In the second task, we guess the outcome of the preparation, given the outcome of the measurement, the details of the transformation, and the set of possible initial states.

Definition 1 (Prediction task) Given a preparation, a map, a test, and the outcome of the preparation, compute the probabilities for the outcomes of the test.

Definition 2 (Postdiction task) Given a preparation, a map, a test, and the outcome of the test, compute the probabilities for the outcomes of the preparation.
These are inferential² tasks, in which we use the available information to make educated guesses. The two tasks share the same physical process, the only difference between the two is inferential.

While the setting of these tasks might appear artificial at first, a moment of thought reveals that it serves as a useful shorthand for physically relevant situations. In fact, postdiction has been extensively studied before [11, 12, 101, 198] and has a number of practical applications; see [219, 247, 268] and references therein.

In the following, we study the relation between these two tasks, as it captures the role played by the arrow of time in quantum theory. First, we consider the case of closed systems, namely when the system under consideration is isolated between preparation and observation. Then we consider open systems, namely when we ignore some degrees of freedom, such as environmental degrees of freedom. Finally, we extend the analysis to the more general case in which the notions of preparation, evolution and measurement are subsumed in the more general idea of *operation* used in quantum information and quantum foundations.

7.2 Closed systems

In this section, we assume that the friend prepares the system by determining the values of a maximal set of compatible observables and does the same at observation. We also assume that the system under consideration is isolated between preparation and observation. Therefore, the preparation and test are represented by orthonormal bases of the Hilbert space associated with the quantum system and the transformation is represented by a unitary transformation. We will relax these assumptions in following sections.

In this case, the Born rule is equally good for predicting the future given the past and postdicting the past given the future [259]. Since this fact is not universally known, we derive it assuming only the uncontroversial fact that the Born rule can be used to predict the future.

We denote by $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^d$ and $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^d$ the bases of the preparation and test, respectively (although we drop the basis indices when they are not strictly needed, to keep the notation cleaner). The solution to the prediction task with the unitary evolution U, and the outcome of the preparation a is given by the Born rule: the probability for the outcome x of the test is

$$P_{pre}(x|a,U) = |\langle x|U|a\rangle|^2.$$
(7.1)

The solution to the postdiction task is obtained from the solution of the prediction game and standard probability theory. By Bayes' theorem

$$P_{post}(a|x,U) = \frac{P_{pre}(x|a,U)P(a)}{P(x)},$$
(7.2)

 $^{^{2}}$ We adopt a broadly bayesian understanding of probability in this chapter. Probabilities represent beliefs about the situation at hand, given the data; quantum-mechanical transition probabilities are thought as the best guide for inference. The latter belief is justified by the theory's success. If we want to think of probabilities in frequentist terms instead, we can imagine the friend repeating the setup many times, ensuring a uniform distribution in the initial or final configuration and interpret the calculated probabilities as relative frequencies of outcomes in an ensemble of trials, in the limit of infinite trials.

where P(a) is the prior probability on the initial configuration and P(x) is the probability of the final configuration given the prior. Since all we know in the postdiction task is the basis of the preparation, we have

$$P(a_i) = \frac{1}{d} \tag{7.3}$$

for all i = 1, ..., d. The *a priori* probability of the outcome of the test is computed summing over all possible initial states:

$$P(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{1}{d} P_{pre}(x|a_i, U) = \frac{1}{d},$$
(7.4)

where we used the fact that the evolution is unitary. The postdiction probability is then computed from (7.2):

$$P_{post}(a|x,U) = |\langle x|U|a\rangle|^2 = P_{pre}(x|a,U),$$
(7.5)

pictorially,

$$P_{pre}(x|a,U) = \boxed{\begin{matrix} x \\ U \end{matrix}} = P_{post}(a|x,U).$$
(7.6)

Thus for a closed quantum system, the solution to the prediction and postdiction tasks is given by the same formula.

Note that the flat prior (7.3) is crucial in the derivation above; had the prior been different, the postdiction probabilities would be different from the prediction probabilities. However, assuming a different prior would introduce an inappropriate asymmetry between the two tasks. Our objective is to treat the prediction and postdiction tasks on equal footing. When we predict the result of a measurement using the Born rule, we do not assume any prior knowledge on the result of the experiment besides the space of alternatives. Therefore, in a postdiction task we do not assume any prior knowledge of the result of the preparation besides the space of alternatives, hence the flat prior. The flat prior does not imply that the input system was prepared in the maximally mixed state, it is simply the probability distribution that represents the prior knowledge in the postdiction task.

For a system evolving unitarily between the preparation and the observation events, later events are uncertain given the earlier event *and* earlier events are uncertain given later events, and the probabilities are given by the same formula. The Born rule does not distinguish the past from the future: it allows to calculate the probability of an event given another event, no matter their order in time.

Let us formalise this property:

Definition 3 (Inference symmetry) A transformation Φ is inference symmetric if, for any two orthonormal bases $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^{d_A}$ and $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{d_X}$ for the input and output spaces respectively, the prediction and postdiction probabilities are identical:

$$P_{pre}(x_i|a_j, \Phi) = P_{post}(a_j|x_i, \Phi)$$
(7.7)

Quantum unitary evolution is inference-symmetric. Why is this time-symmetric aspect of unitary evolution rarely emphasised?

In most practical situations, we don't need to use the flat prior when guessing the past. We can do better, because there are macroscopic traces of the past, like our memories or entries in a notebook. Additionally, in most laboratory experiments, the initial distribution is known or chosen so that frequency of events in the ensemble is far from uniform.

The fact that macroscopic traces are records of the past and not the future and the fact that an experimenter's choice can affect the future and not the past are both macroscopic phenomena that pertain to the irreversible physics of the macroscopic world surrounding the experiment [227, 228], not to the quantum dynamics, which by itself does not know the arrow of time.

Some authors go so far as to say that the Born rule does not work 'backward in time' and see it as a fundamental asymmetry in the theory [192] and that quantum theory needs to be modified, or extended, to make it symmetric. But this is too quick. If we do not assume any knowledge or bias in the past, (7.5) is indeed the correct formula to use according to quantum theory. In turn, the validity of the Born rule in predicting the future relies on the same assumptions about the future. Namely, if we did have some knowledge of the future, then (7.1) would not be the best formula to make predictions. For example, if the detector does not detect certain states, the Born rule fails.

The presence of records of the past is not a property of quantum theory *per* se, or of the behaviour of a single quantum, but a property of what surrounds the quantum. See also [4, 259] for early examples of this argument.

7.3 Open systems

Let us now consider the case when the system we deal with is not isolated. An open quantum system can always be seen as a part of a larger closed quantum system. To study this case, consider a tensor decomposition of the input $A \otimes B$ and output $X \otimes Y$ Hilbert spaces. The tasks we consider now regard computing probabilities restricted to some of these subspaces. Denote by d_A , d_B , d_X and d_Y the dimensions of the respective spaces and with $\{a_i\}$, $\{b_i\}$, $\{x_i\}$, and $\{y_i\}$ bases on them. The evolution between input and output space is represented by the unitary U. By the results of the previous subsection, this process is inference-symmetric with the solution

$$P_{pre}(xy|ab,U) = |\langle xy|U|ab\rangle|^2 = P_{post}(ab|xy,U).$$
(7.8)

Suppose that we agree with our friend to ignore the subspace Y of the outcome space and compute only the probability of finding x as the outcome of the test on X. This simulates the situation in which our system gets entangled with some other system that is subsequently ignored, like when information leaks into the environment. Note that the difference between a closed and an open system is in the inferential data, not in the physical system. We can solve the prediction task by computing the marginal probability

$$P_{pre}(x|ab, U) = \sum_{i=1}^{d_Y} P_{pre}(xy_i|ab, U),$$
(7.9)

where we sum over the space Y we decided to neglect. Similarly we solve the postdiction task with the same unitary evolution, with only knowledge on the outcome of the test on the space X, weighting the original postdiction probabilities with a flat prior:

$$P_{post}(ab|x,U) = \sum_{i=1}^{d_Y} \frac{1}{d_Y} P_{post}(ab|xy_i,U).$$
(7.10)

We can use the inference symmetry of the closed system (7.8) to relate the two expressions above:

$$P_{post}(ab|x,U) = \frac{1}{d_Y} P_{pre}(x|ab,U).$$
 (7.11)

Thus the prediction and postdiction probabilities are no longer equal once part of the output system is ignored.

Suppose now that we agree with our friend to neglect the B part of the input space. This corresponds to the situation in which a system in an unknown state interacts with our original system. Again, the difference is in the inferential data, not the physical setup. The prediction probabilities are obtained by assigning a flat prior to the system B:

$$P_{pre}(xy|a,U) = \sum_{i=1}^{d_B} \frac{1}{d_B} P_{pre}(xy|ab_i,U),$$
(7.12)

while the postdiction probabilities are

$$P_{post}(a|xy,U) = \sum_{i=1}^{d_B} P_{post}(ab_i|xy,U).$$
(7.13)

The two are again related using (7.8):

$$P_{post}(a|xy,U) = d_B P_{pre}(xy|a,U).$$
(7.14)

Again, the two probabilities are different.

We can similarly analyse the case where we agree with our friend to neglect the result of the preparation in B and the outcome of the test on Y, which simulates a situation in which the system is open to influences from an unobserved quantum system. The prediction and postdiction probabilities again differ by a simple normalisation constant:

$$d_Y P_{post}(a|x,U) = d_B P_{pre}(x|a,U).$$

$$(7.15)$$

Note that the probabilities are equal only when $d_B = d_Y$, so that $A \equiv X$. When the input and output spaces are treated symmetrically, prediction and postdiction tasks are symmetric.

Crucially, the normalisation factor that makes the two kinds of probabilities different does not depend on time: if we neglect a subsystem B at time t_1 and another system Y at time t_2 , then the probabilities for the values at t_2 given the values at t_1 are d_Y/d_B times the probabilities of guessing the values at t_1 given the values at t_2 . This has nothing to do with a pre-established direction of time. Indeed, it is true regardless of whether $t_1 < t_2$ (as in the example above) or $t_1 > t_2$.

In the general case, the asymmetry between the prediction and postdiction tasks arises because of an asymmetry in the inferential data, not because of an intrinsic asymmetry in the physics or the evolution of the system. Indeed, in all these cases, the underlying process U is inference-symmetric. The inferential tasks are asymmetric only when the inferential data are asymmetric.

The normalisation of the identity is determined by the arrow of inference

We can rephrase all the probability calculations above in terms of density operators. Under unitary evolution a density operator transforms as $\rho \mapsto U[\rho] := U\rho U^{\dagger}$. A pure state ψ can be represented as a density operator by the projector $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ and the Born rule can be recast as a trace

$$|\langle xy|U|ab\rangle|^2 = \operatorname{tr}(|xy\rangle\langle xy| \ U[|ab\rangle\langle ab|]).$$
(7.16)

Let us start with prediction, the more familiar task. In this language the prediction probability (7.9) can be rewritten as

$$P_{pre}(x|ab,U) = \sum_{i=1}^{d_{Y}} P_{pre}(xy_{i}|ab,U)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d_{Y}} \operatorname{tr}\left(|xy_{i}\rangle\langle xy_{i}| \ U[|ab\rangle\langle ab|]\right)$$

$$P_{pre}(x|ab,U) = \operatorname{tr}\left((|x\rangle\langle x| \otimes \mathbb{I}_{Y}) \ U[|ab\rangle\langle ab|]\right).$$

(7.17)

The decision to ignore part of the output system is represented by the insertion of the identity operator \mathbb{I}_Y , which in this role is called the discard operator of the subsystem Y. This is the classic technique of 'tracing out' a subsystem to ignore its future. Equation (7.12) can be similarly recast as

$$P_{pre}(xy|a,U) = \operatorname{tr}\left(|xy\rangle\!\langle xy| \ U\left[|a\rangle\!\langle a|\otimes\frac{1}{d_B}\mathbb{I}_B\right]\right),\tag{7.18}$$

where the flat prior is represented by the maximally mixed state, the density operator \mathbb{I}_B/d_B . This is also the well known result of doing prediction based on partial information. Note that the two formulas above make it clear that the choice of basis of the ignored system is irrelevant to the computed probabilities.

Let us now look at the postdiction probabilities. Using the two equations above together with (7.11) and (7.14), we can immediately write

$$P_{post}(ab|x,U) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\left(|x\rangle\!\langle x| \otimes \frac{1}{d_Y} \mathbb{I}_Y\right) U[|ab\rangle\!\langle ab|]\right),\tag{7.19}$$

$$P_{post}(a|xy,U) = \operatorname{tr}\left(|xy\rangle\!\langle xy| \ U[|a\rangle\!\langle a|\otimes \mathbb{I}_B]\right).$$
(7.20)

We see that the identity operator appears again in the ignored systems. However, the normalisation is the opposite of the predictive case.

The discard operator and the maximally mixed state are well known, and are normally only applied to the output and input side respectively. But the normalisation of the identity operator does not reflect the direction of time, the past or the future, input or output. It reflects the direction of inference. This is particularly obvious rewriting in the pictorial calculus:

$$P_{pre}(x|a,U) = \underbrace{\begin{matrix} x \\ U \\ a \end{matrix}}_{a} = \underbrace{\begin{matrix} 1 \\ d_B \end{matrix}}_{d_B} \qquad P_{post}(a|x,U) = \underbrace{\begin{matrix} x \\ U \\ U \\ a \end{matrix}}_{a} = \underbrace{\begin{matrix} 1 \\ d_Y \\ a \end{matrix}}_{a} = \underbrace{\begin{matrix} 1 \\ d_Y$$

with $\overline{\uparrow}$ and \perp representing the identity operator as an output and input respectively. We discard in the direction we guess, and we have the maximally mixed state on the side of the data.

Thus, the way the inference-symmetry appears to be broken in open systems reflects an asymmetry on the inferential data that is, *a priori*, independent on the direction of time. An example illustrates why it is natural that the normalisation depends on the direction of inference and is independent on the direction of time. Consider a system evolving with the identity, *i.e.* nothing happens to it. If we are told the state *a* of the system and we are not asked to guess anything, then all the probabilities are trivially $1 = \text{tr } |a\rangle\langle a|$. Conversely, if we are only told the system is in one state out of a orthonormal basis, then the probabilities are 1; when state *a* is $\frac{1}{d} = \frac{1}{d} \text{tr } |a\rangle\langle a|$. When we don't guess, all the probabilities are 1; when we are told to guess but we have no clue, our only option is to assume a uniform distribution. This is true regardless of whether we are predicting or postdicting

We often use quantum theory to predict, which is why we generally associate the normalisation factor 1/d to the identity operator in the input space. In practice, we are normalising our data. If we were postdicting, we would associate the normalisation factor to the identity in the output space. The operator \mathbb{I}/d does not represent a physical fact, but the probability distribution we use to weight the conditional probabilities computed with quantum theory.

The results of these two sections show that the irreducible quantum uncertainty applies equally to both directions of time. Indeed, when dealing with a closed quantum system, the Born rule gives both the prediction and postdiction probabilities directly. When the prediction and postdiction probabilities differ, they do so because of an asymmetry in the inferential data.

7.4 Quantum operations

The transformations considered above might seem limited in scope to researchers in quantum information and quantum foundations. As we have seen in chapters 2 and 3, in these communities the notions of preparation, evolution, and measurement are subsumed by the more general notion of *operation*, which reflects their more elaborate needs: a more coarse-grained description of quantum processes, independent on the

underlying dynamics, the capacity of melding classical and quantum information processing, dealing with classical uncertainty and so on. However, since agents and labs are made of atoms and photons, and the interactions between atoms and photons is satisfyingly described by the unitary evolution and pure state approach, the results of the previous section have bearing on quantum operations too.

After a brief survey of the notion of quantum operation, we solve the prediction and postdiction tasks for a general quantum channel and explain their postdiction asymmetry.

7.4.1 Operations

Let us quickly remind ourselves of the notion of operation to fix some We also take the opportunity to note that this notion is time oriented by design and recall how it relates to the more basic notions.

An operation $\mathcal{O}^{A\to X}$, also known as an *instrument*, from an input Hilbert space A to an output Hilbert space X is represented is a set $\{O_i\}$ of completely positive (CP) trace non-increasing linear maps (aka quantum maps) from the space $\mathcal{L}(A)$ of linear operators on A to $\mathcal{L}(X)$, satisfying the completeness equation (aka the causality condition):

$$\forall \rho \in \mathcal{L}(A) : \quad \sum_{i} \operatorname{tr} O_{i}[\rho] = \operatorname{tr} \rho.$$
(7.22)

An operation $\mathcal{O}^{A\to X} = \{O_i\}$ also defines a completely positive, trace-preserving (CPTP) map $\rho \mapsto \mathcal{O}[\rho] := \sum_i O_i[\rho]$. When the operation $\mathcal{O}^{A\to X}$ is applied to a system in state ρ , the outcome *i* happens with probability given by the generalised Born rule

$$P(i|\rho, \mathcal{O}) = \operatorname{tr} O_i[\rho], \qquad (7.23)$$

and the state of the system after this outcome is

$$\rho_i = \frac{O_i[\rho]}{\operatorname{tr} O_i[\rho]}.\tag{7.24}$$

We have already remarked that the completeness requirement (7.22) amounts to a statement of the conservation of probabilities. If the outcome i is unknown, then the state of the system is a mixture of the states above, weighed by the relevant probability:

$$\mathcal{O}[\rho] = \sum_{i} P(i|\rho, \mathcal{O})\rho_i = \sum_{i} O_i[\rho].$$
(7.25)

If the output space of an operation $\mathcal{O}^{A\to X}$ coincides with the input space of another operation $\mathcal{M}^{X\to Y}$, these two operations can be sequentially composed forming a new operation $(\mathcal{M} \circ \mathcal{O})^{A\to Y} = \{M_j \circ O_i\}$. If the state of the input system is ρ , the probability of the outcome ij is

$$P(ij|\rho, \mathcal{M} \circ \mathcal{O}) = \operatorname{tr} M_j[O_i[\rho]].$$
(7.26)

Operations can also be composed in parallel using the tensor product structure of the underlying Hilbert spaces.

A preparation of a system associated with a Hilbert space A is an operation $\mathcal{P}^{I \to A}$. By a simple mathematical isomorphism, quantum maps from I to A can

always be associated with positive linear operators on A, so that any preparation can be represented by a subset $\{\rho_i\} \subset \mathcal{L}(A)$ such that $\sum_i \operatorname{tr} \rho_i = 1$. Above, we have considered only preparations of the form $\{|a_i\rangle\langle a_i|/d_A\}_{i=1}^{d_A}$, where $\{a_i\}$ is an orthonormal basis for A.

A test on the same system is an operation $\mathcal{T}^{A\to I}$ from the Hilbert space A to the trivial Hilbert space. By the isomorphism above, and the Riesz representation theorem, tests are often also represented by a collection of positive operators $\{\sigma_j\} \subset \mathcal{L}(A)$, such that $\sum_j \sigma_j = \mathbb{I}_A$ with their actions on the state given by $\rho \mapsto \operatorname{tr} \sigma_j \rho$.

An operation $\Phi^{A\to X}$ with a single outcome is also called a *quantum channel*, and is represented by a CPTP map. Quantum channels are also called *deterministic* quantum maps, as they have only one outcome. Above, we considered only unitary quantum channels, of the form $\rho \mapsto U\rho U^{\dagger}$, but much more general ones are possible.

A preparation with a single outcome is also called a *state*. States are by definition represented as unit-trace positive operators, *i.e.* density matrices. A test with a single outcome is also called a *deterministic effect*. There is only one deterministic effect, represented by the identity operator.

Note that this formalism is time-asymmetric by construction. The time asymmetry shows up in two ways, reminiscent of the Copenhagen-type interpretations. First, the outcomes $\{i\}$ depend probabilistically on the state of the system in the past: the probabilities calculated in this setting are invariably *prediction* probabilities. Second, the state of a system at any point in time reflects events in the past, and it is independent of the events in the future. The only data assumed to be available is data about the past.

The spaces of states and effects are not isomorphic. This was identified as the main source of time-asymmetry of operational quantum theory in [192], where it was proposed to enlarge the space of effects by not requiring that operations sum to trace-preserving maps. However, from the perspective of this chapter, we understand this asymmetry between states and effects as being the difference between known and unknown in the process of inference. Preparations represent our assumptions in the inferential problem, while tests represent the different propositions about the unknowns. There is no need to remove the distinction between preparations and tests to make quantum theory time-symmetric, all is needed is to recognise that operational quantum theory is geared for prediction: a situation where the data is in the past of the unknowns.

Operational quantum theory is connected to the simpler setting of pure states and unitary evolutions by the concept of *purification*. Any quantum channel $\Phi^{A\to X}$ can be purified [250], meaning it can be represented by a unitary channel $U_{\Phi}: A \otimes B \to X \otimes Y$ and a pure state b for system B such that

$$\forall \rho \in \mathcal{L}(A) : \Phi[\rho] = \operatorname{tr}_Y U_{\Phi}[\rho \otimes |b\rangle\langle b|].$$
(7.27)

In other words, any quantum channel can always be understood as a unitary interaction with an ancilla quantum system prepared in a specific way and where part of the output is ignored. In fact, any operation $\mathcal{O}^{A\to X} = \{O_i\}$ can be purified [193], meaning that it is mathematically equivalent to a unitary evolution of the system A in the presence of an ancilla B, in which part of the output system is ignored and part of it is measured on an orthonormal basis. That is, there exists a unitary

operator $U_{\mathcal{O}}$ on the Hilbert space $A \otimes B$ and a decomposition $A \otimes B \equiv X \otimes Y \otimes Z$ and a pure state $|b\rangle\langle b| \in \mathcal{L}(B)$ such that

$$\forall \rho \in \mathcal{L}(A), \forall i : O_i[\rho] = \operatorname{tr}_{YZ} \left((|i\rangle \langle i|_Y \otimes \mathbb{I}_Z) \circ U_{\mathcal{O}}[\rho \otimes |b\rangle \langle b|] \right),$$
(7.28)

where i now labels an orthonormal basis of the Hilbert space Y. This is one of the cases where the pictorial language is definitely clearer:

$$\begin{array}{c} \hline O_i \\ \hline \end{array} = \begin{array}{c} \hline U_{\mathcal{O}} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} .$$
(7.29)

It is a well-known property of quantum theory that one can always shift the Heisenberg cut to include part of the apparatus in the quantum system under description. This is the physical content of the two mathematical results above. The label *i* that distinguishes the various outcomes of the operation \mathcal{O} is now seen as labelling the possible values of a *pointer variable*, a part of the apparatus that gets entangled with the system and that, when observed, allows the determination of the state of the system. If one cared enough, one could model every quantum operation explicitly in these terms. But countless purifications are consistent with the same operation, and these low-level details are not important when one is only interested in the effect on the given quantum systems. Quantum operations are useful shorthand.

7.4.2 Prediction and postdiction with quantum channels

Now, let us solve the prediction and postdiction tasks using the generalised Born rule, similarly to how we did for closed quantum systems. Unitary evolution is replaced by a CPTP map Φ . The input and output spaces are A and X respectively, which do not need to be isomorphic. Preparation and measurement are performed on bases $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^{d_A}$ and $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{d_X}$. The solution of the prediction task is given by the generalised Born rule:

$$P_{pre}(x|a,\Phi) = \operatorname{tr} |x\rangle\langle x|\Phi[|a\rangle\langle a|].$$
(7.30)

The solution to the postdiction task is found again by Bayesian inversion

$$P_{post}(a|x,\Phi) = \frac{P_{pre}(x|a,\Phi)P(a)}{P(x)}.$$
(7.31)

Assigning a flat prior for P(a), we can compute the probability of the data

$$P(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{d_A} \frac{1}{d_A} P_{pre}(x|a_i, \Phi) = \operatorname{tr} |x\rangle \langle x| \Phi\left[\frac{1}{d_A}\mathbb{I}_A\right], \qquad (7.32)$$

which this time is not uniform. Equation (7.31) then becomes

$$P_{post}(a|x,\Phi) = \frac{\operatorname{tr} |x\rangle\!\langle x|\Phi[|a\rangle\!\langle a|]}{\operatorname{tr} |x\rangle\!\langle x|\Phi[\mathbb{I}_A]}.$$
(7.33)

This formula was also derived in [12]. At first, it looks quite different from the formula for the prediction probabilities. However, it is also a remarkably simple solution. Note that the postdiction probabilities are related to the prediction probabilities by a simple multiplicative factor

$$P_{post}(a|x,\Phi) = f_{\Phi}(x) \cdot P_{pre}(x|a,\Phi), \qquad (7.34)$$

where

$$f_{\Phi}(x)^{-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{d_A} P_{pre}(x|a_i, \Phi) = \operatorname{tr} |x\rangle \langle x| \Phi[\mathbb{I}_A].$$
(7.35)

For a given measurement outcome x, the prediction probabilities are proportional to the postdiction probabilities, up to a fixed normalisation factor $f_{\Phi}(x)$. Once one has calculated the set of prediction probabilities, one already has the postdiction probabilities, up to this normalisation factor.

Inference symmetry is thus broken in general, and this seems to support the idea there is a fundamental difference between the past and the future in quantum theory. But it is broken in a simple way, reminiscent to the situation in the previous section when we were concerned with partial data in a closed system. Indeed, when we "look under the hood" using purification, we see that this is essentially what is going on. From the purified point of view, there is an asymmetry between inputs and outputs because the purifying ancilla's state is assumed known in input and ignored in output.

7.4.3 Purified task

Let Φ be a quantum channel from Hilbert space A to Hilbert space X. Then there exists a unitary channel $U_{\Phi} : A \otimes B \to X \otimes Y$ and a pure state b for system B such that

$$\Phi[|a\rangle\!\langle a|] = \operatorname{tr}_Y U_{\Phi}[|a\rangle\!\langle a| \otimes |b\rangle\!\langle b|].$$
(7.36)

The prediction probabilities for Φ are, by definition, just those of the corresponding pure open system:

$$P_{pre}(x|a,\Phi) = P_{pre}(x|ab,U_{\Phi}), \qquad (7.37)$$

as given in (7.9). However the same is not true for postdiction since, in general,

$$P_{post}(a|x,\Phi) \neq P_{post}(ab|x,U_{\Phi}).$$
(7.38)

This is readily explained by the fact that the initial state of the ancilla is assumed known, or "held fixed." Since we know the ancilla's input state is b, the probability of the data is in fact

$$P(x) = P_{pre}(x|b, U_{\Phi}). \tag{7.39}$$

Thus, by Bayes' theorem,

$$P_{post}(a|x,\Phi) = \frac{P_{pre}(x|ab,U_{\Phi})}{d_A P_{pre}(x|b,U_{\Phi})} = \frac{P_{pre}(x|a,\Phi)}{d_A P_{pre}(x|b,U_{\Phi})},$$
(7.40)

which indeed immediately translates to (7.33).

We now have a different perspective on the normalisation factor $f_{\Phi}(x)$: it quantifies the implicit knowledge about the input ancilla system and how this knowledge affects the postdiction task. The specification of the quantum channel Φ contains information about the past of the purifying system system so that postdiction on the quantum channel Φ is equivalent to postdiction on the purified system but with some added information about the input system.

Indeed, we can arrive at the same formula by using the postdiction probabilities for the purified open system and the simple formula P(a|b) = P(ab)/P(b). Indeed one can verify that

$$P_{post}(a|x,\Phi) = \frac{P_{post}(ab|x,U_{\Phi})}{P_{post}(b|x,U_{\Phi})},$$
(7.41)

by using (7.11) and (7.15).

While we have used an arbitrary purification, the two equations above hold for any purification of the quantum channel Φ . So, whatever the physically appropriate purification might be, the lesson is the same: the inference asymmetry for a quantum channel derives not from an asymmetry of quantum mechanics, but from an asymmetry in the questions asked.

7.4.4 Inference-symmetric channels

We have seen that not every quantum channel is inference-symmetric. Thanks to the solution (7.33) to the postdiction task in the case of a general quantum channel, we immediately see that a channel Φ is inference-symmetric if and only if $f_{\Phi}(x) = 1$ for all pure states x, namely, if and only if it is identity-preserving:

$$\Phi[\mathbb{I}_A] = \mathbb{I}_X. \tag{7.42}$$

Since quantum channels are trace-preserving, it follows that the input and output spaces are isomorphic. The trace and identity preserving maps are known as the bistochastic quantum maps or unital channels [151, 172], and they are the free operations of the resource theory of quantum thermodynamics [59] with trivial hamiltonians, and the resource theory of purity [251].

Every unitary channel is obviously bistochastic. The noisy operations:

$$\rho \longmapsto \operatorname{tr}_B U\left[\rho \otimes \frac{1}{d_B} \mathbb{I}_B\right]. \tag{7.43}$$

form a strict subset of the bistochastic channels [59, 243]. A noisy operation represents the evolution of a system that undergoes unitary interaction with an ancilla about which nothing is known. These channels are exactly those that are simulated by the tasks considered in the previous section when $Y \equiv B$ and both Y and B are left out of the task.

Since the bistochastic channels are the only channels that admit an active time-reversal [55], the equivalence of inference-symmetry and bistochasticity further connects inference-symmetry and time-reversal invariance, as we will see in the next section.

7.4.5 More general preparations

Until now, we limited the preparation to the random element of an orthonormal basis. The reason we considered this is that it reflects the simplest way to interact with a system, namely, to couple to one of its non-degenerate observables. But what if our friend tells us that they prepared one out of n, not necessarily orthogonal, states? We now show how such a situation can also be accounted for using purification. It is possible to skip to the next section without losing continuity with the rest of the chapter.

Say the set of possible initial states states is $\{\psi_i\}_{i=1}^n$, in the *d*-dimensional Hilbert space *A*, let *U* be the unitary evolution and $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^d$ the orthonormal basis of the measurement. Then the prediction probabilities are

$$P_{pre}(x|\psi_i, U) = |\langle x|U|\psi_i \rangle|^2.$$
(7.44)

The postdiction probabilities are again found by Bayes' theorem:

$$P_{post}(\psi_i | x, U) = \frac{P_{pre}(x | \psi_i, U) P(\psi_i)}{P(x)}.$$
(7.45)

Since we are only told the set of possible states, we assume a flat prior over them:

$$P(\psi_i) = \frac{1}{n},\tag{7.46}$$

and then the probability for the outcome is

$$P(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{n} |\langle x|U|\psi_i \rangle|^2 = \operatorname{tr}\left(|x\rangle\!\langle x|U[\rho_A]\right)$$
(7.47)

where we have defined $\rho_A := \sum_i |\psi_i\rangle\langle\psi_i|/n$. And thus

$$P_{post}(\psi_i|x,U) = \frac{P_{pre}(x|\psi_i,U)}{n\operatorname{tr}\left(|x\rangle\!\langle x|U\left[\rho_A\right]\right)}.$$
(7.48)

So the prediction and postdiction probabilities are in general different if the space of possible initial configurations does not represent an orthonormal basis.

We can understand this asymmetry again in terms of implicit knowledge. Let B be a *n*-dimensional Hilbert space, and $\{b_i\}_{i=1}^n$ an orthonormal base for it. Choose an orthonormal basis $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^d$ on A and find a unitary U_P on $A \otimes B$ that maps:

$$U_P: |a_1\rangle \otimes |b_i\rangle \longmapsto |\psi_i\rangle \otimes |b_i\rangle.$$
(7.49)

Also define the unitary $U': A \otimes B \to X \otimes B$ given by

$$U' = (U \otimes \mathbb{I}_B) \circ U_P. \tag{7.50}$$

We can relate the prediction and postdiction probabilities for these two games. For prediction we have:

$$P_{pre}(x|\psi_i, U) = P_{pre}(x|a_1b_i, U')$$
(7.51)

since, for an arbitrary basis $\{y_i\}_{i=1}^n$ of B:

$$P_{pre}(x|a_{1}b_{i},U') = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \langle xy_{j}|U'|a_{1}b_{i}\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle xy_{j}|U \otimes \mathbb{I}_{B}|\psi_{i}b_{i}\rangle|^{2}$$

$$= |\langle x|U|\psi_{i}\rangle|^{2} \cdot \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle y_{j}|b_{i}\rangle|^{2}$$

$$P_{pre}(x|a_{1}b_{i},U') = P_{pre}(x|\psi_{i},U),$$
(7.52)

where we have used the definitions of U' and U_P to obtain the second equality. For postdiction we have

$$P_{post}(\psi_i|x, U) = \frac{P_{post}(a_1b_i|x, U')}{P_{post}(a_1|x, U')},$$
(7.53)

which is entirely analogous with (7.41). The proof is just a matter of expressing nominator and denominator in terms of probabilities for the original task:

$$P_{post}(a_{1}b_{i}|x,U') = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} P_{post}(a_{1}b_{i}|xy_{j},U')$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} P_{pre}(xy_{j}|a_{1}b_{i},U')$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} P_{pre}(x|a_{1}b_{i},U')$$

$$P_{post}(a_{1}b_{i}|x,U') = \frac{1}{n} P_{pre}(x|\psi_{i},U)$$

(7.54)

and so

$$P_{post}(a_1|x, U') = \sum_{i=1}^{n} P_{post}(a_1b_i|x, U')$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{n} P_{pre}(x|\psi_i, U)$
 $P_{post}(a_1|x, U') = \operatorname{tr}(|x\rangle\!\langle x| U[\rho_A]).$ (7.55)

Thus, cases where we have more general preparations can be understood in terms of preparations on orthonormal bases. From (7.53), in analogy with (7.41), that the preparation of non-orthonormal states contains some implicit information about an ancilla system that allows to prepare the non-orthogonal states. Again, we see that in this purified game, the only way to achieve postdiction probability 1 is to marginalise over b_i , *i.e.* not guess at all.

This method can be further generalised to the preparation of an arbitrary set of density operators by adding a purifying system that gets traced over in the prediction task, and is assigned a flat prior in the postdiction task. The asymmetry again can be understood as an asymmetry in the assumed knowledge in the tasks.

7.5 Relation between time-reversal and postdiction

We have explored the symmetry between guessing the future and guessing the past. For a closed system, the past is quantitatively as uncertain as the future, in the sense that the Born rule can also be used, without modification, to guess a past event based on information about a future event. In the case of a general quantum channel, this symmetry is broken: the prediction and postdiction probabilities are given by different formulas. However, the reason for this is that the implementation of a general quantum channel requires the preparation of an ancilla system in a given state, so that knowing a channel was implemented confers information about the input system, breaking the symmetry between prediction and postdiction. Quantum probabilities by themselves have no regard for the direction of time.

In this section, we examine another way in which the quantum probabilities do not distinguish between past and future by examining the more familiar notion of time symmetry: that of time-reversal symmetry. There are two notions of timereversal, which we could call active and passive, or operational and descriptive. In the passive time-reversal of a system, one simply examines the changes in the system in the reverse order, starting from the future and moving towards the past. Applying passive time-reversal to the inference tasks we have been considering amounts to switching from the prediction task to the postdiction task and *vice versa*. The previous sections have thus been an investigation of passive time-reversal symmetry; we proved that passive time-reversal symmetry is equivalent to inference-symmetry. Active time-reversal consists instead in finding a process that undoes the change that was brought by a previous transformation. In the context of the inference tasks, active time-reversal consists in considering a new, time-reversed task.

7.5.1 Time-reversed task with unitary channel

Unitary maps are invertible, and thus for every evolution U of a closed quantum system, there exists a time-reversed evolution given by the adjoint U^{\dagger} .

Definition 4 (Time-reversed task) Consider a task in which a closed system is prepared in a basis $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^d$ and measured in a basis $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^d$ after undergoing the unitary evolution U. In the time-reversed task, the system is prepared in $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^d$ and measured in $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^d$ after undergoing the evolution U^{\dagger} .

It follows immediately from the properties of the inner product that

$$P_{pre}(a|x,U^{\dagger}) = P_{pre}(x|a,U). \tag{7.56}$$

While this is result is trivial to derive, it is nevertheless profound, as it compounds with the inference symmetry

$$P_{pre}(x|a,U) = P_{post}(a|x,U), \qquad (7.57)$$

to show how little regard the probabilities of closed quantum systems have about the direction of time. Indeed, given two pure states a and x of the corresponding Hilbert spaces, the *same* quantity $|\langle x|U|a\rangle|^2$ is the solution for four conceptually distinct tasks:

- $P_{pre}(x|a, U)$, for the prediction task with unitary evolution U,
- $P_{post}(a|x, U)$, for the postdiction task with unitary evolution U,
- $P_{pre}(a|x, U^{\dagger})$, for the prediction task with unitary evolution U^{\dagger} , and
- $P_{post}(x|a, U^{\dagger})$, for the postdiction task with unitary evolution U^{\dagger} .

The familiar Born rule, which is normally thought to apply only to the first case, actually applies to all four of these cases. In each one of them, x can be either the future or the past event, and can either be the known or unknown in the scenario. The situation may be represented by the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} P_{pre}(x|a,U) & \xleftarrow{\text{active}} & P_{pre}(a|x,U^{\dagger}) \\ \\ \text{passive} & & |\langle x|U|a\rangle|^2 & & & \\ P_{post}(a|x,U) & \xleftarrow{\text{active}} & P_{post}(x|a,U^{\dagger}) \end{array}$$

Let us now consider the case of open systems and study the time-reversed version of the tasks examined in section 7.3. If we neglect the outcome of the measurement on B, we can write:

$$P_{pre}(a|xy,U^{\dagger}) = \sum_{i=1}^{d_B} P_{pre}(ab_i|xy,U^{\dagger})$$
(7.58)

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{d_B} P_{pre}(xy|ab_i, U)$$
(7.59)

$$P_{pre}(a|xy, U^{\dagger}) = P_{post}(a|xy, U), \qquad (7.60)$$

where we have used the time-reversal symmetry (7.56) in the second equality, and (7.11) in the third. This equation relates the probability of the prediction task to the probability of the time-reversed postdiction task. In both cases, we are calculating the probability of event a based on knowledge of event xy. However, in one case xy is to the past of a and in the other case the opposite is true. In a similar fashion, we can derive the following equations:

$$P_{pre}(ab|x, U^{\dagger}) = P_{post}(ab|x, U), \qquad (7.61)$$

$$P_{post}(xy|a, U^{\dagger}) = P_{pre}(xy|a, U), \qquad (7.62)$$

$$P_{post}(x|ab, U^{\dagger}) = P_{pre}(x|ab, U), \qquad (7.63)$$

for when only one side is being ignored, as well as

$$P_{pre}(a|x, U^{\dagger}) = P_{post}(a|x, U), \qquad (7.64)$$

$$P_{post}(x|a, U^{\dagger}) = P_{pre}(x|a, U), \qquad (7.65)$$

for when data is being ignored on both sides. Recall the discussion in section 7.3 about the normalisation of the identity that is required to calculate the quantities

on the right hand side. The same applies here, which reinforces the lesson: the direction of time is irrelevant to the normalisation of the identity. What matters is the direction of inference:

$$P_{pre}(x|a,U) = \begin{array}{c} \overbrace{U}^{x} = \\ \rule{0.5mm}{0} \rule{0.5$$

The equation above³ refers to inference tasks in which we have information about the system A and want to guess something about the system X. It does not matter if A is in the past or the future of X. The answer is the same. There is no way of telling which way the arrow of time is pointing.

7.5.2 Time-reversed task with quantum channel

The natural candidate for the time-reversed task is the one with the adjoint Φ^{\dagger} of the quantum channel Φ . In fact, Chiribella *et. al.* proved that this is essentially the unique way of defining the active time-reversal of a quantum channel in a way that reduces to the adjoint when applied to unitaries [55, 58]. We must distinguish two cases, as the adjoint of a CPTP map may or may not be a CPTP map.

The adjoint Φ^{\dagger} is trace-preserving if and only if Φ is unit preserving since, by the definition of the adjoint, for all $\rho \in \mathcal{L}(X)$:

$$\operatorname{tr} \Phi^{\dagger}[\rho] = \operatorname{tr} \mathbb{I}_{A} \circ \Phi^{\dagger}[\rho] = \operatorname{tr} \Phi[\mathbb{I}_{A}] \circ \rho.$$
(7.67)

Furthermore, we have seen that the bistochastic channels are exactly the inference symmetric channels. In analogy with the discussion above on the closed systems, for a bistochastic channel Φ , the quantity

$$\operatorname{tr}|x\rangle\!\langle x|\circ\Phi[|a\rangle\!\langle a|],\tag{7.68}$$

given by the generalised Born rule, yields the numerical value of four *a priori* conceptually distinct quantities:

- $P_{pre}(x|a, \Phi)$, for the prediction task with bistochastic channel Φ ,
- $P_{post}(a|x, \Phi)$, for the postdiction task with bistochastic channel Φ ,
- $P_{pre}(a|x, \Phi^{\dagger})$, for the prediction task with bistochastic channel Φ^{\dagger} , and
- $P_{post}(x|a, \Phi^{\dagger})$, for the postdiction task with bistochastic channel Φ^{\dagger} .

Thus postdiction-symmetry is intimately linked with time-reversal invariance even in the context of quantum channels.

In general, however, the adjoint of a CPTP map might fail to be trace nonincreasing. So it might not only fail to represent a quantum channel, but may not even be a quantum map, *i.e.* part of an operation. In this case, an active time-reversal of the corresponding quantum channel does not exist, as has been recently shown in [55, 58].

³We are using the horizontal reflection of a unitary U to represent its adjoint.

7.5.3 Quantum channels towards the past

A quantum channel might not have an active time-reversed version. Nevertheless, we can learn something striking by looking at the time-reversed task of a *purification* of this quantum channel: CPTP maps can describe *postdictions* in situations in which part of the future data is left implicit and fixed. Consider the time-reversed version of the purified task in section 7.4.3. The system is prepared in some state corresponding to the basis $\{x_i y_j\}$ and measured on some basis $\{a_i b_j\}$ after undergoing the transformation described by U_{Φ}^{\dagger} . Using the time-symmetry of unitary open systems (7.63), observe that

$$P_{pre}(x|a,\Phi) = P_{pre}(x|ab,U_{\Phi}) = P_{post}(x|ab,U_{\Phi}^{\dagger}).$$

$$(7.69)$$

That is, the quantity

$$\operatorname{tr}|x\rangle\!\langle x|\,\Phi[|a\rangle\!\langle a|] \tag{7.70}$$

is the solution to two different tasks:

- $P_{pre}(x|ab, U_{\Phi})$ for the prediction task with unitary U_{Φ} , and
- $P_{post}(x|ab, U_{\Phi}^{\dagger})$ for the time-reversed postdiction task with U_{Φ}^{\dagger} .

Thus one can take the quantity (7.70) to relate to an inference towards the past, in a situation in which part of the future events are only implicitly described. This furthers the argument that the inference-asymmetry of the CPTP maps is not an asymmetry related to an intrinsic direction of time in the details of a quantum process, but in an asymmetry in the data about a system. The input of a CPTP map does not necessarily lie to the past of the output, it can also lie to its future.

This last insight will play a major role in dispelling a source of confusion regarding the time-orientation of quantum phenomena.

7.6 The arrow of inference

In this section, we discuss two closely related asymmetric aspects of the operational formalism, encapsulated by two maxims: "there exists a unique deterministic effect" and "no signalling from the future". These expressions reflect mathematical properties of the theory that are often taken as evidence of an asymmetry between the past and the future. Here we show that these properties reflect the asymmetry due to the arrow of inference, which is in principle independent of the arrow of time.

7.6.1 "There exists a unique deterministic effect"

As a mathematical statement, given the definitions, this maxim is correct. A quantum map is deemed *deterministic*, or *causal*, if it is trace preserving. An *effect* is a quantum map from a Hilbert space to the trivial Hilbert space. Thus a *deterministic effect* is an effect that is trace-preserving. It is easy to see that the only such effect is the one that maps a state to its trace, *i.e.* the discard operator. In this precise sense the discard is the only deterministic effect.

As a statement of the irreducible uncertainty of quantum phenomena, the maxim is also correct: the only way to be certain about a prediction in all cases is not to guess at all. In the context of prediction tasks, discarding means not trying to predict anything about the system and is represented by the identity operator as an effect (see section 7.3). Not guessing is the only way to always guess right, and this is the physical content of "there exists a unique deterministic effect."

The uniqueness of the deterministic effect is sometimes understood as the conservation of probability, a mere aspect of inference (see for example [13, 235]). However, the maxim is sometimes taken to signify something fundamental about the distinction between the past and the future [67, 192], and this is not correct. In fact, we can define by analogy what it means to discard something in the past. If discarding in the future means marginalising prediction probabilities, then discarding in the past means marginalising postdiction probabilities. Discarding in the past is also represented by the identity operator when computing probabilities—this time in the *input* side, as we have seen at the end of section 7.3. Indeed, looking at the formula (7.33) for postdiction with a general quantum channel, we see that the only way to have probability 1 is to discard the system, *i.e.* by not guessing at all.

Thus, the uniqueness of the discard operator is not a consequence of the timeorientation of quantum phenomena. It is instead a manifestation of thoroughly time-symmetric quantum indeterminism in the context of prediction.

7.6.2 "No signalling from the future"

This maxim means that the probabilities of the outcomes of a quantum operation do not depend on the nature of a later operation. To lay down some notation, we reproduce the standard proof of this property, which is an immediate consequence of the equations (7.22) and (7.26). In the next section, we comment on the physical reasons for this and show that it too is in fact a property of the arrow of inference, not a property of time.

Suppose a system starts in a state ρ , and the operation $\mathcal{E}^{A \to D} = \{E_x\}$ is applied. The quantity

$$P_{pre}(x|\rho,\mathcal{E}) = \operatorname{tr} E_x[\rho] \tag{7.71}$$

is the probability of observing outcome x.

Suppose instead that the operation \mathcal{E} is immediately followed by another operation $\mathcal{F}^{D\to Z} = \{F_y\}$. The probability for the outcomes x and y is given definition by (7.26):

$$P_{pre}(xy|\rho, \mathcal{F} \circ \mathcal{E}) = \operatorname{tr} F_y \left[E_x[\rho] \right]$$
(7.72)

An immediate application of probability theory and the completeness equation (7.22) yields

$$P_{pre}(x|\rho, \mathcal{F} \circ \mathcal{E}) = \sum_{y} \operatorname{tr} F_{y} \left[E_{x}[\rho] \right] = \operatorname{tr} E_{x}[\rho], \qquad (7.73)$$

and we thus have the identity

$$P_{pre}(x|\rho, \mathcal{F} \circ \mathcal{E}) = P_{pre}(x|\rho, \mathcal{E}).$$
(7.74)

The probabilities of the outcomes of the first operation are independent on the nature of the second operation.⁴ The case in which the operation \mathcal{F} is performed and the case in which it is not are indistinguishable by looking only at what happens at \mathcal{E} .

A future experimenter cannot affect the statistics in the present by manipulating a system in the future, hence "no signalling from the future."

What about the opposite direction? By linearity and (7.25) we have

$$P_{pre}(y|\rho, \mathcal{F} \circ \mathcal{E}) = P_{pre}(y|\mathcal{E}[\rho], \mathcal{F}), \qquad (7.75)$$

so that the probability of y clearly depends on the first operation \mathcal{E} .

Thus the future operation does not affect the probabilities of past events, while the past operation affects the probability of future events. One seems compelled to conclude that this reveals a time-asymmetry in quantum theory. But this conclusion is too quick. In previous sections, we have encountered various situations in which asymmetric aspects of quantum theory should not be ascribed to a difference between past and future, but to the directionality of inference and an asymmetry of the data. We have also seen that the operational formulations assume that the arrow of time and the arrow of inference point the same way. We should be cautious.

7.6.3 "No signalling from the further unknown"

The calculation above in fact shows that the future operation does not affect the *prediction* probabilities of events in its past, while the past operation affects the *prediction* probabilities of events in its future. In other words, if somebody in the past of both operations is trying to guess what would be the outcome of the first operation, they can safely discard any information about the second operation that might be available at that time.⁵ Put another way: an event further away from the data does not affect the prediction probabilities closer to the data.

A similar statement holds also when the arrow of inference points toward decreasing time, *i.e.* when doing postdiction. As we have already seen in section 7.5.2, one can understand a CPTP map as a shorthand to calculate a postdiction probability when a future event is implicitly considered fixed. The same is generally true of *any* operation: it can serve as a shorthand to aid the calculation of postdiction probabilities. Then (7.74), understood as a statement about postdiction probabilities, tells us that what happened in the further past does not affect our ability to infer what happens in the closer past. When predicting, an event does not affect prediction probabilities about an event in its past. When postdicting, an event does not affect

$$\operatorname{tr} F_{y}\left[E_{x}[\rho]\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[F_{y}\left(\frac{E_{x}[\rho]}{\operatorname{tr} E_{x}[\rho]}\right)\right] \cdot \operatorname{tr} E_{x}[\rho]$$
(7.76)

so that, by setting $\rho_x = E_x[\rho]/\operatorname{tr} E_x[\rho]$ one can write:

$$P_{pre}(xy|\rho, \mathcal{F} \circ \mathcal{E}) = P_{pre}(y|\rho_x, \mathcal{F}) \cdot P(x|\rho, \mathcal{E}).$$
(7.77)

 5 To be sure, having knowledge of the outcome of the second operation *does* provide an advantage in guessing the outcome of the first one, since

$$P(x|y,\rho,\mathcal{F}\circ\mathcal{E}) = \operatorname{tr} F_y[E_x[\rho]]/\operatorname{tr} F_y[\mathcal{E}[\rho]].$$
(7.78)

This data however is unavailable to somebody sitting in the past of both operations.

⁴Note that the no-signalling from the future property (7.74) can also be seen as a motivation for the definition (7.26) for the probabilities of the outcomes of sequential operations in the first place. Indeed by linearity, these can be rewritten as:

postdiction probabilities of events in its future. In both cases, there is no signalling from the further unknown.

As an illustration, let us consider a purification of the two operations $\mathcal{E}^{A\to D}$ and $\mathcal{F}^{D\to Z}$ above. Let us assume for simplicity that there is no need to discard a part of the output system (by handling the more general case we would reach the same conclusions but with more typographical effort). Then there exists Hilbert spaces B, C, X and Y, unitaries $U_{\mathcal{E}} : A \otimes B \to X \otimes D$ and $U_{\mathcal{F}} : D \otimes C \to Y \otimes Z$, pure states $|b\rangle \in B$ and $|c\rangle \in C$ as well as orthonormal bases for X and Y labelled by x and y respectively, such that for all $\rho \in \mathcal{L}(A)$ and $\sigma \in \mathcal{L}(D)$:

$$E_x[\rho] = \operatorname{tr}_X |x\rangle \langle x| \circ U_{\mathcal{E}}[\rho \otimes |b\rangle \langle b|], \qquad (7.79)$$

$$F_{y}[\sigma] = \operatorname{tr}_{Y} |y\rangle\langle y| \circ U_{\mathcal{F}}[\sigma \otimes |c\rangle\langle c|], \qquad (7.80)$$

meaning that:

We can write down the prediction probabilities for the purified task in terms of the operations:

$$P_{pre}(xy|abc, U_{\mathcal{F}}U_{\mathcal{E}}) = \operatorname{tr} F_y[E_x[a]].$$
(7.82)

Now we can use the property (7.63) of time-reversed unitary tasks to also write

$$P_{post}(xy|abc, U_{\mathcal{E}}^{\dagger}U_{\mathcal{F}}^{\dagger}) = \operatorname{tr} F_{y}[E_{x}[a]].$$
(7.83)

Thus, the quantities tr $F_y[E_x[a]]$ are also postdiction probabilities for a different scenario, in which *future* events b and c are held fixed, and this knowledge is used to guess something happening to their past (x and y):



In this case, the operation \mathcal{F} contains information about something that happens *earlier* in the system, namely, the interaction $U_{\mathcal{F}}^{\dagger}$ between the subsystems Y and Z, and the outcome of the measurement of C. All of this information is irrelevant when postdicting only the preparation on X:

$$\sum_{y} P_{post}(xy|abc, U_{\mathcal{E}}^{\dagger}U_{\mathcal{F}}^{\dagger}) = P_{post}(x|abc, U_{\mathcal{E}}^{\dagger}).$$
(7.85)

Thus, when postdicting, the outcome and nature of the earlier operation is irrelevant to the probabilities for the outcome of the later operation.

7.6.4 Why we *can* signal from the past

We have seen that the operation \mathcal{E} affects the prediction probabilities for the outcome of \mathcal{F} . How is this related to the notion of *signalling*? Let's imagine two parties, one located where \mathcal{E} takes place and one where \mathcal{F} takes place. Let's call them Eve and Fred. How can Eve send a signal to Fred? The barebones scenario for signalling to the future is that Eve's operation is simply a state preparation of a qubit, and Fred's is a projective measurement. Eve, who knows the basis on which Fred will measure, *chooses* one of the two states so that she fully determines the outcome of Fred's operation. Like this, she can send one bit of information.

Notice, however, that Eve's ability to choose is crucial to this protocol. If she cannot pick what state to send to Fred, she cannot send a message to him. All she can do is try to predict what will be the outcome of Fred's measurement, once—and if—she knows what state she sent him. How does somebody prepare a system in a specific state? In practice, this is done by subjecting the system to a maximal test and discarding the systems yielding unwanted results [202]. Alternatively, one can apply a unitary transformation to the system, conditional on the outcome of the maximal test. Both of these procedures require an increase in the entropy of the universe, as the first involves picking and choosing [173, 227] and the second is an instance of erasure so Landauer's principle applies [152], a rigorous proof of which just appeared [180]. Thus, signalling is a concept beyond single quantum transition probabilities and has its origins in the thermodynamic arrow of time.

We are time oriented creatures, we know more about the past than about the future, we mostly try to guess the future. Quantum probabilities do not care if you are making guesses about the future or the past. They are about predicting what is unknown from what is known. The difference between what is known and what is unknown is at the origin of the time asymmetric maxims of the operational formulations. The first maxim arises from the fact that postdiction scenarios are rarer than prediction ones in practice. If we want to learn about the past, we find there are plenty of records about past events in the present. The existence of traces is not a property of the probabilities of individual quantum systems, so the fact that we rarely have to guess about the past the same way we have to guess about the future is no evidence of a time asymmetry of the physics of quanta.

The grip of the second maxim on the community is more subtle. It rests on the notion of signalling, which is itself tightly linked with ideas of causation and agency, concepts we have strong intuitions for and rely on daily. We humans make choices and these choices influence our future (not our past). The same goes for a lot of systems around us: when my laptop suddenly "decides" to break, it will affect my ability to finish a future paper (not a past one). Is this time-orientation a direct consequence of some time asymmetry in quantum phenomena? Hopefully, by now, the answer is clear. Is causation a fundamental property of the world in some other way? This question has received surprisingly little attention from the physics community at large [211]. This question needs to be addressed carefully if one hopes of extending these operational formalisms to probe physics outside laboratories. The notion of causes always preceding effects is strongly related to notions of agency. And agency is a perspectival property, stemming from a partial description of systems and the presence of an entropy gradient [173, 227]. One should be cautious in extending notions of time oriented causation all the way to elementary physics.

7.7 Time orientation of other formalisms

Before concluding the paper, we add some comments regarding the time orientation in other formalisms.

In the de Broglie-Bohm interpretation [30, 118], the particle and the pilot-wave obey time-reversal invariant dynamics. The Everettian wavefunction [232, 254] also obeys time-reversal invariant dynamics. Branching towards the future is interpreted as a past low entropy condition: systems were uncorrelated in the past, hence the vanishing of von-Neumann relative entropy. Alternatively, it can be interpreted as a perspectival aspect of the Everettian relative state determined by an observation in the present.

The Copenhagen quantum state is correlated with past observations, not future ones, but the state is, of course, unobservable and its ontological status is debated. Its empirical content is given by the probabilities it allows to calculate. If we ask time-symmetric questions, the probabilities we obtain are time-symmetric [4]. The state is assumed to be correlated with past events because we are using past data to infer about the future. If we want to guess about the past, we could just as well use a quantum state correlated with a future event [225, 247, 259].

In QBism [108], quantum theory is interpreted as a means to aid decision making, allowing an agent to calculate the probabilities of the consequences of their interactions with the world. Because decision-making agents play a central role in bringing about the world according to the QBists [106], the ontology of the theory is fundamentally time oriented.

Laboratory measurements generally involve decoherence and amplification of a microscopic phenomenon to the macroscopic realm, both of which rely on the entropy gradient. Views of quantum theory that insist that the only real events are of this kind are therefore time-oriented, even though the probabilities themselves might be time-symmetric. These views also imply that there is no interpretation of the theory outside of the macroscopic approximation.

According to the relational interpretation of quantum mechanics (RQM) [221, 226], facts happen at every interaction between any two systems, but the facts are relative to the systems involved in the interaction. The quantum state only plays a computational role in this interpretation. In the next chapter, we will see how decoherence comes into play to stabilise a fact, so that one might ignore its relational nature, which is manifest in interference effects. Decoherence requires information loss and an increase in entropy. Hence RQM is a time-symmetric formulation of quantum theory, but the dynamics of *relative* facts is time symmetric while the dynamics of *stable* facts is time oriented.

Conclusion

Quantum theory is not about predicting the future, it is about time-symmetric conditional probabilities relating events. The directionality internal to the theory is the arrow of inference, the difference between known and unknown.

There are *formulations* of quantum theory that break time reversal symmetry and use time oriented theoretical notions. These either refer to non-observable entities, or to assumptions about the time orientation of inference problems, or to the entropic time orientation of decoherence. Examples of such formulations are provided by the use of a quantum state determined by *past* interactions in the Copenhagen-type interpretations, and the use of the quantum operations described above. The time orientation of operations is due to them being high-level notions with a built-in assumption about time asymmetric capabilities of the experimentalists.

The time orientation of the formalisms we use is determined by the common boundary conditions we set for the physical processes we study: they come from the assumptions about the agent interacting with the system and the conditions she imposes on it. The agent is not directly modelled in the theory and is instead represented by the inferential boundary conditions and choice of operations, the exogenous variables of [178]. Time orientation is in this way external to the elementary quantum process being modelled. It can, in principle, be entirely accounted for at the level of statistical mechanics as a consequence of the existence of an entropy gradient, namely past low entropy [173, 177, 227, 228].

Some authors [4, 192] have built time-symmetric theories to replace quantum theory. However, the results of sections 7.2 and 7.5 show that quantum theory is already time-symmetric as it is. The transition probabilities calculated with quantum theory are blind to the direction of time. The probabilities of closed quantum systems are inference symmetric and time-reversal invariant. Thus, when accounting for all the relevant degrees of freedom, the predictions of quantum theory are thoroughly time-agnostic. The probabilities of open quantum systems are in general neither inference symmetric nor time-reversal invariant. We have shown that the asymmetry between prediction and postdiction in this case is only a consequence of treating the two problems asymmetrically, by assuming more knowledge in one case than in the other. Both inference asymmetry and the failure of time-reversal invariance of quantum channels can be understood in the same terms. This asymmetry⁶ is not intrinsic to the mechanical theory, but is, rather, an asymmetry of the questions we humans ask using the theory.

⁶This situation is reminiscent of the one in classical statistical mechanics, in which one can prove that entropy increases *both* towards the past *and* towards the future of the given initial state [178, 211]. In both situations we use time-symmetrical mechanical laws to extrapolate from a state of limited knowledge to a state at other times. This results in even more limited knowledge. The fact that entropy was lower in the past, is a fact external to the laws of mechanics. And the fact that we are mostly interested in extrapolating towards the future is in turn a consequence of the low entropy in the past.

Part IV Facts and Objectivity in QM

Chapter 8

Stable facts, relative Facts

8.1 Facts in quantum theory

The common textbook presentation of quantum theory assumes the existence of a classical world. A measurement involves an interaction between the classical world and a quantum system and produces a definite result, for instance a dot on a screen. The result is a fact by itself, but also establishes a fact about a quantum system. For instance, a certain measurement resulting in a definite record establishes that at some time the z-component of the spin of an electron is $L_z = \hbar/2$, which is then a fact about the electron.

Quantum probabilities are probabilities for facts, given other facts. Facts are therefore the arguments of which the probability amplitudes are function. In particular, facts are used as conditionals for computing probabilities of other facts. For instance, if the spin of the electron mentioned above is immediately measured in a direction at an angle θ from the z-axis, the probability to find the value $L_{\theta} = \hbar/2$ (a fact), given the fact that $L_z = \hbar/2$, is

$$P\left(L_{\theta} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \mid L_{z} = \frac{\hbar}{2}\right) = \cos^{2}\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right).$$
(8.1)

In this sense, quantum mechanics is about conditional probabilities relating facts about systems.

Facts ascertained in a conventional measurement are *stable* in the following sense. If we know that one of N mutually exclusive facts a_i (i = 1...N) has happened, the probability P(b) for another fact b to happen is given by

$$P(b) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} P(b|a_i) P(a_i), \qquad (8.2)$$

where $P(a_i)$ is the probability that a_i has happened and $P(b|a_i)$ is the probability for b given a_i . We take equation (8.2) as a characterisation of *stable* facts.

As we saw in section 3.3 textbook presentation of quantum mechanics is incomplete because it assumes the existence of a classical world. An exactly classical world can exist only if current quantum theory has limited validity—for instance if physical collapse mechanisms exist [115, 200], or for some other, still unknown reason. Quantum theory has however been universally successful so far, and there is no empirical evidence of its failure. This strongly suggest that real physical objects are classical (meaning they do not display quantum properties) only approximatively. There are no *exactly* classical objects, strictly speaking, as everything we interact with is made of atoms and photons, which obey quantum theory.

It is unconvincing to use concepts valid only within an approximation when formulating the fundamental theory of nature. Therefore the attempts at interpreting quantum theory as a universal theory do not rely on postulating classical objects. This is the case for instance for the Everettian quantum mechanics [232, 254, 258] and the pilot wave theory [97, 118] and Relational Quantum Mechanics (RQM) [155, 221, 226]. The emergence of classical world (or worlds) has already been studied in both Everettian quantum mechanics and pilot wave theory. In this chapter, based on [85], we investigate how the classical world arises in RQM, namely, how some relative facts become stable thanks to certain physical interactions.

8.1.1 Relative facts

Relative facts are *defined* to happen whenever a physical system interacts with another physical system. While relative facts play a central role in RQM, their definition and their usefulness are independent of the interpretation. We shall discuss this role in detail in the next section.

Let us consider two systems S and \mathcal{F} . If an interaction affects a variable $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ of \mathcal{F} in a manner that depends on the value of a certain variable L_S of S, then the value of L_S is a fact relative to \mathcal{F} . That is, whenever a system \mathcal{F} is affected by a variable of another system, the value of that variable becomes a fact for \mathcal{F} . This is true by definition irrespectively of whether \mathcal{F} is a classical system. The interaction with \mathcal{F} is the context in which that variable¹ takes a specific value; we call the system \mathcal{F} , in this role, a "context". The interaction with the context determines the fact that a certain variable has a value in that context.

Stable facts are a strict subset of the relative facts: there are many relative facts that are not stable facts. Quantum theory provides probabilities relating relative facts, but these satisfy (8.2) only if b and the a_i are facts relative to the *same* system. That is, if we label facts with their context (writing $a^{(\mathcal{F})}$ for a fact relative to system \mathcal{F}), then it is always the case that

$$P(b^{(\mathcal{F})}) = \sum_{i} P(b|a_i) P(a_i^{(\mathcal{F})}).$$
(8.3)

In contrast, whenever $\mathcal{W} \neq \mathcal{F}$, it is in general not the case that

$$P(b^{(W)}) = \sum_{i} P(b|a_i) P(a_i^{(\mathcal{F})}).$$
(8.4)

If (8.4) holds, we say that the value of the variable $L_{\mathcal{S}}$ is stable for \mathcal{W} .

The failure of (8.4) is easily understood in terms of the standard language of quantum theory: it is the presence of interference effects. If \mathcal{F} is sufficiently isolated

¹We use 'variable' to denote any quantity that in the classical theory is a function on phase pace. We prefer to avoid the expression 'observable' because it is loaded with irrelevant extra baggage: the ideas of observation and a complex observer. The term 'context' is used here in a sense similar to that in [119]. However we do not require the context to be classical. See [10].

it may be possible to maintain quantum coherence for the compound system $S-\mathcal{F}$. The interaction entangles the two systems and interference effects between different values of the variable L_S can later be detected in the measurements by an observer \mathcal{W} . The probabilities for facts of the S-F system relative to \mathcal{W} can indeed be computed from an entangled state of the form

$$c_1 |a_1\rangle \otimes |Fa_1\rangle + c_2 |a_2\rangle \otimes |Fa_2\rangle, \tag{8.5}$$

where a_i are values of L_S and Fa_i are values of \mathcal{F} 's "pointer variable" $L_{\mathcal{F}}$. Probabilities computed from this state violate (8.4) as they feature interference terms because what sums is amplitudes, not probabilities. The value of L_S , therefore, is not a stable fact.

Hence, facts relative to a system \mathcal{F} cannot in general be taken as conditionals for computing probabilities of facts relative to a different system \mathcal{W} . Equation (8.2) holds only if b and a_i are facts relative to the same system, but fails in general if used for facts relative to different systems.

While the notation S for 'system', \mathcal{F} for 'Friend' and \mathcal{W} for 'Wigner' is meant to evoke the famous *Wigner's friend* thought experiment [262] discussed in 3.2, in the discussion above there are no assumptions about the system \mathcal{F} being quantum or classical, microscopic or macroscopic.

So, what exactly characterises a stable fact, among the relative facts? What gives rise to stable facts?

8.1.2 Decoherence

Since stability is a characteristic feature of the classical world, whose facts invariably satisfy (8.2), answering the questions above amounts to explaining in terms of relative facts what it takes for a system to be classical.

Various characterisations of a classical or semiclassical situation can be found in the literature: large quantum numbers, semiclassical wavepackets or coherent states, macroscopic systems, large or infinite number of degrees of freedom... All these features play a role in characterising classical systems in specific situations. But the key phenomenon that makes facts stable is decoherence [270, 273, 274]: the suppression of interference that happens when some information becomes inaccessible. Let us see in an example how this plays out.

Consider two systems \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{E} (\mathcal{E} for "Environment"), and a variable $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ of the system \mathcal{F} . Let Fa_i be the eigenvalues of $L_{\mathcal{F}}$. A generic state of the compound system $\mathcal{F}-\mathcal{E}$ can be written in the form

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{i} c_{i} |Fa_{i}\rangle \otimes |\psi_{i}\rangle, \qquad (8.6)$$

where $|\psi_i\rangle$ are normalised states of \mathcal{E} . Let us define

$$\epsilon = \max_{i \neq j} |\langle \psi_i | \psi_j \rangle|^2.$$
(8.7)

Now, suppose that: (a) ϵ is vanishing or very small and (b) a system \mathcal{W} does not interact with \mathcal{E} . Then the probability P(b) of any possible fact relative to \mathcal{W}

resulting from an interaction between \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} can be computed from the density matrix obtained tracing over \mathcal{E} , that is,

$$\rho = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{E}} |\psi\rangle\!\langle\psi| = \sum_{i} |c_{i}|^{2} |Fa_{i}\rangle\!\langle Fa_{i}| + O(\epsilon).$$
(8.8)

By setting $P(Fa_i^{(\mathcal{E})}) = |c_i|^2$, we can then write

$$P(b^{(W)}) = \sum_{i} P(b|Fa_i)P(Fa_i^{(\mathcal{E})}) + O(\epsilon).$$

$$(8.9)$$

Thus, probabilities for facts b relative to \mathcal{W} calculated in terms of the possible values of $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ satisfy (8.4), up to a small deviation of order ϵ . Hence the value of the variable $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ is a fact relative to \mathcal{E} that is stable for \mathcal{W} to the extent to which one ignores effects of order ϵ . In the limit $\epsilon \to 0$, the variable $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ of the system \mathcal{F} is exactly stable for \mathcal{W} .

Extensive theoretical work has shown that decoherence is practically unavoidable and extremely effective as soon as large numbers of degrees of freedom are involved [275]. The variables of \mathcal{F} that decohere, namely the specific variables for which ϵ becomes small, are determined by the actual physical interactions between \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{E} (they are those variables that commute with the interaction Hamiltonian). The decoherence time, namely the time needed for ϵ to become so small that interference effects become undetectable by given observational methods, can be computed and is typically extremely short for macroscopic variables of macroscopic objects. All this is well understood. It is important for what follows to emphasise two subtle aspects of decoherence.

First, decoherence is not an *absolute* phenomenon, but a relational one: it depends on how the third system \mathcal{W} interacts with the combined system $\mathcal{F}-\mathcal{E}$. This is because assumption (b) above is just as crucial as assumption (a) in deriving (8.9). Another system \mathcal{W}' that interacts differently with $\mathcal{F}-\mathcal{E}$ might be able to detect interference effects.

Second, decoherence implies that an event regarding two systems \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{E} is stable for a *third* system \mathcal{W} . Hence, a fact stable for \mathcal{W} is not necessarily a fact relative to \mathcal{W} . That is, the variable $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ is stable for \mathcal{W} even if the latter has not interacted with it, so there is no fact relative to \mathcal{W} yet. This is what allows one to say that, with respect to \mathcal{W} , the "state of the system \mathcal{F} has collapsed into the state $|Fa_i\rangle$ with probability $P(Fa_i) = |c_i|^2$," even though \mathcal{W} has not interacted with \mathcal{F} .

These observations show that decoherence does not imply that there is a perfectly classical world of absolute facts, although it does explain why (and when) we can reason in terms of stable, hence approximatively classical, facts.²

²There is a limit case in which a fact can be stable even in the absence of decoherence. This is when one of the amplitudes in (8.6), say c_1 , is very close to 1. If \mathcal{W} does not interact with \mathcal{E} , then the probabilities for facts relative to \mathcal{W} can be computed using $\rho' = |Fa_1\rangle\langle Fa_1| + O(\eta)$, where $\eta = 1 - |c_1|^2$. In this case, one can reason as if the value of $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ were a fact relative to \mathcal{W} , up to order η effects. Thus, when a fact relative to a system has very high probability, then it is stable for other systems, because the interference effects are small. Notice the differences with the Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen [93] criterion for an 'element of reality:' the above only holds to the extent to which \mathcal{W} cannot interact with \mathcal{E} , and there needs to be a fact relative to \mathcal{E} in the first place.

8.1.3 Measurements

If two systems S and \mathcal{F} interact so that their respective variables L_S and $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ get entangled, and if $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ is stable for \mathcal{W} , it follows immediately from the definitions that also L_S is stable for \mathcal{W} .

This is precisely what happens in a typical quantum measurement of a variable $L_{\mathcal{S}}$ in a laboratory. Thinking of \mathcal{S} , \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} as, respectively, the system being measured, the apparatus and the experimenter, we can separate the measurement in three stages:

- 1. An interaction between the system and the apparatus entangles $L_{\mathcal{S}}$ with a pointer variable $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ of the apparatus.
- 2. $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ gets correlated with a large number of microscopic variables (forming \mathcal{E}) that are inaccessible to the observer \mathcal{W} .
- 3. The observer \mathcal{W} interacts with the pointer variable $L_{\mathcal{F}}$ to learn about $L_{\mathcal{S}}$.

Let's trace this same story in terms of relative facts:

- 1. A relative fact is established between S and F.
- 2. A relative fact is established between \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{E} . Since \mathcal{W} does not interact with \mathcal{E} , this stabilises the previous fact for \mathcal{W} .
- 3. A relative fact is established between \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} . This has consequences on \mathcal{W} 's future interactions with $\mathcal{S}-\mathcal{F}$.

Already at stage 2, the observer can apply (8.4) since the interaction with the inaccessible degrees of freedom greatly suppresses interference terms. The observer might say " L_S has been measured," and assume that the pointer of the apparatus moved one way or the other. In the mathematical formalism, \mathcal{W} can assume that " \mathcal{S} 's wavefunction has collapsed." Note however that neither the value of L_S or L_F is a fact for \mathcal{W} at this stage. Stability simply allows \mathcal{W} to "de-label" facts relative to \mathcal{F} . It is only at stage 3 that the value of L_F becomes a fact for \mathcal{W} . Note that the value of L_S is still not a fact relative to \mathcal{W} , but it is a stable fact for \mathcal{W} . However, based on the value of L_F , the experimenter \mathcal{W} can update the state for \mathcal{S} . The experimenter can reason as if L_S took the value that she read on the apparatus" pointer variable.

It is the way that the four systems S, F, W, and \mathcal{E} couple to each other that makes \mathcal{F} a measuring apparatus for \mathcal{W} . The stability of \mathcal{F} for \mathcal{W} extends to all other variables that interact with \mathcal{F} , hence \mathcal{W} , on might say that " \mathcal{F} causes S to collapse." But, in fact, this "collapse" is not objective, it is relational and effective. Another system \mathcal{W}' that couples differently to these systems might still be able to detect interference effects.

In summary, we can distinguish two notions of facts that play a role in quantum theory: relative facts and stable facts. Quantum theory allows us to talk about relative facts and compute probabilities for them. Equation (8.3) holds but (8.4) does not. The violation of (8.4) is quantum interference.

Stable facts are a subset of the relative facts. They satisfy (8.4). A relative fact about a system \mathcal{F} is stable for a system \mathcal{W} if \mathcal{W} has no access to a system \mathcal{E} which is sufficiently entangled with \mathcal{F} . Stability is only approximate and relational. Approximate, because no fact is exactly stable for any finite ϵ . Relational, because it depends on how the putative 'observer' system couples to the system and the environment.

8.2 Facts and reality

We have given definitions of relative and stable facts, and studied their properties. In this section we discuss the roles of relative and stable facts for the interpretation of quantum theory, namely for the relation between the formalism and the reality it describes.

8.2.1 The link between the theory the world

Let us compare advantages and difficulties of interpreting either stable or relative facts as the link between theory and reality.

Stable facts are taken as the link between the formalism and the world in textbook interpretations of quantum theory. They are the conventional "measurement outcomes" in a macroscopic laboratory. They are similar to the facts of classical mechanics because, in the world described by classical mechanics, all facts (variables having certain values at certain times) are exactly stable: the (epistemic) probabilities for them to happen are *always* exactly consistent with (8.2). In quantum mechanics, facts stable for us humans are ubiquitous because of the ubiquity of decoherence and the frequency of interactions.

There are however two difficulties in taking stable facts as the basis of the quantum ontology. First, stability is relational. Facts are stable only for a system that does not have sufficiently precise interactions with an environment system. The system and environment are still in a superposition with respect to a third system. Therefore one does not avoid relationalism by restricting to stable facts. Second, more seriously, stability is only approximate in general. At no point the interference terms perfectly vanish. These are serious difficulties if we want to take stable facts as the only primary elements of reality. How stable does a fact need to be before it is real? And with respect to what systems does it have to be stable, in order to be real? Any answer to these questions is bound to be as unsatisfactory as the textbook interpretation that requires a classical world. The alternative is to embrace the contextuality of the theory in full, and base its ontology on all relative facts.

Relative facts form the basis of a realist interpretation in Relational Quantum Mechanics (RQM). The fundamental contextuality that characterises quantum theory is interpreted in RQM as the discovery that facts about a system are always defined relative to another system, with which the first system interacts. In the early history of quantum theory it was recognised that every measurement involves an interaction, and it was said that variables take values only upon measurement. RQM notices that every interaction is in a sense a measurement, in that it results in the value of a variable to become a fact. These facts are not absolute, they belong to a context. And there is no 'special context': any system can be a context for any other system.

The quantum state ("the wavefunction") does not have an ontic interpretation in RQM. The state is not a "thing", nor a condition of a system. Rather, it is what a physicist uses to calculate probabilities for relative facts between physical systems to happen, given the relevant information she has. It follows that RQM has no use for a "wavefunction of the universe" that forever evolves unitarily, as this would be a tool to calculate probabilities of facts relative to something that does not exist: a system that is not part of the universe.

Unlike other epistemic interpretations of quantum theory in which the wavefunction plays only an epistemic role, the ontology of RQM is realist in the sense that it is not about agents, beliefs, observers, or experiences: it is about real facts of the world and relative probabilities of their occurrence. The ontology is relational, in the sense that it is based on facts established at interactions and are labelled by physical contexts. Relative facts, therefore, provide a relational but realist interpretation to quantum theory which does not need to refer to complex agents.

8.2.2 No-go theorems for absolute facts

A number of results have recently appeared in the literature as no-go theorems for absolute (non-relative) facts [32, 36, 103]. These results analyse the extended Wigner's friend scenario (EWFS), in which instead of a superobserver reasoning about his friend in a hermetically sealed laboratory, there are two superobservers each reasoning about their own friend, with the friends entangled.

Quantum theory cannot consistently describe the use of itself

In [103], Frauchiger and Renner use a EWFS to show that quantum theory is inconsistent under a certain number of assumptions. A key assumption used to derive the contradiction is the absolute nature of facts. This is assumption (C) in the paper, which can be stated as follows: "If \mathcal{W} , applying quantum theory, concludes that \mathcal{F} knows that $L_{\mathcal{S}} = a$, then \mathcal{W} can conclude that $L_{\mathcal{S}} = a$." The 'C' stands for consistency: the authors argue that this assumption is required to deem the theory consistent: different agents using the same theory must arrive at the same conclusions. From the point of view of this chapter, this is an ironic choice of name, as it is precisely this assumption that leads to contradiction according to RQM.

In terms of relative facts, assumption (C) implies: "If \mathcal{W} , applying quantum theory, can be certain that $L_{\mathcal{S}} = a$ relative to \mathcal{F} , then \mathcal{W} can reason as if $L_{\mathcal{S}} = a$ also relative to \mathcal{W} ." Now, as we have shown, this holds only if every fact relative to \mathcal{F} is stable for \mathcal{W} , which is not guaranteed and depends on the physics. Therefore Assumption (C) only holds if \mathcal{S} or \mathcal{F} decohere with respect to \mathcal{W} . In the Frauchiger and Renner protocol, the superobservers are supposed to have full quantum control on their friends and the contents of their labs. Thus, by definition, what is stable for the friends is not stable for \mathcal{W} . Hence, the contradiction follows from inappropriately mixing contexts: forgetting that facts are relative and therefore (8.4) does not hold in general.

Indeed, as pointed out in [272] and worked out in detail in [214, 215], no contradiction can be derived if one additionally assumes that what is decoherent for the friends (the laboratory they are in) is also decoherent for \mathcal{W} . As a side note, the

analysis of how an agent should reason about an experiment that will be performed on him has not been done within RQM yet. The reader is invited to consider the analysis within QBism [50, 77], since also QBism holds that assumption (C) fails and quantum states are only used to calculate probabilities from the point of view of a given system.

A strong no-go theorem on the Wigner's friend paradox

Another enlightening result is the recent Bong *et. al.* [32], which is a strengthening of a previous result by Brukner [36, 212]. In [32], the authors show that the conjunction of (a) absoluteness of observed events, (b) no superdeterminism and (c) locality imply that correlations in the extended Wigner's friend scenario must satisfy some inequalities, called the Local Friendliness (LF) inequalities. Like Bell's inequalities³ [16, 19], these are derived in a theory-independent way. The authors then show that quantum theory predicts the violation of these inequalities. Thus the universal validity of quantum theory implies that one of the three properties above does not hold.

The word 'locality' means different things in different physics communities. The notion used to derive the LF inequalities is the one that Bell used to derive his inequalities in [16]. In operational language, (c) says that a free choice does not alter the probabilities of a spacelike separated event. Most epistemic interpretations accept this notion of locality [47, 52], while it is rejected by the pilot-wave interpretation [118]. No superdeterminism simply means that free choices are possible so that, in particular, the measurement settings can be chosen so as to be uncorrelated with other relevant variables. See [264] for an in depth analysis on the notions of locality and superdeterminism in the context of the implications of Bell's theorems.

If one believes that quantum theory holds at arbitrary scales, wishes to maintain locality and reject superdeterminism, one has no choice but to reject the absoluteness of observed events. Absoluteness of observed events means that if \mathcal{W} deems that \mathcal{F} is an observer, then \mathcal{W} can use (8.4)—even if \mathcal{W} has full quantum control on \mathcal{F} . This clearly does not hold in RQM: if \mathcal{W} has full quantum control on \mathcal{F} then facts relative to \mathcal{F} are not stable for \mathcal{W} and thus (8.4) does not hold. Note that in RQM there are no special 'observer' systems so an 'observed event' is simply a fact relative to a given system.

Remarkably, the LF inequalities have already been experimentally violated when the friends are single photons [32]. One might be tempted to dismiss the results on the ground that photons do not generate facts ("photons are not observers"), but this opens the problem of deciding which systems give rise to facts. If quantum theory is universally valid, advances in quantum technologies will allow to perform the same experiment with increasingly complex "friends". The predictions of quantum theory remain the same: the statistics are incompatible with the assumptions of absolute facts.

The violation of the LF inequalities is no way in tension with the relational interpretation. The opposite is true: the result is taken as evidence that the facts quantum theory deals with are facts relative to systems.

 $^{^{3}}$ For a discussion of the implications of the ontology of RQM to Bell's inequalities, see [154, 244] and [169, 204].

8.2.3 Conclusions and final comments

The insight of Relational Quantum Mechanics (RQM) is that recognising the relative nature of facts offers a straightforward solution to the measurement problem. The measurement problem is the apparent incompatibility between two postulates: the "projection" and the "linear evolution" postulate. Both postulates can be correct: they refer to facts relative to different systems. Say that S interacts with \mathcal{F} , so that a fact relative to \mathcal{F} is established. Then the projection postulate is used to update the state of S with respect to \mathcal{F} , while the unitary evolution postulate is used to update the state of $S - \mathcal{F}$ with respect to a third system \mathcal{W} .

In a slogan: "Wigner's facts are not necessarily his Friend's facts". This by no means implies that when Wigner and his friend compare notes they find contradictions [221]. Interactions between S and \mathcal{F} do have influence on the facts relative to \mathcal{W} . Indeed, after an interaction, S and \mathcal{F} are entangled relative to \mathcal{W} , meaning that in interacting with the two systems, \mathcal{W} will find the two correlated. Therefore Wigner will always agree with his Friend about the value of L_S once he too interacts with them. In this sense, relative facts correspond to real events, they have universal empirical consequences.

Still, accepting the relativity of all facts is a strong conceptual step. It amounts giving up the absolute nature of facts, namely, the existence of an absolute "macro-reality" in the language used in discussions of Bell's inequalities [264]. Such a macroreality only emerges approximately, relative to systems for which decoherence is sufficiently strong.

Decoherence has always played a peculiar role in the discussions on the measurement problem. On the one hand, it is simply a true physical phenomenon, obviously relevant for shedding light on quantum measurement. On the other hand, there is consensus that decoherence alone is not a solution of the measurement problem, because it does not suffice to provide a link between theory and reality. Decoherence needs an ontology. Relative facts provide such a general ontology, which is well defined with or without decoherence. Decoherence clarifies why a large class of relative facts are stable for us and thus form the stable classical world we live in.

The violation of (8.2) when used for facts relative to different systems sheds also some light on the underpinnings of quantum logic. The violation of (8.2), indeed, has been interpreted as a violation of classical logic [28], as it can be written as

$$P(b \text{ and } (a_1 \text{ or } a_2)) \neq P((b \text{ and } a_1) \text{ or } (b \text{ and } a_2)),$$
 (8.10)

in contradiction with the classical logic theorem

$$b \text{ and } (a_1 \text{ or } a_2) = (b \text{ and } a_1) \text{ or } (b \text{ and } a_2).$$
 (8.11)

The apparent violation of logic is understood in RQM as a result of forgetting that facts are relative: labelled by a context, as Bohr has repeatedly pointed out. Facts relative to a context cannot be used, in general, to compute probabilities of facts related to other contexts because what is a fact in a certain context is not necessarily a fact in other contexts.

As a final remark, observe that if the quantum state has no ontic interpretation, the only meaning of "being in a quantum superposition" is that interference effects

132

are to be expected. Saying "Friend is in a quantum superposition" does not mean anything more than saying that Wigner would be mistaken in using (8.4). It has no implications on how Friend would "feel" while being in a superposition. Friend sees a definite result of her measurement, a fact, and this does not prevent Wigner from having the chance to see an interference effect in *his* facts. Wigner's friend does not stop being an observer simply because Wigner has a chance to detect interference effects in *his* facts. Schrödinger's cat has no reason to feel "superposed".

Chapter 9

Consequences of the relativity of facts

In this chapter, based on [84], we wish to discuss the points raised by two recent papers, one by Jacques Pienaar [205] and one by Časlav Brukner [38]. These authors present insightful observations and objections on the Relational interpretation of Quantum Mechanics (RQM). We point out that the observations in them are not challenges against RQM: they are arguments that clarify and sharpen some aspects of this interpretation.

Pienaar separates his objections to the relational interpretation into two parts, the first regards the analogy between RQM and special relativity, the second regards the status of objectivity in RQM. In the first part, Pienaar points out that the analogy with special relativity is only partial: the sense in which variables are "relative" in special relativity is more restricted than the sense in which variables are "relative" in RQM. In the second part, he argues that RQM cannot be reduced to the relativity of variables, because facts themselves are relative, and there is no absolute way of comparing the perspectives of two systems.

Both observations are correct, but they are not objections to RQM. They are considerations that emphasise the radicality of the RQM perspective. The relational interpretation does not pretend to make quantum theory less revolutionary than what it is. It only claims that there exists a coherent and complete way of thinking about quantum phenomena that makes sense without requiring many worlds, hidden variables, cognitive agents, or a macroscopic classical world. Hence the two objections by Pienaar are only objections to the hope to spoil RQM of its core (radical) idea.

Pienaar makes his objections concrete in the form of five no-go theorems that are supposed to pitch the claims of RQM against one another. To do so, he summarises RQM in terms of six "key claims" **RQM:1–6**. This is a detailed and mostly accurate account of RQM. But it contains one misstep: a misrepresentation of the claims **RQM:5** and **RQM:6** (see below). This misrepresentation is common to both [38] and [205], and regards the meaning of the quantum state. In RQM, the quantum state is not a representation of reality: it is always a relative state and is only a mathematical tool used to compute probabilities of events *relative to a given system*. The quantum state of a composite system relative to an external system is not an account or record of relative events *between the subsystems* of the composite system. Assuming that the quantum state is more than this is a misunderstanding leading to the apparent contradictions. This same mischaracterisation of RQM undermines Brukner's critique in [38]. Brukner's theorem then does not appear as a critique of RQM. It becomes instead a restriction on the concept of knowledge—concept that plays no *fundamental* role in the formulation of RQM.

Because of the mischaracterisation of **RQM:5** and **RQM:6**, and the consequent over-emphasis on the quantum state, the theorems, as we shall see, either fall apart or become evidence of the *consistency* of the interpretation. Pienaar's and Brukner's acute arguments actually turn out to illuminate and emphasise the consistency of the interpretation, rather than challenging it.

In section 9.1, we comment on Pienaar's formulation RQM's claims, pointing out where it is imprecise. We also briefly anticipate how each of the five no-go theorems is resolved in a proper understanding of RQM. In section 9.2, we comment on the relativistic analogy and, in section 9.3, we address Pienaar's comments about objectivity in RQM. In this context, we present also a general philosophical consideration regarding the physical meaning of a subject's knowledge. In section 9.4, we respond to Brukner's paper.

As in the previous chapter, we will often consider three interacting systems \mathcal{W} , \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{S} , and describe the events relative to either \mathcal{F} or \mathcal{W} . The notation is meant to suggest the setup of Wigner's friend thought experiment [262], although no assumption about these systems being conscious observers or decision-making agents is necessary.

9.1 RQM's key claims

Pienaar summarises the RQM literature in terms of six claims, reported in full for reference:

- **RQM:1.** Any system can be an observer. Any physical system can play the role of an observer in a physical interaction.
- **RQM:2** No hidden variables. Any variable that exists in the observer's causal past and which is relevant to predictions about future quantum events relative to the observer must be a quantum event contained in their perspective.
- **RQM:3 Relations are intrinsic.** The relation between any two systems \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} is independent of anything that happens outside these systems' perspectives. In particular, the state of \mathcal{B} relative to \mathcal{A} depends only upon \mathcal{A} 's observation of \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{A} 's past history of interactions (similarly for the state of \mathcal{A} relative to \mathcal{B}).
- **RQM:4** Comparisons are relative to one observer. It is meaningless to compare the accounts of any two observers except by invoking a third observer relative to which the comparison is made.
- **RQM:5** Any physical correlation is a measurement. Suppose an observer measures a pair of systems and thereby assigns them a joint state which exhibits perfect correlations between some physical variables. Then the two systems have measured each other (entered into a measurement interaction)
relative to the observer, and the physical variables play the roles of the 'pointer variable' and 'measured variable' of the systems.

RQM:6 Shared facts. In the Wigner's friend scenario, if \mathcal{W} measures \mathcal{F} to 'check the reading' of a pointer variable (i.e. by measuring \mathcal{F} in the appropriate 'pointer basis'), the value he finds is necessarily equal to the value that \mathcal{F} recorded in her account of her earlier measurement of \mathcal{S} .

This is a good summary of RQM, but some points are slightly misleading, and one is strongly misleading. Let us comment on each claim.

RQM:1 Any system can be an observer is essentially correct but poorly phrased, because of the term "observer". As we have seen in the previous chapter, RQM distinguishes relative facts from stable facts. Relative facts (or "events") form the basis of the ontology; they are ubiquitous and do not require any special property of the physical systems involved in order to happen. Stable facts are facts stabilised by decoherence, in the sense that their relativity can be ignored by a large class of systems. It is better to reserve the use of operational expressions such as "observer" and "measurement" to those specific situations where there is enough decoherence to underpin stability, for instance, when there is a scientist making observations, or a macroscopic system storing memory.¹

Terminology aside, the actual content of **RQM:1** is correct, namely, we assume something can happen relative to any system—not only measuring apparata or "observers" that are special in any sense. So we would rephrase this claim as:

RQM: 1* Events (facts) can happen relative to any physical system. Events happen in interactions between any two systems and can be described as the actualisation of the value of a variable of one system relative to the other.

RQM:2 No hidden variables is a statement about the universality of QM. It is correct, but RQM is consistent with the time-reversal invariance of fundamental physics (see chapter 7), and thus the formulation given by Pienaar must be generalised: it remains valid when swapping 'past' and 'future'. **RQM:3** Relations are intrinsic also does not require any modification.

RQM:4 Comparisons are relative to one observer is another key tenet of RQM. The idea is that contradictions arise when trying to equate descriptions of physics in two different contexts, namely relative to different systems. This is for instance what happens in the Frauchiger and Renner experiment [103], as we have argued in chapter 8. We rephrase this claim in a cleaner language as:

RQM: 4* Comparisons are only relative to a system. It is meaningless to compare events relative to different systems, unless this is done relative to a (possibly third) system.

The point is that comparisons can only be made via a (quantum-mechanical) interaction. In the Wigner's friend setup, \mathcal{W} might compare the result of his measurement on \mathcal{S} with that of \mathcal{F} only by *physically* interacting with \mathcal{F} in an appropriate manner.

¹To be sure, the RQM literature does use the operational terminology ambiguously and it is indeed common to call "observer" any system with respect to which a variable takes values. We shall also indulge in this abuse of language below.

There is no meaning in comparing facts relative to \mathcal{W} with facts relative to \mathcal{F} , (or relative to Schr'odinger and his cat) apart from this direct physical interaction.

We now come to the troublesome points. **RQM:5** Any physical correlation is a measurement is the main problem with Pienaar's account. In RQM, facts determine states, not the other way around. Knowing the state of a system S is not sufficient to deduce the set of facts relative to the subsystems of S. Attempting to do so leads to contradictions, as Pienaar's theorems 3 and 5 show.

The problem here is what determines what. Pienaar and Brukner take the state as primitive and assume that out of the state one can deduce which events happen in a composite system. This is not RQM. In RQM, it is the other way around. Events are primitive. Their happening is partially reflected in the state of the composite system relative to a third system. But only partially. Events cannot be read out of the state. The existence of a correlation between two variables gives indications about events, but in general it is not sufficient to tell which event was or was not realised. To know what event lead to the creation of a correlation, one needs to know more, for example the dynamics that coupled the two systems and, in particular, what variables are involved in the interaction.

Besides this key misrepresentation, there is also a terminological problem in **RQM:5**, parallel to the one pointed out for **RQM:1**. Pienaar calls a "measurement" what the RQM literature calls an event that establishes a fact. It is much better to reserve the loaded expression "measurement" to interactions that stabilise certain facts and require decoherence.

A proper reformulation of **RQM:5**, is:

RQM:5* An interaction between two systems results in a correlation within the interactions between these two systems and a third one. With respect to a third system W, the interaction between the two systems S and F is described by a unitary evolution that potentially entangles the quantum states of S and F.

As we shall see, while **RQM:5** is in tension with **RQM:3**, **RQM:5*** is not. Note also how**RQM:5*** goes hand in hand with **RQM:1***. These two assumptions together provide the resolution of the measurement problem in RQM. Von Neumann measurements are compatible with unitary evolution because they describe facts relative to two interacting systems (S and F) while the unitary evolution regards facts relative to a third system (W).

Finally, **RQM:6 Shared facts** as stated by Pienaar is either wrong (if it is intended to override **RQM:4**) or a tautology. It is not possible to decide which because Pienaar does not mention the context of the comparison. According to **RQM:4**, the *only* meaning of a comparison between an event relative to \mathcal{F} and an event relative to \mathcal{W} is in the context of a measurement made by a specified system.

A non ambiguous claim is:

RQM:6* Shared facts. In the Wigner's friend scenario, if \mathcal{W} measures \mathcal{S} on the same basis on which \mathcal{F} did, then appropriately interacts with \mathcal{F} to 'check the reading' of a pointer variable (i.e. by measuring \mathcal{F} in the appropriate 'pointer basis'), the two values found are in agreement.

We briefly anticipate the resolution of the no-go theorems, discussed in detail in the following sections.

- Theorem 1 does not bite because it relies on Pienaar's version of RQM:5.
- Theorem 2 relies on two assumptions that are not valid in RQM because they misrepresent the role of the quantum state in the interpretation.
- Theorem 3 relies on **RQM:6**, which is incorrect.
- Theorem 4 does not bite because of **RQM:5** again.
- Theorem 5 relies on **RQM:5**, which is incorrect.

Theorems 2, 3, and 5 offer two alternatives (two 'horns'). As we shall discuss below, RQM 'grabs a horn' in each of them. Theorem 2 elucidates what RQM is about, while grabbing the horn in theorems 3 and 5 simply amounts to correcting Pienaar's mischaracterisation of RQM. Theorems 1 and 4 do not apply to RQM, for the same important reason, they are based on the misunderstanding of the role of the quantum state.

9.2 The analogy with relativity

The analogy between special relativity and relational quantum mechanics is often used in presentations of the latter. Pienaar shows in detail that the relationalism on which RQM is based is far more radical that the relationalism that underpins classical relativity. Therefore the conceptual novelty of quantum theory cannot be reduced to a simple recognition that all variables are relative, like velocity is relative in mechanics. He characterises² the relationality of RQM with the slogan "facts are relative," which is also correct, as we have seen in the previous chapter. On the other hand, Pienaar's claim that "without the conceptual analogy to classical relativistic relations, RQM would lose its core motivation as an interpretation" is too strong. The interest and the value of RQM does not depend on it being analogous to something else. As any interpretation of quantum mechanics, it derives its worth from the extent it elucidates our quantum world.

In addition, there are two other aspects of the analogy, that Pienaar disregards. First, special relativity is a conceptual advance based on the realisation that a previously "obvious" notion—absolute simultaneity—is in fact inappropriate to describe the world. RQM is a conceptual advance based on the realisation that another previously "obvious" notion—absolute facts—may in fact be inappropriate to describe the world. (We might soon have empirical evidence for this, see [32].) Second, there is a *methodological* similarity between RQM and special relativity: the idea of searching for transparent physical principles from which the mathematical structure of the theory can be defined. The two principles proposed in the first paper on RQM [221], are

 $^{^{2}}$ He suggests changing the name of the interpretation to 'Relative-facts interpretation of Quantum Mechanics'. That might be appropriate, but 'Relational' also works, because reality relative to one system—the collections of facts relative to that system—is composed of direct interactions this system has with the rest of the world. Rendering facts relative is a generalisation of relativity, albeit a drastic one.

- 1. The relevant information that can be extracted from a finite region of the phase space of a physical system is finite,
- 2. It is always possible to extract novel relevant information from a physical system.

are based on the idea that the theory describes the relative information that a system can gather about another system. As we have seen in section 3.1, these two principles serve as the first two axioms of Höhn's and Wever's compelling reconstruction [130, 132, 133].

In brief, the analogy with relativity played a historical role in the development of RQM and has some interest despite the fact that it is not complete. If the literature on RQM has given the impression that the radical conceptual novelty of quantum mechanics could be reduced to nothing else than some minor extension of special relativity, this was a mistake. RQM is genuinely radical.

Let us now look at the two theorems with which Pienaar supports his claims.

No-go theorem 1

Dilemma: Suppose a system \mathcal{F} has measured \mathcal{S} , and this fact is verified by a third system \mathcal{W} who measures \mathcal{F} - \mathcal{S} . Then there exist situations in which one of the following must be true:

(i) \mathcal{F} has measured \mathcal{S} simultaneously in incompatible bases, relative to \mathcal{W} ;

(ii) The basis in which \mathcal{F} has measured \mathcal{S} is indeterminate relative to \mathcal{W} .

Pienaar understands this dilemma to be a no-go theorem because both alternative (i) contradicts one of the main features of quantum mechanics, while (ii) contradicts **RQM:5**. The solution of the difficulty is that (ii) is correct and does not contradict any of the RQM claims, because it is **RQM:5*** and not **RQM:5** that characterises RQM and (ii) is not in contradiction with **RQM:5***. Underlying this, there is a misunderstanding of the role of the quantum state in RQM. Let us see this in more detail.

In the proof of the dilemma, a situation is considered in which the state of S - F relative to W is

$$|\Psi\rangle_{\mathcal{SF}} = \sum_{i} \alpha_i |x_i\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |Fx_i\rangle_{\mathcal{F}}, \qquad (9.1)$$

where $\{x_i\}$ and $\{Fx_i\}$ denote eigenvalues of some observables X and F_X of S and \mathcal{F} respectively. Pienaar notes that in general this Schmidt decomposition is not unique, and one could find other observables Y and F_Y such that

$$\Psi\rangle_{\mathcal{SF}} = \sum_{n} \beta_n |y_n\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |Fy_n\rangle_{\mathcal{F}}.$$
(9.2)

He then uses of **RQM:5** (every correlation is a measurement) to derive horn (i) of the dilemma. Since there is a correlation both between X and F_X and between Y and F_Y , then, allegedly, \mathcal{F} has measured \mathcal{S} simultaneously on the incompatible bases X and Y. This is not the case in RQM, **RQM:5** cannot be applied. All that $|\Psi\rangle_{\mathcal{SF}}$ tells us is which kinds of correlations exist between the variables of the two systems, relative to W.

The confusion arises also because of Pienaar's use of the word 'measurement'. Relative to \mathcal{W} , the only meaning that can be ascribed to the question of whether or not \mathcal{F} has "measured" \mathcal{S} is whether there is a correlation between the relevant variables of the two systems. Since there is a correlation between different pairs of variables, *in this sense and only in this sense*, the "measurement" happened in multiple bases. The strangeness of the statement is only the inappropriate use of the expression "measurement" in this situation. If we use proper expressions, everything returns to reasonable. With respect to \mathcal{W} , is there a correlation between variables of \mathcal{S} and variables of \mathcal{F} ? Yes there is. In which basis? In more than one basis.

So, how do we know which of S's variables became definite relative to \mathcal{F} ? We do not, if we only know the state $|\Psi\rangle_{S\mathcal{F}}$. More information can be obtained from the dynamics of the system. The state (9.1) for instance may arise as a result of an interaction between S and \mathcal{F} in which the evolution of \mathcal{F} depends on the value of the variable X of S. For example, the interaction Hamiltonian can depends on this variable. From the perspective of \mathcal{F} , this interaction leads to the actualisation of the variable X of S. But the same state relative to \mathcal{W} could arise via an interaction Hamiltonian that depends on the variable Y, and then it is this variable that actualises relative to \mathcal{F} . The physics of the two processes is different, but results in the same state relative to \mathcal{W} namely in the same probability distribution of events relative to \mathcal{W} . The final state relative to \mathcal{W} lacks information about what happens among subsystems.

Pienaar also refers to the observable M of the combined system S - F that was introduced in [222]. This is an observable that W can measure to check the existence of a perfect correlation between certain variables:

$$M |x_i\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |Fx_j\rangle_{\mathcal{F}} = \delta_{ij} |x_i\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |Fx_i\rangle_{\mathcal{F}}.$$
(9.3)

The same M can be expressed as

$$M |y_n\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |Fy_m\rangle_{\mathcal{F}} = \delta_{nm} |x_n\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |Fx_m\rangle_{\mathcal{F}}.$$
(9.4)

Measuring M = 1 tells us that the correlation exists and is maximal. This is compatible with *either* X or Y having taken a definite value relative to \mathcal{F} . The value of M on its own, does not allow \mathcal{W} to know which variable is definite relative to \mathcal{F} .

The central idea of RQM is that, since the only way for \mathcal{W} and \mathcal{F} to communicate is via a quantum mechanical measurement, there is no meaning to any other form of relations between the two. Here Pienaar is equating two distinct statements: (i) a variable of \mathcal{S} has a value with respect to \mathcal{F} , and (ii) with respect to \mathcal{W} , there is a correlation to be expected between a variable of \mathcal{S} and a pointer variable of \mathcal{F} . The first implies the second, but the second does not imply the first. The second can regard multiple bases even while the first cannot.

No-go theorem 2

This theorem expresses a contradiction between a set of three assumptions (i)-(iii) constraining the set of possible states that two systems \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} might assign to a third system \mathcal{S} and the fact (iv) that not all state assignments are good states assignments. We report here the two relevant assumptions:

(ii) Any valid state assignment $|\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}$ by \mathcal{F} can always be verified by \mathcal{W} . That is, there must exists a 'pointer basis' of \mathcal{F} such that, if \mathcal{W} were to measure in this basis and condition on the outcome, there would be a nonzero probability of updating the state of \mathcal{S} relative to \mathcal{W} to $|\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}$. (iii) Conversely, any assignment $|\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}$ by \mathcal{F} which can be verified by \mathcal{W} (in the above sense) must be a valid possible assignment for \mathcal{F} .

Then:

Dilemma: The set of assumptions (i)-(iii) are together incompatible with (iv). Specifically, given that \mathcal{W} assigns an entangled state $[|\Psi\rangle_{\mathcal{SF}}]$ of the form [(9.1)], and assuming the coefficients α_i are all nonzero, then *every* pure state in the Hilbert space of \mathcal{S} is a possible state relative to \mathcal{F} .

RQM resolves this no-go theorem by rejecting assumptions (ii) and (iii).

Again, the point is the role of the quantum state in RQM. The state does not represent a description of reality; it is a mathematical tool to compute the likelihood of events. Say \mathcal{W} assigns state (9.1) to $\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{F}$ and then measures F_X and finds the value F_X . Then \mathcal{W} will have to update the quantum state of $\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{F}$ to $|x\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |F_X\rangle_{\mathcal{F}}$. In no way is \mathcal{W} allowed to conclude that \mathcal{F} had assigned the state $|x\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}$ to \mathcal{S} . For \mathcal{W} to conclude that the new state of \mathcal{S} relative to them is the state that \mathcal{S} had assigned, \mathcal{W} would need to know that the variable X had become a fact relative to \mathcal{F} .

Let us be even more explicit, and consider the original Wigner's friend thought experiment, where \mathcal{F} is an actual human in a lab and the operational talk of the previous paragraphs can be understood literally. Wigner knows that Friend measures a qubit on the computational basis, and that the value of Z is then a fact relative to Friend. Wigner assigns a state proportional to

$$|0\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}|F0\rangle_{\mathcal{F}} + |1\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}|F1\rangle_{\mathcal{F}} \tag{9.5}$$

to the combined system. If Wigner then measures the Friend on the F_Z basis and obtains F0, he is allowed to conclude that F had assigned the state $|0\rangle$ to S. What happens instead if Wigner decides instead to measure Friend on the complementary basis $\{|F\pm\rangle \propto |F0\rangle \pm |F1\rangle$ and obtains F+? Despite his experimental genius, he would be a fool to entertain that Friend had assigned the state $|+\rangle$ to S! Wigner's choice of measuring on this complementary basis meant he had to forsake the ability to reveal Friend's assignment.

How radical is radical?

One point in Pienaar's rhetoric is to emphasise the radical relationalism of quantum phenomenology contrasting it with the consistency of the classical world. For instance, Pienaar writes:

when two observers are in a situation where they disagree about the state of a system in RQM, the state relative to one observer *places no* non-trivial constraints on the state relative to the other observer, in stark contradistinction to disagreements about velocity and other classical quantities in relativity.

The misleading aspect of this rhetoric is that it ignores the physical source of the classical consistency. Classical consistency is not incompatible with quantum physics. On the contrary, its origin is clarified: it is the result of constant interactions and decoherence. Because of decoherence, the world experienced by humans is extremely stable and because of the frequent interactions, stable facts ascertained by different observers are in agreement. Hence, in practice, facts relative to one observer *do* place strict constraints on stable facts relative to another. This is why human creatures agree on the quantum state to assign to a system, on non-relational properties they assign to systems, and on the existence of a shared reality. RQM does not bring any subversion to the stability and coherence of this classical, macroscopic world. Instead, it shows that, by recognising the ultimately relative nature of events, we can have a coherent understanding of nature *beyond* the macroscopic regime in which the approximation that facts are *perfectly* stable is assumed to hold.

Another rhetorical move by Pienaar is to compare the RQM terminology with analogous terminology in different contexts. For instance, Pienaar writes

Far from having de-mystified quantum mechanics by appealing to relations, RQM has merely mystified the concept of a 'relation'.

RQM takes the notions of physical system and quantum events happening between systems as primary. Quantum events involve two systems, are discrete, and are described by one variable of one system taking a value relative to the other system. The world is not described by the individual properties of individual systems, but by relative properties. These are called 'relations' because they involve more than one system. There is nothing mystifying in this terminology. 'Relations' have to be intended within this conceptual scheme, not in the conceptual scheme of classical mechanics, where they are subsidiaries of properties of individual systems.

All things considered, the main objection that Pienaar raises to RQM is not that it is inconsistent: it is that of being more radical than might appear at first sight.

9.3 On objectivity

This part of Pienaar's objections have to do with the consequences of **RQM:4** for notions of objectivity and the extent to which different perspective can be shown to agree.

No-go theorem 3

Dilemma: RQM cannot consistently maintain both the principle of **RQM:6:** shared facts, and the principle of **RQM:4:** comparisons are relative to one observer. Rejecting one or the other leads to the following two horns:

(i) If RQM rejects **RQM:6**, then it either implies *solipsism*, or else an *ontology of island universes* (these terms will be defined at the end of this section).

(ii) If RQM instead rejects **RQM:4**, it becomes vulnerable to [no-go theorem 4].

As anticipated in section 9.1, Pienaar's formulation of **RQM:6**, is loose enough that it is either wrong, or a tautology. Let us see how the proof of this no-go theorem illustrates this point. Pienaar tries to derive the contradiction in the following way. Consider our two systems \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} interacting with \mathcal{S} . The quantum state of \mathcal{S} relative to \mathcal{W} or \mathcal{F} will depend on the interactions between these three systems. He proceeds:

Now suppose we have before us a description of \mathcal{W} 's account, and a description of \mathcal{F} 's account – laid out 'side by side' in a view from nowhere, so to speak – and we would like to know: *are these accounts mutually consistent?*

Pienaar correctly points out that

according to **RQM:4**, this is not a well-posed question, because there is no 'view from nowhere'

and yet he also holds that

RQM:6 requires that this question be well-posed, for otherwise there would be no way to assert that two observer's accounts are in agreement.

If Pienaar intended **RQM:6** to imply that there is a 'view from nowhere,' from which to compare all accounts of reality, then clearly one must reject **RQM:6**, as it contradicts **RQM:4**. Crucially, however, there *is* a way to "assert that two observer's accounts are in agreement" (despite having rejected **RQM:6**): have \mathcal{F} write down her account and let \mathcal{W} read it and compare it with its own.³ That \mathcal{W} will find that \mathcal{F} 's account is in agreement with his, is precisely the content of **RQM:6** \star , which is clearly compatible with **RQM:4**.

Rejecting Pienaar's **RQM:6** and replacing it with **RQM:6*** amounts to grabbing horn (i) of the dilemma. Pienaar claims that this would plunge us into solipsism or into an ontology of island universes. Would it?

Solipsism?

The claim that RQM leads to "solipsism" has appeared elsewhere, especially in popular science (see for instance [113]).

In the philosophical literature and in common parlance, solipsism has nothing to do with incomplete of communication between physical systems. It is instead the idea that there is a single subject that exhausts all of reality and that the rest of reality only exists as the experience of that single subject.

This is exactly the opposite of RQM. The main assumption of RQM, its defining assumption, in fact, is the antithesis of solipsism: the world is not what is perceived by a single special entity—it is a network of interactions between equal status entities.

Pienaar does eventually concede⁴ that probably RQM does not propose solipsism. He correctly characterises RQM's view: there are facts relative to every system,

³Or, in less anthropomorphised terms: let the dynamics be such that \mathcal{F} encodes its account of \mathcal{S} in a suitable pointer variable and let \mathcal{W} interact with that variable.

⁴In fact, it is puzzling that he chooses to levy such a charge in the first place. He recently wrote an excellent comparison [206] between RQM and QBism, another interpretation often accused of being solipsistic. Neither interpretation is solipsist, for the same reason.

but that the different perspectives on reality, namely, the ensemble of facts relative to a single system, cannot be compared in an absolute manner; they can only be compared via a physical interaction. This is correct.

He calls this an ontology of "island universes." We do not find the name appropriate, let us see why.

Embodied knowledge

There is a subtle but important philosophical issue involved here. Consider the case in which the systems \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} are actually "observers" in the rich sense of the term. Say they are humans with laboratories, notebooks, and books, that store and process knowledge about the world. Let us focus on \mathcal{F} . What is the meaning of the statement that \mathcal{F} has knowledge about the world, for instance about \mathcal{S} ?

There are two possible answers. The first is a naturalistic answer. The second is a dualistic or idealistic answer. According to the first, this is a statement about the actual physical configuration of the ink and the notebooks, the charges in the computers and the synapses in the brain in \mathcal{F} , and about the correlations of these with whatever can be observed in \mathcal{S} . According to the second, \mathcal{F} 's knowledge is something over and above its physical configuration. In this case, the "inaccessibility" of \mathcal{F} 's knowledge, namely of the "universe as seen by \mathcal{F} ," is indeed there. But this only follows because one assumes that knowledge is unphysical.

RQM adheres to a naturalistic philosophy. In a naturalistic philosophy, what \mathcal{F} "knows" regards physical variables in \mathcal{F} . And *this* is accessible to \mathcal{W} . If knowledge is physical, it is accessible by other systems via physical interactions. It is precisely for this reason that knowledge is also subjected to the constraints and the physical accidents due to quantum theory. A physical interaction can and does destroy knowledge, because of standard Heisenberg uncertainty. Hence, ultimately, the intuition that disturbs Pienaar is a residual of anti-naturalism: the idea that knowledge can remain immune from quantum phenomena, because it can be disembodied.

Are relative facts needed?

Clarified this (subtle) point, there remains⁵ in Pienaar's [205] an objection:

this proliferation of disjoint universes is not motivated by observations, nor does it serve any explanatory purpose.

Every interpretation of quantum theory is "motivated by observations" in the sense that it is an attempt to devise a conceptual scheme that makes sense of a vast number of observations. More precisely, to make sense of the fact that observations are well described by quantum theory. As such, it is deeply rooted in observations: without observations, quantum theory—and its tentative interpretations—would never have appeared.

More to the point, what is the explanatory purpose of the multiplication of perspectives in RQM? The answer is that it offers a possible explanation to the key mystery of quantum physics: the apparent special role that "observers" seem to have in the theory. RQM illuminates this mystery by denying that there is anything

⁵Brukner reported a similar concern in an email [37].

special in observers, in the following general sense: facts happen relative to any system (**RQM:1**). What *is* special in a (large class) of macroscopic observers is only that decoherence and frequent interactions stabilise and render consistent for them many relative facts. RQM is the observation that quantum physics can be made sense of also beyond the limit of perfect decoherence.

Thus, the "explanatory purpose" of RQM's multiplication of perspectives (the idea that facts happen at interactions between any two systems) is that it serves as a possible solution to the measurement problem. It helps to answer questions like:

- Q: When does something become a fact? A: Something becomes a fact, relative to you, when you interact with a system.
- Q: How does Schrödinger's cat feel?
 A: Either awake looking at the vial, or asleep having a dream. The cat does not stop having experiences only because the box is sealed off from the rest of the lab.
- Q: What physical systems are measuring apparata? A: Any system whose pointer variables (i) get appropriately entangled to a variable you are interested and (ii) with which you can interact.
- Q: When does the wavefunction collapse?
 A: The wavefunction for S relative to W collapses whenever W interacts with—gets a kick from—S and therefore W gathers information about S.

Island universes

The expression "island universes" that Pienaar uses to RQM's discredit is taken from Huxley's *The Doors of Perception* [141], where "island universes" is applied to conscious experiences. The situation with conscious experiences is in fact analogous to that in quantum physics, but instead of weakening the motivation for postulating multiple perspectives, it strengthens it.

Let's see. Do we have direct evidence that other humans have a first-person experience of reality like ours? We do not. Do we hold that thinking of other humans as having experiences like ours is a hypothesis that is "not motivated by observations, nor [serves] any explanatory purpose"? Of course not! The alternative is to think that we ourselves are the only conscious being in the universe. This is solipsism! We have ample reasons to believe that we share conscious experiences with (at least) other humans. By the same token, RQM points out that we have reasons to believe that we share the reality of perspectival facts with any physical system.

This is the core of RQM: we understand that we are normal physical systems and, as such, we are affected by the rest of reality. Hence we make a reasonable extrapolation, based on this and on our realisation that we are not special. We have no reason to believe that reality comes into being only when it interacts with us, and not also when anything interacts with anything else. That there is no fundamentally distinguished class of systems called "the classical world" or "measuring apparata" that have the privileged ability of actualising the variables of other systems.

Finally, Pienaar complains that the different "views" do not "share facts". Here, Pienaar puts undue restrictions on what is a shared fact. The analogy with conscious experience helps us here, too. Can two people "share" the same experience? It depends what we mean by that. If we mean to ask if two people can have the exact same set of sensory experiences at the same time and think the exact same thoughts, then clearly no. But this is not how we normally understand the phrase. We share experiences when we listen to the same performance of an orchestra, when we watch a movie together, when we analyse the same object together. And we can verify that we are sharing experiences by comparing our mental lives—not in some sort of absolute external sense, but by interacting with (talking and listening to) each other. The two internal mental lives are still different after talking, but the two people can nevertheless reach an intersubjective agreement.

In the ontology of RQM, two systems \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} cannot share the same facts about a third system \mathcal{S} in the sense that whenever there is a quantum event for \mathcal{F} , there is also immediately a quantum event for \mathcal{W} . It is not even the case that a later interaction between \mathcal{W} and \mathcal{F} can make a previous quantum event between \mathcal{S} and \mathcal{F} a quantum event for \mathcal{W} . What they *can* do, however, is verify that there is a consistency between their shared perspective, by interacting with (or measuring, as Pienaar puts it) each other. In this sense, \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} end up sharing facts: the behaviour of \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{S} that \mathcal{W} observes is coherent with the assumption that \mathcal{F} sees the same \mathcal{S} as \mathcal{W} does.

The fear that this destroys the coherence of the world or throws us into a solipsistic nightmare is similar to the fear that by setting the Earth in motion Copernicus challenged the stability of the houses built on Earth. Yet, quantum physics teaches us that \mathcal{W} could also interact with \mathcal{F} in a way that destroys \mathcal{F} account of their previous interaction with \mathcal{S} . Is this surprising? Perhaps, but this is what quantum physics implies.

The loose frame loophole

Pienaar also raises a concern regarding the ambiguous way in which some RQM literature talks about facts relative to different systems. This is a valid concern. It has already been echoed out by at least one other source [248]. This ambiguity is a defect of the original literature.

Statements such as "when two systems \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} interact with a system \mathcal{S} , the perspectives of \mathcal{W} and \mathcal{F} agree, and this can be checked in a physical interaction", which can be found in the RQM literature, mean *only* that \mathcal{W} can interact with \mathcal{F} 's pointers and check that they were affected in its interactions with \mathcal{S} in a way consistent with what \mathcal{W} directly learns about \mathcal{S} . This is the content of **RQM:6*** again. Obviously, \mathcal{F} can do the same with \mathcal{W} (**RQM:1**).

This is normally left implicit whenever one talks about facts relative to different observers, assuming that it is clear enough to fill in the gaps. This is sometimes easier and sometimes harder. Indeed, Pienaar brings up [85] (from which chapter 8 was adapted) as an example in which things are more complex than even the authors of the original paper realised. Let us look at this example in detail and make sure that the loophole is closed, as this can serve as an example for other situations.

The central point of 8 and [85], is the definition of a *stable fact*. A fact relative to \mathcal{F} is said to be *stable for* \mathcal{W} if classical probability calculus can be used to compute the probability of an event for \mathcal{W} using this fact relative to \mathcal{F} . More specifically,

assume that, from \mathcal{W} 's perspective, \mathcal{F} interacts with a variable A of \mathcal{S} ; According to **RQM:1*** and **RQM:4***, this interaction may result in the value of A to become a fact relative to \mathcal{F} , but no fact is established relative to \mathcal{W} . However, the value of A relative to \mathcal{F} is considered *stable for* \mathcal{W} if, in computing the probability for a variable B to taking the value b relative to \mathcal{W} in a subsequent interaction, we can write:

$$P(b^{(W)}) = \sum_{i} P(b|a_i) P(a_i^{(\mathcal{F})}).$$
(9.6)

In the formula above, we have inserted superscripts to highlight that stability allows to mix perspectives. At an operational level, it allows to reason *as if* there is epistemic uncertainty about the value of A relative to \mathcal{W} , even though, ontologically, A does not have an actual value relative to \mathcal{W} . The conditional probability

$$P(b|a_i) = |\langle b|a_i \rangle|^2 \tag{9.7}$$

does not need⁶ superscripts: the transition probabilities are the main outputs of quantum theory and they define the probability of facts relative to a system, given other facts relative to the *same* system.

Pienaar expresses his doubts that a formula like (9.6) can ever make sense in RQM, as it relates probabilities of facts relative to different systems. Indeed, while quantum theory allows the computation of the transition probabilities $P(b|a_i)$ as well as the probability $P(b^{(W)})$ (given the state of $S - \mathcal{F}$ relative to \mathcal{W}), the quantities $P(a_i^{(\mathcal{F})})$ do not have meaning in RQM, a priori. But this is precisely the point of the definition. The $P(a_i^{(\mathcal{F})})$ acquire this meaning when the relation between $P(b^{(W)})$ and $P(b|a_i)$ is given by (9.6). In other words, when the interaction between S and \mathcal{F} (as described by \mathcal{W}) is such that (9.6) holds for some probability distribution $P(a_i^{(\mathcal{F})})$, then $P(a_i^{(\mathcal{F})})$ acquires the meaning of a probability distribution over the possible values of A—even though the value of A is not a fact relative to \mathcal{W} . The value of A might be a fact relative to \mathcal{F} , hence the superscript. We invite the reader to revisit section 8.1.2 as a concrete example.

As Pienaar remarks, the de-labelling is only methodological. Even when (9.6) holds, there is no ontological identification of a fact relative to \mathcal{F} with a fact relative to \mathcal{W} . For all practical purposes, different systems in the same stability class act *as if* they live in a macroreality of absolute facts and *as if* they share facts.

No-go theorem 4

This theorem is the second horn of the dilemma that no-go theorem 3 was supposed to offer. We grabbed the first horn, so we are not required to answer to this, but we will do anyway, because is another example of the mischaracterisation of the role of the quantum state. The theorem is in a form of a trilemma:

Trilemma: The propositions P1 & P2 and the claim RQM:3 cannot all be true.

⁶In [85], we wrote $P(b^{(W)}|a_i^{(\mathcal{F})})$, but, as Pienaar remarks, this notation is highly misleading; a better notation would have been $P(b^{(W)}|a_i^{(W)})$. Better still to omit the superscript as we have done in chapter 8, since the transition probabilities given by the Born rule (9.7) are independent of the context \mathcal{W} .

where

P1. \mathcal{W} can measure \mathcal{F} - \mathcal{S} in any basis at Event 2, independently of which basis \mathcal{F} measured \mathcal{S} at Event 1.

and

P2: Suppose \mathcal{W} measures \mathcal{F} - \mathcal{S} in the $\{|Fy_m\rangle |y_n\rangle\}$ basis and obtains some outcome, updating the state relative to \mathcal{W} to one of the states in $\{|Fy_n\rangle |y_n\rangle\}$ just after Event 2. Then we can interpret this state as indicating that ' \mathcal{F} measured \mathcal{S} in the $\{|y_n\rangle\}$ basis and obtained one of the outcomes in the set $\{y_n\}$ at Event 1'.

The solution is simple: **P1** and **RQM:3** are true in RQM, while **P2** is false. This is again caused by the wrong formulation of **RQM:5**. The fact that S - F is in the state $|y_n\rangle_S |Fy_n\rangle_F$ does not imply that the value of Y is a fact for F. Indeed, one way to prepare such a state is to start with S and F uncorrelated and just rotate each system separately into $|y_n\rangle_S |Fy_n\rangle_F$. In this case S and F never interacted and there could not be a fact about S relative to F. Or, in the operational language, Fdid not measure S.

No-go theorem 5

This last no-go theorem again fails because of Pienaar's wrong formulation of **RQM:5**. The theorem considers particular states of the S - F system and tries to derive something about facts of S relative to F from these states. Again, this is not a possible logic in RQM. The states in question (as Pienaar himself points out) are states relative to W. What they contain is information about what W can measure, namely how the S - F system has affected W or can affect W is the future. Trying to read out from these states the full facts relative to F is is not something compatible with RQM.

9.4 Qubits are not observers

Let us now come to Brukner's no-go theorem [38]. Like Pienaar's results, this is a correct mathematical observation that, instead of providing a criticism of RQM, serves to sharpen the interpretation. His explicit aim is presented in the introduction:

I will derive a no-go theorem that restricts the possibility of understanding the relational description in RQM as knowledge that one system can have about another in the conventional sense of that term.

Part of what makes Brukner's result seem a challenge towards RQM, is Brukner's use of operational language (such as "measurement," "observer," and "knowledge") to formulate his no-go theorem even though, as he himself remarks, "RQM makes not reference to [these] concepts". The other aspect that contributes to the confusion is his overplaying the role of the quantum state. Like in Pienaar's no-go theorems 1, 2, 4, and 5, Brukner tries to read relative facts between two systems by looking at the state assigned to these by a third system, while RQM does not allow this.

The setup of the theorem is essentially that of Pienaar's no-go theorem 1. Two systems⁷ S and O are in some potentially entangled state $|\psi\rangle_{SO}$. Note that here O stands for "observer"; there is no restriction on the nature of S and O (they can be qubits); and Brukner does not specify what the state $|\psi\rangle_{SO}$ is relative to, we take it as relative to a third system W. The theorem states that the two following things cannot both be true.

1. (DefRS) Definite Relative State For any set of states $\{|x_i\rangle_S, |X_i\rangle_O\}$ such that

$$|\psi\rangle_{SO} = \sum_{i} c_i |x_i\rangle_S |X_i\rangle_O, \qquad (9.8)$$

[...] the states $|X_i\rangle_O$ are states of knowledge of the observer. When the observer is in state $|X_i\rangle_O$ she knows that the system is in the definite relative state $|x_i\rangle_S$.

2. (DisRS) Distinct Relative State The observer's states of knowledge $|X\rangle_O$ and $|X\rangle_O$, which are correlated with distinct relative states $|x\rangle_S$ and $|x'\rangle_S$ of the system, are represented by orthogonal vectors in the observer's Hilbert space, i.e. if $|x\rangle_S \neq |x'\rangle_S$, then $\langle X|X'\rangle = 0$.

The proof of the theorem is pretty straightforward, as it also employs that the Schmidt decomposition of an entangled state need not be unique.

Since RQM makes no appeal to a notion of knowledge, it is not clear why this should be a challenge to RQM. From RQM's perspective, Brukner's result ostensibly is a no-go theorem about the meanings that the word "knowledge" can assume, given what we know about quantum mechanics. Indeed, we see two ways of reading this result, either

- **DefRS** is taken as a *definition* of the word "knowledge," and then **DisRS** is false, or
- **DisRS** is a constraint on what can be a "state of knowledge", and then **DefRS** is false.

Le us consider these two options in turn.

If we take **DefRS** to define knowledge, then O has knowledge about S in the sense that W can learn about the probabilities of future interaction with S by interacting with O. This is the same well-defined sense in which a given set of pixels on a computer screen have knowledge about the time and a given set of ink molecules in a book have knowledge about lasers: by interacting with those molecules we expect to learn about future interactions with coherent light. In this sense, "knowledge" is nothing more—and nothing less—than correlations between two systems, as expected by a third. Then the failure of **DisRS** tells us nothing we didn't know already: when S and O are entangled, interacting with different variables of S affects our information about different variables of O.

Consider now using **DisRS** as a constraint on what is a state of knowledge. Then the failure of **DefRS** implies that one has to have correlations on a preferred basis before talking about knowledge. This is closer to the other meaning of the

⁷We switch from S and F to S and O to be closer to Brukner's [38].

word "knowledge" as applied to complex systems such as agents and conscious observers. This is perhaps "the conventional sense" that Brukner has in mind in the introduction. Note that this is still a naturalistic use of the world, as it refers to the physical properties of such observer. Then a superposition of two states of knowledge is not a new state of knowledge, but a superposition of two states of knowledge.

Both choices are valid. The only problem is confusing the different possible meanings of the word knowledge. And that is why the RQM literature warns against using terms that are normally reserved for macroscopic physics when talking about the fundamental elements of the theory.

In sum, we agree with Brukner that "qubits are not observers," for the uncontroversial fact that qubits are not decision-making agents capable of processing information. That has never been a claim of RQM. The controversial claim that RQM makes is **RQM1*** (facts happen relative to any physical system). Brukner's no-go theorem has no impact on this, since a state such as (9.8) that W assigns to S and O is not enough for W to infer what might or might not be a fact for O, as explained in detail in section 9.2 when discussing Pienaar's no-go theorem 1.

9.5 Conclusion

Pienaar's [205] presents arguments against two ideas: that (i) RQM preserves certain classical relativistic intuitions about relations and that (ii) it preserves the idea that consistency can be established between different observers' accounts. Both conclusions are correct: (i) RQM does not *preserve* certain classical relativistic intuitions about relations: it *extends them* and makes them more radical ("facts are relative"). And, (ii) RQM does not preserve the idea that consistency can be established between different observers' accounts. It replaces it with the idea that systems communicate in the sense that they can measure (quantum mechanically!) each other's pointer variables. Since I myself am an observer, I find nothing strange in the idea that you could read pointer variables in me that get correlated with external variables when these are realised with respect to me. Brukner's [38] argues that if we want to call the entanglement of two systems "knowledge" that the two systems have about one another, then this "knowledge" differs in some radical way from common usage.

These objections do not challenge the coherence of RQM. They maybe show that RQM is more radical than what it might appear at a first sight.

Does an ontology where views cannot be compared directly and physical systems can only check each other via quantum measurements imply solipsism? No, it does not. Does it change in depth our way of thinking about reality? Yes it does. Quantum mechanics is radical. One way or the other, we have to embrace it, not try to tame it.

Conclusion

The meeting of quantum gravity with quantum information theory and quantum foundations research is an exciting development in fundamental physics. The work reported in this thesis covers a fraction of the possibilities and themes of this new interdisciplinary field.

We have considered in detail one of the opportunities it created: the exciting prospect of empirically testing a quantum gravity prediction—superpositions of geometry—via the detection of gravity mediated entanglement. This will be a landmark experiment that will rule out either all classical field theories of gravity or quantum gravity itself. In chapter 4, we have seen an example of how quantum computation and quantum optics can help illuminate the claims of this experiment, and prepare for its practical applications. In chapter 5, we used standard quantum field theory techniques to see how the quantum information claim that observing gravitationally mediated entanglement certifies non-classicality of the gravitational field applies to linearised quantum gravity, our best theory of quantum gravity in this regime. We have also derived formulas which can be used to quantitatively test this theory using this experiment. In chapter 6, we saw how a similar experimental setup would allow us to probe time intervals at unexplored regimes, and try to observe planckian discreteness of time by observing discontinuities in the phase of an interferometer in weak gravitational fields.

An exciting prospect for low energy exploration of quantum gravity in the lab is the recreation of geometrical-like properties through the engineering of entanglement. Several authors, have argued on different theoretical grounds for the existence of a deep link between geometry and entanglement [27, 41, 131, 142, 162]. Advances in quantum control of matter might soon allow to explore this connection in the lab using low energy quantum systems [203]. Connecting the approaches of geometry from entanglement and quantum superpositions of geometry, both experimentally and theoretically, would be an exciting research direction.

On the theoretical side, recent developments in the subject of quantum reference frames [14, 116, 257] represent another interesting confluence in the methods and research of quantum gravity and quantum information theory. It has lead to a unification of three major approaches to resolving the problem of time in quantum gravity [129]. This work on quantum reference frames relates the concepts of gauge redundancy with the choice of reference frame. It allows to "switch perspectives," change the quantum system that acts as a reference frame. A striking aspect from the point of view of this thesis: switching perspective does not entail collapsing the wavefunction, hence this approach seems more natural from an Everettian interpretation of the wave function. It would be interesting to study how this formalism describes the Wigner friend scenario, and how it relates to the idea of relative facts.

But there are also tensions in this interdisciplinary convergence. The communities of quantum gravity, on one side, and quantum information and foundations on the other, tend to have a different regard for the status of operationalism, agency, and causality. In chapter 7, we argued that the time-orientation of the operational formalism can be understood as the time-orientation of agents and laboratories. Two related challenges follow from this observation. The first, mathematical: how to adapt the operational formalisms to a time-reversal symmetric formalism [82]. To this aim, the formalisms introduced in [126] and [235] seem to be important strides in this direction. The second, harder: to derive a convincing model of the connection between the thermodynamic arrow of time and the time-orientation of agency. At the moment, the relation between the thermodynamic arrow of time and the arrow of causation is not known.

Looming above all, the interpretation of quantum mechanics. The approach used in practice, the no-interpretation approach, is well-suited for laboratory physics but it is of dubious application for fundamental physics. Arguably, if agency is not a fundamental aspect of the physical world but emergent from microphysics, concepts of observers and measurement apparata are out of place in fundamental formulations of physics. The relational interpretation of quantum mechanics was developed without observers and measurements as primitives, with the problem of quantum gravity in mind [221]. This interpretation is based on the concept of relativity of facts. Surprisingly enough, we are starting to have experimental evidence for the relativity of facts [32, 212]. Results from experimental metaphysics [32] show that local, non-superdeterministic theories cannot explain certain experimental phenomena without invoking the relativity of facts. In chapters 8 and 9, we fleshed out some of the consequences of the relativity of facts from the point of view of relational quantum mechanics. We saw how the classical world emerges from relative facts and to what extent different systems inhabit the same world. However, relative facts force us to re-think our notions of locality [169, 204] and of events happening in spacetime [50], and much work remains to be done.

I hope this thesis manages to convey a fraction of the beauty, possibility, and mystery that stem from exploring space and time with the aid of low energy quantum systems, a field which opens a new door for the empirical exploration fundamental physics.

Appendix

Appendix A Works related to chapter 7

The exploration of the time-symmetry of quantum uncertainty started early with Einstein, Tolman, and Podolski [95] already noting in 1931 that "the principles of quantum mechanics actually involve an uncertainty in the description of past events which is analogous to the uncertainty in the prediction of future events."

Aharonov, Bergmann, and Lebowitz [4] built a time-symmetric theory out of quantum theory by considering the frequencies of outcomes of a sequence of projective measurements in ensembles constructed by pre- and post-selection. They note that this theory is time-symmetric in the sense that the frequencies observed in one ensemble are the same as the ones observed in the ensemble prepared by swapping the pre- and post-selection and performing the measurements in the reversed order. They note that probabilities calculated based only on preselection are experimentally accurate, while probabilities calculated only on post-selection are insufficient. They argue that this time-reversal asymmetry is not inherent to quantum mechanics but is a consequence of the asymmetry of the macroscopic world. Finally they advance that this asymmetry should be represented by adding a time-asymmetric postulate to the time-symmetric theory. This postulate is the precursor of the "no signalling from the future" axiom. In light of the argument in this chapter, there is no need to build a time-symmetric theory and then break the symmetry. Quantum mechanics is already symmetric in the sense that generally it does not distinguish prediction and postdiction, or the past from the future. Time-reversal asymmetry is a feature of the operational formulations of quantum theory.

While Aharonov *et. al.* [4] considered a sequence of measurements "sandwiched" between selection events, the setup in this chapter is similar to that in [259], where Watanabe was concerned with calculating the probabilities for a past or future event given a present event. Watanabe introduced *retrodictive quantum mechanics*, where a state is assigned to the system based on present data and then evolved to past times. Like Aharonov *et. al.*, Watanabe remarks that "blind retrodiction," (*i.e.* what we call prediction in this chapter: retrodiction with flat priors on the past events) does not work well in practice because agents in the past can decide to interrupt or go on with the experiments. Watanabe also recognises that inference is inherently asymmetric and can run in either direction of time, starting from data at a given instant.

Retrodictive quantum mechanics has been further developed over the decades

by Barnett, Pegg, Jeffers and collaborators [12, 198, 247], who devised general postdiction formulas, including ones equivalent those we derive in sections 7.2 and 7.4.2 for postdiction in closed systems and for quantum channels respectively. Our contribution to retrodictive quantum mechanics is twofold. First, we propose the explanation of the asymmetry between prediction and postdiction in quantum channels in terms of implicit data about the past of a purifying system. Secondly, we prove *no-signalling from the unknown*, which is a property of quantum mechanics, and in particular of retrodictive quantum mechanics, that to our knowledge has not been recognised before. We also pay attention to the conceptual difference between retrodiction and time-reversal, and we relate these two concepts.

Leifer and Pusey [157] consider a similar prepare-and-measure scenario as us and investigate what time-symmetry can imply on possible ontological models for quantum theory. Their definition of an *operational time reverse* formally equivalent to what we call an active time-reversal. They define *operational time-symmetry* as the existence of an operational time reverse. They derive a fascinating no-go theorem for ontic extensions (aka hidden variable models) of operational time-symmetric processes. We share the belief that operational time-symmetry is an essential feature of quantum mechanics, but we do not concern ourselves with ontic extensions. Instead, we are interested in understanding why not all quantum channels are operationally time-symmetric. We also study the difference and relation between postdiction and time-reversal, prove that operational time-symmetry is equivalent to inference symmetry.

Oreshkov and Cerf [192] define an extension to operational quantum theory, allowing for a "notion of operation that permits realisations via both pre- and post-selection." Their motivation for building a new theory is stated in the abstract: "The symmetry of quantum theory under time reversal has long been a subject of controversy because the transition probabilities given by Born's rule do not apply backward in time." Our work shows that the Born rule applies equally well in both directions in time—as long as we treat prediction and postdiction on equal footing. We argue that the asymmetry of operational quantum theory reflects the asymmetry of the agents, not the asymmetry of quantum phenomena *per se*.

The work in this chapter was inspired by conversations at the QISS conference at HKU and at the QISS virtual seminars [188], where it transpired that the timeasymmetric operational formulation obfuscated the fundamental time-symmetry of quantum theory.

The importance of separating the physical from the inferential in quantum mechanics is a more modern idea, perhaps traceable to E.T. Jaynes who famously compared quantum theory to an omelette to be unscrambled [145]. The QBists see quantum theory as not much more than the correct probability calculus to use in our world [108]. Caticha has often emphasised the importance of understanding probability first and foremost as an inferential tool [46]. Leifer and Spekkens [158] have formally developed the analogy between quantum probabilities and Bayesian inference. They introduce a notion of "quantum conditional states" representing sequential and parallel quantum experiments and prediction and postdiction on the same footing, just like in classical probability theory. In our work, we limit ourselves to classical probability theory. At first, we use the Born rule to obtain classical conditional probability distributions $P_{pre}(x|a, U)$ for prediction probabilities

in sequential experiments. We show that the Born rule actually can be used to compute prediction and postdiction probabilities.

Appendix B Computation in EM

The action for electromagnetism coupled to a four current j_{μ} is of the form $S = S_{\rm M} + S_A$ with

$$S_A = \int d^4x \left(-\frac{c^2}{16\pi k_e} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + j_\mu A^\mu \right).$$
 (B.1)

Here, $d^4x = dtd^3x$, S_M is the free matter action that also includes the B_0 coupling to the spins, A^{μ} is the four-potential, $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ is the field strength and k_e Coulomb's constant. We use greek indexed latin letters for 4-vectors and bold latin letters for 3-vectors. The metric signature is (-, +, +, +) and $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ is the Minkowski metric.

The action S_A is gauge invariant. We will express the Lagrangian in the Lorentz gauge $\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} = 0$ to simplify calculations. Boundary terms at infinity are taken to vanish. Integrating by parts, the action then reduces to

$$S_A = \int d^4x \left(-\frac{c^2}{8\pi k_e} \partial_\mu A_\nu \partial^\mu A^\nu + j_\mu A^\mu \right), \tag{B.2}$$

and the equations of motion are

$$\Box A^{\mu} = -\frac{4\pi k_e}{c^2} j^{\mu}, \tag{B.3}$$

where $\Box = \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\nu}$.

Now, we obtain the on–shell action by placing (B.3) into (B.2) and integrating again by parts to obtain

$$S_A^{\rm os} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4 x \; j_\mu A^\mu. \tag{B.4}$$

The entire contribution of the electromagnetic field to the on-shell action is encoded in this expression. As we saw in the main text, S_A^{os} is the central object of interest for induced entanglement: this Lorentz covariant and gauge invariant quantity is the observable that would be measured in an experiment aiming to observe induced entanglement.

We now consider the electromagnetic interaction of two point charges. The four-current is given by

$$j^{\mu}(x) = \sum_{a} q_{a} v_{a}^{\mu}(t) \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}_{a}(t)), \qquad (B.5)$$

where $v_a^{\mu}(t) = (c, d\boldsymbol{x}_a/dt) = (c, \boldsymbol{v}_a)$. From the equations of motion, assuming no radiation incoming from past infinity, the potential of this charge configuration is given in the Lorentz gauge by the well-known Liénard–Wiechert potentials [121]

$$A^{\mu}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{k_e}{c^2} \sum_{a} \left[\frac{q_a v_a^{\mu}}{d_a - \boldsymbol{d}_a \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_a/c} \right]_{t=t_a}$$
(B.6)

with $d_a(t) = x - x_a(t)$, $d_a = |d_a|$. Crucially, all quantities on the right hand side are evaluated at the *retarded* time t_a , defined implicitly as the solution of

$$ct_a = ct - d_a(t_a). \tag{B.7}$$

The retarded time t_a is the time t at which the past lightcone of (t, \boldsymbol{x}) intersects the (timelike) trajectory of particle a.

By placing (B.6) and (B.5) in (B.4) and performing the space integration, we get an explicit expression for the on–shell action giving the interaction between the two charges

$$S_A^{\rm os} = \frac{k_e}{2c^2} \sum_{a,b}^{a\neq b} \int dt \; \frac{q_a \, q_b \, v_a^{\mu}(t_{ab}) \, v_{b\mu}(t)}{d_{ab}(t) - d_{ab}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_a(t_{ab})/c}.$$
(B.8)

Here, the retarded time t_{ab} is defined as the implicit solution of

$$ct - ct_{ab} = |\boldsymbol{x}_b(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t_{ab})| \tag{B.9}$$

and we also defined

$$\boldsymbol{d}_{ab}(t) = \boldsymbol{x}_b(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_a(t_{ab}) \tag{B.10}$$

and $d_{ab} = d_{ab}$.

In the slow moving approximation $|v_a| \ll c$, the exact expression (B.8) approximates to

$$S_{\mathcal{F}}^{os} = -\frac{1}{2}k_e \sum_{a,b}^{a \neq b} \int \mathrm{d}t \frac{q_a q_b}{d_{ab}(t_{ab}, t)}.$$
(B.11)

Bibliography

- [1] Gerard 't Hooft. "Deterministic Quantum Mechanics: The Mathematical Equations". *Frontiers in Physics* 8 (2020), page 253. DOI: 10/ghbd64 (cited on page 52).
- [2] A. A. Abdo, M. Ackermann, M. Ajello, K. Asano, W. B. Atwood, et al. "A Limit on the Variation of the Speed of Light Arising from Quantum Gravity Effects". *Nature* 462(7271) (2009), pages 331–334. DOI: 10/dvftxs (cited on page 92).
- Hartmut Abele and Helmut Leeb. "Gravitation and Quantum Interference Experiments with Neutrons". New Journal of Physics 14(5) (2012), page 055010.
 DOI: 10/f3smc3. arXiv: 1207.2953 (cited on page 80).
- Yakir Aharonov, Peter G. Bergmann, and Joel L. Lebowitz. "Time Symmetry in the Quantum Process of Measurement". *Physical Review* 134(6B) (1964), B1410–B1416. DOI: 10/dv2ncz (cited on pages 101, 120–121, 153).
- [5] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia. "Burst of Support for Relativity". Nature 462(7271) (2009), pages 291–292. DOI: 10/dwrmk3 (cited on page 92).
- [6] C. Anastopoulos and Bei-Lok Hu. "Comment on "A Spin Entanglement Witness for Quantum Gravity" and on "Gravitationally Induced Entanglement between Two Massive Particles Is Sufficient Evidence of Quantum Effects in Gravity". 2018. arXiv: 1804.11315 (cited on page 16).
- [7] Alain Aspect, Philippe Grangier, and Gérard Roger. "Experimental Realization of Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen-Bohm Gedankenexperiment: A New Violation of Bell's Inequalities". *Physical Review Letters* 49(2) (1982), pages 91–94. DOI: 10/c6qmf4 (cited on page 51).
- [8] Markus Aspelmeyer. On the Role of Gravity in Table-Top Quantum Experiments. QISS Virtual Seminar. 2021. URL: https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=hjSUF42F6qQ (visited on 10/15/2021) (cited on page 13).
- [9] Alán Aspuru-Guzik and Philip Walther. "Photonic Quantum Simulators". Nature Physics 8(4) (2012), pages 285–291. DOI: 10/f3sk66 (cited on page 56).
- [10] Alexia Auffèves and Philippe Grangier. "A Generic Model for Quantum Measurements". *Entropy* 21(9) (2019), page 904. DOI: 10/gg9h7w. arXiv: 1907.11261 (cited on page 124).

- [11] Stephen M. Barnett. "Quantum Retrodiction". In: Quantum Information and Coherence. Edited by Erika Andersson and Patrik Öhberg. Scottish Graduate Series. Springer International Publishing, 2014, pages 1–30. ISBN: 978-3-319-04063-9. DOI: 10/g3qz (cited on page 99).
- Stephen M. Barnett, David T. Pegg, and John Jeffers. "Bayes' Theorem and Quantum Retrodiction". Journal of Modern Optics 47(11) (2000), pages 1779– 1789. DOI: 10/bhcw22. arXiv: quant-ph/0106139 (cited on pages 99, 108, 154).
- [13] Jonathan Barrett. "Information Processing in Generalized Probabilistic Theories". *Physical Review A* 75(3) (2007), page 032304. DOI: 10/dqm7fk. arXiv: quant-ph/0508211 (cited on pages 30, 116).
- [14] Stephen D. Bartlett, Terry Rudolph, and Robert W. Spekkens. "Reference Frames, Superselection Rules, and Quantum Information". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 79(2) (2007), pages 555–609. DOI: 10/fmgpch. arXiv: quant-ph/ 0610030 (cited on page 150).
- [15] Angelo Bassi, Kinjalk Lochan, Seema Satin, Tejinder P. Singh, and Hendrik Ulbricht. "Models of Wave-function Collapse, Underlying Theories, and Experimental Tests". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 85(2) (2013), pages 471–527. DOI: 10/f4tz6g. arXiv: 1204.4325 (cited on pages 47, 49, 61).
- J. S. Bell. "On the Einstein Podolsky Rosen Paradox". Physics Physique Fizika 1(3) (1964), pages 195–200. DOI: 10/gfkhwx (cited on pages 24, 49, 97, 130).
- [17] John S. Bell. "On the Problem of Hidden Variables in Quantum Mechanics". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 38(3) (1966), pages 447–452. DOI: 10/fpnhpg (cited on page 97).
- [18] John S. Bell. The Theory of Local Beables. Technical report CERN-TH-2053. Geneva: CERN, 1975. URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/980036 (cited on page 24).
- [19] John S. Bell. "The Theory of Local Beables". Epistemological Letters 9 (1976), pages 11–24 (cited on pages 49–50, 130).
- [20] John S. Bell. "The Theory of Local Beables". Dialectica 39 (1985), pages 86– 96 (cited on page 50).
- [21] Charles H. Bennett and Gilles Brassard. "Quantum Cryptography: Public Key Distribution and Coin Tossing". *Theoretical Computer Science* 560 (2014), pages 7–11. DOI: 10/3d6. arXiv: 2003.06557 (cited on page 97).
- [22] Charles H. Bennett, Gilles Brassard, Claude Crépeau, Richard Jozsa, Asher Peres, and William K. Wootters. "Teleporting an Unknown Quantum State via Dual Classical and Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen Channels". *Physical Review Letters* 70(13) (1993), pages 1895–1899. DOI: 10/bzc9sx (cited on pages 23, 97).
- [23] Charles H. Bennett and Stephen J. Wiesner. "Communication via One- and Two-Particle Operators on Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen States". *Physical Review Letters* 69(20) (1992), pages 2881–2884. DOI: 10/ds942c (cited on page 23).

- [24] S. Bhagavantam and D. A. A. S. Narayana Rao. "Dielectric Constant of Diamond". *Nature* 161(4097) (1948), pages 729–729. DOI: 10/c5cb9c (cited on page 90).
- [25] Gaurav Bhole, Jonathan A. Jones, Chiara Marletto, and Vlatko Vedral. "Witnesses of Non-Classicality for Simulated Hybrid Quantum Systems". *Journal of Physics Communications* 4(2) (2020), page 025013. DOI: 10/gm7w6v. arXiv: 1812.09483 (cited on pages 56, 60).
- [26] Eugenio Bianchi. "The Length Operator in Loop Quantum Gravity". Nuclear Physics B 807(3) (2009), pages 591–624. DOI: 10/bjt6r2. arXiv: 0806.4710 (cited on page 93).
- [27] Eugenio Bianchi and Robert C. Myers. "On the Architecture of Spacetime Geometry". *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 31(21) (2014), page 214002. DOI: 10/gm9ktr. arXiv: 1212.5183 (cited on page 150).
- [28] Garrett Birkhoff and John Von Neumann. "The Logic of Quantum Mechanics". Annals of Mathematics 37(4) (1936), pages 823–843. DOI: 10/dkfzvr (cited on page 131).
- [29] R. Blatt and C. F. Roos. "Quantum Simulations with Trapped Ions". Nature Physics 8(4) (2012), pages 277–284. DOI: 10/gcsjdb (cited on page 56).
- [30] David Bohm. "A Suggested Interpretation of the Quantum Theory in Terms of "Hidden" Variables. II". *Physical Review* 85(2) (1952), pages 180–193. DOI: 10/d35zxw (cited on page 120).
- [31] Niels Bohr. "Faraday Lecture. Chemistry and the Quantum Theory of Atomic Constitution". Journal of the Chemical Society (Resumed) (1932), page 349. DOI: 10/dgjj79 (cited on page 8).
- [32] Kok-Wei Bong, Aníbal Utreras-Alarcón, Farzad Ghafari, Yeong-Cherng Liang, Nora Tischler, Eric G. Cavalcanti, Geoff J. Pryde, and Howard M. Wiseman. "A Strong No-Go Theorem on the Wigner's Friend Paradox". *Nature Physics* (2020), pages 1–7. DOI: 10/gg85dd (cited on pages 50, 53–54, 97, 129–130, 137, 151).
- [33] Sougato Bose. Table-Top Testing of the Quantum Nature of Gravity: Assumptions, Implications and Practicalities of a Proposal. QISS Virtual Seminar. 2020. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iKPbGfnGWc0 (visited on 09/07/2021) (cited on page 77).
- [34] Sougato Bose, Anupam Mazumdar, Gavin W. Morley, Hendrik Ulbricht, Marko Toroš, Mauro Paternostro, Andrew Geraci, Peter Barker, M. S. Kim, and Gerard Milburn. "A Spin Entanglement Witness for Quantum Gravity". *Physical Review Letters* 119(24) (2017), page 240401. DOI: 10/gcsb22. arXiv: 1707.06050 (cited on pages 13–16, 26–27, 57, 62, 67, 73, 77–78, 80, 91, 97).
- [35] Gilles Brassard and Paul Raymond-Robichaud. "Parallel Lives: A Local-Realistic Interpretation of "Nonlocal" Boxes". *Entropy* 21(1) (2019), page 87. DOI: 10/gg7v9h. arXiv: 1709.10016 (cited on page 52).

- [36] Časlav Brukner. "A No-Go Theorem for Observer-Independent Facts". Entropy 20(5) (2018), page 350. DOI: 10/gdq8td. arXiv: 1804.00749 (cited on pages 129–130).
- [37] Časlav Brukner. *Private Communication*. 2021 (cited on page 143).
- [38] Časlav Brukner. "Qubits Are Not Observers a No-Go Theorem". 2021. arXiv: 2107.03513 (cited on pages 133–134, 147–149).
- [39] Časlav Brukner and Anton Zeilinger. "Information and Fundamental Elements of the Structure of Quantum Theory". In: *Time, Quantum and Information*. Edited by Lutz Castell and Otfried Ischebeck. Springer, 2003, pages 323–354. DOI: 10/g3qx. arXiv: quant-ph/0212084 (cited on page 41).
- [40] Adán Cabello. "Interpretations of Quantum Theory: A Map of Madness".
 In: What Is Quantum Information? Edited by Olimpia Lombardi, Sebastian Fortin, Federico Holik, and Cristian López. Cambridge University Press, 2017.
 DOI: 10/ghdhx4 (cited on page 43).
- [41] ChunJun Cao, Sean M. Carroll, and Spyridon Michalakis. "Space from Hilbert Space: Recovering Geometry from Bulk Entanglement". *Physical Review D* 95(2) (2017), page 024031. DOI: 10/gdh6r7. arXiv: 1606.08444 (cited on page 150).
- [42] S. Carlip. "Quantum Gravity: A Progress Report". Reports on Progress in Physics 64(8) (2001), pages 885–942. DOI: 10/bbhr52. arXiv: gr-qc/0108040 (cited on page 12).
- [43] S. Carlip. "Is Quantum Gravity Necessary?" Classical and Quantum Gravity 25(15) (2008), page 154010. DOI: 10/cn683m. arXiv: 0803.3456 (cited on page 13).
- [44] Daniel Carney, Holger Müller, and Jacob M. Taylor. "Using an Atom Interferometer to Infer Gravitational Entanglement Generation". *PRX Quantum* 2(3) (2021), page 030330. DOI: 10/gmvfjc. arXiv: 2101.11629 (cited on page 13).
- [45] J. D. Carrillo-Sánchez, J. M. C. Plane, W. Feng, D. Nesvorný, and D. Janches.
 "On the Size and Velocity Distribution of Cosmic Dust Particles Entering the Atmosphere". *Geophysical Research Letters* 42(15) (2015), pages 6518–6525.
 DOI: 10/f7pw8f (cited on page 88).
- [46] Ariel Caticha. "Entropy, Information, and the Updating of Probabilities". Entropy 23(7) (2021), page 895. DOI: 10/gm7w6k (cited on page 154).
- [47] Eric G Cavalcanti. Implications of Local Friendliness Violation to Quantum Causality. 2019. URL: https://www.quantumlab.it/wp-content/uploads/ 2019/09/Cavalcanti_E.pdf (cited on page 130).
- [48] Eric G. Cavalcanti. "Reality, Locality and All That: "experimental Metaphysics" and the Quantum Foundations". PhD thesis. 2008. arXiv: 0810.4974 (cited on page 49).
- [49] Eric G. Cavalcanti. "Classical Causal Models for Bell and Kochen-Specker Inequality Violations Require Fine-Tuning". *Physical Review X* 8(2) (2018), page 021018. DOI: 10/gddgxv. arXiv: 1705.05961 (cited on page 52).

- [50] Eric G. Cavalcanti. "The View from a Wigner Bubble". Foundations of Physics 51(2) (2021), page 39. DOI: 10/gm7w6q. arXiv: 2008.05100 (cited on pages 49, 52, 130, 151).
- [51] Eric G. Cavalcanti and Raymond Lal. "On Modifications of Reichenbach's Principle of Common Cause in Light of Bell's Theorem". Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 47(42) (2014), page 424018. DOI: 10/gg7335 (cited on page 52).
- [52] Eric G. Cavalcanti and Howard M. Wiseman. "Implications of Local Friendliness Violation for Quantum Causality". *Entropy* 23(8) (2021), page 925. DOI: 10/gm7w6p. arXiv: 2106.04065 (cited on page 130).
- [53] Carlton M. Caves, Christopher A. Fuchs, and Ruediger Schack. "Quantum Probabilities as Bayesian Probabilities". *Physical Review A* 65(2) (2002), page 022305. DOI: 10/c7wjv2. arXiv: quant-ph/0106133 (cited on page 44).
- [54] Hadrien Chevalier, A. J. Paige, and M. S. Kim. "Witnessing the Non-Classical Nature of Gravity in the Presence of Unknown Interactions". *Physical Review* A 102(2) (2020), page 022428. DOI: 10/ghcmzz. arXiv: 2005.13922 (cited on pages 15, 26, 58, 78).
- [55] Giulio Chiribella, Erik Aurell, and Karol Życzkowski. "Symmetries of Quantum Evolutions". *Physical Review Research* 3(3) (2021), page 033028. DOI: 10/gk42ft. arXiv: 2101.04962 (cited on pages 109, 114).
- [56] Giulio Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano Giacomo Mauro, P. Perinotti Paolo, and B. Valiron. "Quantum Computations without Definite Causal Structure". *Physical Review A* 88(2) (2013), page 022318. DOI: 10/ghbm4x. arXiv: 0912. 0195 (cited on page 97).
- [57] Giulio Chiribella, Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, and Paolo Perinotti. "Informational Derivation of Quantum Theory". *Physical Review A* 84(1) (2011), page 012311. DOI: 10/d5zw8d. arXiv: 1011.6451 (cited on pages 39, 97).
- [58] Giulio Chiribella and Zixuan Liu. "Quantum Operations with Indefinite Time Direction". 2021. arXiv: 2012.03859 (cited on page 114).
- [59] Giulio Chiribella and Carlo Maria Scandolo. "Microcanonical Thermodynamics in General Physical Theories". New Journal of Physics 19(12) (2017), page 123043. DOI: 10/ghbt2b. arXiv: 1608.04460 (cited on page 109).
- [60] Marios Christodoulou, Andrea Di Biagio, Markus Aspelmeyer, Časlav Brukner, Carlo Rovelli, and Richard Howl. "Locally Mediated Entanglement through Gravity from First Principles". 2022. arXiv: 2202.03368 (cited on pages v, 67).
- [61] Marios Christodoulou, Andrea Di Biagio, and Pierre Martin-Dussaud. "An Experiment to Test the Discreteness of Time". 2020. arXiv: 2007.08431 (cited on pages v, 78).
- [62] Marios Christodoulou and Carlo Rovelli. "On the Possibility of Laboratory Evidence for Quantum Superposition of Geometries". *Physics Letters B* 792 (2019), pages 64–68. DOI: 10/gj6ssc. arXiv: 1808.05842 (cited on pages 57, 80).

- [63] Marios Christodoulou and Carlo Rovelli. "On the Possibility of Experimental Detection of the Discreteness of Time". Frontiers in Physics 8 (2020), page 207.
 DOI: 10/gj6ssf. arXiv: 1812.01542 (cited on pages 57, 80).
- [64] B. S. Cirel'son. "Quantum Generalizations of Bell's Inequality". Letters in Mathematical Physics 4(2) (1980), pages 93–100. DOI: 10/dj8dhb (cited on page 50).
- [65] John F. Clauser, Michael A. Horne, Abner Shimony, and Richard A. Holt. "Proposed Experiment to Test Local Hidden-Variable Theories". *Physical Review Letters* 23(15) (1969), pages 880–884. DOI: 10/b9kpm8 (cited on page 51).
- [66] Timothy Clifton, Pedro G. Ferreira, Antonio Padilla, and Constantinos Skordis. "Modified Gravity and Cosmology". *Physics Reports* 513(1-3) (2012), pages 1–189. DOI: 10/fx8sjx. arXiv: 1106.2476 (cited on page 7).
- [67] Bob Coecke, Stefano Gogioso, and John H. Selby. "The Time-Reverse of Any Causal Theory Is Eternal Noise". 2017. arXiv: 1711.05511 (cited on page 116).
- [68] Bob Coecke and Aleks Kissinger. *Picturing Quantum Processes*. West Nyack: Cambridge University Press, 2017. ISBN: 978-1-316-21931-7. DOI: g3qd (cited on pages 30, 97).
- [69] R. Colella, A. W. Overhauser, and S. A. Werner. "Observation of Gravitationally Induced Quantum Interference". *Physical Review Letters* 34(23) (1975), pages 1472–1474. DOI: 10/dktp8g (cited on page 80).
- [70] LIGO Scientific Collaboration, Virgo Collaboration, KAGRA Collaboration, R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott, et al. "Observation of Gravitational Waves from Two Neutron Star-Black Hole Coalescences" (2021). DOI: 10/gkzfnv (cited on page 6).
- Planck Collaboration, Y. Akrami, F. Arroja, M. Ashdown, J. Aumont, et al.
 "Planck 2018 Results. I. Overview and the Cosmological Legacy of Planck". Astronomy & Astrophysics 641 (2020), A1. DOI: 10/ggxrm5. arXiv: 1807.06205 (cited on page 6).
- [72] The Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Kazunori Akiyama, Antxon Alberdi, Walter Alef, Keiichi Asada, et al. "First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. I. The Shadow of the Supermassive Black Hole". *The Astrophysical Journal Letters* 875(1) (2019), page L1. DOI: 10/gfx8zm (cited on page 6).
- [73] Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, Giulio Chiribella, and Paolo Perinotti. Quantum Theory from First Principles: An Informational Approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2017. ISBN: 978-1-107-04342-8. DOI: 10/g3q2 (cited on pages 30, 97).
- [74] Borivoje Dakic and Časlav Brukner. "Quantum Theory and Beyond: Is Entanglement Special?" In: *Deep Beauty: Understanding the Quantum World through Mathematical Innovation*. Edited by H. Halvoroson. 2009. arXiv: 0911.0695 (cited on pages 39, 97).

- [75] Giordano De Angelis. "Photonic Simulator for a Gravitationally Mediated Entanglement Experiment". Master's thesis. Rome: Sapienza University of Rome, 2021 (cited on page 62).
- [76] Bruno de Finetti. Theory of Probability: A Critical Introductory Treatment. Translated by Antonio Machì and Adrian F. M. Smith. Chichester, UK ; Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, 2017. ISBN: 978-1-119-28634-9 978-1-119-28629-5 (cited on page 44).
- [77] John B. DeBrota, Christopher A. Fuchs, and Rüdiger Schack. "Respecting One's Fellow: QBism's Analysis of Wigner's Friend". *Foundations of Physics* (2020). DOI: 10/ghfmjx. arXiv: 2008.03572 (cited on page 130).
- [78] S. Deser. "Self-Interaction and Gauge Invariance". General Relativity and Gravitation 1(1) (1970), pages 9–18. DOI: 10/d3jvnx. arXiv: gr-qc/0411023 (cited on page 12).
- [79] S. Deser. "Gravity from Self-Interaction in a Curved Background". Classical and Quantum Gravity 4(4) (1987), pages L99–L105. DOI: 10/bjvrwd (cited on page 12).
- [80] David Deutsch. "Quantum Theory of Probability and Decisions". Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 455(1988) (1999). DOI: 10.1098/rspa.1999.0443. arXiv: quant-ph/9906015 (cited on page 46).
- [81] David Deutsch and Patrick Hayden. "Information Flow in Entangled Quantum Systems". Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 456(1999) (2000), pages 1759–1774. DOI: 10/fm2nnz. arXiv: quant-ph/9906007 (cited on page 52).
- [82] Andrea Di Biagio. Can We Think Time-Symmetrically about Causation? Perimeter Institute, 2020. URL: http://pirsa.org/20120022 (visited on 04/13/2021) (cited on pages 97, 151).
- [83] Andrea Di Biagio, Pietro Donà, and Carlo Rovelli. "The Arrow of Time in Operational Formulations of Quantum Theory". *Quantum* 5 (2021), page 520.
 DOI: 10/gm7w6n. arXiv: 2010.05734 (cited on pages v, 98).
- [84] Andrea Di Biagio and Carlo Rovelli. "Relational Quantum Mechanics Is about Facts, Not States: A Reply to Pienaar and Brukner". 2021. arXiv: 2110.03610 (cited on pages v, 133).
- [85] Andrea Di Biagio and Carlo Rovelli. "Stable Facts, Relative Facts". Foundations of Physics 51(1) (2021), page 30. DOI: 10/gm7w6w. arXiv: 2006.15543 (cited on pages v, 124, 145–146).
- [86] D. Dieks. "Communication by EPR Devices". Physics Letters A 92(6) (1982), pages 271–272. DOI: 10/dfvj8v (cited on page 97).
- [87] Bianca Dittrich and Thomas Thiemann. "Are the Spectra of Geometrical Operators in Loop Quantum Gravity Really Discrete?" Journal of Mathematical Physics 50(1) (2009), page 012503. DOI: 10/ftvhfw. arXiv: 0708.1721 (cited on page 93).

- [88] Fay Dowker. "Causal Sets and the Deep Structure of Spacetime". In: 100 Years of Relativity. Edited by Abhay Ashtekar. 2005, pages 445–464. ISBN: 978-981-270-098-8. DOI: dx6bhb. arXiv: gr-qc/0508109 (cited on page 92).
- [89] Johannes Droste. "The Field of a Single Centre in Einstein's Theory of Gravitation, and the Motion of a Particle in That Field". *Koninklijke Nederlandsche Akademie van Wetenschappen Proceedings* 19(1) (1917), pages 197–215 (cited on page 6).
- [90] Jiangfeng Du, Nanyang Xu, Xinhua Peng, Pengfei Wang, Sanfeng Wu, and Dawei Lu. "NMR Implementation of a Molecular Hydrogen Quantum Simulation with Adiabatic State Preparation". *Physical Review Letters* 104(3) (2010), page 030502. DOI: 10/cz6czm (cited on page 56).
- [91] Detlev Dürr, Sheldon Goldstein, Roderich Tumulka, and Nino Zanghí. "Bohmian Mechanics". In: *Compendium of Quantum Physics*. Edited by Daniel Greenberger, Klaus Hentschel, and Friedel Weinert. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009, pages 47–55. ISBN: 978-3-540-70622-9 978-3-540-70626-7. DOI: 10/dqzq38 (cited on page 46).
- [92] Freeman Dyson. "Is a Graviton Detectable?" In: Poincaré Prize Lecture. Aalborg, Denmark, 2012. URL: https://publications.ias.edu/sites/ default/files/poincare2012.pdf (visited on 06/03/2021) (cited on page 13).
- [93] A. Einstein, B. Podolsky, and N. Rosen. "Can Quantum-Mechanical Description of Physical Reality Be Considered Complete?" *Physical Review* 47(10) (1935), pages 777–780. DOI: 10/bgd7kp (cited on page 126).
- [94] Albert Einstein. "Über die von der molekularkinetischen Theorie der Wärme geforderte Bewegung von in ruhenden Flüssigkeiten suspendierten Teilchen". Annalen der Physik 322(8) (1905), pages 549–560. DOI: 10/cbgg9j (cited on page 95).
- [95] Albert Einstein, Richard C. Tolman, and Boris Podolsky. "Knowledge of Past and Future in Quantum Mechanics". *Physical Review* 37(6) (1931), pages 780–781. DOI: 10/fjmrrs (cited on pages 98, 153).
- [96] Artur K. Ekert. "Quantum Cryptography Based on Bell's Theorem". Physical Review Letters 67(6) (1991), pages 661–663. DOI: 10/fp96c4 (cited on pages 23, 97).
- [97] Michael Esfeld, Dustin Lazarovici, Mario Hubert, and Detlef Dürr. The Ontology of Bohmian Mechanics. Preprint. 2012. URL: http://philsciarchive.pitt.edu/9381/ (visited on 09/30/2020) (cited on page 124).
- [98] Katia M. Ferrière. "The Interstellar Environment of Our Galaxy". Reviews of Modern Physics 73(4) (2001), pages 1031–1066. DOI: 10/fghhgq (cited on page 91).
- [99] Richard P. Feynman. "Simulating Physics with Computers". International Journal of Theoretical Physics 21(6) (1982), pages 467–488. DOI: 10/cpkzhd (cited on page 56).

- [100] Richard P. Feynman, Fernando B. Morínigo, and William G. Wagner. *Feynman Lectures on Gravitation*. Edited by Brian F. Hatfield. Frontiers in Physics Series. Boulder, Col.: Westview Pr, 2003. ISBN: 978-0-8133-4038-8 (cited on page 10).
- [101] Dov Fields, Abdelali Sajia, and János A. Bergou. "Quantum Retrodiction Made Fully Symmetric". 2020. arXiv: 2006.15692 (cited on page 99).
- [102] M. Fierz, Wolfgang Ernst Pauli, and Paul Adrien Maurice Dirac. "On Relativistic Wave Equations for Particles of Arbitrary Spin in an Electromagnetic Field". Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 173(953) (1939), pages 211–232. DOI: 10/cz4vss (cited on page 11).
- [103] Daniela Frauchiger and Renato Renner. "Quantum Theory Cannot Consistently Describe the Use of Itself". Nature Communications 9(1) (2018), page 3711. DOI: 10/gd7gkt. arXiv: 1604.07422 (cited on pages 129, 135).
- [104] O. R. Frisch. "Take a Photon..." Contemporary Physics 7(1) (1965), pages 45–53. DOI: 10/cn4gxh (cited on page 28).
- [105] Christopher A. Fuchs. "Quantum Mechanics as Quantum Information (and Only a Little More)". 2002. arXiv: quant-ph/0205039 (cited on page 39).
- [106] Christopher A. Fuchs. "On Participatory Realism". 2016. arXiv: 1601.04360 (cited on page 120).
- [107] Christopher A. Fuchs and Asher Peres. "Quantum Theory Needs No 'Interpretation'". *Physics Today* 53(3) (2007), page 70. DOI: 10/fwb2j6 (cited on page 43).
- [108] Christopher A. Fuchs and Blake C. Stacey. "QBism: Quantum Theory as a Hero's Handbook". 2019. arXiv: 1612.07308 (cited on pages 44, 52, 120, 154).
- [109] G. Gabrielse. "Comparing the Antiproton and Proton, and Opening the Way to Cold Antihydrogen". In: Advances In Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics. Volume 45. Elsevier, 2001, pages 1–39. ISBN: 978-0-12-003845-9. DOI: 10/g3q5 (cited on page 91).
- G. Gabrielse, X. Fei, L. Orozco, R. Tjoelker, J. Haas, H. Kalinowsky, T. Trainor, and W. Kells. "Thousandfold Improvement in the Measured Antiproton Mass". *Physical Review Letters* 65(11) (1990), pages 1317–1320. DOI: 10/bfxv3j (cited on page 91).
- [111] Eric A. Galapon. "Pauli's Theorem and Quantum Canonical Pairs: The Consistency Of a Bounded, Self-Adjoint Time Operator Canonically Conjugate to a Hamiltonian with Non-empty Point Spectrum". Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 458(2018) (2002), pages 451–472. DOI: 10/cd4dfw. arXiv: quant-ph/9908033 (cited on page 92).
- Thomas D. Galley, Flaminia Giacomini, and John H. Selby. "A No-Go Theorem on the Nature of the Gravitational Field beyond Quantum Theory". 2021. arXiv: 2012.01441v2 (cited on pages 13, 27, 31, 36, 56).

- [113] Amanda Gefter. Trespassing on Einstein's Lawn: A Father, a Daughter, the Meaning of Nothing, and the Beginning of Everything. First edition. New York: Bantam Books, 2014. ISBN: 978-0-345-53143-8 (cited on page 142).
- I. M. Georgescu, S. Ashhab, and Franco Nori. "Quantum Simulation". Reviews of Modern Physics 86(1) (2014), pages 153–185. DOI: 10/gcsjd7. arXiv: 1308.6253 (cited on page 56).
- [115] Giancarlo Ghirardi, Alberto Rimini, and Tullio Weber. "Unified Dynamics for Microscopic and Macroscopic Systems". *Physical Review D* 34(2) (1986), pages 470–491. DOI: 10/cchgqb (cited on page 123).
- [116] Flaminia Giacomini, Esteban Castro-Ruiz, and Časlav Brukner. "Quantum Mechanics and the Covariance of Physical Laws in Quantum Reference Frames". *Nature Communications* 10(1) (2019), page 494. DOI: 10/gfv3xs. arXiv: 1712.07207 (cited on pages 97, 150).
- [117] Marissa Giustina, Marijn A. M. Versteegh, Sören Wengerowsky, Johannes Handsteiner, Armin Hochrainer, et al. "Significant-Loophole-Free Test of Bell's Theorem with Entangled Photons". *Physical Review Letters* 115(25) (2015), page 250401. DOI: 10/f3pcq6. arXiv: 1511.03190 (cited on page 51).
- [118] Sheldon Goldstein. "Bohmian Mechanics". In: The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Edited by Edward N. Zalta. Summer 2017. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University, 2017. URL: https://plato.stanford.edu/ archives/sum2017/entries/qm-bohm/ (visited on 10/02/2020) (cited on pages 46, 120, 124, 130).
- [119] P. Grangier and A. Auffèves. "What Is Quantum in Quantum Randomness?" Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 376(2123) (2018), page 20170322. DOI: 10/gg9h7v. arXiv: 1804.04807 (cited on page 124).
- [120] Hilary Greaves and Wayne Myrvold. Everett and Evidence. Preprint. 2008. URL: http://philsci-archive.pitt.edu/4222/ (visited on 01/13/2021) (cited on page 46).
- [121] David J. Griffiths. Introduction to Electrodynamics: Fourth. Cambridge University Press, 2017. ISBN: 978-1-108-42041-9 978-1-108-33351-1. DOI: 10/g3x6 (cited on pages 72, 157).
- [122] Lov K. Grover. "A Fast Quantum Mechanical Algorithm for Database Search". In: STOC '96: Proceedings of the Twenty-Eighth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing. Philadelphia Pennsylvania USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 1996, pages 212–219. DOI: 10/fkzv3d. arXiv: quantph/9605043 (cited on page 97).
- [123] Dominik Hangleiter, Jacques Carolan, and Karim Thébault. "Analogue Quantum Simulation: A Philosophical Prospectus". 2017. arXiv: 1712.05809 (cited on page 56).
- [124] Lucien Hardy. "Quantum Theory From Five Reasonable Axioms". 2001. arXiv: quant-ph/0101012 (cited on pages 39, 97).

- [125] Lucien Hardy. "Reconstructing Quantum Theory". 2013. arXiv: 1303.1538 (cited on pages 39, 97).
- [126] Lucien Hardy. "Time Symmetry in Operational Theories". 2021. arXiv: 2104.00071 (cited on pages 97, 151).
- [127] Stephen Hawking. "Properties of Expanding Universes". PhD thesis. University of Cambridge, 1966. DOI: 10.17863/CAM.11283 (cited on page 6).
- B. Hensen, H. Bernien, A. E. Dréau, A. Reiserer, N. Kalb, et al. "Loophole-Free Bell Inequality Violation Using Electron Spins Separated by 1.3 Kilometres". *Nature* 526(7575) (2015), pages 682–686. DOI: 10/8km. arXiv: 1508.05949 (cited on page 51).
- [129] Philipp A. Hoehn, Alexander R. H. Smith, and Maximilian P. E. Lock. "The Trinity of Relational Quantum Dynamics". *Physical Review D* 104(6) (2021), page 066001. DOI: 10/gn94k2. arXiv: 1912.00033 (cited on page 150).
- [130] Philipp A. Höhn. "Quantum Theory from Rules on Information Acquisition". Entropy 19(3) (2017), page 98. DOI: 10/f96688. arXiv: 1612.06849 (cited on page 138).
- [131] Philipp A. Höhn. "Reflections on the Information Paradigm in Quantum and Gravitational Physics". Journal of Physics: Conference Series 880 (2017), page 012014. DOI: 10/gm9kt4. arXiv: 1706.06882 (cited on page 150).
- [132] Philipp A. Höhn. "Toolbox for Reconstructing Quantum Theory from Rules on Information Acquisition". *Quantum* 1 (2017), page 38. DOI: 10/gkh93b. arXiv: 1412.8323 (cited on pages 39–40, 97, 138).
- Philipp A. Höhn and Christopher Wever. "Quantum Theory from Questions". *Physical Review A* 95(1) (2017), page 012102. DOI: 10/gg9h7x. arXiv: 1511. 01130 (cited on pages 39–40, 97, 138).
- [134] A. S. Holevo. "The Capacity of Quantum Channel with General Signal States". *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory* 44(1) (1998), pages 269–273. DOI: 10/fq7snt. arXiv: quant-ph/9611023 (cited on page 97).
- [135] John Horgan. Scott Aaronson Answers Every Ridiculously Big Question I Throw at Him. 2016. URL: https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/ cross-check/scott-aaronson-answers-every-ridiculously-bigquestion-i-throw-at-him/ (visited on 10/18/2021) (cited on page 18).
- [136] Michal Horodecki, Pawel Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. "Separability of Mixed States: Necessary and Sufficient Conditions". *Physics Letters A* 223(1-2) (1996), pages 1–8. DOI: 10/ch3nvm. arXiv: quant-ph/9605038 (cited on pages 24–25).
- [137] Ryszard Horodecki, Pawel Horodecki, Michal Horodecki, and Karol Horodecki.
 "Quantum Entanglement". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 81(2) (2009), pages 865–942. DOI: 10/d2vqp8. arXiv: quant-ph/0702225 (cited on pages 24, 26).
- [138] S. Hossenfelder and T. N. Palmer. "Rethinking Superdeterminism". Frontiers in Physics 8 (2020), page 139. DOI: 10/gg8nmd. arXiv: 1912.06462 (cited on page 52).

- [139] Andrew A. Houck, Hakan E. Türeci, and Jens Koch. "On-Chip Quantum Simulation with Superconducting Circuits". *Nature Physics* 8(4) (2012), pages 292–299. DOI: 10/gddjkm (cited on page 56).
- [140] Richard Howl, Vlatko Vedral, Devang Naik, Marios Christodoulou, Carlo Rovelli, and Aditya Iyer. "Non-Gaussianity as a Signature of a Quantum Theory of Gravity". *PRX Quantum* 2(1) (2021), page 010325. DOI: 10/gkq6wg. arXiv: 2004.01189 (cited on pages 13, 77).
- [141] Aldous Huxley. The Doors of Perception. Vintage Classics. London: Vintage books, 2004. ISBN: 978-0-09-945820-3 (cited on page 144).
- Ted Jacobson. "Entanglement Equilibrium and the Einstein Equation". *Physical Review Letters* 116(20) (2016), page 201101. DOI: 10/gm9ktt. arXiv: 1505.04753 (cited on page 150).
- [143] Ted Jacobson, Stefano Liberati, and David Mattingly. "Lorentz Violation at High Energy: Concepts, Phenomena and Astrophysical Constraints". Annals of Physics 321(1) (2006), pages 150–196. DOI: 10/bgp7t5. arXiv: astroph/0505267 (cited on page 92).
- [144] Daniel F. V. James, Paul G. Kwiat, William J. Munro, and Andrew G. White. "On the Measurement of Qubits". *Physical Review A* 64(5) (2001), page 052312. DOI: 10/bp2987. arXiv: quant-ph/0103121 (cited on page 62).
- [145] Edwin Thompson Jaynes. "Probability in Quantum Theory". In: Complexity, Entropy And The Physics Of Information. Edited by Wojciech Hubert Zurek. Addison-Wesley Pub. Co, 1990, page 381. ISBN: 0-201-51506-7 (cited on page 154).
- [146] Ding Jia. "Quantum from Principles without Assuming Definite Causal Structure". *Physical Review A* 98(3) (2018), page 032112. DOI: 10/ghjjvn. arXiv: 1808.00898 (cited on pages 39, 97).
- [147] Nikolai Kiesel, Christian Schmid, Ulrich Weber, Rupert Ursin, and Harald Weinfurter. "Linear Optics Controlled-Phase Gate Made Simple". *Physical Review Letters* 95(21) (2005), page 210505. DOI: 10/dvv63c (cited on page 63).
- [148] Simon Kochen and E. P. Specker. "The Problem of Hidden Variables in Quantum Mechanics". Journal of Mathematics and Mechanics 17(1) (1967), pages 59-87. URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/24902153 (visited on 08/10/2020) (cited on page 50).
- [149] Tanjung Krisnanda, Guo Yao Tham, Mauro Paternostro, and Tomasz Paterek. "Observable Quantum Entanglement Due to Gravity". *npj Quantum Information* 6(1) (2020), page 12. DOI: 10/ggz5q7. arXiv: 1906.08808 (cited on pages 13, 16, 77).
- [150] National High Magnetic Field Laboratory. Selected Scientific Publications Generated from Research Conducted in the 100 Tesla Multi-Shot Magnet. Technical report. 2020. URL: https://nationalmaglab.org/images/users/ pulsed_field/searchable_docs/magnets/100T/100tesla_publications. pdf (cited on page 87).

- [151] L. J. Landau and R. F. Streater. "On Birkhoff's Theorem for Doubly Stochastic Completely Positive Maps of Matrix Algebras". *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 193 (1993), pages 107–127. DOI: 10/dqvv3v (cited on page 109).
- [152] Rolf Landauer. "Irreversibility and Heat Generation in the Computing Process". IBM Journal of Research and Development 5(3) (1961), pages 261–269.
 DOI: 10/drrfmq (cited on page 119).
- [153] N. K. Langford, T. J. Weinhold, R. Prevedel, K. J. Resch, A. Gilchrist, J. L. O'Brien, G. J. Pryde, and A. G. White. "Demonstration of a Simple Entangling Optical Gate and Its Use in Bell-State Analysis". *Physical Review Letters* 95(21) (2005), page 210504. DOI: 10/c22m4f (cited on page 63).
- [154] Federico Laudisa. "The EPR Argument in a Relational Interpretation of Quantum Mechanics". Foundations of Physics Letters 14(2) (2001), pages 119– 132. DOI: 10/fgbqbf. arXiv: quant-ph/0011016 (cited on page 130).
- [155] Federico Laudisa and Carlo Rovelli. "Relational Quantum Mechanics". In: The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Edited by Edward N. Zalta. Winter 2019. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University, 2019. URL: https: //plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2019/entries/qm-relational/ (cited on page 124).
- [156] J. G. Lee, E. G. Adelberger, T. S. Cook, S. M. Fleischer, and B. R. Heckel. "New Test of the Gravitational $1/r^2$ Law at Separations down to 52 μ m" (2020). DOI: 10/ghbt8q (cited on page 5).
- [157] Matthew Leifer and Matthew Pusey. "Is a Time Symmetric Interpretation of Quantum Theory Possible without Retrocausality?" Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 473(2202) (2017), page 20160607. DOI: 10/gbmwqk. arXiv: 1607.07871 (cited on page 154).
- [158] Matthew Leifer and Robert W. Spekkens. "Towards a Formulation of Quantum Theory as a Causally Neutral Theory of Bayesian Inference". *Physical Review A* 88(5) (2013), page 052130. DOI: 10/ggmq88. arXiv: 1107.5849 (cited on pages 52, 154).
- [159] Jun-Li Li and Cong-Feng Qiao. "A Necessary and Sufficient Criterion for the Separability of Quantum State". Scientific Reports 8(1) (2018), page 1442.
 DOI: 10/gcw2wc (cited on page 24).
- [160] LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration, B. P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott, M. R. Abernathy, et al. "Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger". *Physical Review Letters* 116(6) (2016), page 061102. DOI: 10/gcp5km. arXiv: 1602.03837 (cited on page 6).
- [161] Michele Maggiore. Gravitational Waves Volume 1: Theory and Experiments. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008. ISBN: 978-0-19-857074-5 (cited on page 70).
- [162] Juan Maldacena and Leonard Susskind. "Cool Horizons for Entangled Black Holes". Fortschritte der Physik 61(9) (2013), pages 781–811. DOI: 10/f2dnrq. arXiv: 1306.0533 (cited on page 150).
- [163] Chiara Marletto. "Constructor Theory of Probability". Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 472(2192) (2016), page 20150883. DOI: 10/gh33hf. arXiv: 1507.03287 (cited on page 30).
- [164] Chiara Marletto and Vlatko Vedral. "Gravitationally-Induced Entanglement between Two Massive Particles Is Sufficient Evidence of Quantum Effects in Gravity". *Physical Review Letters* 119(24) (2017), page 240402. DOI: 10/ gcsjgn. arXiv: 1707.06036 (cited on pages 13, 16, 27, 67, 73, 77, 97).
- [165] Chiara Marletto and Vlatko Vedral. "Witnessing Non-Classicality beyond Quantum Theory". *Physical Review D* 102(8) (2020), page 086012. DOI: 10.1103/physrevd.102.086012. arXiv: 2003.07974 (cited on pages 13, 27).
- [166] Ryan J. Marshman, Anupam Mazumdar, and Sougato Bose. "Locality and Entanglement in Table-Top Testing of the Quantum Nature of Linearized Gravity". *Physical Review A* 101(5) (2020), page 052110. DOI: 10/gm7w6z. arXiv: 1907.01568 (cited on page 77).
- [167] Ryan J. Marshman, Anupam Mazumdar, Ron Folman, and Sougato Bose. "Large Splitting Massive Schr\"odinger Kittens". 2021. arXiv: 2105.01094 (cited on page 13).
- [168] G. Edward Marti, Ross B. Hutson, Akihisa Goban, Sara L. Campbell, Nicola Poli, and Jun Ye. "Imaging Optical Frequencies with 100 μHz Precision and 1.1 μm Resolution". *Physical Review Letters* 120(10) (2018), page 103201. DOI: 10/gc5sj2. arXiv: 1711.08540 (cited on page 77).
- [169] Pierre Martin-Dussaud, Carlo Rovelli, and Federico Zalamea. "The Notion of Locality in Relational Quantum Mechanics". *Foundations of Physics* 49(2) (2019), pages 96–106. DOI: 10/gg9h72. arXiv: 1806.08150 (cited on pages 52, 130, 151).
- [170] Lluis Masanes, Yeong-Cherng Liang, and Andrew C. Doherty. "All Bipartite Entangled States Display Some Hidden Nonlocality". *Physical Review Letters* 100(9) (2008), page 090403. DOI: 10/d2hdrg. arXiv: quant-ph/0703268 (cited on page 24).
- [171] Lluís Masanes and Markus P. Müller. "A Derivation of Quantum Theory from Physical Requirements". New Journal of Physics 13(6) (2011), page 063001.
 DOI: 10/dqxr9r (cited on pages 39, 97).
- [172] Christian B. Mendl and Michael M. Wolf. "Unital Quantum Channels Convex Structure and Revivals of Birkhoff's Theorem". Communications in Mathematical Physics 289(3) (2009), pages 1057–1086. DOI: 10/c4k84m. arXiv: 0806.2820 (cited on page 109).
- [173] G. J. Milburn and S. Shrapnel. "Physical Grounds for Causal Perspectivalism". 2020. arXiv: 2009.04121 (cited on pages 119, 121).
- [174] R. A. Millikan. "On the Elementary Electrical Charge and the Avogadro Constant". *Physical Review* 2(2) (1913), pages 109–143. DOI: 10/bcbd4g (cited on page 95).

- [175] R.A. Millikan. "A New Modification of the Cloud Method of Determining the Elementary Electrical Charge and the Most Probable Value of That Charge". *The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science* 19(110) (1910), pages 209–228. DOI: 10/b2rgjz (cited on page 95).
- [176] Charles W. Misner, Kip S. Thorne, John Archibald Wheeler, and David Kaiser. *Gravitation*. Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press, 2017. ISBN: 978-0-691-17779-3 (cited on page 5).
- [177] Leonard Mlodinow and Todd A. Brun. "Relation between the Psychological and Thermodynamic Arrows of Time". *Physical Review E* 89(5) (2014), page 052102. DOI: 10/ghbmw2. arXiv: 1310.1095 (cited on page 121).
- [178] Wayne C. Myrvold. "The Science of $\Theta \Delta^{cs}$ ". Foundations of Physics 50 (2020), pages 1219–1251. DOI: 10/gm7w63. arXiv: 2007.11729 (cited on page 121).
- [179] Wayne C. Myrvold. Beyond Chance and Credence: A Theory of Hybrid Probabilities. First. Oxford University Press, 2021. ISBN: 978-0-19-886509-4 978-0-19-189748-1. DOI: 10/g3v7 (cited on page 44).
- [180] Wayne C. Myrvold. "Shakin' All Over: Proving Landauer's Principle without Neglect of Fluctuations". The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science (2021). DOI: g3qt. arXiv: 2007.11748 (cited on page 119).
- [181] Robert J. Nemiroff, Ryan Connolly, Justin Holmes, and Alexander B. Kostinski. "Bounds on Spectral Dispersion from Fermi-Detected Gamma Ray Bursts". *Physical Review Letters* 108(23) (2012), page 231103. DOI: 10/ggf4hv (cited on page 92).
- [182] F. Nicastro, J. Kaastra, Y. Krongold, S. Borgani, E. Branchini, et al. "Observations of the Missing Baryons in the Warm-Hot Intergalactic Medium". *Nature* 558(7710) (2018), pages 406–409. DOI: 10/gkkwhr. arXiv: 1806.08395 (cited on page 91).
- [183] Michael A. Nielsen and Isaac L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. 10th anniversary ed. Cambridge ; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2010. ISBN: 978-1-107-00217-3 (cited on pages 22, 24, 97–98).
- [184] S. Nojiri, S. D. Odintsov, and V. K. Oikonomou. "Modified Gravity Theories on a Nutshell: Inflation, Bounce and Late-time Evolution". *Physics Reports* 692 (2017), pages 1–104. DOI: 10/gdz75f. arXiv: 1705.11098 (cited on page 7).
- [185] Travis Norsen and Sarah Nelson. "Yet Another Snapshot of Foundational Attitudes Toward Quantum Mechanics". 2013. arXiv: 1306.4646 (cited on page 43).
- [186] J. L. O'Brien, G. J. Pryde, A. G. White, T. C. Ralph, and D. Branning. "Demonstration of an All-Optical Quantum Controlled-NOT Gate". *Nature* 426(6964) (2003), pages 264–267. DOI: 10/dtcn8n. arXiv: quant-ph/0403062 (cited on page 62).
- [187] Robert Oeckl. "A Local and Operational Framework for the Foundations of Physics". Advances in Theoretical and Mathematical Physics 23(2) (2019), pages 437–592. DOI: 10/g3q6. arXiv: 1610.09052 (cited on pages 39, 97).

- [188] Robert Oeckl. What Is Quantum Theory?, QISS Virtual Seminar. 2020. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_Fwkh9cBMZw&t=5095s (visited on 04/28/2021) (cited on page 154).
- [189] Ryo Okamoto, Holger F. Hofmann, Shigeki Takeuchi, and Keiji Sasaki. "Demonstration of an Optical Quantum Controlled-NOT Gate without Path Interference". *Physical Review Letters* 95(21) (2005), page 210506. DOI: 10/ fhrr76. arXiv: quant-ph/0506263 (cited on page 63).
- [190] Jonathan Oppenheim. "A Post-Quantum Theory of Classical Gravity?" 2018. arXiv: 1811.03116 (cited on page 13).
- [191] J. R. Oppenheimer and G. M. Volkoff. "On Massive Neutron Cores". *Physical Review* 55(4) (1939), pages 374–381. DOI: 10/csn784 (cited on page 6).
- [192] Ognyan Oreshkov and Nicolas J. Cerf. "Operational Formulation of Time Reversal in Quantum Theory". *Nature Physics* 11(10) (2015), pages 853–858.
 DOI: 10/f7sz5f. arXiv: 1507.07745 (cited on pages 101, 106, 116, 121, 154).
- [193] Masanao Ozawa. "Quantum Measuring Processes of Continuous Observables". Journal of Mathematical Physics 25(1) (1984), pages 79–87. DOI: 10/cd2pwq (cited on pages 23, 106).
- [194] Don N. Page and C. D. Geilker. "Indirect Evidence for Quantum Gravity". *Physical Review Letters* 47(14) (1981), pages 979–982. DOI: 10/dq6s7f (cited on page 9).
- [195] Abraham Pais. Inward Bound: Of Matter and Forces in the Physical World. Reprint. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 2002. ISBN: 978-0-19-851997-3 (cited on page 9).
- [196] W. Pauli. "Die allgemeinen Prinzipien der Wellenmechanik". In: Quantentheorie. Edited by H. Bethe, F. Hund, N. F. Mott, W. Pauli, A. Rubinowicz, G. Wentzel, and A. Smekal. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1933, pages 83–272. ISBN: 978-3-642-52565-0 978-3-642-52619-0. DOI: 10/g3q4 (cited on page 92).
- [197] Julen S. Pedernales, Gavin W. Morley, and Martin B. Plenio. "Motional Dynamical Decoupling for Matter-Wave Interferometry". *Physical Review Letters* 125(2) (2020), page 023602. DOI: 10/ghcp3t. arXiv: 1906.00835 (cited on page 87).
- [198] David T. Pegg, Stephen M. Barnett, and John Jeffers. "Quantum Retrodiction in Open Systems". *Physical Review A* 66(2) (2002), page 022106. DOI: 10/ fjn5xt. arXiv: quant-ph/0208082 (cited on pages 99, 154).
- [199] Roger Penrose. "Gravitational Collapse and Space-Time Singularities". Physical Review Letters 14(3) (1965), pages 57–59. DOI: 10/brjbhr (cited on page 6).
- [200] Roger Penrose. "On Gravity's Role in Quantum State Reduction". General Relativity and Gravitation 28 (1996), pages 581–600. DOI: 10/d52jm5 (cited on pages 13, 123).

- [201] Asher Peres. "Separability Criterion for Density Matrices". Physical Review Letters 77(8) (1996), pages 1413–1415. DOI: 10/frtdm8. arXiv: quant-ph/ 9604005 (cited on page 24).
- [202] Asher Peres, editor. Quantum Theory: Concepts and Methods. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2002. ISBN: 978-0-7923-3632-7 978-0-306-47120-9. DOI: 10/ffnt4z (cited on page 119).
- [203] Avikar Periwal, Eric S. Cooper, Philipp Kunkel, Julian F. Wienand, Emily J. Davis, and Monika Schleier-Smith. "Programmable Interactions and Emergent Geometry in an Atomic Array". *Nature* 600(7890) (2021), pages 630–635. DOI: 10/gnvg6j. arXiv: 2106.04070 (cited on page 150).
- [204] Jacques Pienaar. "Comment on 'The Notion of Locality in Relational Quantum Mechanics'". Foundations of Physics 49(12) (2019), pages 1404–1414.
 DOI: 10/gg9h73. arXiv: 1807.06457 (cited on pages 52, 130, 151).
- [205] Jacques Pienaar. "A Quintet of Quandaries: Five No-Go Theorems for Relational Quantum Mechanics". Foundations of Physics 51(5) (2021), page 97.
 DOI: 10/gm78rg. arXiv: 2108.13977 (cited on pages 133, 143, 149).
- [206] Jacques Pienaar. "QBism and Relational Quantum Mechanics Compared". Foundations of Physics 51(5) (2021), page 96. DOI: 10/gm78rf. arXiv: 2108. 13977 (cited on page 142).
- [207] Igor Pikovski, Magdalena Zych, Fabio Costa, and Caslav Brukner. "Universal Decoherence Due to Gravitational Time Dilation". *Nature Physics* 11(8) (2015), pages 668–672. DOI: 10/5ds. arXiv: 1311.1095 (cited on page 90).
- H. Pino, J. Prat-Camps, K. Sinha, B. P. Venkatesh, and O. Romero-Isart.
 "On-Chip Quantum Interference of a Superconducting Microsphere". *Quantum Science and Technology* 3(2) (2018), page 025001. DOI: 10/ghfgt3. arXiv: 1603.01553 (cited on pages 87, 90).
- [209] Eric Poisson and Clifford M. Will. Gravity: Newtonian, Post-Newtonian, Relativistic. Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-107-03286-6 (cited on page 71).
- [210] Emanuele Polino, Davide Poderini, Beatrice Polacchi, Iris Agresti, Gonzalo Carvacho, Fabio Sciarrino, Andrea Di Biagio, Marios Christodoulou, and Carlo Rovelli. "Photonic Implementation of Quantum Gravity Simulators" (cited on pages v, 56).
- [211] Huw Price. Time's Arrow & Archimedes' Point: New Directions for the Physics of Time. 1. issued as an Oxford Univ. Press paperback. Oxford Paperbacks. New York: Oxford Univ. Press, 1997. ISBN: 978-0-19-511798-1 978-0-19-510095-2. DOI: bfqzj9 (cited on pages 96, 119, 121).
- [212] Massimiliano Proietti, Alexander Pickston, Francesco Graffitti, Peter Barrow, Dmytro Kundys, Cyril Branciard, Martin Ringbauer, and Alessandro Fedrizzi.
 "Experimental Test of Local Observer Independence". Science Advances 5(9) (2019), eaaw9832. DOI: 10/ggz3v4. arXiv: 1902.05080 [quant-ph] (cited on pages 54, 130, 151).

- [213] Matthew F. Pusey, Jonathan Barrett, and Terry Rudolph. "On the Reality of the Quantum State". Nature Physics 8(6) (2012), pages 475–478. DOI: 10/f995qc. arXiv: 1111.3328 (cited on page 50).
- [214] Armando Relaño. "Decoherence Allows Quantum Theory to Describe the Use of Itself". 2018. arXiv: 1810.07065 (cited on page 129).
- [215] Armando Relaño. "Decoherence Framework for Wigner's Friend Experiments". *Physical Review A* 101(3) (2020), page 032107. DOI: 10/gm7w62. arXiv: 1908.09737 (cited on page 129).
- [216] D. P. Rideout and R. D. Sorkin. "A Classical Sequential Growth Dynamics for Causal Sets". *Physical Review D* 61(2) (1999), page 024002. DOI: 10/bvxwn2. arXiv: gr-qc/9904062 (cited on page 92).
- [217] Oriol Romero-Isart. "Quantum Superposition of Massive Objects and Collapse Models". *Physical Review A* 84(5) (2011), page 052121. DOI: 10/b8njfn. arXiv: 1110.4495 (cited on page 90).
- [218] Oriol Romero-Isart, Mathieu L. Juan, Romain Quidant, and J. Ignacio Cirac. "Toward Quantum Superposition of Living Organisms". New Journal of Physics 12(3) (2010), page 033015. DOI: 10/cbr7wn. arXiv: 0909.1469 (cited on pages 29, 90).
- [219] Massimiliano Rossi, David Mason, Junxin Chen, and Albert Schliesser. "Observing and Verifying the Quantum Trajectory of a Mechanical Resonator". *Physical Review Letters* 123(16) (2019), page 163601. DOI: 10/ghwgjp (cited on page 99).
- [220] Tony Rothman and Stephen Boughn. "Can Gravitons Be Detected?" Foundations of Physics 36(12) (2006), pages 1801–1825. DOI: 10/fjkk78. arXiv: gr-qc/0601043 (cited on page 13).
- [221] Carlo Rovelli. "Relational Quantum Mechanics". International Journal of Theoretical Physics 35(8) (1996), pages 1637–1678. DOI: 10/bx4mzr. arXiv: quant-ph/9609002 (cited on pages 39, 41, 44, 120, 124, 131, 137, 151).
- [222] Carlo Rovelli. ""Incerto Tempore, Incertisque Loci": Can We Compute the Exact Time at Which a Quantum Measurement Happens?" Foundations of Physics 28 (1998), pages 1031–1043. DOI: 10/frzskb. arXiv: quantph/9802020 (cited on page 139).
- [223] Carlo Rovelli. Quantum Gravity. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge, UK ; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2004. ISBN: 978-0-521-83733-0 (cited on page 12).
- [224] Carlo Rovelli. "Comment on "Are the Spectra of Geometrical Operators in Loop Quantum Gravity Really Discrete?" by B. Dittrich and T. Thiemann". 2007. arXiv: 0708.2481 (cited on page 93).
- [225] Carlo Rovelli. "An Argument against the Realistic Interpretation of the Wave Function". Foundations of Physics 46(10) (2016), pages 1229–1237. DOI: 10/f83r4x. arXiv: 1508.05533 (cited on page 120).

- [226] Carlo Rovelli. ""Space Is Blue and Birds Fly through It"". Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 376(2123) (2018), page 20170312. DOI: 10/gks4cc. arXiv: 1712.
 02894 (cited on pages 44, 120, 124).
- [227] Carlo Rovelli. "Agency in Physics". 2020. arXiv: 2007.05300 (cited on pages 101, 119, 121).
- [228] Carlo Rovelli. "Memory and Entropy". arXiv:2003.06687 [physics] (2020).
 arXiv: 2003.06687 [physics]. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/2003.06687 (visited on 08/26/2020) (cited on pages 96, 101, 121).
- [229] Carlo Rovelli and Lee Smolin. "Discreteness of Area and Volume in Quantum Gravity". Nuclear Physics B 442(3) (1995), pages 593–619. DOI: 10/d9hbgk. arXiv: gr-qc/9411005 (cited on page 93).
- [230] Carlo Rovelli and Francesca Vidotto. Covariant Loop Quantum Gravity: An Elementary Introduction to Quantum Gravity and Spinfoam Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-107-70691-0. DOI: g3qw (cited on pages 12, 93).
- [231] E. Rutherford. "The Scattering of α and β Particles by Matter and the Structure of the Atom". The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science 21(125) (1911), pages 669–688. DOI: 10/ fkvgc9 (cited on page 8).
- [232] Simon Saunders, Jonathan Barrett, Adrian Kent, and David Wallace, editors. Many Worlds? Everett, Quantum Theory, and Reality. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press, 2010. ISBN: 978-0-19-956056-1. DOI: 10/dg87th (cited on pages 120, 124).
- [233] Leonard J. Savage. *The Foundations of Statistics*. 2d rev. ed. New York: Dover Publications, 1972. ISBN: 978-0-486-62349-8 (cited on page 44).
- [234] Maximilian Schlosshauer, Johannes Kofler, and Anton Zeilinger. "A Snapshot of Foundational Attitudes Toward Quantum Mechanics". Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 44(3) (2013), pages 222–230. DOI: 10/gctkfj. arXiv: 1301. 1069 (cited on page 43).
- [235] David Schmid, John H. Selby, and Robert W. Spekkens. "Unscrambling the Omelette of Causation and Inference: The Framework of Causal-Inferential Theories". 2020. arXiv: 2009.03297 (cited on pages 97, 116, 151).
- [236] Matthew Dean Schwartz. Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-107-03473-0 (cited on pages 10, 12, 88).
- [237] Karl Schwarzschild. "Über das Gravitationsfeld eines Massenpunktes nach der Einsteinschen Theorie". Deutsche Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin (1882). URL: http://archive.org/details/sitzungsberichte1916deutsch (visited on 10/14/2021) (cited on page 6).
- [238] Karl Schwarzschild. "On the Gravitational Field of a Mass Point According to Einstein's Theory". 1999. arXiv: physics/9905030 (cited on page 6).

- John H. Selby, Carlo Maria Scandolo, and Bob Coecke. "Reconstructing Quantum Theory from Diagrammatic Postulates". *Quantum* 5 (2021), page 445.
 DOI: 10/gjtscb (cited on pages 39, 97).
- [240] C. E. Shannon. "A Mathematical Theory of Communication". The Bell System Technical Journal 27(4) (1948), pages 623–656. DOI: 10/gcx7xh (cited on page 18).
- [241] Claude E. Shannon. "A Mathematical Theory of Communication". The Bell System Technical Journal 27(3) (1948), pages 379–423. DOI: 10/b39t (cited on page 18).
- [242] Peter W. Shor. "Polynomial-Time Algorithms for Prime Factorization and Discrete Logarithms on a Quantum Computer". SIAM Journal on Computing 26(5) (1997), pages 1484–1509. DOI: 10/bwh2d8. arXiv: quant-ph/9508027 (cited on pages 24, 97).
- [243] Peter W. Shor. The Structure of Unital Maps and the Asymptotic Quantum Birkhoff Conjecture. 2010. URL: https://youtu.be/bA9Pz0AKycY?t=824 (cited on page 109).
- [244] Matteo Smerlak and Carlo Rovelli. "Relational EPR". Foundations of Physics 37(3) (2007), pages 427–445. DOI: 10/b9cz7f. arXiv: quant-ph/0604064 (cited on page 130).
- [245] Christoph Sommer. "Another Survey of Foundational Attitudes Towards Quantum Mechanics". 2013. arXiv: 1303.2719 (cited on page 43).
- [246] Rafael D. Sorkin. "Causal Sets: Discrete Gravity (Notes for the Valdivia Summer School)". 2003. arXiv: gr-qc/0309009 (cited on page 92).
- [247] Fiona C. Speirits, Matthias Sonnleitner, and Stephen M. Barnett. "From Retrodiction to Bayesian Quantum Imaging". *Journal of Optics* 19(4) (2017), page 044001. DOI: 10/gg88dg (cited on pages 99, 120, 154).
- [248] Blake C. Stacey. "On Relationalist Reconstructions of Quantum Theory". 2021. arXiv: 2109.03186 (cited on page 145).
- [249] R. Stárek, M. Mičuda, M. Miková, I. Straka, M. Dušek, M. Ježek, and J. Fiurášek. "Experimental Investigation of a Four-Qubit Linear-Optical Quantum Logic Circuit". *Scientific Reports* 6(1) (2016), page 33475. DOI: 10/f84h7t (cited on page 62).
- [250] W. Forrest Stinespring. "Positive Functions on C*-Algebras". Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 6(2) (1955), page 211. DOI: 10/c6pk7z (cited on pages 23, 106).
- [251] Alexander Streltsov, Hermann Kampermann, Sabine Wölk, Manuel Gessner, and Dagmar Bruß. "Maximal Coherence and the Resource Theory of Purity". *New Journal of Physics* 20(5) (2018), page 053058. DOI: 10/ghbt22. arXiv: 1612.07570 (cited on page 109).
- [252] Barbara M. Terhal. "Bell Inequalities and the Separability Criterion". *Physics Letters A* 271(5-6) (2000), pages 319–326. DOI: 10/cbdmfb. arXiv: quant-ph/9911057 (cited on page 25).

- [253] Jules Tilly, Ryan J. Marshman, Anupam Mazumdar, and Sougato Bose. "Qudits for Witnessing Quantum Gravity Induced Entanglement of Masses Under Decoherence". 2021. arXiv: 2101.08086 (cited on page 13).
- [254] Lev Vaidman. "Many-Worlds Interpretation of Quantum Mechanics". In: The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Edited by Edward N. Zalta. Fall 2018. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University, 2018. URL: https: //plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2018/entries/qm-manyworlds/ (visited on 01/13/2021) (cited on pages 45, 120, 124).
- [255] Antony Valentini. "Signal-Locality in Hidden-Variables Theories". Physics Letters A 297(5-6) (2002), pages 273–278. DOI: 10/dxstxf. arXiv: quantph/0106098 (cited on page 47).
- [256] Thomas W. van de Kamp, Ryan J. Marshman, Sougato Bose, and Anupam Mazumdar. "Quantum Gravity Witness via Entanglement of Masses: Casimir Screening". *Physical Review A* 102(6) (2020), page 062807. DOI: 10/gm7w6x. arXiv: 2006.06931 (cited on pages 13, 87).
- [257] Augustin Vanrietvelde, Philipp A. Höhn, Flaminia Giacomini, and Esteban Castro-Ruiz. "A Change of Perspective: Switching Quantum Reference Frames via a Perspective-Neutral Framework". *Quantum* 4 (2020), page 225. DOI: 10/ghwfp3. arXiv: 1809.00556 (cited on page 150).
- [258] David Wallace. The Emergent Multiverse: Quantum Theory According to the Everett Interpretation. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2014. ISBN: 978-0-19-870754-7 (cited on pages 45–46, 52, 124).
- [259] Satosi Watanabe. "Symmetry of Physical Laws. Part III. Prediction and Retrodiction". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 27(2) (1955), pages 179–186. DOI: 10/cb5rfp (cited on pages 99, 101, 120, 153).
- [260] Garrett Wendel, Luis Martinez, and Martin Bojowald. "Physical Implications of a Fundamental Period of Time". *Physical Review Letters* 124(24) (2020), page 241301. DOI: 10/gm7w6s. arXiv: 2005.11572 (cited on page 77).
- [261] John Archibald Wheeler. "How Come the Quantum?" Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 480(1) (1986), pages 304–316. DOI: 10/b6jf69 (cited on page 38).
- [262] Eugene P. Wigner. "Remarks on the Mind-Body Question". In: The Scientist Speculates. Edited by Irving John Good. Basic Books, 1962 (cited on pages 42, 125, 134).
- [263] Edward O. Wilson. Consilience: The Unity of Knowledge. 1st Vintage books Ed. New York: Vintage Books, 1999. ISBN: 978-0-679-76867-8 (cited on page 38).
- [264] Howard M. Wiseman and Eric G. Cavalcanti. "Causarum Investigatio and the Two Bell's Theorems of John Bell". In: *Quantum [Un]Speakables II: Half* a Century of Bell's Theorem. Edited by Reinhold A. Bertlmann and Anton Zeilinger. Vienna: Springer, 2015, pages 119–142. arXiv: 1503.06413 (cited on pages 52, 130–131).

- [265] B. D. Wood, G. A. Stimpson, J. E. March, Y. N. D. Lekhai, C. J. Stephen, et al. "Matter and Spin Superposition in Vacuum Experiment (MASSIVE)". 2021. arXiv: 2105.02105 (cited on page 78).
- [266] Christopher J. Wood and Robert W. Spekkens. "The Lesson of Causal Discovery Algorithms for Quantum Correlations: Causal Explanations of Bell-inequality Violations Require Fine-Tuning". New Journal of Physics 17(3) (2015), page 033002. DOI: 10/ghr97m. arXiv: 1208.4119 (cited on page 52).
- [267] W. K. Wootters and W. H. Zurek. "A Single Quantum Cannot Be Cloned". Nature 299(5886) (1982), pages 802–803. DOI: 10/fcf8cd (cited on page 97).
- [268] Yuan Yuan, Zhibo Hou, Kang-Da Wu, Guo-Yong Xiang, Chuan-Feng Li, and Guang-Can Guo. "Experimental Retrodiction of Trajectories of Single Photons in Double Interferometers". *Physical Review A* 97(6) (2018), page 062115. DOI: 10/gdnd23 (cited on page 99).
- [269] A. Zee. Einstein Gravity in a Nutshell. In a Nutshell. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2013. ISBN: 978-0-691-14558-7 (cited on pages 7, 10).
- [270] H. Dieter Zeh. "On the Interpretation of Measurement in Quantum Theory". Foundations of Physics 1 (1970), pages 69–76. DOI: 10/cpt6qc (cited on page 125).
- [271] Anton Zeilinger. "A Foundational Principle for Quantum Mechanics". Foundations of Physics 29 (1999), pages 631–643. DOI: 10/cknqgc (cited on page 41).
- [272] Marek Żukowski and Marcin Markiewicz. "Physics and Metaphysics of Wigner's Friends: Even Performed Pre-Measurements Have No Results". *Physical Review Letters* 126(13) (2021), page 130402. DOI: 10/gjnnwz. arXiv: 2003.07464 (cited on page 129).
- [273] Wojciech H. Zurek. "Pointer Basis of Quantum Apparatus: Into What Mixture Does the Wave Packet Collapse?" *Physical Review D* 24 (1981), pages 1516– 1525. DOI: 10/c9hpvj (cited on page 125).
- [274] Wojciech H. Zurek. "Environment Induced Superselection Rules". Physical Review D 26 (1982), pages 1862–1880. DOI: 10/cqfsh5 (cited on page 125).
- [275] Wojciech H. Zurek. "Decoherence and the Transition from Quantum to Classical — Revisited". Quantum Decoherence (2006), pages 1–31. DOI: 10/ dgw87p (cited on page 126).
- [276] Konrad Zuse. "Rechnender Raum (Calculating Space)". Schriften Zur Dataverarbeitung 1 (1969). URL: https://philpapers.org/rec/ZUSRR (cited on page 92).
- [277] Barton Zwiebach. A First Course in String Theory. 2nd ed. Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2009. ISBN: 978-0-521-88032-9 (cited on page 12).